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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
The directors present their report and the audited financial statements of the Company (as defined below) for the financial
year ended December 31, 2018.
Basis of Presentation
The Company is a public limited company formed under the laws of Ireland. The Company operates through a number of
international and U.S. subsidiaries with principal business purposes to either perform research and development or manufacturing
operations, serve as distributors of the Company’s medicines, hold intellectual property assets or provide services and financial
support to the Company.
The directors have elected to prepare the consolidated financial statements in accordance with Section 279 of the
Companies Act 2014, which provides that a true and fair view of the state of affairs and profit or loss may be given by preparing
the financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (“US
GAAP”), as defined in Section 279 of the Companies Act 2014, to the extent that the use of those principles in the preparation of
the financial statements does not contravene any provision of the Irish Companies Acts (collectively, the “Companies Act”) or of
any regulations made thereunder.
Principal Activities
Unless otherwise indicated or the context otherwise requires, references to the “Company”, “Horizon”, “we”, “us” and
“our” refer to Horizon Pharma plc and its consolidated subsidiaries.
The Company is focused on researching, developing and commercializing innovative medicines that address unmet
treatment needs for rare and rheumatic diseases. By expanding its growing pipeline of medicines in development and exploring
all potential uses for currently marketed medicines, the Company strives to make a powerful difference for patients, their
caregivers and physicians. The Company has two reportable segments, referred to as the “orphan and rheumatology segment” and
the “primary care segment”. The Company currently markets eleven medicines in the areas of orphan diseases, rheumatology and
primary care.
The Company’s currently marketed medicines are:
Orphan and Rheumatology
KRYSTEXXA® (pegloticase injection), for intravenous infusion
RAVICTI® (glycerol phenylbutyrate) oral liquid
PROCYSBI® (cysteamine bitartrate) delayed-release capsules, for oral use
ACTIMMUNE® (interferon gamma-1b) injection, for subcutaneous use
RAYOS® (prednisone) delayed-release tablets
BUPHENYL® (sodium phenylbutyrate) Tablets and Powder
QUINSAIR™ (levofloxacin) solution for inhalation
Primary Care
PENNSAID® (diclofenac sodium topical solution) 2% w/w, (“PENNSAID 2%”), for topical use
DUEXIS® (ibuprofen/famotidine) tablets, for oral use
VIMOVO® (naproxen/esomeprazole magnesium) delayed-release tablets, for oral use
MIGERGOT® (ergotamine tartrate & caffeine suppositories), for rectal use

Acquisitions and Divestitures
Since January 1, 2017, the Company completed the following acquisitions and divestitures:
•

Effective January 1, 2019, the Company amended its license and supply agreements with Jagotec AG and
Skyepharma AG, which are affiliates of Vectura Group plc (“Vectura”). Under these amendments, the Company
agreed to transfer all economic benefits of LODOTRA® in Europe to Vectura during an initial transition period, with
full rights transferring to Vectura when certain transfer activities have been completed. The Company will no longer
record LODOTRA revenue from January 1, 2019.

•

On December 28, 2018, the Company sold its rights to RAVICTI and AMMONAPS® (known as BUPHENYL in the
United States) outside of North America and Japan to Medical Need Europe AB, part of the Immedica Group,
(“Immedica”). The Company previously distributed RAVICTI and AMMONAPS through a commercial partner in
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Europe and other non-U.S. markets. The Company have retained rights to RAVICTI and BUPHENYL in North
America and Japan.
•

On June 30, 2017, the Company completed its acquisition of certain rights to interferon gamma-1b from Boehringer
Ingelheim International GmbH (“Boehringer Ingelheim International”) in all territories outside of the United States,
Canada and Japan. Interferon gamma-1b is known as IMUKIN® outside of the United States, Canada and Japan. On
July 24, 2018, the Company sold the rights to IMUKIN in all territories outside of the United States, Canada and
Japan to Clinigen Group plc, (“Clinigen”), for an upfront payment and a potential additional contingent consideration
payment (“the IMUKIN sale”).

•

On June 23, 2017, the Company completed the sale of its European subsidiary that owned the marketing rights to
PROCYSBI (cysteamine bitartrate) delayed-release capsules and QUINSAIR (levofloxacin inhalation solution) in
Europe, the Middle East and Africa (“EMEA”) regions (the “Chiesi divestiture”) to Chiesi Farmaceutici S.p.A.
(“Chiesi”).

•

On May 8, 2017, the Company completed its acquisition of River Vision Development Corp. (“River Vision”), which
added the late development-stage rare disease biologic medicine candidate teprotumumab to the Company’s research
and development pipeline.

Business Review
Key Performance Indicators
During the course of preparing the consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2018, we identified
an immaterial error in the measurement of the contingent royalty liability calculation pertaining to the royalty end date for one of
our medicines. In accordance with U.S. GAAP, this was corrected as a revision within the consolidated financial statements for
the year ended December 31, 2018. The revision resulted in certain adjustments to the consolidated financial statements as of and
for the years ended December 31, 2017, and the revised amounts are presented below. See Note 1 of the Notes to consolidated
financial statements for further details of this error and the related revisions. These revisions had no impact on adjusted EBITDA,
non-GAAP net income or non-GAAP earnings per share that are presented in our Non-GAAP Financial Measures.
Our consolidated results of operations for the financial years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017 were as follows (in
thousands):

For the Years
Ended December 31,
2018

2017

Change

(in thousands)

Turnover
Cost of sales
Gross profit
Operating expenses:
Research and development
Selling, general and administrative
Impairment of long-lived assets
Gain on sale of assets
Total operating expenses
Operating income (loss)
Other expense, net:
Interest expense, net (1)
Foreign exchange loss (2)
Gain on divestiture (3)
Loss on debt extinguishment (1)
Other income (expense), net (2)
Total other expense, net
Loss before taxation
Benefit for income taxes
Loss for the financial year

$

1,207,570
422,317
785,253

$

82,762
692,485
50,302
(42,688 )
782,861
2,392

$
4

(121,692 )
(192 )
—
—
346
(121,538 )
(119,146 )
(9,066 )
(110,080 ) $

1,056,231
537,334
518,897

$

224,962
655,093
22,270
—
902,325
(383,428 )
(126,523 )
(260 )
6,267
(978 )
588
(120,906 )
(504,334 )
(138,642 )
(365,692 ) $

151,339
(115,017 )
266,356
(142,200 )
37,392
28,032
(42,688 )
(119,464 )
385,820
4,831
68
(6,267 )
978
(242 )
(632 )
385,188
129,576
255,612

(1)

These items are grouped together as “Interest payable and similar expenses” under the required Irish Companies Acts
format in the consolidated profit and loss account.

(2)

“Foreign exchange loss” and “other expense” are grouped together as “other expense” under the required Irish Companies
Acts format in the consolidated profit and loss account.

(3)

“Gain on divestiture” is included as “other income” under the required Irish Companies Acts format in the consolidated
profit and loss account.

Turnover. Turnover increased $151.3 million, or 14.3%, to $1,207.6 million during the year ended December 31, 2018,
from $1,056.2 million during the year ended December 31, 2017. The increase in turnover during the year ended December 31,
2018, was primarily due to higher turnover in our orphan and rheumatology segment.
The following table presents a summary of total turnover attributed to geographic sources for the years ended December 31,
2018 and 2017 (in thousands):
Year Ended December 31, 2018
% of Total
Amount
Turnover

United States
Rest of world
Total turnover

$ 1,186,519
21,051
$ 1,207,570

Year Ended December 31, 2017
% of Total
Amount
Turnover

98 % $ 1,026,527
2%
29,704
$ 1,056,231

97 %
3%

The following table reflects the components of turnover for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017 (in thousands):
Year Ended December 31,
2018

2017

Change

Change

$

%

KRYSTEXXA
RAVICTI
PROCYSBI
ACTIMMUNE
RAYOS
BUPHENYL
LODOTRA
QUINSAIR
Orphan and Rheumatology turnover

$ 258,920 $
226,650
154,895
105,563
61,067
21,810
2,067
504
$ 831,476 $

156,483 $ 102,437
193,918
32,732
137,740
17,155
110,993
(5,430 )
52,125
8,942
20,792
1,018
5,393
(3,326 )
3,442
(2,938 )
680,886 $ 150,590

65 %
17 %
12 %
(5 )%
17 %
5%
(62 )%
(85 )%
22 %

PENNSAID 2%
DUEXIS
VIMOVO
MIGERGOT
Primary care turnover

190,206
114,672
67,646
3,570
$ 376,094 $

191,050
121,161
57,666
5,468
375,345 $

(0 )%
(5 )%
17 %
(35 )%
0%

Total turnover

$ 1,207,570 $ 1,056,231 $ 151,339

(844 )
(6,489 )
9,980
(1,898 )
749

14 %

Orphan and Rheumatology
KRYSTEXXA. Turnover increased $102.4 million, or 65%, to $258.9 million during the year ended December 31, 2018,
from $156.5 million during the year ended December 31, 2017. Turnover increased by approximately $108.5 million resulting
from volume growth, partially offset by a decrease of approximately $6.1 million due to lower net pricing.
RAVICTI. Turnover increased $32.7 million, or 17%, to $226.6 million during the year ended December 31, 2018, from
$193.9 million during the year ended December 31, 2017. Turnover in the United States increased by approximately $30.8
million, which was composed of an increase of $24.4 million due to higher net pricing and $6.4 million due to volume growth.
Turnover outside the United States increased by approximately $1.9 million primarily due to higher sales volume. On December
28, 2018, we sold our rights to RAVICTI outside of North America and Japan to Immedica.
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PROCYSBI. Turnover increased $17.2 million, or 12%, to $154.9 million during the year ended December 31, 2018, from
$137.7 million during the year ended December 31, 2017. Turnover in the United States increased by approximately $22.7
million, which was composed of $15.6 million due to higher net pricing and $7.1 million resulting from volume growth. Turnover
outside the United States decreased by approximately $5.5 million primarily as a result of the Chiesi divestiture in June 2017.
ACTIMMUNE. Turnover decreased $5.4 million, or 5%, to $105.6 million during the year ended December 31, 2018, from
$111.0 million during the year ended December 31, 2017. Turnover decreased by approximately $11.2 million resulting from
lower volume, partially offset by an increase of approximately $5.8 million due to higher net pricing.
RAYOS. Turnover increased $8.9 million, or 17%, to $61.0 million during the year ended December 31, 2018, from $52.1
million during the year ended December 31, 2017. Turnover increased by approximately $5.0 million resulting from volume
growth and approximately $3.9 million due to higher net pricing.
BUPHENYL. Turnover increased $1.0 million, or 5%, to $21.8 million during the year ended December 31, 2018, from
$20.8 million during the year ended December 31, 2017. Turnover increased by approximately $2.0 million due to volume
growth, partially offset by a decrease of approximately $1.0 million resulting from lower net pricing. On December 28, 2018, we
sold our rights to AMMONAPS outside of North America and Japan to Immedica.
LODOTRA. Turnover decreased $3.3 million, or 62%, to $2.1 million during the year ended December 31, 2018, from $5.4
million during the year ended December 31, 2017. The decrease was due to decreased shipments to our European distribution
partner, Mundipharma International Corporation Limited, or Mundipharma. LODOTRA sales to Mundipharma occurred at the
time we shipped, based on Mundipharma’s estimated requirements. Accordingly, LODOTRA sales were not linear or directly
tied to Mundipharma’s in-market sales and could therefore fluctuate significantly from period to period. Effective January 1,
2019, we amended our license and supply agreements with Jagotec AG and Skyepharma AG, which are affiliates of Vectura.
Under these amendments, we agreed to transfer all economic benefits of LODOTRA in Europe to Vectura during an initial
transition period, with full rights transferring to Vectura when certain transfer activities have been completed. We will no longer
record LODOTRA revenue from January 1, 2019.
QUINSAIR. Turnover decreased $2.9 million, or 85%, to $0.5 million during the year ended December 31, 2018, from $3.4
million during the year ended December 31, 2017, primarily due to lower volume following the Chiesi divestiture.
Primary Care
PENNSAID 2%. Turnover decreased $0.8 million to $190.2 million during the year ended December 31, 2018, from $191.0
million during the year ended December 31, 2017. Turnover decreased by approximately $12.1 million due to lower volume,
partially offset by an increase of approximately $11.3 million due to higher net pricing.
DUEXIS. Turnover decreased $6.5 million, or 5%, to $114.7 million during the year ended December 31, 2018, from
$121.2 million during the year ended December 31, 2017. Turnover decreased by approximately $6.4 million due to lower
volume and approximately $0.1 million due to lower net pricing.
VIMOVO. Turnover increased $10.0 million, or 17%, to $67.6 million during the year ended December 31, 2018, from
$57.6 million during the year ended December 31, 2017. Turnover increased by approximately $23.2 million due to higher net
pricing, partially offset by a decrease of approximately $13.2 million resulting from lower volume.
MIGERGOT. Turnover decreased $1.9 million, or 35%, to $3.6 million during the year ended December 31, 2018, from
$5.5 million during the year ended December 31, 2017. Turnover decreased by approximately $1.6 million due to lower volume
and approximately $0.3 million due to lower net pricing.
The table below reconciles our gross to net turnover for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017 (in millions):
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Year Ended
December 31, 2018
% of Gross
Amount
Sales

Gross turnover
Adjustments to gross turnover:
Prompt pay discounts
Medicine returns
Co-pay and other patient assistance
Commercial rebates and wholesaler fees
Government rebates and chargebacks
Total adjustments
Turnover

$

4,264.5

(75.1 )
(25.1 )
(1,970.4 )
(589.6 )
(396.7 )
(3,056.9 )
$ 1,207.6

100.0 %

Year Ended
December 31, 2017
% of Gross
Amount
Sales

$

4,057.8

(1.8 )%
(80.2 )
(0.6 )%
(45.6 )
(46.2 )%
(1,907.6 )
(13.8 )%
(641.5 )
(9.3 )%
(326.7 )
(71.7 )%
(3,001.6 )
28.3 % $ 1,056.2

100.0 %
(2.0 )%
(1.1 )%
(47.0 )%
(15.8 )%
(8.1 )%
(74.0 )%
26.0 %

During the year ended December 31, 2018, commercial rebates and wholesaler fees, as a percentage of gross turnover,
decreased to 13.8% from 15.8% during the year ended December 31, 2017, primarily as a result of a change in the mix of
medicines sold and lower rates paid to distributors during 2018 compared to 2017.
During the year ended December 31, 2018, government rebates and chargebacks, as a percentage of gross turnover,
increased to 9.3% from 8.1% during the year ended December 31, 2017, primarily as a result of a change in the mix of medicines
sold.
On a quarter-to-quarter basis, our turnover has traditionally been lower in first half of the year, particularly in the first
quarter, with the second half of the year representing a greater share of overall turnover each year. This is due to annual managed
care plan changes and the re-setting of patients’ medical insurance deductibles at the beginning of each year, resulting in higher
co-pay and other patient assistance costs as patients meet their annual medical insurance deductibles during the first and second
quarters, and higher turnover in the second half of the year after patients meet their deductibles and healthcare plans reimburse a
greater portion of the total cost of our medicines.
Additionally, on January 1, 2019, the 340B ceiling price rule became effective. With respect to KRYSTEXXA, the
“additional rebate” scheme of the 340B pricing program, as applied to the historical pricing of KRYSTEXXA both before and
after we acquired the medicine, have resulted in a 340B ceiling price of one penny. A material portion of KRYSTEXXA
prescriptions (approximately twenty to twenty-five percent) are written by healthcare providers that are eligible for 340B drug
pricing and therefore the reduction in 340B pricing to a penny has negatively impacted our turnover from KRYSTEXXA.
Cost of Sales. Cost of sales decreased $115.0 million to $422.3 million during the year ended December 31, 2018, from
$537.3 million during the year ended December 31, 2017. As a percentage of turnover, cost of sales was 35.0% during the year
ended December 31, 2018, compared to 50.9% during the year ended December 31, 2017. The decrease in cost of sales was
primarily attributable to a $101.8 million decrease in stock step-up expense.
Because stock step-up expense is acquisition-related, will not continue indefinitely and has a significant effect on our gross
profit, gross margin percentage and loss for the financial year for all affected periods, we disclose balance sheet and income
statement amounts related to stock step-up within the notes to the consolidated financial statements. The decrease in stock step-up
expense of $101.8 million recorded to cost of sales during the year ended December 31, 2018 compared to the prior year was
primarily related to KRYSTEXXA, PROCYSBI and QUINSAIR stock step-up expense. KRYSTEXXA stock step-up expense
recorded during the year ended December 31, 2018 was $17.0 million compared to $78.3 million recorded during the year ended
December 31, 2017. PROCYSBI and QUINSAIR stock step-up expense recorded during the year ended December 31, 2018 was
$0.3 million compared to $40.8 million recorded during the year ended December 31, 2017.
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Research and Development Expenses. Research and development expenses decreased $142.2 million to $82.8 million
during the year ended December 31, 2018, from $225.0 million during the year ended December 31, 2017. The decrease was
primarily attributable to $150.3 million related to the acquisition of River Vision during the year ended December 31, 2017.
Pursuant to Accounting Standards Codification Topic 805, Business Combinations, or ASC 805, as amended by ASU No. 201701, we accounted for the River Vision acquisition as the purchase of an in-process research and development, or IPR&D, asset
and, pursuant to ASC 730, Research and Development, or ASC 730, recorded the purchase as a research and development
expense during the year ended December 31, 2017. Additionally, during the year ended December 31, 2017, we entered into an
agreement to license HZN-003, a rheumatology pipeline program with the objective of enhancing our leadership position in the
uncontrolled gout market, from MedImmune LLC, or MedImmune, and we paid MedImmune an upfront cash payment of $12.0
million which we recorded as a “research and development” expense in the consolidated statement of comprehensive loss during
the year ended December 31, 2017 and included in “accrued expenses” as of December 31, 2017. The upfront payment was
subsequently paid in January 2018. Excluding the costs attributable to the acquisition of River Vision and HZN-003, research and
development expenses increased by $20.1 million during the year ended December 31, 2018, compared to the year ended
December 31, 2017, primarily due to the costs associated with the development of teprotumumab.
Selling, General and Administrative Expenses. Selling, general and administrative expenses increased $37.4 million to
$692.5 million during the year ended December 31, 2018, from $655.1 million during the year ended December 31, 2017. The
increase was primarily attributable to the expansion of our KRYSTEXXA sales force that was initiated during the second half of
2017 and other activities to support the growth in sales of the medicine, and pre-launch costs for teprotumumab.
Impairment of Long-Lived Assets. During the year ended December 31, 2018, we recorded an impairment of $37.9 million
to fully write off the book value of developed technology related to PROCYSBI in Canada and Latin America due primarily to
lower anticipated future turnover based on a Patented Medicine Prices Review Board, or PMPRB, review. We also recorded an
impairment of $10.6 million during the year ended December 31, 2018, to fully write off the book value of developed technology
related to LODOTRA as result of amendments to our license and supply agreements with Jagotec AG and Skyepharma AG, which
are affiliates of Vectura. Under these amendments, effective January 1, 2019, we agreed to transfer all economic benefits of
LODOTRA in Europe to Vectura during an initial transition period, with full rights transferring to Vectura when certain transfer
activities have been completed. We will no longer record LODOTRA revenue from January 1, 2019. Impairment of long-lived
assets of $22.3 million during the year ended December 31, 2017, represents the impairment of a non-current asset recorded
following payment to Boehringer Ingelheim International for the acquisition of certain rights to interferon gamma-1b. This was
previously included within “selling, general and administrative” expenses. On July 24, 2018, we completed the IMUKIN sale as
further described in the next paragraph.
Gain on sale of assets. During the year ended December 31, 2018, we completed the sale of rights to RAVICTI and
AMMONAPS outside of North America and Japan for cash proceeds of $35.0 million, and we recorded a gain of $30.4 million on
the sale. Additionally, we completed the IMUKIN sale for cash proceeds of $9.5 million, with a potential additional contingent
consideration payment and we recorded a gain of $12.3 million on the sale.
Interest Expense, Net. Interest expense, net, decreased $4.8 million to $121.7 million during the year ended December 31,
2018, from $126.5 million during the year ended December 31, 2017. The decrease in net interest expense was primarily due to
an increase in interest income of $8.5 million primarily due to higher cash balances, partially offset by an increase of $3.7 million
in interest expense.
Gain on divestiture. During the year ended December 31, 2017, we completed the Chiesi divestiture for an upfront payment
of $72.5 million, which reflects $3.1 million of cash divested, with additional potential milestone payments based on turnover
thresholds, and we recorded a gain of $6.3 million on the divestiture.
Benefit for Income Taxes. During the year ended December 31, 2018, we recorded a benefit for income taxes of $9.1
million compared to $138.6 million during the year ended December 31, 2017. The reduction in benefit for income taxes of
$129.5 million during the year ended December 31, 2018, compared to year ended December 31, 2017, was primarily due to a
provisional $109.3 million net tax benefit recorded following the enactment in the United States of H.R. 1 (further described
below), decrease in pre-tax losses and the tax rate at which some of these reduced losses were tax effected resulting in a tax
provision of $61.1 million and income tax expense of $45.8 million generated on an intra-company transfer of assets other than
stock during the year ended December 31, 2018.
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During the year ended December 31, 2017, we recorded a provisional estimate of $110.8 million tax benefit from the
revaluation of our U.S. net deferred tax liability based on the revised U.S. federal tax rate of 21 percent following the enactment in
the United States of H.R. 1, “An Act to provide for reconciliation pursuant to titles II and V of the concurrent resolution on the
budget for fiscal year 2018”, informally titled the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act, or the Tax Act. On December 22, 2017, the SEC staff
issued Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 118, or SAB 118, which provides guidance on accounting for the tax effects of the Tax
Act. SAB 118 provided a measurement period that should not extend beyond one year from the date of enactment for companies
to complete the accounting under ASC 740, Income Taxes. In accordance with SAB 118, we reflected the income tax effects of
those aspects of the Tax Act for which the accounting under ASC 740 was complete. To the extent that our accounting for certain
income tax effects of the Tax Act was incomplete but it was possible to determine a reasonable estimate, we recorded a
provisional estimate in the consolidated financial statements as of December 31, 2017.
Further, in accordance with the one year measurement period adjustment under SAB 118, we recorded $1.5 million tax
benefit with respect to the revaluation of certain U.S. deferred tax asset which is further netted within the U.S. net deferred tax
liabilities. We had no other material measurement period adjustments under SAB 118.
The remainder of the decrease in benefit for income taxes during the year ended December 31, 2018, compared to year
ended December 31, 2017 resulted from a tax provision of $8.1 million attributable to the remeasurement of net U.S. deferred tax
liabilities for the year ended December 31, 2018 due to an increase in U.S. state effective tax rates attributable to the enactment of
certain U.S. state legislation during the year ended December 31, 2018. These decreases to the benefit for income taxes during the
year ended December 31, 2018 were partially offset by an income tax expense of $51.1 million on non-deductible research and
development costs which occurred during the year ended December 31, 2017 and did not re-occur for the year ended December
31, 2018, a tax benefit of $42.7 million U.S. federal tax and $7.9 million U.S. state tax benefit on the liquidation of a foreign
partnership owned by us during the year ended December 31, 2018 and decreases to our current state income tax expense of $6.8
million resulting from current year pre-tax losses incurred in the U.S. group.
During the year ended December 31, 2017, the first of three tranches of our outstanding performance stock unit awards, or
PSUs, issued in 2015 expired without payout as the minimum total compounded annual shareholder rate of return was not
achieved. As a result, we wrote off to income tax expense $16.4 million of deferred tax assets related to previously recognized
share-based compensation.
In relation to our outstanding PSUs at December 31, 2017, as our share price was lower than $32.70 for the twenty trading
days ended March 22, 2018, and lower than $33.86 for the twenty trading days ended June 22, 2018, the second two tranches of
PSU awards granted in 2015 expired without payment as the minimum total compounded annual shareholder rate of return was
not achieved, and approximately $10.7 million and $12.6 million, respectively, of deferred tax assets at December 31, 2017,
related to previously recognized share-based compensation expense was charged to income tax expense during the year ended
December 31, 2018.
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Non-GAAP Financial Measures
EBITDA, or earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization, adjusted EBITDA, non-GAAP net income and
non-GAAP earnings per share are used and provided by us as non-GAAP financial measures. These non-GAAP financial
measures are intended to provide additional information on our performance, operations and profitability. Adjustments to our
GAAP figures as well as EBITDA exclude acquisition/divestiture-related costs, gain on sale of assets, gain on divestiture, upfront
and milestone payments related to license agreements, drug substance harmonization costs, fees related to term loan refinancing,
restructuring and realignment costs, litigation settlements and charges related to discontinuation of the FA program, as well as
non-cash items such as share-based compensation, stock step-up expense, depreciation and amortization, remeasurement of
royalties for medicines acquired through business combinations, royalty accretion, non-cash interest expense, long-lived assets
impairment charges, gain on divestiture, loss on debt extinguishment, reversal of pre-acquisition reserve upon signing of contract
and other non-cash adjustments. Certain other special items or substantive events may also be included in the non-GAAP
adjustments periodically when their magnitude is significant within the periods incurred. We maintain an established non-GAAP
cost policy that guides the determination of what costs will be excluded in non-GAAP measures. We believe that these nonGAAP financial measures, when considered together with the GAAP figures, can enhance an overall understanding of our
financial and operating performance. The non-GAAP financial measures are included with the intent of providing investors with
a more complete understanding of our historical financial results and trends and to facilitate comparisons between periods. In
addition, these non-GAAP financial measures are among the indicators our management uses for planning and forecasting
purposes and measuring our performance. For example, adjusted EBITDA is used by us as one measure of management
performance under certain incentive compensation arrangements. These non-GAAP financial measures should be considered in
addition to, and not as a substitute for, or superior to, financial measures calculated in accordance with GAAP. The non-GAAP
financial measures used by us may be calculated differently from, and therefore may not be comparable to, non-GAAP financial
measures used by other companies.
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Reconciliations of reported GAAP net loss to EBITDA, adjusted EBITDA and non-GAAP net income, and the related per
share amounts, are as follows (in thousands, except share and per share amounts):
For the Years Ended December 31,
2018

GAAP loss for the financial year
Non-GAAP adjustments:
Depreciation expense (1)
Amortization, accretion and stock step-up:
Intangible amortization expense (2)
Accretion of royalty liabilities (3)
Stock step-up expense (4)
Amortization of debt discount and deferred financing costs (5)
Acquisition/divestiture-related costs (6)
Restructuring and realignment costs (7)
Share-based compensation (8)
Impairment of long-lived assets (9)
Litigation settlements (10)
Drug substance harmonization costs (11)
Fees related to term loan refinancing (12)
Upfront and milestone payments related to license agreements (13)
Charges relating to discontinuation of the Friedreich's ataxia
program (14)
Remeasurement of royalties for medicines acquired through
business combinations (3)
Gain on sale of assets (15)
Royalties for medicines acquired through business combinations (3)
Gain on divestiture (16)
Loss on debt extinguishment (17)
Total of pre-tax non-GAAP adjustments
Income tax effect of pre-tax non-GAAP adjustments (18)
Other non-GAAP income tax adjustments (19)
Total of non-GAAP adjustments
Non-GAAP Net Income
Non-GAAP Earnings Per Share:
Weighted average ordinary shares – Basic
Non-GAAP Earnings Per Share – Basic
GAAP (loss) earnings per share - Basic
Non-GAAP adjustments
Non-GAAP earnings per share – Basic

$

2017

(110,080) $
6,126

276,613
51,263
119,151
21,619
177,035
4,883
121,553
22,270
—
10,651
5,220
12,186

(1,464 )

239

(3,383 )
(42,688 )
(53,961 )

13,004

—
471,623
(45,393 )
(1,499 )
424,731
314,651 $
166,155,405

$
$

Weighted average ordinary shares – Diluted
Weighted average ordinary shares – Basic
Ordinary share equivalents
Weighted average ordinary shares – Diluted

(0.66 ) $
2.56
1.89 $

166,155,405
5,393,514
171,548,919

Non-GAAP Earnings Per Share – Diluted
GAAP (loss) earnings per share – Diluted
Non-GAAP adjustments
Diluted earnings per share effect of ordinary share equivalents
Non-GAAP earnings per share – Diluted
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$

$

6,631

269,603
59,565
17,312
22,752
7,717
15,350
114,860
50,302
5,750
2,855
937
(10 )

—

$

(365,692 )

(0.66 ) $
2.56
(0.06 )
1.83 $

—
(47,003 )
(6,267 )
978
790,026
(118,704 )
(110,832 )
560,490
194,798
163,122,663

(2.24 )
3.44
1.19

163,122,663
2,582,576
165,705,239

(2.24 )
3.44
(0.02 )
1.18

For the Years Ended December 31,
2018

GAAP loss for the financial year
Depreciation (1)
Amortization, accretion and stock step-up:
Intangible amortization expense (2)
Accretion of royalty liabilities (3)
Amortization of deferred revenue
Stock step-up expense (4)
Interest expense, net (including amortization of debt discount and
deferred financing costs)
Benefit for income taxes
EBITDA
Other non-GAAP adjustments:
Acquisition/divestiture-related costs (6)
Restructuring and realignment costs (7)
Share-based compensation (8)
Impairment of long-lived assets (9)
Litigation settlements (10)
Drug substance harmonization costs (11)
Fees related to term loan refinancing (12)
Upfront and milestone payments related to license agreements (13)
Charges relating to discontinuation of the Friedreich's ataxia
program (14)
Remeasurement of royalties for medicines acquired through
business combinations (3)
Gain on sale of assets (15)
Royalties for medicines acquired through business combinations (3)
Gain on divestiture (16)
Loss on debt extinguishment (17)
Total of non-GAAP adjustments
Adjusted EBITDA

$

$

(110,080 ) $
6,126

2017

(365,692 )
6,631

269,603
59,565
—
17,312

276,613
51,263
(860 )
119,151

121,692
(9,066 )
355,152

126,523
(138,642 )
74,987

7,717
15,350
114,860
50,302
5,750
2,855
937
(10 )

177,035
4,883
121,553
22,270
—
10,651
5,220
12,186

(1,464 )

239

(3,383 )
(42,688 )
(53,961 )
—
—
96,265
451,417 $

13,004
—
(47,003 )
(6,267 )
978
314,749
389,736

(1)

Represents depreciation expense related to our property, equipment, software and leasehold improvements.

(2)

Intangible amortization expenses are associated with our intellectual property rights, developed technology and customer
relationships related to ACTIMMUNE, BUPHENYL, KRYSTEXXA, LODOTRA, MIGERGOT, PENNSAID 2%,
PROCYSBI, RAVICTI, RAYOS and VIMOVO.

(3)

Our accrued contingent royalty liabilities consist of contingent third-party royalty obligations that we assume when we
acquire the rights to medicines. At the time of each acquisition, we assign a fair value to the contingent liability for
royalties. On a quarterly basis, we evaluate the carrying amount of the liability and we remeasure, or adjust, the liability
when anticipated royalty payments materially change. Any remeasurements of the contingent royalty liabilities are recorded
as an increase in or reduction to cost of goods sold during the period. In addition, accretion expense on the contingent
royalty liability is recorded in cost of goods sold. When we prepare our non-GAAP financial measures, we exclude the
ongoing impacts of acquisition-related contingent royalty liabilities. We do this by excluding the impact of any
remeasurement of contingent royalty liabilities and the royalty accretion expense. However, since we recorded a liability
for contingent royalties in purchase accounting, when we exclude the remeasurement and royalty accretion expense, our
non-GAAP financial measures would not include any impact of the royalties we are obligated to pay based on our current
period net sales. Therefore, we also add back in our non-GAAP financial measures the actual royalty amount incurred
based on the periods’ net sales for each of our medicines acquired through business combinations.

(4)

During the year ended December 31, 2018, we recognized in cost of sales $17.3 million for stock step-up expense primarily
related to KRYSTEXXA stock sold.
During the year ended December 31, 2017, we recognized in cost of sales $78.3 million for stock step-up expense related to
KRYSTEXXA and MIGERGOT stock sold and $40.8 million for stock step-up expense related to PROCYSBI and
QUINSAIR stock sold.

(5)

Represents amortization of debt discount and deferred financing costs associated with our debt.

(6)

Represents expenses, including legal and consulting fees, incurred in connection with our acquisitions and divestitures.
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(7)

Represents expenses, including severance costs and consulting fees, related to restructuring and realignment activities.

(8)

Represents share-based compensation expense associated with our stock option, restricted stock unit and performance stock
unit grants to our employees and non-employees, our previous cash-settled long-term incentive plan and our employee stock
purchase plan.

(9)

Impairment of long-lived assets during the year ended December 31, 2018, primarily relates to the write-off of the book
value of developed technology related to PROCYSBI in Canada and Latin America and LODOTRA.
Impairment of long-lived assets during the year ended December 31, 2017 of $22.3 million relates to an impairment
recorded following payment to Boehringer Ingelheim International for the acquisition of certain rights to interferon gamma1b. This was presented in the “charges relating to the discontinuation of the Friedreich’s ataxia program” line item in the
reconciliation of GAAP to non-GAAP measures during the year ended December 31, 2017.

(10) We recorded $5.8 million of expense during the year ended December 31, 2018, for litigation settlements related to
PENNSAID 2% and RAVICTI.
(11) During the year ended December 31, 2016, we entered into a definitive agreement to acquire certain rights to interferon
gamma-1b, marketed as IMUKIN in an estimated thirty countries primarily in Europe and the Middle East, or the IMUKIN
purchase agreement. We already owned the rights to interferon gamma-1b marketed as ACTIMMUNE in the United States,
Canada and Japan. In connection with the IMUKIN purchase agreement, we also committed to pay our contract
manufacturer certain amounts related to the harmonization of the manufacturing processes for ACTIMMUNE and IMUKIN
drug substance, or the harmonization program. At the time we entered into the IMUKIN purchase agreement and the
harmonization program commitment was made, we had anticipated achieving certain benefits should the Phase 3 clinical
trial evaluating ACTIMMUNE for the treatment of Friedreich’s ataxia, or FA, be successful. If the study had been
successful and if U.S. marketing approval had subsequently been obtained, we had forecasted significant increases in
demand for the medicine and the harmonization program would have resulted in significant benefits for us. Following the
FA discontinuation, we determined that certain assets, including an upfront payment related to the IMUKIN purchase
agreement, were impaired, and the costs under the harmonization program would no longer have benefit to us and should be
expensed as incurred.
(12) Represents arrangement and other fees relating to the refinancing of our term loans.
(13) During the year ended December 31, 2017, we incurred $12.2 million of upfront and milestone payments related to license
agreements, primarily related to our agreement to license HZN-003 (formerly MEDI4945), a rheumatology pipeline
program with the objective of enhancing our leadership position in the uncontrolled gout market, from MedImmune for an
upfront cash payment of $12.0 million.
(14) During the year ended December 31, 2018, we recorded a reduction to previously incurred charges relating to the FA
discontinuation of $1.5 million reflecting lower costs to discontinue the clinical trial than previously anticipated.
During the year ended December 31, 2017, we recorded charges relating to the FA discontinuation of $0.2 million.
(15) During the year ended December 31, 2018, we sold our rights to interferon gamma-1b in all territories outside the United
States, Canada and Japan to Clinigen for cash proceeds of $9.5 million, with a potential additional contingent consideration
payment, and we recorded a gain of $12.3 million. Additionally, during the year ended December 31, 2018, we sold our
rights to RAVICTI and AMMONAPS outside of North America and Japan to Medical Need Europe AB, and we recorded a
gain of $30.4 million.
(16) During the year ended December 31, 2017, we completed the divestiture of a European subsidiary that owns the marketing
rights to PROCYSBI and QUINSAIR in EMEA to Chiesi and in connection with this divestiture we recorded a gain of $6.3
million.
(17) During the year ended December 31, 2017, we entered into two refinancing amendments for our term loans. We accounted
for a portion of the repayments under these refinancing amendments as a debt extinguishment and recorded a loss on debt
extinguishment of $1.0 million in the consolidated statements of comprehensive loss, which reflected the write-off of the
unamortized portion of debt discount and deferred financing costs previously incurred and a one percent prepayment penalty
fee.
(18) Income tax adjustments on pre-tax non-GAAP adjustments represent the estimated income tax impact of each pre-tax
non-GAAP adjustment based on the statutory income tax rate of the applicable jurisdictions for each non-GAAP
adjustment.
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(19) Other non-GAAP income tax adjustments during the year ended December 31, 2017, reflect the provisional $110.8 million
tax benefit recorded following the enactment of the Tax Act, which resulted from the revaluation of our U.S. net deferred
tax liability based on the revised U.S. federal tax rate of 21 percent.
During the year ended December 31, 2018, in accordance with the one year measurement period adjustment under SAB
118, we recorded $1.5 million tax benefit with respect to the revaluation of certain U.S. deferred tax asset which is further
netted within the U.S. net deferred tax liabilities. We had no other material measurement period adjustments under SAB
118.

Principal Risks and Uncertainties
This report contains “forward-looking statements,” — that is, statements related to future, not past, events — as defined in
Section 21E of the U.S. Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, that reflect our current expectations regarding our future
growth, results of operations, cash flows, performance and business prospects and opportunities, as well as assumptions made by,
and information currently available to, our management. Forward-looking statements include any statement that does not directly
relate to a current or historical fact. We have tried to identify forward-looking statements by using words such as “anticipate,”
“believe,” “plan,” “expect,” “intend,” “will,” and similar expressions, but these words are not the exclusive means of identifying
forward-looking statements. These statements are based on information currently available to us and are subject to various risks,
uncertainties, and other factors, including, but not limited to, those matters discussed below, that could cause our actual growth,
results of operations, cash flows, performance and business prospects and opportunities to differ materially from those expressed
in, or implied by, these statements. Except as expressly required by the federal securities laws, we undertake no obligation to
update such factors or to publicly announce the results of any of the forward-looking statements contained herein to reflect future
events, developments, or changed circumstances, or for any other reason.
Certain factors may have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations, and you
should carefully consider them. Accordingly, in evaluating our business, we encourage you to consider the following discussion
of risk factors in its entirety, in addition to other information contained in this report as well as our public filings with the SEC.
Risks Related to Our Business and Industry
Our ability to generate revenues from our medicines is subject to attaining significant market acceptance among physicians,
patients and healthcare payers.
Our current medicines, and other medicines or medicine candidates that we may develop or acquire, may not attain market
acceptance among physicians, patients, healthcare payers or the medical community. We have a limited history of
commercializing medicines and most of our medicines have not been on the market for an extensive period of time, which
subjects us to numerous risks as we attempt to increase our market share. We believe that the degree of market acceptance and
our ability to generate revenues from our medicines will depend on a number of factors, including:
•

timing of market introduction of our medicines as well as competitive medicines;

•

efficacy and safety of our medicines;

•

continued projected growth of the markets in which our medicines compete;

•

prevalence and severity of any side effects;

•

if and when we are able to obtain regulatory approvals for additional indications for our medicines;

•

acceptance by patients, primary care physicians and key specialists;

•

availability of coverage and adequate reimbursement and pricing from government and other third-party payers;

•

potential or perceived advantages or disadvantages of our medicines over alternative treatments, including cost of
treatment and relative convenience and ease of administration;

•

strength of sales, marketing and distribution support;

•

the price of our medicines, both in absolute terms and relative to alternative treatments;

•

impact of past and limitation of future medicine price increases;

•

our ability to maintain a continuous supply of medicine for commercial sale;

•

the effect of current and future healthcare laws;

•

the performance of third-party distribution partners, over which we have limited control; and
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•

medicine labeling or medicine insert requirements of the U.S. Food and Drug Administration, or FDA, or other
regulatory authorities.

With respect to RAVICTI, which is approved to treat a very limited patient population, our ability to grow sales will depend
in large part on our ability to transition urea cycle disorder, or UCD, patients from BUPHENYL or generic equivalents, which are
comparatively much less expensive, to RAVICTI and to encourage patients and physicians to continue RAVICTI therapy once
initiated. With respect to PROCYSBI, which is also approved to treat a very limited patient population, our ability to grow sales
will depend in large part on our ability to transition patients from the first-generation immediate-release cysteamine therapy to
PROCYSBI, to identify additional patients with nephropathic cystinosis and to encourage patients and physicians to continue
therapy once initiated. With respect to ACTIMMUNE, while it is the only FDA-approved treatment for chronic granulomatous
disease, or CGD, and severe, malignant osteopetrosis, or SMO, they are very rare conditions and, as a result, our ability to grow
ACTIMMUNE sales will depend on our ability to access a wider patient population and encourage patients and physicians to
continue treatment once initiated. Unless QUINSAIR is approved for marketing in additional countries, our ability to drive
growth of this medicine will largely depend on expanding its use in Canada. With respect to KRYSTEXXA, our ability to grow
sales will be affected by the success of our sales, marketing and clinical strategies, which could expand the patient population and
usage of KRYSTEXXA. This includes our marketing efforts in nephrology and our studies designed to improve the response rate
to KRYSTEXXA and to evaluate the use of KRYSTEXXA in kidney transplant patients. With respect to each of BUPHENYL,
RAYOS, PENNSAID 2% w/w, or PENNSAID 2%, DUEXIS and VIMOVO, their higher cost compared to the generic or branded
forms of their active ingredients alone may limit adoption by physicians, patients and healthcare payers. With respect to DUEXIS
and VIMOVO, studies indicate that physicians do not commonly co-prescribe gastrointestinal, or GI, protective agents to highrisk patients taking nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs, or NSAIDs. We believe this is due in part to a lack of awareness among
physicians prescribing NSAIDs regarding the risk of NSAID-induced upper GI ulcers, in addition to the inconvenience of
prescribing two separate medications and patient compliance issues associated with multiple prescriptions. If physicians remain
unaware of, or do not otherwise believe in, the benefits of combining GI protective agents with NSAIDs, our market opportunity
for DUEXIS and VIMOVO will be limited. Some physicians may also be reluctant to prescribe DUEXIS or VIMOVO due to the
inability to vary the dose of ibuprofen and naproxen, respectively, or if they believe treatment with NSAIDs or GI protective
agents other than those contained in DUEXIS and VIMOVO, including those of its competitors, would be more effective for their
patients. If our current medicines or any other medicine that we may seek approval for, or acquire, fail to attain market
acceptance, we may not be able to generate significant revenue to achieve or sustain profitability, which would have a material
adverse effect on our business, results of operations, financial condition and prospects (including, possibly, the value of our
ordinary shares).
Our future prospects are highly dependent on our ability to successfully formulate and execute commercialization strategies
for each of our medicines. Failure to do so would adversely impact our financial condition and prospects.
A substantial majority of our resources are focused on the commercialization of our current medicines. Our ability to
generate significant medicine revenues and to achieve commercial success in the near-term will initially depend almost entirely on
our ability to successfully commercialize these medicines in the United States.
With respect to our rare disease medicines, RAVICTI, PROCYSBI, ACTIMMUNE, BUPHENYL, QUINSAIR and
KRYSTEXXA, our commercialization strategy includes efforts to increase awareness of the rare conditions that each medicine is
designed to treat, enhancing efforts to identify target patients and in certain cases pursue opportunities for label expansion and
more effective use through clinical trials. With respect to RAVICTI and PROCYSBI, our strategy includes accelerating the
transition of patients from first-generation therapies, and increasing the diagnosis of the associated rare conditions through patient
and physician outreach. Our strategy with respect to KRYSTEXXA includes supporting the three pillars of growth: existing
rheumatology account growth, new rheumatology account growth and accelerating nephrology growth.
With respect to our primary care medicines, PENNSAID 2%, DUEXIS, and VIMOVO, our strategy has included entering
into rebate agreements with pharmacy benefit managers, or PBMs, for certain of our primary care medicines where we believe the
rebates and costs justify expanded formulary access for patients and ensuring patient access to these drugs when prescribed
through our HorizonCares program. However, we cannot guarantee that we will be able to secure additional rebate agreements on
commercially reasonable terms, that expected volume growth will sufficiently offset the rebates and fees paid to PBMs or that our
existing agreements with PBMs will have the intended impact on formulary access. In addition, as the terms of our existing
agreements with PBMs expire, we may not be able to renew the agreements on commercially favorable terms, or at all. For each
of our primary care medicines, we expect that our commercial success will depend on our sales and marketing efforts in the
United States, reimbursement decisions by commercial payers, the expense we incur through our patient access program for fully
bought down contracts and the rebates we pay to PBMs, as well as the impact of numerous efforts at federal, state and local levels
to further reduce reimbursement and net pricing of primary care medicines.
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Our strategy for RAYOS in the United States is to focus on the rheumatology indications approved for RAYOS, including
our collaboration with the Alliance for Lupus Research, or ALR, to study the effect of RAYOS on the fatigue experienced by
systemic lupus erythematosus, or SLE, patients.
If any of our commercial strategies are unsuccessful or we fail to successfully modify our strategies over time due to
changing market conditions, our ability to increase market share for our medicines, grow revenues and to achieve and sustain
profitability will be harmed.
In order to increase adoption and sales of our medicines, we will need to continue developing our commercial organization
as well as recruit and retain qualified sales representatives.
Part of our strategy is to continue to build a biopharma company to successfully execute the commercialization of our
medicines in the U.S. market, and in selected markets outside the United States where we have commercial rights. We may not be
able to successfully commercialize our medicines in the United States or in any other territories where we have commercial
rights. In order to commercialize any approved medicines, we must continue to build our sales, marketing, distribution,
managerial and other non-technical capabilities. As of December 31, 2018, we had approximately 420 sales representatives in the
field, consisting of approximately 25 orphan disease sales representatives, 140 rheumatology sales specialists and 255 primary
care sales representatives. We currently have limited resources compared to some of our competitors, and the continued
development of our own commercial organization to market our medicines and any additional medicines we may acquire will be
expensive and time-consuming. We also cannot be certain that we will be able to continue to successfully develop this capability.
As a result of the evolving role of various constituents in the prescription decision making process, we focus on hiring sales
representatives for our primary care medicines and RAYOS with successful business to business experience. For example, we
have faced challenges due to pharmacists increasingly switching a patient’s intended prescription from DUEXIS and VIMOVO to
a generic or over-the-counter brand of their active ingredients, despite such substitution being off-label in the case of DUEXIS and
VIMOVO. We have faced similar challenges for BUPHENYL, RAYOS and PENNSAID 2% with respect to generic
brands. While we believe the profile of our representatives is better suited for this evolving environment, we cannot be certain
that our representatives will be able to successfully protect our market for BUPHENYL, RAYOS, PENNSAID 2%, DUEXIS and
VIMOVO or that we will be able to continue attracting and retaining sales representatives with our desired profile and skills. We
will also have to compete with other pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies to recruit, hire, train and retain commercial
personnel. To the extent we rely on additional third parties to commercialize any approved medicines, we may receive less
revenue than if we commercialized these medicines ourselves. In addition, we may have little or no control over the sales efforts
of any third parties involved in our commercialization efforts. In the event we are unable to successfully develop and maintain
our own commercial organization or collaborate with a third-party sales and marketing organization, we may not be able to
commercialize our medicines and medicine candidates and execute on our business plan.
If we are unable to effectively train and equip our sales force, our ability to successfully commercialize our medicines will
be harmed.
As we continue to acquire additional medicines through acquisition transactions, the members of our sales force may have
limited experience promoting certain of our medicines. To the extent we employ an acquired entity’s original sales forces to
promote acquired medicines, we may not be successful in continuing to retain these employees and we otherwise will have limited
experience marketing these medicines under our commercial organization. As a result, we are required to expend significant time
and resources to train our sales force to be credible and persuasive in convincing physicians to prescribe and pharmacists to
dispense our medicines. In addition, we must train our sales force to ensure that a consistent and appropriate message about our
medicines is being delivered to our potential customers. Our sales representatives may also experience challenges promoting
multiple medicines when we call on physicians and their office staff. We have experienced, and may continue to experience,
turnover of the sales representatives that we hired or will hire, requiring us to train new sales representatives. If we are unable to
effectively train our sales force and equip them with effective materials, including medical and sales literature to help them inform
and educate physicians about the benefits of our medicines and their proper administration and label indication, as well as our
patient access programs, our efforts to successfully commercialize our medicines could be put in jeopardy, which could have a
material adverse effect on our financial condition, share price and operations.
If we cannot successfully implement our patient access programs or increase formulary access and reimbursement for our
medicines in the face of increasing pressure to reduce the price of medications, the adoption of our medicines by physicians,
patients and payers may decline.
There continues to be immense pressure from healthcare payers, PBMs and others to use less expensive or generic
medicines or over-the-counter brands instead of certain branded medicines. For example, some of the largest PBMs previously
placed DUEXIS and VIMOVO on their formulary exclusion lists. Additional healthcare plans, including those that contract with
these PBMs but use different formularies, may also choose to exclude our medicines from their formularies or restrict coverage to
situations where a generic or over-the-counter medicine has been tried first. Many payers and PBMs also require patients to make
co-payments for branded medicines, including many of our medicines, in order to incentivize the use of generic or other lower16

priced alternatives instead. Legislation enacted in most states in the United States allows, or in some instances mandates, that a
pharmacist dispenses an available generic equivalent when filling a prescription for a branded medicine, in the absence of specific
instructions from the prescribing physician. Because our medicines (other than BUPHENYL) do not currently have FDAapproved generic equivalents in the United States, we do not believe our medicines should be subject to mandatory generic
substitution laws. However, we understand that some pharmacies may attempt to obtain physician authorization to switch
prescriptions for DUEXIS or VIMOVO to prescriptions for multiple generic medicines with similar active pharmaceutical
ingredients, or APIs, to ensure payment for the medicine if the physician’s prescription for the branded medicine is not
immediately covered by the payer, despite such substitution being off-label in the case of DUEXIS and VIMOVO. If these
limitations in coverage and other incentives result in patients refusing to fill prescriptions or being dissatisfied with the out-ofpocket costs of their medications, or if pharmacies otherwise seek and receive physician authorization to switch prescriptions, not
only would we lose sales on prescriptions that are ultimately not filled, but physicians may be dissuaded from writing
prescriptions for our medicines in the first place in order to avoid potential patient non-compliance or dissatisfaction over
medication costs, or to avoid spending the time and effort of responding to pharmacy requests to switch prescriptions.
Part of our commercial strategy to increase adoption and access to our medicines in the face of these incentives to use
generic alternatives is to offer physicians the opportunity to have patients fill prescriptions through independent pharmacies
participating in our HorizonCares patient access program, including shipment of prescriptions to patients. We also have
contracted with a third party prescription clearinghouse that offers physicians a single point of contact for processing prescriptions
through these independent pharmacies, reducing physician administrative costs, increasing the fill rates for prescriptions and
enabling physicians to monitor refill activity. Through HorizonCares, financial assistance may be available to reduce eligible
patients’ out-of-pocket costs for prescriptions filled. Because of this assistance, eligible patients’ out-of-pocket cost for our
medicines when dispensed through HorizonCares may be significantly lower than such costs when our medicines are dispensed
outside of the HorizonCares program. However, to the extent physicians do not direct prescriptions currently filled through
traditional pharmacies, including those associated with or controlled by PBMs, to pharmacies participating in our HorizonCares
program, we may experience a significant decline in PENNSAID 2%, DUEXIS and VIMOVO prescriptions. Our ability to
increase utilization of our patient access programs will depend on physician and patient awareness and comfort with the programs,
and we have limited ability to influence whether physicians use our patient access programs to prescribe our medicines or whether
patients will agree to receive our medicines through our HorizonCares program. In addition, the HorizonCares program is not
available to federal health care program (such as Medicare and Medicaid) beneficiaries. We have also contracted with certain
PBMs and other payers to secure formulary status and reimbursement for certain of our primary care medicines, which generally
require us to pay administrative fees and rebates to the PBMs and other payers for qualifying prescriptions. While we have
business relationships with two of the largest PBMs, Express Scripts, Inc., or Express Scripts, and CVS Caremark, that have
resulted in DUEXIS and VIMOVO being removed from the Express Scripts and CVS Caremark exclusion lists starting in 2017,
as well as a rebate agreement with another PBM, Prime Therapeutics LLC, and we believe these agreements will secure formulary
status for certain of our medicines, we cannot guarantee that we will be able to agree to terms with other PBMs and other payers,
or that such terms will be commercially reasonable to us. Despite our agreements with PBMs, the extent of formulary status and
reimbursement will ultimately depend to a large extent upon individual healthcare plan formulary decisions. If healthcare plans
that contract with PBMs with which we have agreements do not adopt formulary changes recommended by the PBMs with respect
to our medicines, we may not realize the expected access and reimbursement benefits from these agreements. In addition, we
generally pay higher rebates for prescriptions covered under plans that adopt a PBM-chosen formulary than for plans that adopt
custom formularies. Consequently, the success of our PBM contracting strategy will depend not only on our ability to expand
formulary adoption among healthcare plans, but also upon the relative mix of healthcare plans that have PBM-chosen formularies
versus custom formularies. If we are unable to realize the expected benefits of our contractual arrangements with the PBMs we
may continue to experience reductions in net sales from our primary care medicines and/or reductions in net pricing for our
primary care medicines due to increasing patient assistance costs. If we are unable to increase adoption of HorizonCares for
filling prescriptions of our medicines and to secure formulary status and reimbursement through arrangements with PBMs and
other payers, particularly with healthcare plans that use custom formularies, our ability to achieve net sales growth for our primary
care medicines would be impaired.
There has been negative publicity and inquiries from Congress and enforcement authorities regarding the use of specialty
pharmacies and drug pricing. Our patient access programs are not involved in the prescribing of medicines and are solely to assist
in ensuring that when a physician determines one of our medicines offers a potential clinical benefit to their patients and they
prescribe one for an eligible patient, financial assistance may be available to reduce the patient’s out-of-pocket costs. In addition,
all pharmacies that fill prescriptions for our medicines are fully independent, including those that participate in HorizonCares. We
do not own or possess any option to purchase an ownership stake in any pharmacy that distributes our medicines, and our
relationship with each pharmacy is non-exclusive and arm’s length. All of our sales are processed through pharmacies
independent of us. Despite this, the negative publicity and interest from Congress and enforcement authorities regarding specialty
pharmacies may result in physicians being less willing to participate in our patient access programs and thereby limit our ability to
increase patient access and adoption of our medicines.
We may also encounter difficulty in forming and maintaining relationships with pharmacies that participate in our patient
access programs. We currently depend on a limited number of pharmacies participating in HorizonCares to fulfill patient
prescriptions under the HorizonCares program. If these HorizonCares participating pharmacies are unable to process and fulfill
the volume of patient prescriptions directed to them under the HorizonCares program, our ability to maintain or increase
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prescriptions for our medicines will be impaired. The commercialization of our medicines and our operating results could be
affected should any of the HorizonCares participating pharmacies choose not to continue participation in our HorizonCares
program or by any adverse events at any of those HorizonCares participating pharmacies. For example, pharmacies that dispense
our medicines could lose contracts that they currently maintain with managed care organizations, or MCOs, including
PBMs. Pharmacies often enter into agreements with MCOs. They may be required to abide by certain terms and conditions to
maintain access to MCO networks, including terms and conditions that could limit their ability to participate in patient access
programs like ours. Failure to comply with the terms of their agreements with MCOs could result in a variety of penalties,
including termination of their agreement, which could negatively impact the ability of those pharmacies to dispense our medicines
and collect reimbursement from MCOs for such medicines.
The HorizonCares program may implicate certain federal and state laws related to, among other things, unlawful schemes to
defraud, excessive fees for services, tortious interference with patient contracts and statutory or common law fraud. We have a
comprehensive compliance program in place to address adherence with various laws and regulations relating to the selling,
marketing and manufacturing of our medicines, as well as certain third-party relationships, including pharmacies. Specifically
with respect to pharmacies, the compliance program utilizes a variety of methods and tools to monitor and audit pharmacies,
including those that participate in the HorizonCares program, to confirm their activities, adjudication and practices are consistent
with our compliance policies and guidance. Despite our compliance efforts, to the extent the HorizonCares program is found to be
inconsistent with applicable laws or the pharmacies that participate in our patient access programs do not comply with applicable
laws, we may be required to restructure or discontinue such programs, terminate our relationship with certain pharmacies, or be
subject to other significant penalties. In November 2015, we received a subpoena from the U.S. Attorney’s Office for the
Southern District of New York requesting documents and information related to our patient access programs and other aspects of
our marketing and commercialization activities. We are unable to predict how long this investigation will continue or its outcome,
but we have incurred and anticipate that we may continue to incur significant costs in connection with the investigation, regardless
of the outcome. We may also become subject to similar investigations by other governmental agencies or Congress. The
investigation by the U.S. Attorney’s Office and any additional investigations of our patient access programs and sales and
marketing activities may result in damages, fines, penalties, exclusion, additional reporting requirements and/or oversight or other
administrative sanctions against us.
If the cost of maintaining our patient access programs increases relative to our sales revenues, we could be forced to reduce
the amount of patient financial assistance that we offer or otherwise scale back or eliminate such programs, which could in turn
have a negative impact on physicians’ willingness to prescribe and patients’ willingness to fill prescriptions of our
medicines. While we believe that our arrangements with PBMs will result in broader inclusion of certain of our primary care
medicines on healthcare plan formularies, and therefore increase payer reimbursement and lower our cost of providing patient
access programs, these arrangements generally require us to pay administrative and rebate payments to the PBMs and/or other
payers and their effectiveness will ultimately depend to a large extent upon individual healthcare plan formulary decisions that are
beyond the control of the PBMs. If our arrangements with PBMs and other payers do not result in increased prescriptions and
reductions in our costs to provide our patient access programs that are sufficient to offset the administrative fees and rebate
payments to the PBMs and/or other payers, our financial results may continue to be harmed.
If we are unable to successfully implement our commercial plans and facilitate adoption by patients and physicians of any
approved medicines through our sales, marketing and commercialization efforts, then we will not be able to generate sustainable
revenues from medicine sales which will have a material adverse effect on our business and prospects.
Coverage and reimbursement may not be available, or reimbursement may be available at only limited levels, for our
medicines, which could make it difficult for us to sell our medicines profitably or to successfully execute planned medicine
price increases.
Market acceptance and sales of our medicines will depend in large part on global coverage and reimbursement policies and
may be affected by future healthcare reform measures, both in the United States and other key international markets. Successful
commercialization of our medicines will depend in part on the availability of governmental and third-party payer reimbursement
for the cost of our medicines. Government health administration authorities, private health insurers and other organizations
generally provide reimbursement for healthcare. In particular, in the United States, private health insurers and other third-party
payers often provide reimbursement for medicines and services based on the level at which the government (through the Medicare
or Medicaid programs) provides reimbursement for such treatments. In the United States, the European Union, or EU, and other
significant or potentially significant markets for our medicines and medicine candidates, government authorities and third-party
payers are increasingly attempting to limit or regulate the price of medicines and services, particularly for new and innovative
medicines and therapies, which has resulted in lower average selling prices. Further, the increased scrutiny of prescription drug
pricing practices and emphasis on managed healthcare in the United States and on country and regional pricing and
reimbursement controls in the EU will put additional pressure on medicine pricing, reimbursement and usage, which may
adversely affect our medicine sales and results of operations. These pressures can arise from rules and practices of managed care
groups, judicial decisions and governmental laws and regulations related to Medicare, Medicaid and healthcare reform,
pharmaceutical reimbursement policies and pricing in general. These pressures may create negative reactions to any medicine
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price increases, or limit the amount by which we may be able to increase our medicine prices, which may adversely affect our
medicine sales and results of operations.

Patients are unlikely to use our medicines unless coverage is provided and reimbursement is adequate to cover a significant
portion of the cost of our medicines. Third-party payers may limit coverage to specific medicines on an approved list, also known
as a formulary, which might not include all of the FDA-approved medicines for a particular indication. Moreover, a third-party
payer’s decision to provide coverage for a medicine does not imply that an adequate reimbursement rate will be
approved. Additionally, one third-party payer’s decision to cover a particular medicine does not ensure that other payers will also
provide coverage for the medicine, or will provide coverage at an adequate reimbursement rate. Even though we have contracts
with some PBMs in the United States, that does not guarantee that they will perform in accordance with the contracts, nor does
that preclude them from taking adverse actions against us, which could materially adversely affect our operating results. In
addition, the existence of such PBM contracts does not guarantee coverage by such PBM’s contracted health plans or adequate
reimbursement to their respective providers for our medicines. For example, two significant PBMs placed DUEXIS and
VIMOVO on their exclusion lists beginning in 2015, which has resulted in a loss of coverage for patients whose healthcare plans
have adopted these PBM lists. While DUEXIS and VIMOVO were removed from the Express Scripts and CVS Caremark
exclusion lists starting in 2017, we cannot guarantee that Express Scripts or CVS Caremark will not later add these medicines
back to their exclusion lists or that we will be able to otherwise expand formulary access for DUEXIS and VIMOVO under health
plans that contract with Express Scripts and/or CVS Caremark. Additional healthcare plan formularies may also exclude our
medicines from coverage due to the actions of certain PBMs, future price increases we may implement, our use of the
HorizonCares program or any other co-pay programs, or other reasons. If our strategies to mitigate formulary exclusions are not
effective, these events may reduce the likelihood that physicians prescribe our medicines and increase the likelihood that
prescriptions for our medicines are not filled.
Outside of the United States, the success of our medicines and medicine candidates will depend largely on obtaining and
maintaining government coverage, because in many countries patients are unlikely to use prescription drugs that are not covered
by their government healthcare programs. We market RAVICTI, PROCYSBI, and QUINSAIR in Canada. Further, we cannot be
certain that existing reimbursement in Canada will be maintained or that we will be able to secure reimbursement in additional
countries. Negotiating coverage and reimbursement with governmental authorities can delay commercialization by twelve months
or more. Coverage and reimbursement policies may adversely affect our ability to sell our medicines on a profitable basis. In
many international markets, governments control the prices of prescription pharmaceuticals, including through the implementation
of reference pricing, price cuts, rebates, revenue-related taxes and profit control, and we expect prices of prescription
pharmaceuticals to decline over the life of the medicine or as volumes increase. As a result of these pricing practices, it may
become difficult to achieve or sustain profitability or expected rates of growth in revenue or results of operations. Any shortfalls
in revenue could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.
In light of such policies and the uncertainty surrounding proposed regulations and changes in the coverage and
reimbursement policies of governments and third-party payers, we cannot be sure that coverage and reimbursement will be
available for any of our medicines in any additional markets or for any other medicine candidates that we may develop. Also, we
cannot be sure that reimbursement amounts will not reduce the demand for, or the price of, our medicines. If coverage and
reimbursement are not available or are available only at limited levels, we may not be able to successfully commercialize our
medicines.
We expect to experience pricing pressures in connection with the sale of our medicines due to the trend toward managed
healthcare, the increasing influence of health maintenance organizations and additional legislative proposals relating to outcomes
and quality. For example, the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act, as amended by the Health Care and Education
Reconciliation Act, or collectively the ACA, increased the mandated Medicaid rebate from 15.1% to 23.1%, expanded the rebate
to Medicaid managed care utilization and increased the types of entities eligible for the federal 340B drug discount program. As
concerns continue to grow over the need for tighter oversight, there remains the possibility that the Health Resources and Services
Administration or another agency under the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, or HHS, will propose a similar
regulation or that Congress will explore changes to the 340B program through legislation. For example, a bill was introduced in
2018 that would require hospitals to report their low-income utilization of the program. Further, the Centers for Medicare &
Medicaid Services issued a final rule that would revise the Medicare hospital outpatient prospective payment system for calendar
year 2019, including a new reimbursement methodology for drugs purchased under the 340B program for Medicare patients at the
hospital setting and recently announced the same change for physician-based practices under 340B in 2019. Pursuant to the final
rule, after January 1, 2019, manufacturers must calculate 340B program ceiling prices on a quarterly basis. Moreover,
manufacturers could be subject to a $5,000 penalty for each instance where they knowingly and intentionally overcharge a
covered entity under the 340B program. With respect to KRYSTEXXA, the “additional rebate” scheme of the 340B pricing rules,
as applied to the historical pricing of KRYSTEXXA both before and after we acquired the medicine, have resulted in a 340B
ceiling price of one penny. A material portion of KRYSTEXXA prescriptions (approximately twenty to twenty-five percent) are
written by healthcare providers that are eligible for 340B drug pricing and therefore the reduction in 340B pricing to a penny has
negatively impacted our net sales from KRYSTEXXA.
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There may be additional pressure by payers, healthcare providers, state governments, federal regulators and Congress, to use
generic drugs that contain the active ingredients found in our medicines or any other medicine candidates that we may develop or
acquire. If we fail to successfully secure and maintain coverage and adequate reimbursement for our medicines or are
significantly delayed in doing so, we will have difficulty achieving market acceptance of our medicines and expected revenue and
profitability which would have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations, financial condition and prospects.
We may also experience pressure from payers as well as state and federal government authorities concerning certain
promotional approaches that we may implement such as our HorizonCares program or any other co-pay or free medicine
programs whereby we assist qualified patients with certain out-of-pocket expenditures for our medicine. Certain state and federal
enforcement authorities and members of Congress have initiated inquiries about co-pay assistance programs. Some state
legislatures have been considering proposals that would restrict or ban co-pay coupons. For example, legislation was recently
signed into law in California that would limit the use of co-pay coupons in cases where a lower cost generic drug is available and
if individual ingredients in combination therapies are available over the counter at a lower cost. It is possible that similar
legislation could be proposed and enacted in additional states. If we are unsuccessful with our HorizonCares program or any other
co-pay initiatives or free medicine programs, or we alternatively are unable to secure expanded formulary access through
additional arrangements with PBMs or other payers, we would be at a competitive disadvantage in terms of pricing versus
preferred branded and generic competitors. We may also experience financial pressure in the future which would make it difficult
to support investment levels in areas such as managed care contract rebates, HorizonCares and other access tools.
We are solely dependent on third parties to commercialize certain of our medicines outside the United States. Failure of
these third parties or any other third parties to successfully commercialize our medicines and medicine candidates in the
applicable jurisdictions could have an adverse effect on our business.
Innomar Strategies Inc., or Innomar, is our exclusive distributor for RAVICTI, PROCYSBI and QUINSAIR in Canada. We
rely on Orphan Pacific, Inc., or Orphan Pacific, for commercialization of BUPHENYL in Japan for which we currently have
rights. We have limited contractual rights to force these third parties to invest significantly in commercialization of these
medicines in our markets. In the event that Innomar, Orphan Pacific or any other third party with any future commercialization
rights to any of our medicines or medicine candidates fail to adequately commercialize those medicines or medicine candidates
because they lack adequate financial or other resources, decide to focus on other initiatives or otherwise, our ability to
successfully commercialize our medicines or medicine candidates in the applicable jurisdictions would be limited, which would
adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects. In addition, our agreements with Innomar
and Orphan Pacific, may be terminated by either party in the event of a bankruptcy of the other party or upon an uncured material
breach by the other party. If these third parties terminated their agreements, we may not be able to secure an alternative
distributor in the applicable territory on a timely basis or at all, in which case our ability to generate revenues from the sale of
RAVICTI, PROCYSBI, BUPHENYL or QUINSAIR, outside the United States would be harmed.
Our medicines are subject to extensive regulation, and we may not obtain additional regulatory approvals for our
medicines.
The clinical development, manufacturing, labeling, packaging, storage, recordkeeping, advertising, promotion, export,
marketing and distribution and other possible activities relating to our medicines and our medicine candidates are, and will be,
subject to extensive regulation by the FDA and other regulatory agencies. Failure to comply with FDA and other applicable
regulatory requirements may, either before or after medicine approval, subject us to administrative or judicially imposed
sanctions.
To market any drugs or biologics outside of the United States, we and current or future collaborators must comply with
numerous and varying regulatory and compliance related requirements of other countries. Approval procedures vary among
countries and can involve additional medicine testing and additional administrative review periods, including obtaining
reimbursement and pricing approval in select markets. The time required to obtain approval in other countries might differ from
that required to obtain FDA approval. The regulatory approval process in other countries may include all of the risks associated
with FDA approval as well as additional, presently unanticipated, risks. Regulatory approval in one country does not ensure
regulatory approval in another, but a failure or delay in obtaining regulatory approval in one country may negatively impact the
regulatory process in others.
Applications for regulatory approval, including a marketing authorization application, or MAA, for marketing new drugs in
Europe, must be supported by extensive clinical and pre-clinical data, as well as extensive information regarding chemistry,
manufacturing and controls, or CMC, to demonstrate the safety and effectiveness of the applicable medicine candidate. The
number and types of pre-clinical studies and clinical trials that will be required for regulatory approval varies depending on the
medicine candidate, the disease or the condition that the medicine candidate is designed to target and the regulations applicable to
any particular medicine candidate. Despite the time and expense associated with pre-clinical and clinical studies, failure can occur
at any stage, and we could encounter problems that cause us to repeat or perform additional pre-clinical studies, CMC studies or
clinical trials. Regulatory authorities could delay, limit or deny approval of a medicine candidate for many reasons, including
because they:
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•
•
•
•
•
•
•

may not deem a medicine candidate to be adequately safe and effective;
may not find the data from pre-clinical studies, CMC studies and clinical trials to be sufficient to support a claim of
safety and efficacy;
may interpret data from pre-clinical studies, CMC studies and clinical trials significantly differently than we do;
may not approve the manufacturing processes or facilities associated with our medicine candidates;
may conclude that we have not sufficiently demonstrated long-term stability of the formulation for which we are
seeking marketing approval;
may change approval policies (including with respect to our medicine candidates’ class of drugs) or adopt new
regulations; or
may not accept a submission due to, among other reasons, the content or formatting of the submission.

Even if we believe that data collected from our pre-clinical studies, CMC studies and clinical trials of our medicine
candidates are promising and that our information and procedures regarding CMC are sufficient, our data may not be sufficient to
support marketing approval by regulatory authorities, or regulatory interpretation of these data and procedures may be
unfavorable. Even if approved, medicine candidates may not be approved for all indications requested and such approval may be
subject to limitations on the indicated uses for which the medicine may be marketed, restricted distribution methods or other
limitations. Our business and reputation may be harmed by any failure or significant delay in obtaining regulatory approval for
the sale of any of our medicine candidates. We cannot predict when or whether regulatory approval will be obtained for any
medicine candidate we develop.
We will evaluate all development opportunities, including all obligations to use commercial reasonable efforts to further
develop QUINSAIR. However, we may determine not to pursue such further development.
The ultimate approval and commercial marketing of any of our medicines in additional indications or geographies is subject
to substantial uncertainty. Failure to gain additional regulatory approvals would limit the potential revenues and value of our
medicines and could cause our share price to decline.
We may be subject to penalties and litigation and large incremental expenses if we fail to comply with regulatory
requirements or experience problems with our medicines.
Even after we achieve regulatory approvals, we are subject to ongoing obligations and continued regulatory review with
respect to many operational aspects including our manufacturing processes, labeling, packaging, distribution, storage, adverse
event monitoring and reporting, dispensation, advertising, promotion and recordkeeping. These requirements include submissions
of safety and other post-marketing information and reports, ongoing maintenance of medicine registration and continued
compliance with current good manufacturing practices, or cGMPs, good clinical practices, or GCPs, good pharmacovigilance
practice, good distribution practices and good laboratory practices, or GLPs. If we, our medicines or medicine candidates, or the
third-party manufacturing facilities for our medicines or medicine candidates fail to comply with applicable regulatory
requirements, a regulatory agency may:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

impose injunctions or restrictions on the marketing, manufacturing or distribution of a medicine, suspend or withdraw
medicine approvals, revoke necessary licenses or suspend medicine reimbursement;
issue warning letters, show cause notices or untitled letters describing alleged violations, which may be publicly
available;
suspend any ongoing clinical trials or delay or prevent the initiation of clinical trials;
delay or refuse to approve pending applications or supplements to approved applications we have filed;
refuse to permit drugs or precursor or intermediary chemicals to be imported or exported to or from the United States;
suspend or impose restrictions or additional requirements on operations, including costly new manufacturing quality
or pharmacovigilance requirements;
seize or detain medicines or require us to initiate a medicine recall; and/or
commence criminal investigations and prosecutions.

Moreover, existing regulatory approvals and any future regulatory approvals that we obtain will be subject to limitations on
the approved indicated uses and patient populations for which our medicines may be marketed, the conditions of approval,
requirements for potentially costly, post-market testing and requirements for surveillance to monitor the safety and efficacy of the
medicines. In the European Economic Area, or EEA, the advertising and promotion of pharmaceuticals is strictly regulated. The
direct-to-consumer promotion of prescription pharmaceuticals is not permitted, and some countries in the EEA require the
notification and/or prior authorization of promotional or advertising materials directed at healthcare professionals. The FDA,
European Medicines Agency, or EMA, and other authorities in the EEA countries strictly regulate the promotional claims that
may be made about prescription medicines, and our medicine labeling, advertising and promotion are subject to continuing
regulatory review. Physicians nevertheless may prescribe our medicines to their patients in a manner that is inconsistent with the
approved label or that is off-label. Positive clinical trial results in any of our medicine development programs increase the risk
that approved pharmaceutical forms of the same APIs may be used off-label in those indications. If we are found to have

21

improperly promoted off-label uses of approved medicines, we may be subject to significant sanctions, civil and criminal fines
and injunctions prohibiting us from engaging in specified promotional conduct.
In addition, engaging in improper promotion of our medicines for off-label uses in the United States can subject us to false
claims litigation under federal and state statutes. These false claims statutes in the United States include the federal False Claims
Act, which allows any individual to bring a lawsuit against a pharmaceutical company on behalf of the federal government
alleging submission of false or fraudulent claims or causing to present such false or fraudulent claims for payment by a federal
program such as Medicare or Medicaid. Growth in false claims litigation has increased the risk that a pharmaceutical company
will have to defend a false claim action, pay civil money penalties, settlement fines or restitution, agree to comply with
burdensome reporting and compliance obligations and be excluded from Medicare, Medicaid and other federal and state
healthcare programs.
The regulations, policies or guidance of regulatory agencies may change and new or additional statutes or government
regulations may be enacted that could prevent or delay regulatory approval of our medicine candidates or further restrict or
regulate post-approval activities. For example, in January 2014, the FDA released draft guidance on how drug companies can
fulfill their regulatory requirements for post-marketing submission of interactive promotional media, and though the guidance
provided insight into how the FDA views a company’s responsibility for certain types of social media promotion, there remains a
substantial amount of uncertainty regarding internet and social media promotion of regulated medical products. We cannot
predict the likelihood, nature or extent of adverse government regulation that may arise from pending or future legislation or
administrative action, either in the United States or abroad. If we are unable to achieve and maintain regulatory compliance, we
will not be permitted to market our drugs, which would materially adversely affect our business, results of operations and
financial condition.
Our limited history of commercial operations makes evaluating our business and future prospects difficult and may increase
the risk of any investment in our ordinary shares.
We face considerable risks and difficulties as a company with limited commercial operating history, particularly as a global
consolidated entity with operating subsidiaries that also have limited operating histories. If we do not successfully address these
risks, our business, prospects, operating results and financial condition will be materially and adversely harmed. Our limited
commercial operating history, including our limited history commercializing our current medicines, makes it particularly difficult
for us to predict our future operating results and appropriately budget for our expenses. In the event that actual results differ from
our estimates or we adjust our estimates in future periods, our operating results and financial position could be materially affected.
For example, we may underestimate the resources we will require to successfully integrate recent or future medicine or company
acquisitions, or to commercialize our medicines, or not realize the benefits we expect to derive from our recent or future
acquisitions. In addition, we have a limited history implementing our commercialization strategy focused on patient access, and
we cannot guarantee that we will be able to successfully implement this strategy or that it will represent a viable strategy over the
long term.
We have rights to medicines in certain jurisdictions but have no control over third parties that have rights to commercialize
those medicines in other jurisdictions, which could adversely affect our commercialization of these medicines.
Following our sale of the rights to RAVICTI and AMMONAPS (known as BUPHENYL in the United States) outside of
North America and Japan to Medical Need Europe AB, part of the Immedica Group, or Immedica, in December 2018, Immedica
has marketing and distribution rights to RAVICTI and AMMONAPS in those regions. Following our sale of the rights to
interferon gamma 1b, known as IMUKIN, outside of the United States, Canada and Japan to Clinigen Group plc, or Clinigen, in
July 2018, Clinigen has marketing and distribution rights to IMUKIN in those regions. Following our sale of the rights to
PROCYSBI and QUINSAIR in the Europe, Middle East and Africa, or EMEA, regions to Chiesi Farmaceutici S.p.A, or Chiesi, in
June 2017, or the Chiesi divestiture, Chiesi has marketing and distribution rights to PROCYSBI and QUINSAIR in the EMEA
regions. Nuvo Pharmaceuticals Inc. (formerly known as Nuvo Research Inc.), or Nuvo, has retained its rights to PENNSAID 2%
in territories outside of the United States. In March 2017, Nuvo announced that it had entered into an exclusive license agreement
with Sayre Therapeutics PVT Ltd. to distribute, market and sell PENNSAID 2% in India, Sri Lanka, Bangladesh and Nepal, and
in December 2017 Nuvo announced that it had entered into a license and distribution agreement with Gebro Pharma AG for the
exclusive right to register, distribute, market and sell PENNSAID 2% in Switzerland and Liechtenstein. Grünenthal GmbH, or
Grünenthal, acquired the rights to VIMOVO in territories outside of the United States, including the right to use the VIMOVO
name and related trademark from AstraZeneca AB, or AstraZeneca, in October 2018. We have little or no control over
Immedica’s activities with respect to RAVICTI and AMMONAPS outside of North America and Japan, over Clinigen’s activities
with respect to IMUKIN outside the United States, Canada and Japan, over Chiesi’s activities with respect to PROCYSBI and
QUINSAIR in the EMEA, over Nuvo’s or its existing and future commercial partners’ activities with respect to PENNSAID 2%
outside of the United States, or over Grünenthal’s activities with respect to VIMOVO outside the United States even though those
activities could impact our ability to successfully commercialize these medicines. For example, Immedica or its assignees,
Clinigen or its assignees, Chiesi or its assignees, Nuvo or its assignees or Grünenthal or its assignees can make statements or use
promotional materials with respect to RAVICTI and AMMONAPS, IMUKIN, PROCYSBI and QUINSAIR, PENNSAID 2% or
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VIMOVO, respectively, outside of the United States that are inconsistent with our positioning of the medicines in the United
States, and could sell RAVICTI and AMMONAPS, IMUKIN, PROCYSBI and QUINSAIR, PENNSAID 2% or VIMOVO,
respectively, in foreign countries at prices that are dramatically lower than the prices we charge in the United States. These
activities and decisions, while occurring outside of the United States, could harm our commercialization strategy in the United
States, in particular because Grünenthal is continuing to market VIMOVO outside the United States under the same VIMOVO
brand name that we are using in the United States. In addition, medicine recalls or safety issues with these medicines outside the
United States, even if not related to the commercial medicine we sell in the United States, could result in serious damage to the
brand in the United States and impair our ability to successfully market them. We also rely on Immedica, Clinigen, Chiesi, Nuvo
and Grünenthal or their assignees to provide us with timely and accurate safety information regarding the use of these medicines
outside of the United States, as we have or will have limited access to this information ourselves.
We rely on third parties to manufacture commercial supplies of all of our medicines, and we currently intend to rely on
third parties to manufacture commercial supplies of any other approved medicines. The commercialization of any of our
medicines could be stopped, delayed or made less profitable if those third parties fail to provide us with sufficient quantities
of medicine or fail to do so at acceptable quality levels or prices or fail to maintain or achieve satisfactory regulatory
compliance.
The facilities used by our third-party manufacturers to manufacture our medicines and medicine candidates must be
approved by the applicable regulatory authorities. We do not control the manufacturing processes of third-party manufacturers
and are currently completely dependent on our third-party manufacturing partners. In addition, we are required to obtain
Grünenthal’s (formerly AstraZeneca) consent prior to engaging any third-party manufacturers for esomeprazole, one of the APIs
in VIMOVO, other than the third-party manufacturer(s) used by Grünenthal or its affiliates or licensees. To the extent such
manufacturers are unwilling or unable to manufacture esomeprazole for us on commercially acceptable terms, we cannot
guarantee that Grünenthal would consent to our use of alternate sources of supply.
We rely on an exclusive supply agreement with Boehringer Ingelheim Biopharmaceuticals GmbH, or Boehringer Ingelheim
Biopharmaceuticals, for manufacturing and supply of ACTIMMUNE. ACTIMMUNE is manufactured by starting with cells from
working cell bank samples which are derived from a master cell bank. We and Boehringer Ingelheim Biopharmaceuticals
separately store multiple vials of the master cell bank. In the event of catastrophic loss at our or Boehringer Ingelheim
Biopharmaceuticals’ storage facility, it is possible that we could lose multiple cell banks and have the manufacturing capacity of
ACTIMMUNE severely impacted by the need to substitute or replace the cell banks. We rely on NOF Corporation, or NOF, as
our exclusive supplier of the PEGylation agent that is a critical raw material in the manufacture of KRYSTEXXA. If NOF failed
to supply such PEGylation agent, it may lead to KRYSTEXXA supply constraints. In addition, a key excipient used in
PENNSAID 2% as a penetration enhancer is dimethyl sulfoxide, or DMSO. We and Nuvo, our exclusive supplier of PENNSAID
2%, rely on a sole proprietary form of DMSO for which we maintain a substantial safety stock. However, should this supply
become inadequate, damaged, destroyed or unusable, we and Nuvo may not be able to qualify a second source.
If any of our third-party manufacturers cannot successfully manufacture material that conforms to our specifications and the
applicable regulatory authorities’ strict regulatory requirements, or pass regulatory inspection, they will not be able to secure or
maintain regulatory approval for the manufacturing facilities. For example, BASF Corporation, or BASF, our manufacturer of
one of the APIs in DUEXIS, ibuprofen in a direct compression blend called DC85, is not currently able to supply DC85 due to a
technical issue at its manufacturing facility in Bishop, Texas. BASF is currently working to resolve the technical issue and
recently notified us of its intention to resume supply of DC85. While we consider our DUEXIS stock on hand to be sufficient to
meet current and future commercial requirements during the resolution process, we cannot guarantee that BASF will ultimately be
able to resolve the technical issue or that we will be able to enter into a new supply agreement with BASF for DC85. In addition,
we have no control over the ability of third-party manufacturers to maintain adequate quality control, quality assurance and
qualified personnel. If the FDA or any other applicable regulatory authorities do not approve these facilities for the manufacture
of our medicines or if they withdraw any such approval in the future, or if our suppliers or third-party manufacturers decide they
no longer want to supply our primary active ingredients or manufacture our medicines, we may need to find alternative
manufacturing facilities, which would significantly impact our ability to develop, obtain regulatory approval for or market our
medicines. To the extent any third-party manufacturers that we engage with respect to our medicines are different from those
currently being used for commercial supply in the United States, the FDA will need to approve the facilities of those third-party
manufacturers used in the manufacture of our medicines prior to our sale of any medicine using these facilities.
Although we have entered into supply agreements for the manufacture and packaging of our medicines, our manufacturers
may not perform as agreed or may terminate their agreements with us. We currently rely on single source suppliers for certain of
our medicines. If our manufacturers terminate their agreements with us, we may have to qualify new back-up manufacturers. We
rely on safety stock to mitigate the risk of our current suppliers electing to cease producing bulk drug medicine or ceasing to do so
at acceptable prices and quality. However, we can provide no assurance that such safety stocks would be sufficient to avoid
supply shortfalls in the event we have to identify and qualify new contract manufacturers.
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The manufacture of medicines requires significant expertise and capital investment, including the development of advanced
manufacturing techniques and process controls. Manufacturers of medicines often encounter difficulties in production,
particularly in scaling up and validating initial production. These problems include difficulties with production costs and yields,
quality control, including stability of the medicine, quality assurance testing, shortages of qualified personnel, as well as
compliance with strictly enforced federal, state and foreign regulations. Furthermore, if microbial, viral or other contaminations
are discovered in the medicines or in the manufacturing facilities in which our medicines are made, such manufacturing facilities
may need to be closed for an extended period of time to investigate and remedy the contamination. We cannot assure that issues
relating to the manufacture of any of our medicines will not occur in the future. Additionally, our manufacturers may experience
manufacturing difficulties due to resource constraints or as a result of labor disputes or unstable political environments. If our
manufacturers were to encounter any of these difficulties, or otherwise fail to comply with their contractual obligations, our ability
to commercialize our medicines or provide any medicine candidates to patients in clinical trials would be jeopardized.
Any delay or interruption in our ability to meet commercial demand for our medicines will result in the loss of potential
revenues and could adversely affect our ability to gain market acceptance for these medicines. In addition, any delay or
interruption in the supply of clinical trial supplies could delay the completion of clinical trials, increase the costs associated with
maintaining clinical trial programs and, depending upon the period of delay, require us to commence new clinical trials at
additional expense or terminate clinical trials completely.
Failures or difficulties faced at any level of our supply chain could materially adversely affect our business and delay or
impede the development and commercialization of any of our medicines or medicine candidates and could have a material adverse
effect on our business, results of operations, financial condition and prospects.
We have experienced growth and expanded the size of our organization substantially in connection with our acquisition
transactions, and we may experience difficulties in managing this growth as well as potential additional growth in
connection with future medicine, development program or company acquisitions.
As of December 31, 2013, we employed approximately 300 full-time employees as a consolidated entity. As of December
31, 2018, we employed approximately 1,000 full-time employees, including approximately 420 sales representatives, representing
a substantial change to the size of our organization. We have also experienced, and may continue to experience, turnover of the
sales representatives that we hired or will hire in connection with the commercialization of our medicines, requiring us to hire and
train new sales representatives. Our management, personnel, systems and facilities currently in place may not be adequate to
support anticipated growth, and we may not be able to retain or recruit qualified personnel in the future due to competition for
personnel among pharmaceutical businesses.
As our commercialization plans and strategies continue to develop, we will need to continue to recruit and train sales and
marketing personnel. Our ability to manage any future growth effectively may require us to, among other things:
•

continue to manage and expand the sales and marketing efforts for our existing medicines;

•

enhance our operational, financial and management controls, reporting systems and procedures;

•

expand our international resources;

•

successfully identify, recruit, hire, train, maintain, motivate and integrate additional employees;

•

establish and increase our access to commercial supplies of our medicines and medicine candidates;

•

expand our facilities and equipment; and

•

manage our internal development efforts effectively while complying with our contractual obligations to licensors,
licensees, contractors, collaborators, distributors and other third parties.
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Our acquisitions have resulted in many changes, including significant changes in the corporate business and legal entity
structure, the integration of other companies and their personnel with us, and changes in systems. We are currently undertaking
numerous complex transition activities associated with our acquisitions, and we may encounter unexpected difficulties or incur
unexpected costs, including:
•

difficulties in achieving growth prospects from combining third-party businesses with our business;

•

difficulties in the integration of operations and systems;

•

difficulties in the assimilation of employees and corporate cultures;

•

challenges in preparing financial statements and reporting timely results at both a statutory level for multiple entities
and jurisdictions and at a consolidated level for public reporting;

•

challenges in keeping existing physician prescribers and patients and increasing adoption of acquired medicines;

•

difficulties in achieving anticipated cost savings, synergies, business opportunities and growth prospects from the
combination;

•

potential unknown liabilities, adverse consequences and unforeseen increased expenses associated with the
transaction; and

•

challenges in attracting and retaining key personnel.

If any of these factors impair our ability to continue to integrate our operations with those of any companies or businesses
we acquire, we may not be able to realize the business opportunities, growth prospects and anticipated tax synergies from
combining the businesses. In addition, we may be required to spend additional time or money on integration that otherwise would
be spent on the development and expansion of our business.
We may not be successful in growing our commercial operations outside the United States, and could encounter other
challenges in growing our commercial presence, including due to risks associated with political and economic instability,
operating under different legal requirements and tax complexities. If we are unable to manage our commercial growth outside of
the United States, our opportunities to expand sales in other countries will be limited or we may experience greater costs with
respect to our ex-U.S. commercial operations.
We are also broadening our acquisition strategy to include development-stage assets or programs, which entails additional
risk to us. For example, if we are unable to identify programs that ultimately result in approved medicines, we may spend
material amounts of our capital and other resources evaluating, acquiring and developing medicines that ultimately do not provide
a return on our investment. We have less experience evaluating development-stage assets and may be at a disadvantage compared
to other entities pursuing similar opportunities. Regardless, development-stage programs generally have a high rate of failure and
we cannot guarantee that any such programs will ultimately be successful. We will also need to enhance our clinical development
and regulatory functions to properly evaluate and develop earlier-stage opportunities, which may include recruiting personnel that
are knowledgeable in therapeutic areas we have not yet pursued. If we are unable to acquire promising development-stage assets
or eventually obtain marketing approval for them, we may not be able to create a meaningful pipeline of new medicines and
eventually realize a return on our investments.
Our management may also have to divert a disproportionate amount of its attention away from day-to-day activities and
toward managing these growth and integration activities. Our future financial performance and our ability to execute on our
business plan will depend, in part, on our ability to effectively manage any future growth and our failure to effectively manage
growth could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations, financial condition and prospects.
We face significant competition from other biotechnology and pharmaceutical companies, including those marketing
generic medicines and our operating results will suffer if we fail to compete effectively.
The biotechnology and pharmaceutical industries are intensely competitive. We have competitors both in the United States
and international markets, including major multinational pharmaceutical companies, biotechnology companies and universities
and other research institutions. Many of our competitors have substantially greater financial, technical and other resources, such
as larger research and development staff, experienced marketing and manufacturing organizations and well-established sales
forces. Additional consolidations in the biotechnology and pharmaceutical industries may result in even more resources being
concentrated in our competitors and we will have to find new ways to compete and may have to potentially merge with or acquire
other businesses to stay competitive. Competition may increase further as a result of advances in the commercial applicability of
technologies and greater availability of capital for investment in these industries. Our competitors may succeed in developing,
acquiring or in-licensing on an exclusive basis, medicines that are more effective and/or less costly than our medicines.
RAVICTI and BUPHENYL face competition from generic NaPBA tablets and powder in treating UCD. Lucane Pharma, or
Lucane, is seeking approval via an Abbreviated New Drug Application, or ANDA, in the United States for taste-masked
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NaPBA. If this ANDA is approved, this formulation may also compete with RAVICTI and BUPHENYL in treating UCD in the
United States. PROCYSBI faces competition from Cystagon (immediate-release cysteamine bitartrate capsules) for the treatment
of cystinosis and Cystaran (cysteamine ophthalmic solution) for treatment of corneal crystal accumulation in patients with
cystinosis. While KRYSTEXXA faces limited direct competition, a number of competitors have drugs in Phase 1 or Phase 2
trials, including Selecta Biosciences Inc. who has presented clinical data from their Phase 2 study and has indicated that it plans to
initiate a six-month head-to-head trial comparing their candidate to KRYSTEXXA in 2019. PENNSAID 2% faces competition
from generic versions of diclofenac sodium topical solutions that are priced significantly less than the price we charge for
PENNSAID 2%. The generic version of Voltaren Gel is the market leader in the topical NSAID category. Legislation enacted in
most states in the United States allows, or in some instances mandates, that a pharmacist dispense an available generic equivalent
when filling a prescription for a branded medicine, in the absence of specific instructions from the prescribing
physician. DUEXIS and VIMOVO face competition from other NSAIDs, including Celebrex®, marketed by Pfizer Inc., and
celecoxib, a generic form of the medicine marketed by other pharmaceutical companies. DUEXIS and VIMOVO also face
significant competition from the separate use of NSAIDs for pain relief and GI protective medications to reduce the risk of
NSAID-induced upper GI ulcers. Both NSAIDs and GI protective medications are available in generic form and may be less
expensive to use separately than DUEXIS or VIMOVO, despite such substitution being off-label in the case of DUEXIS and
VIMOVO. Because pharmacists often have economic and other incentives to prescribe lower-cost generics, if physicians
prescribe PENNSAID 2%, DUEXIS, or VIMOVO, those prescriptions may not result in sales. If physicians do not complete
prescriptions through our HorizonCares program or otherwise provide prescribing instructions prohibiting generic diclofenac
sodium topical solutions as a substitute for PENNSAID 2%, the substitution of generic ibuprofen and famotidine separately as a
substitution for DUEXIS or generic naproxen and branded Nexium® (esomeprazole) as a substitute for VIMOVO, sales of
PENNSAID 2%, DUEXIS and VIMOVO may suffer despite any success we may have in promoting PENNSAID 2%, DUEXIS or
VIMOVO to physicians. In addition, other medicine candidates that contain ibuprofen and famotidine in combination or
naproxen and esomeprazole in combination, while not currently known or FDA approved, may be developed and compete with
DUEXIS or VIMOVO, respectively, in the future.
We have also entered into settlement and license agreements that may allow certain of our competitors to sell generic
versions of certain of our medicines in the United States, subject to the terms of such agreements. We granted (i) a non-exclusive
license (that is only royalty-bearing in some circumstances) to manufacture and commercialize a generic version of DUEXIS in
the United States after October 17, 2027, (ii) non-exclusive licenses to manufacture and commercialize generic versions of
PENNSAID 2% in the United States after January 10, 2029, (iii) a non-exclusive license to manufacture and commercialize a
generic version of RAYOS tablets in the United States after December 23, 2022, (iv) a non-exclusive license to manufacture and
commercialize a generic version of VIMOVO in the United States after January 1, 2025, and (v) non-exclusive licenses to
manufacture and commercialize generic versions of RAVICTI in the United States after July 1, 2025, or earlier under certain
circumstances.
Patent litigation is currently pending in the United States District Court for the District of New Jersey against Actavis
Laboratories UT, Inc., formerly known as Watson Laboratories, Inc., Actavis, Inc. and Actavis plc, or collectively Actavis, who
intend to market a generic version of PENNSAID 2% prior to the expiration of certain of our patents listed in the FDA’s Orange
Book, or the Orange Book. These cases arise from Paragraph IV Patent Certification notice letters from Actavis advising it had
filed an ANDA with the FDA seeking approval to market a generic version of PENNSAID 2% before the expiration of the
patents-in-suit.
Patent litigation is currently pending in the United States District Court for the District of New Jersey and the Court of
Appeals for the Federal Circuit against several companies intending to market a generic version of VIMOVO before the expiration
of certain of our patents listed in the Orange Book. These cases are collectively known as the VIMOVO cases, and involve the
following sets of defendants: (i) Dr. Reddy’s Laboratories Inc. and Dr. Reddy’s Laboratories Ltd., or collectively Dr. Reddy’s;
(ii) Lupin Limited and Lupin Pharmaceuticals, Inc., or collectively Lupin; and (iii) Mylan Pharmaceuticals Inc., Mylan
Laboratories Limited, and Mylan Inc., or collectively Mylan. The cases arise from Paragraph IV Patent Certification notice letters
from each of Dr. Reddy’s, Lupin and Mylan advising each had filed an ANDA with the FDA seeking approval to market generic
versions of VIMOVO before the expiration of the patents-in-suit.
Patent litigation is currently pending in the United States District Court for the District of Delaware against Alkem
Laboratories, Inc., or Alkem, who intends to market a generic version of DUEXIS prior to the expiration of certain of our patents
listed in the Orange Book. This case arises from Paragraph IV Patent Certification notice letters from Alkem advising it had filed
an ANDA with the FDA seeking approval to market a generic version of DUEXIS before the expiration of the patents-in-suit.
If we are unsuccessful in any of the VIMOVO cases, PENNSAID 2% cases or DUEXIS case, we will likely face generic
competition with respect to VIMOVO, PENNSAID 2% and/or DUEXIS and sales of VIMOVO, PENNSAID 2% and/or DUEXIS
will be substantially harmed.
ACTIMMUNE is the only medicine currently approved by the FDA specifically for the treatment of CGD and SMO. While
there are additional or alternative approaches used to treat patients with CGD and SMO, there are currently no medicines on the
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market that compete directly with ACTIMMUNE. A widely accepted protocol to treat CGD in the United States is the use of
concomitant “triple prophylactic therapy” comprising ACTIMMUNE, an oral antibiotic agent and an oral antifungal
agent. However, the FDA-approved labeling for ACTIMMUNE does not discuss this “triple prophylactic therapy,” and
physicians may choose to prescribe one or both of the other modalities in the absence of ACTIMMUNE. Because of the
immediate and life-threatening nature of SMO, the preferred treatment option for SMO is often to have the patient undergo a bone
marrow transplant which, if successful, will likely obviate the need for further use of ACTIMMUNE in that patient. Likewise, the
use of bone marrow transplants in the treatment of patients with CGD is becoming more prevalent, which could have a material
adverse effect on sales of ACTIMMUNE and its profitability. We are aware of a number of research programs investigating the
potential of gene therapy as a possible cure for CGD. Additionally, other companies may be pursuing the development of
medicines and treatments that target the same diseases and conditions which ACTIMMUNE is currently approved to treat. As a
result, it is possible that our competitors may develop new medicines that manage CGD or SMO more effectively, cost less or
possibly even cure CGD or SMO. In addition, U.S. healthcare legislation passed in March 2010 authorized the FDA to approve
biological products, known as biosimilars, that are similar to or interchangeable with previously approved biological products, like
ACTIMMUNE, based upon potentially abbreviated data packages. Biosimilars are likely to be sold at substantially lower prices
than branded medicines because the biosimilar manufacturer would not have to recoup the research and development and
marketing costs associated with the branded medicine. Though we are not currently aware of any biosimilar under development,
the development and commercialization of any competing medicines or the discovery of any new alternative treatment for CGD or
SMO could have a material adverse effect on sales of ACTIMMUNE and its profitability.
BUPHENYL’s composition of matter patent protection and orphan drug exclusivity have expired. Because BUPHENYL
has no regulatory exclusivity or listed patents, there is nothing to prevent a competitor from submitting an ANDA for a generic
version of BUPHENYL and receiving FDA approval. Generic versions of BUPHENYL to date have been priced at a discount
relative to BUPHENYL or RAVICTI, and physicians, patients, or payers may decide that this less expensive alternative is
preferable to BUPHENYL and RAVICTI. If this occurs, sales of BUPHENYL and/or RAVICTI could be materially reduced, but
we would nevertheless be required to make royalty payments to Bausch Health Companies Inc. (formerly Ucyclyd Pharma, Inc.),
or Bausch, and another external party, at the same royalty rates. While Bausch and its affiliates are generally contractually
prohibited from developing or commercializing new medicines, anywhere in the world, for the treatment of UCD or hepatic
encephalopathy, or HE, which are chemically similar to RAVICTI, they may still develop and commercialize medicines that
compete with RAVICTI. For example, medicines approved for indications other than UCD and HE may still compete with
RAVICTI if physicians prescribe such medicines off-label for UCD or HE. We are also aware that Orphan Europe SARL, or
Orphan Europe, is conducting a clinical trial of carglumic acid to assess the short-term (three-day) efficacy of hyperammonemia
in some of the UCD enzyme deficiencies for which RAVICTI is approved for chronic treatment. Carglumic acid is approved for
maintenance therapy for chronic hyperammonemia and to treat hyperammonenic crises in Nacetylglutamate synthase deficiency, a
rare UCD subtype, and is sold under the name Carbaglu. If the results of this trial are successful and Orphan Europe is able to
complete development and obtain approval of Carbaglu to treat additional UCD enzyme deficiencies, RAVICTI would face
additional competition from this compound.
The availability and price of our competitors’ medicines could limit the demand, and the price we are able to charge, for our
medicines. We will not successfully execute on our business objectives if the market acceptance of our medicines is inhibited by
price competition, if physicians are reluctant to switch from existing medicines to our medicines, or if physicians switch to other
new medicines or choose to reserve our medicines for use in limited patient populations.
In addition, established pharmaceutical companies may invest heavily to accelerate discovery and development of novel
compounds or to acquire novel compounds that could make our medicines obsolete. Our ability to compete successfully with
these companies and other potential competitors will depend largely on our ability to leverage our experience in clinical,
regulatory and commercial development to:
•

develop and acquire medicines that are superior to other medicines in the market;

•

attract qualified clinical, regulatory, and sales and marketing personnel;

•

obtain patent and/or other proprietary protection for our medicines and technologies;

•

obtain required regulatory approvals; and

•

successfully collaborate with pharmaceutical companies in the discovery, development and commercialization of new
medicine candidates.
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If we are unable to maintain or realize the benefits of orphan drug exclusivity, we may face increased competition with
respect to certain of our medicines.
Under the Orphan Drug Act of 1983, the FDA may designate a medicine as an orphan drug if it is a drug intended to treat a
rare disease or condition affecting fewer than 200,000 people in the United States. A company that first obtains FDA approval for
a designated orphan drug for the specified rare disease or condition receives orphan drug marketing exclusivity for that drug for a
period of seven years from the date of its approval. RAVICTI and PROCYSBI have been granted orphan drug exclusivity by the
FDA, which we expect will provide orphan drug marketing exclusivity in the United States until February 2020 and December
2020, respectively, with exclusivity for PROCYSBI extending to 2022 for patients ages one to six years. In addition,
teprotumumab has been granted orphan drug designation for treatment of active (dynamic) phase Graves’ orbitopathy and, if
approved by the FDA for that indication, would be eligible for seven years of marketing exclusivity in the United States following
such approval. However, despite orphan drug exclusivity, the FDA can still approve another drug containing the same active
ingredient and used for the same orphan indication if it determines that a subsequent drug is safer, more effective or makes a
major contribution to patient care, and orphan exclusivity can be lost if the orphan drug manufacturer is unable to ensure that a
sufficient quantity of the orphan drug is available to meet the needs of patients with the rare disease or condition. Orphan drug
exclusivity may also be lost if the FDA later determines that the initial request for designation was materially defective. In
addition, orphan drug exclusivity does not prevent the FDA from approving competing drugs for the same or similar indication
containing a different active ingredient. If orphan drug exclusivity is lost and we were unable to successfully enforce any
remaining patents covering RAVICTI or PROCYSBI, we could be subject to generic competition and revenues from RAVICTI or
PROCYSBI could decrease materially. In addition, if a subsequent drug is approved for marketing for the same or a similar
indication as RAVICTI or PROCYSBI despite orphan drug exclusivity, we may face increased competition and lose market share
with respect to these medicines.
Our business operations may subject us to numerous commercial disputes, claims and/or lawsuits and such litigation may
be costly and time-consuming and could materially and adversely impact our financial position and results of operations.
Operating in the pharmaceutical industry, particularly the commercialization of medicines, involves numerous commercial
relationships, complex contractual arrangements, uncertain intellectual property rights, potential product liability and other aspects
that create heightened risks of disputes, claims and lawsuits. In particular, we may face claims related to the safety of our medicines,
intellectual property matters, employment matters, tax matters, commercial disputes, competition, sales and marketing practices,
environmental matters, personal injury, insurance coverage and acquisition or divestiture-related matters. Any commercial dispute,
claim or lawsuit may divert management’s attention away from our business, we may incur significant expenses in addressing or
defending any commercial dispute, claim or lawsuit, and we may be required to pay damage awards or settlements or become subject
to equitable remedies that could adversely affect our operations and financial results.
We are currently in litigation with multiple generic drug manufacturers regarding intellectual property infringement. For
example, we are currently involved in Hatch Waxman litigation with generic drug manufacturers related to DUEXIS, PENNSAID
2% and VIMOVO.
Similarly, from time to time we are involved in disputes with distributors, PBMs and licensing partners regarding our rights
and performance of obligations under contractual arrangements. For example, we were previously in litigation with Express
Scripts related to alleged breach of contract claims.
Litigation related to these disputes may be costly and time-consuming and could materially and adversely impact our
financial position and results of operations if resolved against us.
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A variety of risks associated with operating our business and marketing our medicines internationally could adversely affect
our business.
In addition to our U.S. operations, we have operations in Ireland, Bermuda, the Grand Duchy of Luxembourg, or
Luxembourg, Switzerland, Germany, Canada and in Israel (through Andromeda Biotech Ltd). RAVICTI received marketing
authorization from Health Canada, or HC, in March 2016 and we launched RAVICTI in Canada in November 2016. PROCYSBI
received marketing authorization from HC in June 2017 and we launched PROCYSBI in Canada in October 2017. BUPHENYL
is currently marketed in Japan by Orphan Pacific. QUINSAIR received marketing authorization from HC in June 2015 and we
launched QUINSAIR in Canada in December 2016. We face risks associated with our international operations, including possible
unfavorable regulatory, pricing and reimbursement, political, tax and labor conditions, which could harm our business. We are
subject to numerous risks associated with international business activities, including:
•

compliance with differing or unexpected regulatory requirements for our medicines;

•

compliance with Irish laws and the maintenance of our Irish tax residency with respect to our overall corporate
structure and administrative operations, including the need to generally hold meetings of our board of directors and
make decisions in Ireland, which may make certain corporate actions more cumbersome, costly and time-consuming;

•

difficulties in staffing and managing foreign operations;

•

in certain circumstances, including with respect to the commercialization of DUEXIS in Mexico and Chile, increased
dependence on the commercialization efforts and regulatory compliance of third-party distributors or strategic
partners;

•

foreign government taxes, regulations and permit requirements;

•

U.S. and foreign government tariffs, trade restrictions, price and exchange controls and other regulatory requirements;

•

anti-corruption laws, including the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act, or the FCPA;

•

economic weakness, including inflation, natural disasters, war, events of terrorism or political instability in particular
foreign countries;

•

fluctuations in currency exchange rates, which could result in increased operating expenses and reduced revenues, and
other obligations related to doing business in another country;

•

compliance with tax, employment, immigration and labor laws, regulations and restrictions for employees living or
traveling abroad;

•

workforce uncertainty in countries where labor unrest is more common than in the United States;

•

production shortages resulting from any events affecting raw material supply or manufacturing capabilities abroad;

•

changes in diplomatic and trade relationships; and

•

challenges in enforcing our contractual and intellectual property rights, especially in those foreign countries that do
not respect and protect intellectual property rights to the same extent as the United States.
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Our business activities outside of the United States are subject to the FCPA and similar anti-bribery or anti-corruption laws,
regulations or rules of other countries in which we operate, including the United Kingdom’s Bribery Act 2010, or the U.K.
Bribery Act. The FCPA and similar anti-corruption laws generally prohibit offering, promising, giving, or authorizing others to
give anything of value, either directly or indirectly, to non-U.S. government officials in order to improperly influence any act or
decision, secure any other improper advantage, or obtain or retain business. The FCPA also requires public companies to make
and keep books and records that accurately and fairly reflect the transactions of the company and to devise and maintain an
adequate system of internal accounting controls. The U.K. Bribery Act prohibits giving, offering, or promising bribes to any
person, including non-United Kingdom, or U.K., government officials and private persons, as well as requesting, agreeing to
receive, or accepting bribes from any person. In addition, under the U.K. Bribery Act, companies which carry on a business or
part of a business in the U.K. may be held liable for bribes given, offered or promised to any person, including non-U.K.
government officials and private persons, by employees and persons associated with the company in order to obtain or retain
business or a business advantage for the company. Liability is strict, with no element of a corrupt state of mind, but a defense of
having in place adequate procedures designed to prevent bribery is available. Furthermore, under the U.K. Bribery Act there is no
exception for facilitation payments. As described above, our business is heavily regulated and therefore involves significant
interaction with public officials, including officials of non-U.S. governments. Additionally, in many other countries, the health
care providers who prescribe pharmaceuticals are employed by their government, and the purchasers of pharmaceuticals are
government entities; therefore, any dealings with these prescribers and purchasers may be subject to regulation under the
FCPA. Recently the SEC and the U.S. Department of Justice have increased their FCPA enforcement activities with respect to
pharmaceutical companies. In addition, under the Dodd–Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act, private
individuals who report to the SEC original information that leads to successful enforcement actions may be eligible for a monetary
award. We are engaged in ongoing efforts that are designed to ensure our compliance with these laws, including due diligence,
training, policies, procedures and internal controls. However, there is no certainty that all employees and third-party business
partners (including our distributors, wholesalers, agents, contractors, and other partners) will comply with anti-bribery laws. In
particular, we do not control the actions of manufacturers and other third-party agents, although we may be liable for their
actions. Violation of these laws may result in civil or criminal sanctions, which could include monetary fines, criminal penalties,
and disgorgement of past profits, which could have a material adverse impact on our business and financial condition.
We are subject to tax audits around the world, and such jurisdictions may assess additional income tax against us. Although
we believe our tax positions are reasonable, the final determination of tax audits could be materially different from our recorded
income tax provisions and accruals. The ultimate results of an audit could have a material adverse effect on our operating results
or cash flows in the period or periods for which that determination is made and could result in increases to our overall tax expense
in subsequent periods.
These and other risks associated with our international operations may materially adversely affect our business, financial
condition and results of operations.
If we fail to develop or acquire other medicine candidates or medicines, our business and prospects would be limited.
A key element of our strategy is to develop or acquire and commercialize a portfolio of other medicines or medicine
candidates in addition to our current medicines, through business or medicine acquisitions. Because we do not engage in
proprietary drug discovery, the success of this strategy depends in large part upon the combination of our regulatory, development
and commercial capabilities and expertise and our ability to identify, select and acquire approved or clinically enabled medicine
candidates for therapeutic indications that complement or augment our current medicines, or that otherwise fit into our
development or strategic plans on terms that are acceptable to us. Identifying, selecting and acquiring promising medicines or
medicine candidates requires substantial technical, financial and human resources expertise. Efforts to do so may not result in the
actual acquisition or license of a particular medicine or medicine candidate, potentially resulting in a diversion of our
management’s time and the expenditure of our resources with no resulting benefit. If we are unable to identify, select and acquire
suitable medicines or medicine candidates from third parties or acquire businesses at valuations and on other terms acceptable to
us, or if we are unable to raise capital required to acquire businesses or new medicines, our business and prospects will be limited.
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Moreover, any medicine candidate we acquire may require additional, time-consuming development or regulatory efforts
prior to commercial sale or prior to expansion into other indications, including pre-clinical studies if applicable, and extensive
clinical testing and approval by the FDA and applicable foreign regulatory authorities. All medicine candidates are prone to the
risk of failure that is inherent in pharmaceutical medicine development, including the possibility that the medicine candidate will
not be shown to be sufficiently safe and/or effective for approval by regulatory authorities. In addition, we cannot assure that any
such medicines that are approved will be manufactured or produced economically, successfully commercialized or widely
accepted in the marketplace or be more effective or desired than other commercially available alternatives.
In addition, if we fail to successfully commercialize and further develop our medicines, there is a greater likelihood that we
will fail to successfully develop a pipeline of other medicine candidates to follow our existing medicines or be able to acquire
other medicines to expand our existing portfolio, and our business and prospects would be harmed.
Our prior medicine and company acquisitions and any other strategic transactions that we may pursue in the future could
have a variety of negative consequences, and we may not realize the benefits of such transactions or attempts to engage in
such transactions.
We have completed multiple medicine and company acquisitions and our strategy is to engage in additional strategic
transactions with third parties, such as acquisitions of companies or divisions of companies and asset purchases of medicines,
medicine candidates or technologies that we believe will complement or augment our existing business. We may also consider a
variety of other business arrangements, including spin-offs, strategic partnerships, joint ventures, restructurings, divestitures,
business combinations and other investments. Any such transaction may require us to incur non-recurring and other charges,
increase our near and long-term expenditures, pose significant integration challenges, create additional tax, legal, accounting and
operational complexities in our business, require additional expertise, result in dilution to our existing shareholders and disrupt our
management and business, which could harm our operations and financial results. For example, we assumed responsibility for the
patent infringement litigation with respect to RAVICTI upon the closing of our acquisition of Hyperion Therapeutics, Inc., or
Hyperion, and we have assumed responsibility for completing post-marketing clinical trials of RAVICTI that are required by the
FDA, one of which is ongoing.
In connection with our acquisition of Raptor Pharmaceutical Corp., or Raptor, we assumed contractual obligations under
agreements with Tripex Pharmaceuticals, LLC, or Tripex, and PARI Pharma GmbH, or PARI, related to QUINSAIR. Under the
agreement with Tripex, as amended, if we do not spend a specified amount on the development of QUINSAIR for non-cystic
fibrosis, or CF, indications between January 1, 2018 and December 31, 2021 and if regulatory approval by the FDA for
QUINSAIR for the CF indication is obtained prior to December 31, 2021, we may be obligated to pre-pay a milestone payment
related to commercial sales of QUINSAIR for non-CF indications. This obligation is subject to certain exceptions due to, for
example, manufacturing delays not under our control, or clinical trial suspension or delay ordered by the FDA. In October 2017,
we triggered a milestone payment under this agreement and we paid Tripex $20.0 million in November 2017. Under the license
agreement with PARI, we are required to comply with diligence milestones related to development and commercialization of
QUINSAIR in the United States and to spend a specified minimum amount per year on development activities in the United States
until submission of the new drug application, or NDA, for QUINSAIR in the United States. If we do not comply with these
obligations, our licenses to certain intellectual property related to QUINSAIR may become non-exclusive in the United States or
could be terminated. We are also subject to contractual obligations under an amended and restated license agreement with the
Regents of the University of California, San Diego, or UCSD, as amended, with respect to PROCYSBI. To the extent that we fail
to perform our obligations under the agreement, UCSD may, with respect to such indication, terminate the license or otherwise
cause the license to become non-exclusive. If one or more of these licenses was terminated, we would have no further right to use
or exploit the related intellectual property, which would limit our ability to develop PROCYSBI or QUINSAIR in other
indications, and could impact our ability to continue commercializing PROCYSBI or QUINSAIR in their approved
indications. In connection with our acquisition of the U.S. rights to VIMOVO, we assumed primary responsibility for the existing
patent infringement litigation with respect to VIMOVO, and have also agreed to reimburse certain legal expenses of Nuvo
(formerly Aralez Pharmaceuticals Inc.) with respect to its continued involvement in such litigation.

31

We face significant competition in seeking appropriate strategic transaction opportunities and the negotiation process for
any strategic transaction can be time-consuming and complex. In addition, we may not be successful in our efforts to engage in
certain strategic transactions because our financial resources may be insufficient and/or third parties may not view our commercial
and development capabilities as being adequate. We may not be able to expand our business or realize our strategic goals if we do
not have sufficient funding or cannot borrow or raise additional capital. There is no assurance that following any of our recent
acquisition transactions or any other strategic transaction, we will achieve the anticipated revenues, net income or other benefits
that we believe justify such transactions. In addition, any failures or delays in entering into strategic transactions anticipated by
analysts or the investment community could seriously harm our consolidated business, financial condition, results of operations or
cash flow.
We may not be able to successfully maintain our current advantageous tax status and resulting tax rates, which could
adversely affect our business and financial condition, results of operations and growth prospects.
Our parent company is incorporated in Ireland and has subsidiaries maintained in multiple jurisdictions, including Ireland,
the United States, Switzerland, Luxembourg, Germany, Canada and Bermuda. Prior to our merger transaction in September 2014
with Vidara Therapeutics International Public Limited Company, or Vidara, and such transaction, the Vidara Merger, Vidara was
able to achieve a favorable tax rate through the performance of certain functions and ownership of certain assets in tax-efficient
jurisdictions, including Ireland and Bermuda, together with intra-company service and transfer pricing agreements, each on an
arm’s length basis. We are continuing a substantially similar structure and arrangements. Nevertheless, our effective tax rate may
be different than experienced in the past due to numerous factors, including passage of the Tax Act (as defined below), changes to
the tax laws of jurisdictions that we operate in other than the United States, changes in the mix of our profitability from
jurisdiction to jurisdiction, future changes to U.S. tax law (including for example, the enactment of new U.S. tax treaties or
changes to existing tax treaties), the implementation of the EU Anti-Tax Avoidance Directive (see further discussion below), the
implementation of the Bermuda Economic Substance Act of 2018 (effective after December 31, 2018) and our inability to secure
or sustain acceptable agreements with tax authorities (if applicable). Any of these factors could cause us to experience an
effective tax rate significantly different from previous periods or our current expectations. Taxing authorities, such as the U.S.
Internal Revenue Service, or IRS, actively audit and otherwise challenge these types of arrangements, and have done so in the
pharmaceutical industry. We expect that these challenges will continue as a result of the recent increase in scrutiny and political
attention on corporate tax structures. The IRS and/or the Irish tax authorities may challenge our structure and transfer pricing
arrangements through an audit or lawsuit. Responding to or defending such a challenge could be expensive and consume time and
other resources, and divert management’s time and focus from operating our business. We cannot predict whether taxing
authorities will conduct an audit or file a lawsuit challenging this structure, the cost involved in responding to any such audit or
lawsuit, or the outcome. If we are unsuccessful in defending such a challenge, we may be required to pay taxes for prior periods,
interest, fines or penalties, and may be obligated to pay increased taxes in the future, any of which could require us to reduce our
operating expenses, decrease efforts in support of our medicines or seek to raise additional funds, all of which could have a
material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and growth prospects.
The IRS may not agree with our conclusion that our parent company should be treated as a foreign corporation for U.S.
federal income tax purposes following the combination of the businesses of Horizon Pharma, Inc., or HPI, and Vidara.
Although our parent company is incorporated in Ireland, the IRS may assert that it should be treated as a U.S. corporation
(and, therefore, a U.S. tax resident) for U.S. federal income tax purposes pursuant to Section 7874 of the Internal Revenue Code
of 1986, as amended, or the Code. A corporation is generally considered a tax resident in the jurisdiction of its organization or
incorporation for U.S. federal income tax purposes. Because our parent company is an Irish incorporated entity, it would
generally be classified as a foreign corporation (and, therefore, a non-U.S. tax resident) under these general rules. Section 7874 of
the Code provides an exception pursuant to which a foreign incorporated entity may, in certain circumstances, be treated as a U.S.
corporation for U.S. federal income tax purposes.
In July 2018, the IRS issued regulations under Section 7874 that finalized, with few changes, guidance that the IRS had
previously issued in temporary form in 2016. We do not believe that our classification as a foreign corporation for U.S. federal
income tax purposes is affected by Section 7874 or the regulations thereunder, though the IRS may disagree.
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Recent and future changes to U.S. and non-U.S. tax laws could materially adversely affect our company.
Under current law, we expect our parent company to be treated as a foreign corporation for U.S. federal income tax
purposes. However, changes to the rules in Section 7874 of the Code or regulations promulgated thereunder or other guidance
issued by the U.S. Department of the Treasury, or the U.S. Treasury, or the IRS could adversely affect our parent company’s
status as a foreign corporation for U.S. federal income tax purposes or the taxation of transactions between members of our group,
and any such changes could have prospective or retroactive application. If our parent company is treated as a domestic
corporation, more of our income will be taxed by the United States which may substantially increase our effective tax rate.
In January 2017, the U.S. Treasury and the IRS issued final regulations that expand the scope of transactions subject to the
rules designed to eliminate the U.S. tax benefits of so-called inversion transactions. Under the regulations, the former
stockholders of U.S. corporations acquired by a foreign corporation within thirty-six months of the signing date of the last such
acquisition are aggregated for the purpose of determining whether the foreign corporation will be treated as a domestic
corporation for U.S. federal tax purposes because at least 80 percent of the stock of the foreign corporation is held by former
stockholders of a U.S. corporation. The requirement to aggregate the stockholders in such acquisitions for the purpose of
determining whether the 80 percent threshold is met may limit our ability to use our stock to acquire U.S. corporations or their
assets in the future.
In addition, the Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development, or the OECD, released its Base Erosion and
Profit Shifting project final report on October 5, 2015. This report provides the basis for international standards for corporate
taxation that are designed to prevent, among other things, the artificial shifting of income to tax havens and low-tax jurisdictions,
the erosion of the tax base through interest deductions on intra-company debt and the artificial avoidance of permanent
establishments (i.e., tax nexus with a jurisdiction). Legislation to adopt these standards has been enacted or is currently under
consideration in a number of jurisdictions. On June 7, 2017, several countries, including many countries that we operate and have
subsidiaries in, participated in the signing ceremony adopting the OECD’s Multilateral Convention to Implement Tax Treaty
Related Measures to Prevent Base Erosion and Profit Shifting, commonly referred to as the MLI. The MLI came into effect on
July 1, 2018. In January 2019, Ireland deposited the instrument of ratification of Ireland’s MLI choices with the OECD. Ireland’s
MLI is expected to come into force on May 1, 2019. Depending on whether jurisdictions have ratified the MLI, the MLI could
already, or may soon modify affected tax treaties making it more difficult for us to obtain advantageous tax-treaty benefits. The
number of affected tax treaties could eventually be in the thousands. As a result, our income may be taxed in jurisdictions where
it is not currently taxed and at higher rates of tax than it is currently taxed, which may substantially increase our effective tax rate.
On July 12, 2016, the Anti-Tax Avoidance Directive, or ATAD, was formally adopted by the Economic and Financial
Affairs Council of the EU. The stated objective of the ATAD is to provide for the effective and swift coordinated implementation
of anti-base erosion and profit shifting measures at EU level. Like all directives, the ATAD is binding as to the results it aims to
achieve though EU Member States are free to choose the form and method of achieving those results. In addition, the ATAD
contains a number of optional provisions that present an element of choice as to how it will be implemented into law. On
December 25, 2018, the Finance Act 2018 was signed into Irish law, which introduced certain elements of the ATAD, such as the
Controlled Foreign Company, or CFC, regime, into Irish law. The CFC regime became effective as of January 1, 2019. These
legislative changes are not expected to have a material impact on our effective tax rate. The remaining provisions of the ATAD
are expected to be incorporated into Irish law from 2020 onwards and, although it is difficult at this stage to determine with
precision the impact that these remaining provisions will have, their implementation could materially increase our effective tax
rate.
On December 22, 2017, U.S. federal income tax legislation was signed into law (H.R. 1, “An Act to provide for
reconciliation pursuant to titles II and V of the concurrent resolution on the budget for fiscal year 2018”, informally titled the Tax
Cuts and Jobs Act, or the Tax Act) that significantly revises the Code in the United States. The Tax Act, among other things,
contains significant changes to corporate taxation, including reduction of the corporate tax rate from a top marginal rate of 35% to
a flat rate of 21%, limitation of the tax deduction for interest expense to 30% of adjusted earnings (except for certain small
businesses), implementation of a “base erosion anti-abuse tax” which requires U.S. corporations to make an alternative
determination of taxable income without regard to tax deductions for certain payments to affiliates, taxation of certain non-U.S.
corporations’ earnings considered to be “global intangible low taxed income”, or GILTI, repeal of the alternative minimum tax, or
AMT, for corporations and changes to a taxpayer’s ability to either utilize or refund the AMT credits previously generated,
changes to the limitation on deductions for certain executive compensation particularly with respect to the removal of the
previously allowed performance based compensation exception, changes in the attribution rules relating to shareholders of certain
“controlled foreign corporations”, limitation of the deduction for net operating losses to 80% of current year taxable income and
elimination of net operating loss carrybacks, one-time taxation of offshore earnings at reduced rates regardless of whether they are
repatriated, elimination of U.S. tax on foreign earnings (subject to certain important exceptions), immediate deductions for certain
new investments instead of deductions for depreciation expense over time, and modifying or repealing many business deductions
and credits. For example, U.S. federal income tax law resulting in additional taxes owed by U.S. shareholders under the GILTI
rules, together with Tax Act’s change to the attribution rules related to “controlled foreign corporations” may discourage U.S.
investors from owning or acquiring 10% or greater of our outstanding ordinary shares, which other shareholders may have viewed
as beneficial or may otherwise negatively impact the trading price of our ordinary shares. We are unable to predict what federal
33

tax law may be proposed or enacted in the future or what effect such changes would have on our business, but such changes, to the
extent they are brought into tax legislation, regulations, policies or practices, could affect our effective tax rates in the future in
countries where we have operations and have an adverse effect on our overall tax rate in the future, along with increasing the
complexity, burden and cost of tax compliance. We urge our shareholders to consult with their legal and tax advisors with respect
to this legislation and the potential tax consequences of investing in or holding our ordinary shares.
On December 20, 2018, the U.S. Treasury issued Proposed Regulations under Section 267A of the Code, or Section 267A
Proposed Regulations, to clarify certain aspects of Section 267A (commonly referred to as the “Anti-Hybrid Rules”; rules enacted
as part of the Tax Act). The 267A Proposed Regulations were the first administrative guidance on Section 267A and provided
several rules which expanded the reach and scope of the Anti-Hybrid Rules particularly involving the payment of interest and
royalties by certain branches, reverse hybrid entities, and other hybrid mismatch arrangements. While 267A as enacted under the
Tax Act, does not appear to apply to the Company, the guidance and scope of the 267A Proposed Regulations with respect to
Anti-Hybrid Rules may apply to the Company. We are currently in the process of assessing the provisions set forth in the 267A
Proposed Regulations and their potential impact on the Company. To the extent that the Anti-Hybrid Rules are applicable to the
Company, absent certain actions taken by the Company to restructure its intercompany financing arrangements, such application
would have a material impact on our effective tax rate if and when the Section 267A Proposed Regulations become final as
currently drafted.
If a United States person is treated as owning at least 10% of our ordinary shares, such holder may be subject to adverse
U.S. federal income tax consequences.
If a United States person is treated as owning (directly, indirectly, or constructively) at least 10% of the value or voting
power of our ordinary shares, such person may be treated as a “United States shareholder” with respect to each “controlled foreign
corporation” in our group (if any). Because our group includes one or more U.S. subsidiaries, certain of our non-U.S. subsidiaries
could be treated as controlled foreign corporations (regardless of whether or not we are treated as a controlled foreign
corporation). A United States shareholder of a controlled foreign corporation may be required to report annually and include in its
U.S. taxable income its pro rata share of “Subpart F income,” “global intangible low-taxed income,” and investments in U.S.
property by controlled foreign corporations, regardless of whether we make any distributions. An individual that is a United
States shareholder with respect to a controlled foreign corporation generally would not be allowed certain tax deductions or
foreign tax credits that would be allowed to a United States shareholder that is a U.S. corporation. Failure to comply with these
reporting and tax paying obligations may subject a United States shareholder to significant monetary penalties and may prevent
the statute of limitations from starting with respect to such shareholder’s U.S. federal income tax return for the year for which
reporting was due. We cannot provide any assurances that we will assist investors in determining whether any of our non-U.S.
subsidiaries is treated as a controlled foreign corporation or whether any investor is treated as a United States shareholder with
respect to any such controlled foreign corporation or furnish to any United States shareholders information that may be necessary
to comply with the aforementioned reporting and tax paying obligations. A United States investor should consult its advisors
regarding the potential application of these rules to an investment in our ordinary shares.
If we are not successful in attracting and retaining highly qualified personnel, we may not be able to successfully implement
our business strategy.
Our ability to compete in the highly competitive biotechnology and pharmaceuticals industries depends upon our ability to
attract and retain highly qualified managerial, scientific and medical personnel. We are highly dependent on our management,
sales and marketing and scientific and medical personnel, including our executive officers composed of our Chairman, President
and Chief Executive Officer, Timothy P. Walbert; our Executive Vice President, Chief Business Officer, Robert F. Carey; our
Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer, Paul W. Hoelscher; our Executive Vice President, Chief Administrative
Officer, Barry J. Moze; our Executive Vice President, Head of Research and Development and Chief Scientific Officer, Shao-Lee
Lin, M.D., Ph.D; our Executive Vice President, Chief Commercial Officer, Vikram Karnani; our Executive Vice President, Chief
Human Resources Officer, Irina P. Konstantinovsky; our Executive Vice President, General Counsel, Brian K. Beeler; our
Executive Vice President, Technical Operations, Michael A. DesJardin and our Executive Vice President, Corporate Affairs,
Chief Communications Officer, Geoffrey M. Curtis and Senior Vice President, Head of Medical Affairs and Outcomes Research,
Jeffrey Kent, M.D., FACP, FACG. In order to retain valuable employees at our company, in addition to salary and annual cash
incentives, we provide a mix of performance stock units, or PSUs, that vest subject to attainment of specified corporate
performance goals and continued services, stock options and restricted stock units, or RSUs, that vest over time subject to
continued services. The value to employees of PSUs, stock options and RSUs will be significantly affected by movements in our
share price that are beyond our control, and may at any time be insufficient to counteract more lucrative offers from other
companies.
Despite our efforts to retain valuable employees, members of our management, sales and marketing, regulatory affairs,
clinical development, medical affairs and development teams may terminate their employment with us on short notice. Although
we have written employment arrangements with all of our employees, these employment arrangements generally provide for atwill employment, which means that our employees can leave our employment at any time, with or without notice. The loss of the
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services of any of our executive officers or other key employees and our inability to find suitable replacements could potentially
harm our business, financial condition and prospects. We do not maintain “key man” insurance policies on the lives of these
individuals or the lives of any of our other employees. Our success also depends on our ability to continue to attract, retain and
motivate highly skilled junior, mid-level, and senior managers as well as junior, mid-level, and senior sales and marketing and
scientific and medical personnel.
Many of the other biotechnology and pharmaceutical companies with whom we compete for qualified personnel have
greater financial and other resources, different risk profiles and longer histories in the industry than we do. They also may provide
more diverse opportunities and better chances for career advancement. Some of these characteristics may be more appealing to
high quality candidates than that which we have to offer. If we are unable to continue to attract and retain high quality personnel,
the rate and success at which we can develop and commercialize medicines and medicine candidates will be limited.
We are, with respect to our current medicines, and will be, with respect to any other medicine or medicine candidate for
which we obtain FDA or EMA approval or which we acquire, subject to ongoing FDA or EMA obligations and continued
regulatory review, which may result in significant additional expense. Additionally, any other medicine candidate, if
approved by the FDA or the EMA, could be subject to labeling and other restrictions and market withdrawal, and we may
be subject to penalties if we fail to comply with regulatory requirements or experience unanticipated problems with our
medicines.
Any regulatory approvals that we obtain for our medicine candidates may also be subject to limitations on the approved
indicated uses for which the medicine may be marketed or to the conditions of approval, or contain requirements for potentially
costly post-marketing testing, including Phase 4 clinical trials and surveillance to monitor the safety and efficacy of the medicine
candidate. In addition, with respect to our current FDA-approved medicines (and with respect to our medicine candidates, if
approved), the manufacturing processes, labeling, packaging, distribution, adverse event reporting, storage, advertising, promotion
and recordkeeping for the medicine are subject to extensive and ongoing regulatory requirements. These requirements include
submissions of safety and other post-marketing information and reports, registration, as well as continued compliance with
cGMPs, GCPs, International Council for Harmonisation, or ICH, guidelines and GLPs, which are regulations and guidelines
enforced by the FDA for all of our medicines in clinical development, for any clinical trials that we conduct post-approval. With
respect to RAVICTI, the FDA imposed several post-marketing requirements and a post-marketing commitment, which included
obligations to conduct studies in UCD patients during the first two months of life, including a study of the pharmacokinetics in
that age group and a randomized study to determine the safety and efficacy in UCD patients who are treatment naïve to
phenylbutyrate treatment. In May 2017, the FDA approved our supplemental new drug application, or sNDA, for RAVICTI to
expand the age range for chronic management of UCDs from two years of age and older to two months of age and older. In
December 2018, we received FDA approval to expand the age range for the use of RAVICTI in the chronic management of UCDs
in patients from birth to two months and as a result, we now have approval for patients of all ages. As part of these approvals to
expand the age range for use of RAVICTI in the chronic management of UCDs in patients from birth, we have fulfilled, and
subsequently received FDA confirmation of release from the requirement to conduct studies in UCD patients during the first two
months of life. We are currently conducting a study to determine the effects of RAVICTI in patients with UCDs that are
treatment naïve to phenylbutyrate.
In addition, the FDA closely regulates the marketing and promotion of drugs and biologics. The FDA does not regulate the
behaviour of physicians in their choice of treatments. The FDA does, however, restrict manufacturers’ promotional
communications. A significant number of pharmaceutical companies have been the target of inquiries and investigations by
various U.S. federal and state regulatory, investigative, prosecutorial and administrative entities in connection with the promotion
of medicines for off-label uses and other sales practices. These investigations have alleged violations of various U.S. federal and
state laws and regulations, including claims asserting antitrust violations, violations of the Food, Drug and Cosmetic Act, false
claims laws, the Prescription Drug Marketing Act, anti-kickback laws, and other alleged violations in connection with the
promotion of medicines for unapproved uses, pricing and Medicare and/or Medicaid reimbursement. While Congress has recently
considered legislation that would modify or eliminate restrictions for off-label promotion, we do not have sufficient information to
anticipate if the current regulatory environment will change.
Later discovery of previously unknown problems with a medicine, including adverse events of unanticipated severity or
frequency, or with our third-party manufacturers or manufacturing processes, or failure to comply with regulatory requirements,
may result in, among other things:
•

restrictions on the marketing or manufacturing of the medicine, withdrawal of the medicine from the market, or
voluntary or mandatory medicine recalls;

•

refusal by the FDA to approve pending applications or supplements to approved applications filed by us or our
strategic partners, or suspension or revocation of medicine license approvals;

•

medicine seizure or detention, or refusal to permit the import or export of medicines; and

•

injunctions, the imposition of civil or criminal penalties, or exclusion, debarment or suspension from government
healthcare programs.
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If we are not able to maintain regulatory compliance, we may lose any marketing approval that we may have obtained and
we may not achieve or sustain profitability, which would have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations,
financial condition and prospects.
We are subject to federal, state and foreign healthcare laws and regulations and implementation or changes to such
healthcare laws and regulations could adversely affect our business and results of operations.
The United States and some foreign jurisdictions are considering or have enacted a number of legislative and regulatory
proposals to regulate and to change the healthcare system in ways that could affect our ability to sell our medicines profitably. In
the United States and elsewhere, there is significant interest in promoting changes in healthcare systems with the stated goals of
containing healthcare costs (including a number of proposals pertaining to prescription drugs, specifically), improving quality
and/or expanding access. In the United States, the pharmaceutical industry has been a particular focus of these efforts and has
been significantly affected by major legislative initiatives.
If we are found to be in violation of any of these laws or any other federal or state regulations, we may be subject to civil
and/or criminal penalties, damages, fines, exclusion, additional reporting requirements and/or oversight from federal health care
programs and the restructuring of our operations. Any of these could have a material adverse effect on our business and financial
results. Since many of these laws have not been fully interpreted by the courts, there is an increased risk that we may be found in
violation of one or more of their provisions. Any action against us for violation of these laws, even if we ultimately are successful
in our defense, will cause us to incur significant legal expenses and divert our management’s attention away from the operation of
our business.
In January 2017, the United States House of Representatives and Senate passed legislation, the concurrent budget resolution
for fiscal year 2017, which initiates actions that would repeal certain aspects of the ACA. Further, on January 20, 2017, U.S.
President Donald Trump signed an Executive Order directing federal agencies with authorities and responsibilities under the
ACA, to waive, defer, grant exemptions from, or delay the implementation of any provision of the ACA that would impose a
fiscal or regulatory burden on states, individuals, healthcare providers, health insurers, or manufacturers of pharmaceuticals or
medical devices. In May 2017, following the passage of the budget resolution for fiscal year 2017, the U.S. House of
Representatives passed legislation known as the American Health Care Act, which, if enacted, would have amended and repealed
significant portions of the ACA. The U.S. Senate considered but did not adopt other legislation to amend and/or replace elements
of the ACA and authority to act under the fiscal year 2017 budget resolution expired on September 30, 2017. However, on
October 12, 2017, U.S. President Donald Trump signed another Executive Order directing certain federal agencies to propose
regulations or guidelines to permit small businesses to form association health plans, expand the availability of short-term, limited
duration insurance, and expand the use of health reimbursement arrangements, which may circumvent some of the requirements
for health insurance mandated by the ACA. In addition, citing legal guidance from the U.S. Department of Justice and the HHS,
the Trump administration has concluded that cost-sharing reduction, or CSR, payments to insurance companies required under the
ACA have not received necessary appropriations from Congress and announced that it will discontinue these payments
immediately until such appropriations are made. The loss of the CSR payments is expected to increase premiums on certain
policies issued by qualified health plans under the ACA. Finally, while Congress has not passed comprehensive ACA repeal or
replace legislation, the federal income tax legislation signed into law on December 22, 2017 includes a provision repealing,
effective January 1, 2019, the tax-based shared responsibility payment imposed by the ACA on certain individuals who fail to
maintain qualifying health coverage for all or part of a year that is commonly referred to as the “individual mandate”. We
continue to evaluate the effect that the ACA, relevant legal challenges and additional actions by Congress to possibly repeal and
replace it has on our business.
Likewise, in the countries in the EU, legislators, policymakers and healthcare insurance funds continue to propose and
implement cost-containing measures to keep healthcare costs down, due in part to the attention being paid to healthcare cost
containment in the EU. Certain of these changes could impose limitations on the prices we will be able to charge for our products
and any approved product candidates or the amounts of reimbursement available for these products from governmental agencies
or third party payers, may increase the tax obligations on pharmaceutical companies such as ours, or may facilitate the
introduction of generic competition with respect to our products.
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In addition, drug pricing by pharmaceutical companies has come under increased scrutiny. Specifically, there have been
several recent state and U.S. Congressional inquiries, proposed federal and state legislation and state laws enacted designed to,
among other things, bring more transparency to drug pricing by requiring drug companies to notify insurers and government
regulators of price increases and provide an explanation of the reasons for the increase, reduce the out-of-pocket cost of
prescription drugs, review the relationship between pricing and manufacturer patient programs, reduce the cost of drugs under
Medicare, and reform government program reimbursement methodologies. For example, legislation was recently signed into law
in California that requires drug manufactures to provide advance notice and explanation to state regulators, health plans and
insurers and PBMs for price increases of more than 16% over two years. Moreover, in May 2018, the Trump administration
released its “Blueprint to Lower Drug Prices and Reduce Out-of-Pocket Costs”, or Blueprint. The Blueprint contains several
potential regulatory actions and legislative recommendations aimed at lowering prescription drug prices including measures to
promote innovation and competition for biologics, changes to Medicare Part D to give plan sponsors more leverage when
negotiating prices with manufacturers and updating the Medicare drug-pricing dashboard to make price increases and generic
competition more transparent. In addition, HHS released a Request for Information, or RFI, soliciting public input on ways to
lower drug pricing. Together, the recommendations in the Blueprint and RFI, if enacted by Congress and HHS, could lead to
changes to Medicare Parts B and D. Further, the Bipartisan Budget Act of 2018, among other things, amends the ACA, effective
January 1, 2019, to close the coverage gap in most Medicare drug plans, commonly referred to as the “donut hole”. The majority
of our medicines are purchased by private payers, and much of the focus of pending legislation is on government program
reimbursement. However, we cannot know what form any such action may take, the likelihood it would be executed, enacted,
effectuated or implemented or the market’s perception of how such legislation would affect us. Any reduction in reimbursement
from government programs may result in a similar reduction in payments from private payers. The implementation of cost
containment measures or other healthcare reforms may prevent us from being able to generate revenue, attain profitability, or
commercialize our current medicines and/or those for which we may receive regulatory approval in the future.
We are subject, directly or indirectly, to federal and state healthcare fraud and abuse, transparency laws and false claims
laws. Prosecutions under such laws have increased in recent years and we may become subject to such litigation. If we are
unable to comply, or have not fully complied, with such laws, we could face substantial penalties.
In the United States, we are subject directly, or indirectly or through our customers, to various state and federal fraud and
abuse and transparency laws, including, without limitation, the federal Anti-Kickback Statute, the federal False Claims Act, civil
monetary penalty statutes prohibiting beneficiary inducements, and similar state and local laws, federal and state privacy and
security laws, sunshine laws, government price reporting laws, and other fraud laws. Some states, such as Massachusetts, make
certain reported information public. In addition, there are state and local laws that require pharmaceutical representatives to be
licensed and comply with codes of conduct, transparency reporting, and other obligations. Collectively, these laws may affect,
among other things, our current and proposed sales, marketing and educational programs, as well as other possible relationships
with customers, pharmacies, physicians, payers, and patients. We are subject to similar laws in the EU/EEA, including the EU
General Data Protection Regulation (2016/679), or GDPR, under which fines of up to €20.0 million or up to 4% of the annual
global turnover of the infringer, whichever is greater, could be imposed for significant non-compliance.
Compliance with these laws, including the development of a comprehensive compliance program, is difficult, costly and
time consuming. Because of the breadth of these laws and the narrowness of available statutory and regulatory exemptions, it is
possible that some of our business activities could be subject to challenge under one or more of such laws. Moreover, state
governmental agencies may propose or enact laws and regulations that extend or contradict federal requirements. These risks may
be increased where there are evolving interpretations of applicable regulatory requirements, such as those applicable to
manufacturer co-pay initiatives. Pharmaceutical manufacturer co-pay initiatives and free medicine programs are the subject of
ongoing litigation (involving other manufacturers and to which we are not a party) and evolving interpretations of applicable
regulatory requirements and certain state laws, and any change in the regulatory or enforcement environment regarding such
programs could impact our ability to offer such programs. If we are unsuccessful with our HorizonCares programs, any other copay initiatives or free medicine programs, we would be at a competitive disadvantage in terms of pricing versus preferred branded
and generic competitors, or be subject to significant penalties. We are engaged in various business arrangements with current and
potential customers, and we can give no assurance that such arrangements would not be subject to scrutiny under such laws,
despite our efforts to properly structure such arrangements. Even if we structure our programs with the intent of compliance with
such laws, there can be no certainty that we would not need to defend our business activities against enforcement or
litigation. Further, we cannot give any assurances that prior business activities or arrangements of other companies that we
acquire will not be scrutinized or subject to enforcement or litigation.
There has also been a trend of increased federal and state regulation of payments made to physicians and other healthcare
providers. The ACA, among other things, imposed reporting requirements on drug manufacturers for payments made by them to
physicians and teaching hospitals, as well as ownership and investment interests held by physicians and their immediate family
members. Failure to submit required information may result in significant civil monetary penalties.
We are unable to predict whether we could be subject to actions under any of these or other healthcare laws, or the impact of
such actions. If we are found to be in violation of, or to encourage or assist the violation by third parties of any of the laws
described above or other applicable state and federal fraud and abuse laws, we may be subject to penalties, including
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administrative, civil and criminal penalties, damages, fines, withdrawal of regulatory approval, imprisonment, exclusion from
government healthcare reimbursement programs, contractual damages, reputational harm, diminished profits and future earnings,
injunctions and other associated remedies, or private “qui tam” actions brought by individual whistleblowers in the name of the
government, and the curtailment or restructuring of our operations, all of which could have a material adverse effect on our
business and results of operations. Any action against us for violation of these laws, even if we successfully defend against it,
could cause us to incur significant legal expenses and divert our management’s attention from the operation of our business.
Our medicines or any other medicine candidate that we develop may cause undesirable side effects or have other properties
that could delay or prevent regulatory approval or commercialization, result in medicine re-labeling or withdrawal from
the market or have a significant impact on customer demand.
Undesirable side effects caused by any medicine candidate that we develop could result in the denial of regulatory approval
by the FDA or other regulatory authorities for any or all targeted indications, or cause us to evaluate the future of our development
programs. With respect to RAVICTI, the most common side effects are diarrhea, nausea, decreased appetite, gas, vomiting, high
blood levels of ammonia, headache, tiredness and dizziness. With respect to PROCYSBI, the most common side effects include
vomiting, nausea, abdominal pain, breath odor, diarrhea, skin odor, fatigue, rash and headache. The most common side effects
observed in pivotal trials for ACTIMMUNE were “flu-like” or constitutional symptoms such as fever, headache, chills, myalgia
and fatigue. With respect to BUPHENYL, the most common side effects are change in the frequency of breathing, lack of or
irregular menstruation, lower back, side, or stomach pain, mood or mental changes, muscle pain or twitching, nausea or vomiting,
nervousness or restlessness, swelling of the feet or lower legs, unpleasant taste and unusual tiredness or weakness. With respect to
QUINSAIR, the most common side effects include itching, wheezing, hives, rash, swelling, pale skin color, fast heartbeat and
faintness. With respect to KRYSTEXXA, the most commonly reported serious adverse reactions in the pivotal trial were gout
flares, infusion reactions, nausea, contusion or ecchymosis, nasopharyngitis, constipation, chest pain, anaphylaxis, exacerbation of
pre-existing congestive heart failure and vomiting. The most commonly reported treatment-emergent adverse events in the Phase
3 clinical trials with RAYOS included flare in rheumatoid arthritis related symptoms, abdominal pain, nasopharyngitis, headache,
flushing, upper respiratory tract infection, back pain and weight gain. The most common adverse events reported in a Phase 2
clinical trial of PENNSAID 2% were application site reactions, such as dryness, exfoliation, erythema, pruritus, pain, induration,
rash and scabbing. In our two Phase 3 clinical trials with DUEXIS, the most commonly reported treatment-emergent adverse
events were nausea, dyspepsia, diarrhea, constipation and upper respiratory tract infection. In Phase 3 endoscopic registration
clinical trials with VIMOVO, the most commonly reported treatment-emergent adverse events were erosive gastritis, dyspepsia,
gastritis, diarrhea, gastric ulcer, upper abdominal pain, nausea and upper respiratory tract infection. With respect to MIGERGOT,
the most commonly reported adverse reactions are ischemia, cyanosis, absence of pulse, cold extremities, gangrene, precordial
distress and pain, electrocardiogram change, muscle pain, nausea and vomiting, rectal or anal ulcer, parathesias, numbness
weakness, vertigo, localized edemas and itching.
The FDA or other regulatory authorities may also require, or we may undertake, additional clinical trials to support the
safety profile of our medicines or medicine candidates.
In addition, if we or others identify undesirable side effects caused by our medicines or any other medicine candidate that
we may develop that receives marketing approval, or if there is a perception that the medicine is associated with undesirable side
effects:
•

regulatory authorities may require the addition of labeling statements, such as a “black box” warning or a
contraindication;

•

regulatory authorities may withdraw their approval of the medicine or place restrictions on the way it is prescribed;

•

we may be required to change the way the medicine is administered, conduct additional clinical trials or change the
labeling of the medicine or implement a risk evaluation and mitigation strategy; and

•

we may be subject to increased exposure to product liability and/or personal injury claims.

If any of these events occurred with respect to our medicines, our ability to generate significant revenues from the sale of
these medicines would be significantly harmed.
We rely on third parties to conduct our pre-clinical and clinical trials. If these third parties do not successfully carry out
their contractual duties or meet expected deadlines or if they experience regulatory compliance issues, we may not be able
to obtain regulatory approval for or commercialize our medicine candidates and our business could be substantially
harmed.
We have agreements with third-party contract research organizations, or CROs, to conduct our clinical programs, including
those required for post-marketing commitments, and we expect to continue to rely on CROs for the completion of on-going and
planned clinical trials. We may also have the need to enter into other such agreements in the future if we were to develop other
medicine candidates or conduct clinical trials in additional indications for our existing medicines. We have an agreement in place
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with Syneos Health, Inc. in connection with our Phase 3 confirmatory trial to evaluate teprotumumab for the treatment of thyroid
eye disease. In connection with our ongoing study to evaluate RAYOS on the fatigue experienced by SLE patients, we are
collaborating with the ALR. We also rely heavily on these parties for the execution of our clinical studies and control only certain
aspects of their activities. Nevertheless, we are responsible for ensuring that each of our studies is conducted in accordance with
the applicable protocol. We, our CROs and our academic research organizations are required to comply with current GCP or ICH
regulations. The FDA enforces these GCP or ICH regulations through periodic inspections of trial sponsors, principal
investigators and trial sites. If we or our CROs or collaborators fail to comply with applicable GCP or ICH regulations, the data
generated in our clinical trials may be deemed unreliable and our submission of marketing applications may be delayed or the
FDA may require us to perform additional clinical trials before approving our marketing applications. We cannot assure that,
upon inspection, the FDA will determine that any of our clinical trials comply or complied with GCP or ICH regulations. In
addition, our clinical trials must be conducted with medicine produced under cGMP regulations, and may require a large number
of test subjects. Our failure to comply with these regulations may require us to repeat clinical trials, which would delay the
regulatory approval process. Moreover, our business may be implicated if any of our CROs or collaborators violates federal or
state fraud and abuse or false claims laws and regulations or healthcare privacy and security laws. We must also obtain certain
third-party institutional review board, or IRB, and ethics committee approvals in order to conduct our clinical trials. Delays by
IRBs and ethics committees in providing such approvals may delay our clinical trials.
If any of our relationships with these third-party CROs or collaborators terminate, we may not be able to enter into similar
arrangements on commercially reasonable terms, or at all. If CROs or collaborators do not successfully carry out their contractual
duties or obligations or meet expected deadlines, if they need to be replaced or if the quality or accuracy of the clinical data they
obtain is compromised due to the failure to adhere to our clinical protocols or regulatory requirements or for other reasons, our
clinical trials may be extended, delayed or terminated and we may not be able to obtain regulatory approval for or successfully
commercialize our medicines and medicine candidates. As a result, our results of operations and the commercial prospects for our
medicines and medicine candidates would be harmed, our costs could increase and our ability to generate revenues could be
delayed.
Switching or adding additional CROs or collaborators can involve substantial cost and require extensive management time
and focus. In addition, there is a natural transition period when a new CRO or collaborator commences work. As a result, delays
may occur, which can materially impact our ability to meet our desired clinical development timelines. Though we carefully
manage our relationships with our CROs and collaborators, there can be no assurance that we will not encounter similar
challenges or delays in the future or that these delays or challenges will not have a material adverse impact on our business,
financial condition or prospects.
Clinical development of drugs and biologics involves a lengthy and expensive process with an uncertain outcome, and
results of earlier studies and trials may not be predictive of future trial results.
Clinical testing is expensive and can take many years to complete, and its outcome is uncertain. Failure can occur at any
time during the clinical trial process. The results of pre-clinical studies and early clinical trials of potential medicine candidates
may not be predictive of the results of later-stage clinical trials. Medicine candidates in later stages of clinical trials may fail to
show the desired safety and efficacy traits despite having progressed through pre-clinical studies and initial clinical testing. For
example, in December 2016, we announced that the Phase 3 trial, Safety, Tolerability and Efficacy of ACTIMMUNE Dose
Escalation in Friedreich’s ataxia, evaluating ACTIMMUNE for the treatment of Friedreich’s ataxia did not meet its primary
endpoint. Additionally, we previously made a decision to discontinue our ACTIMMUNE investigator-initiated trials in oncology
to focus on our strategic pipeline where we see more promise and long-term intellectual property.
With respect to investigator-initiated studies for several of our products, and with respect to the Phase 3 confirmatory
clinical trial of teprotumumab in thyroid eye disease that we commenced in the fourth quarter of 2017, and to the extent that we
are required to conduct additional clinical development of any of our existing or later acquired medicines or we conduct clinical
development of earlier stage medicine candidates, we may experience delays in these clinical trials or investigator-initiated
studies. We do not know whether any additional clinical trials will be initiated in the future, begin on time, need to be redesigned,
enroll patients on time or be completed on schedule, if at all. Clinical trials can be delayed for a variety of reasons, including
delays related to:
•

obtaining regulatory approval to commence a trial;

•

reaching agreement on acceptable terms with prospective CROs and clinical trial sites, the terms of which can be
subject to extensive negotiation and may vary significantly among different CROs and trial sites;

•

obtaining IRB or ethics committee approval at each site;

•

recruiting suitable patients to participate in a trial;

•

having patients complete a trial or return for post-treatment follow-up;

•

clinical sites dropping out of a trial;
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•

adding new sites; or

•

manufacturing sufficient quantities of medicine candidates for use in clinical trials.

Patient enrollment, a significant factor in the timing of clinical trials, is affected by many factors including the size and
nature of the patient population, the proximity of patients to clinical sites, the eligibility criteria for the trial, the design of the
clinical trial, competing clinical trials and clinicians’ and patients’ perceptions as to the potential advantages of the medicine
candidate being studied in relation to other available therapies, including any new drugs or biologics that may be approved for the
indications we are investigating. Furthermore, we rely and expect to rely on CROs and clinical trial sites to ensure the proper and
timely conduct of our future clinical trials and while we have and intend to have agreements governing their committed activities,
we will have limited influence over their actual performance.
We could encounter delays if prescribing physicians encounter unresolved ethical issues associated with enrolling patients
in clinical trials of our medicine candidates in lieu of prescribing existing treatments that have established safety and efficacy
profiles. Further, a clinical trial may be suspended or terminated by us, our collaborators, the FDA or other regulatory authorities
due to a number of factors, including failure to conduct the clinical trial in accordance with regulatory requirements or our clinical
protocols, inspection of the clinical trial operations or trial site by the FDA or other regulatory authorities resulting in the
imposition of a clinical hold, unforeseen safety issues or adverse side effects, failure to demonstrate a benefit from using a
medicine candidate, changes in governmental regulations or administrative actions or lack of adequate funding to continue the
clinical trial. If we experience delays in the completion of, or if we terminate, any clinical trial of our medicine candidates, the
commercial prospects of our medicine candidates will be harmed, and our ability to generate medicine revenues from any of these
medicine candidates will be delayed. In addition, any delays in completing our clinical trials will increase our costs, slow down
our medicine development and approval process and jeopardize our ability to commence medicine sales and generate revenues.
Moreover, principal investigators for our clinical trials may serve as scientific advisors or consultants to us from time to
time and receive compensation in connection with such services. Under certain circumstances, we may be required to report some
of these relationships to the FDA. The FDA may conclude that a financial relationship between us and a principal investigator has
created a conflict of interest or otherwise affected interpretation of the study. The FDA may therefore question the integrity of the
data generated at the applicable clinical trial site and the utility of the clinical trial itself may be jeopardized. This could result in a
delay in approval, or rejection, of our marketing applications by the FDA and may ultimately lead to the denial of marketing
approval of one or more of our medicine candidates.
Any of these occurrences may harm our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects significantly. In
addition, many of the factors that cause, or lead to, a delay in the commencement or completion of clinical trials may also
ultimately lead to the denial of regulatory approval of our medicine candidates.
Business interruptions could seriously harm our future revenue and financial condition and increase our costs and
expenses.
Our operations could be subject to earthquakes, power shortages, telecommunications failures, water shortages, floods,
hurricanes, typhoons, fires, extreme weather conditions, medical epidemics and other natural or man-made disasters or business
interruptions. While we carry insurance for certain of these events and have implemented disaster management plans and
contingencies, the occurrence of any of these business interruptions could seriously harm our business and financial condition and
increase our costs and expenses. We conduct significant management operations at both our global headquarters located in
Dublin, Ireland and our U.S. office located in Lake Forest, Illinois. If our Dublin or Lake Forest offices were affected by a natural
or man-made disaster or other business interruption, our ability to manage our domestic and foreign operations could be impaired,
which could materially and adversely affect our results of operations and financial condition. We currently rely, and intend to rely
in the future, on third-party manufacturers and suppliers to produce our medicines and third-party logistics partners to ship our
medicines. Our ability to obtain commercial supplies of our medicines could be disrupted and our results of operations and
financial condition could be materially and adversely affected if the operations of these third-party suppliers or logistics partners
were affected by a man-made or natural disaster or other business interruption. The ultimate impact of such events on us, our
significant suppliers and our general infrastructure is unknown.
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We are dependent on information technology systems, infrastructure and data, which exposes us to data security risks.
We are dependent upon our own or third-party information technology systems, infrastructure and data, including mobile
technologies, to operate our business. The multitude and complexity of our computer systems may make them vulnerable to
service interruption or destruction, disruption of data integrity, malicious intrusion, or random attacks. Likewise, data privacy or
security incidents or breaches by employees or others may pose a risk that sensitive data, including our intellectual property, trade
secrets or personal information of our employees, patients, customers or other business partners may be exposed to unauthorized
persons or to the public. Cyber-attacks are increasing in their frequency, sophistication and intensity. Cyber-attacks could include
the deployment of harmful malware, denial-of-service, social engineering and other means to affect service reliability and threaten
data confidentiality, integrity and availability. Our business partners face similar risks and any security breach of their systems
could adversely affect our security posture. A security breach or privacy violation that leads to disclosure or modification of or
prevents access to patient information, including personally identifiable information or protected health information, could harm
our reputation, compel us to comply with federal and/or state breach notification laws and foreign law equivalents, subject us to
mandatory corrective action, require us to verify the correctness of database contents and otherwise subject us to litigation or other
liability under laws and regulations that protect personal data, any of which could disrupt our business and/or result in increased
costs or loss of revenue. Moreover, the prevalent use of mobile devices that access confidential information increases the risk of
data security breaches, which could lead to the loss of confidential information, trade secrets or other intellectual property. While
we have invested, and continue to invest, in the protection of our data and information technology infrastructure, there can be no
assurance that our efforts will prevent service interruptions, or identify breaches in our systems, that could adversely affect our
business and operations and/or result in the loss of critical or sensitive information, which could result in financial, legal, business
or reputational harm to us. In addition, our liability insurance may not be sufficient in type or amount to cover us against claims
related to security breaches, cyber-attacks and other related breaches.
We are subject to extensive laws and regulations related to data privacy, and our failure to comply with these laws and
regulations could harm our business.
We are subject to laws and regulations governing data privacy and the protection of personal information. These laws and
regulations govern our processing of personal data, including the collection, access, use, analysis, modification, storage, transfer,
security breach notification, destruction and disposal of personal data. There are foreign and state law versions of these laws and
regulations to which we are currently and/or may in the future, be subject. For example, the collection and use of personal health
data in the EU is governed by the GDPR. The GDPR, which is wide-ranging in scope, imposes several requirements relating to
the consent of the individuals to whom the personal data relates, the information provided to the individuals, the security and
confidentiality of the personal data, data breach notification and the use of third party processors in connection with the processing
of personal data. The GDPR also imposes strict rules on the transfer of personal data out of the EU to the United States, provides
an enforcement authority and imposes large monetary penalties for noncompliance. The GDPR requirements apply not only to
third-party transactions, but also to transfers of information within our company, including employee information. The GDPR and
similar data privacy laws of other jurisdictions place significant responsibilities on us and create potential liability in relation to
personal data that we or our third party service providers process, including in clinical trials conducted in the United States and
EU. In addition, we expect that there will continue to be new proposed laws, regulations and industry standards relating to privacy
and data protection in the United States, the EU and other jurisdictions, and we cannot determine the impact such future laws,
regulations and standards may have on our business.
Additionally, California recently enacted legislation that has been dubbed the first “GDPR-like” law in the United States.
Known as the California Consumer Privacy Act, or CCPA, it creates new individual privacy rights for consumers (as that word is
broadly defined in the law) and places increased privacy and security obligations on entities handling personal data of consumers
or households. When it goes into effect on January 1, 2020, the CCPA will require covered companies to provide new disclosures
to California consumers, provide such consumers new ways to opt-out of certain sales of personal information, and allow for a
new cause of action for data breaches. Legislators have stated that amendments will be proposed to the CCPA before it goes into
effect, but it remains unclear what, if any, modifications will be made to this legislation or how it will be interpreted. As currently
written, the CCPA will likely impact our business activities and exemplifies the vulnerability of our business to not only cyber
threats but also the evolving regulatory environment related to personal data and protected health information.
If product liability lawsuits are brought against us, we may incur substantial liabilities and may be required to limit
commercialization of our medicines.
We face an inherent risk of product liability claims as a result of the commercial sales of our medicines and the clinical
testing of our medicine candidates. For example, we may be sued if any of our medicines or medicine candidates allegedly causes
injury or is found to be otherwise unsuitable during clinical testing, manufacturing, marketing or sale. Any such product liability
claims may include allegations of defects in manufacturing, defects in design, a failure to warn of dangers inherent in the
medicine, negligence, strict liability or a breach of warranties. Claims could also be asserted under state consumer protection
acts. If we cannot successfully defend ourselves against product liability claims, we may incur substantial liabilities or be
required to limit commercialization of our medicines and medicine candidates. Even a successful defense would require
significant financial and management resources. Regardless of the merits or eventual outcome, liability claims may result in:
•

decreased demand for our medicines or medicine candidates that we may develop;
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•

injury to our reputation;

•

withdrawal of clinical trial participants;

•

initiation of investigations by regulators;

•

costs to defend the related litigation;

•

a diversion of management’s time and resources;

•

substantial monetary awards to trial participants or patients;

•

medicine recalls, withdrawals or labeling, marketing or promotional restrictions;

•

loss of revenue;

•

exhaustion of any available insurance and our capital resources; and

•

the inability to commercialize our medicines or medicine candidates.

Our inability to obtain and retain sufficient product liability insurance at an acceptable cost to protect against potential
product liability claims could prevent or inhibit the commercialization of medicines we develop. We currently carry product
liability insurance covering our clinical studies and commercial medicine sales in the amount of $125.0 million in the aggregate.
Although we maintain such insurance, any claim that may be brought against us could result in a court judgment or settlement in
an amount that is not covered, in whole or in part, by our insurance or that is in excess of the limits of our insurance coverage. If
we determine that it is prudent to increase our product liability coverage due to the on-going commercialization of our current
medicines in the United States, and/or the potential commercial launches of any of our medicines in additional markets or for
additional indications, we may be unable to obtain such increased coverage on acceptable terms or at all. Our insurance policies
also have various exclusions, and we may be subject to a product liability claim for which we have no coverage. We will have to
pay any amounts awarded by a court or negotiated in a settlement that exceed our coverage limitations or that are not covered by
our insurance, and we may not have, or be able to obtain, sufficient capital to pay such amounts.
Our business involves the use of hazardous materials, and we and our third-party manufacturers must comply with
environmental laws and regulations, which can be expensive and restrict how we do business.
Our third-party manufacturers’ activities involve the controlled storage, use and disposal of hazardous materials owned by
us, including the components of our medicine candidates and other hazardous compounds. We and our manufacturers are subject
to federal, state and local as well as foreign laws and regulations governing the use, manufacture, storage, handling and disposal of
these hazardous materials. Although we believe that the safety procedures utilized by our third-party manufacturers for handling
and disposing of these materials comply with the standards prescribed by these laws and regulations, we cannot eliminate the risk
of accidental contamination or injury from these materials. In the event of an accident, state, federal or foreign authorities may
curtail the use of these materials and interrupt our business operations. We do not currently maintain hazardous materials
insurance coverage. If we are subject to any liability as a result of our third-party manufacturers’ activities involving hazardous
materials, our business and financial condition may be adversely affected. In the future we may seek to establish longer-term
third-party manufacturing arrangements, pursuant to which we would seek to obtain contractual indemnification protection from
such third-party manufacturers potentially limiting this liability exposure.
Our employees, independent contractors, principal investigators, consultants, vendors, distributors and CROs may engage
in misconduct or other improper activities, including noncompliance with regulatory standards and requirements.
We are exposed to the risk that our employees, independent contractors, principal investigators, consultants, vendors,
distributors and CROs may engage in fraudulent or other illegal activity. Misconduct by these parties could include intentional,
reckless and/or negligent conduct or unauthorized activities that violate FDA regulations, including those laws that require the
reporting of true, complete and accurate information to the FDA, manufacturing standards, federal and state healthcare fraud and
abuse laws and regulations, and laws that require the true, complete and accurate reporting of financial information or data. In
particular, sales, marketing and business arrangements in the healthcare industry are subject to extensive laws and regulations
intended to prevent fraud, misconduct, kickbacks, self-dealing and other abusive practices. These laws and regulations may
restrict or prohibit a wide range of pricing, discounting, marketing and promotion, sales commission, customer incentive programs
and other business arrangements. Misconduct by our employees and other third parties may also include the improper use of
information obtained in the course of clinical trials, which could result in regulatory sanctions and serious harm to our
reputation. We have adopted a Code of Business Conduct and Ethics, but it is not always possible to identify and deter
misconduct by our employees and other third parties, and the precautions we take to detect and prevent this activity may not be
effective in controlling unknown or unmanaged risks or losses or in protecting us from governmental investigations or other
actions or lawsuits stemming from a failure to be in compliance with such laws or regulations. If any such actions are instituted
against us, and we are not successful in defending ourselves or asserting our rights, those actions could have a significant impact
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on our business, including the imposition of significant civil and criminal penalties, damages, fines, the curtailment or
restructuring of our operations, the exclusion from participation in federal and state healthcare programs and imprisonment.
Risks Related to our Financial Position and Capital Requirements
In the past we have incurred significant operating losses.
We have a limited operating history and even less history operating as a combined organization following the acquisitions
of Vidara, Hyperion, Crealta Holdings LLC, or Crealta, Raptor and River Vision Development Corp., or River Vision. We have
financed our operations primarily through equity and debt financings and have incurred significant operating losses in the
past. We recorded operating income of $2.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2018 and an operating loss of $383.4
million for the year ended December 31, 2017. We recorded net losses of $110.1 million and $365.7 million for the years ended
December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively. As of December 31, 2018, we had a profit and loss account deficit of $1,319.4
million. Our prior losses have resulted principally from costs incurred in our development activities for our medicines and
medicine candidates, commercialization activities related to our medicines, costs associated with our acquisition transactions and
costs associated with derivative liability accounting. Our prior losses, combined with possible future losses, have had and will
continue to have an adverse effect on our shareholders’ equity and working capital. While we anticipate that we will generate
operating profits in the future, whether we can sustain this will depend on the revenues we generate from the sale of our medicines
being sufficient to cover our operating expenses.
We have limited sources of revenues and significant expenses. We cannot be certain that we will achieve or sustain
profitability, which would depress the market price of our ordinary shares and could cause our investors to lose all or a
part of their investment.
Our ability to achieve and sustain profitability depends upon our ability to generate sales of our medicines. We have a
limited history of commercializing our medicines as a company, and commercialization has been primarily in the United
States. We may never be able to successfully commercialize our medicines or develop or commercialize other medicines in the
United States, which we believe represents our most significant commercial opportunity. Our ability to generate future revenues
depends heavily on our success in:
•
•
•
•

continued commercialization of our existing medicines and any other medicine candidates for which we obtain
approval;
obtaining FDA approvals for teprotumumab;
securing additional foreign regulatory approvals for our medicines in territories where we have commercial rights;
and
developing, acquiring and commercializing a portfolio of other medicines or medicine candidates in addition to our
current medicines.

Even if we do generate additional medicine sales, we may not be able to achieve or sustain profitability on a quarterly or
annual basis. Our failure to become and remain profitable would depress the market price of our ordinary shares and could impair
our ability to raise capital, expand our business, diversify our medicine offerings or continue our operations.
We may need to obtain additional financing to fund additional acquisitions.
Our operations have consumed substantial amounts of cash since inception. We expect to continue to spend substantial
amounts to:
•
•
•
•

commercialize our existing medicines in the United States, including the substantial expansion of our sales force in
recent years;
complete the regulatory approval process, and any future required clinical development related thereto, for our
medicines and medicine candidates;
potentially acquire other businesses or additional complementary medicines or medicines that augment our current
medicine portfolio, including costs associated with refinancing debt of acquired companies; and
conduct clinical trials with respect to potential additional indications, as well as conduct post-marketing requirements
and commitments, with respect to our medicines and medicines we acquire.

While we believe that our existing cash and cash equivalents will be sufficient to fund our operations based on our current
expectations of continued revenue growth, we may need to raise additional funds if we choose to expand our commercialization or
development efforts more rapidly than presently anticipated, if we develop or acquire additional medicines or acquire companies,
or if our revenue does not meet expectations.
We cannot be certain that additional funding will be available on acceptable terms, or at all. If we are unable to raise
additional capital in sufficient amounts or on terms acceptable to us, we may have to significantly delay, scale back or discontinue
the development or commercialization of one or more of our medicines or medicine candidates or one or more of our other
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research and development initiatives, or delay, cut back or abandon our plans to grow the business through acquisitions. We also
could be required to:
•
•

seek collaborators for one or more of our current or future medicine candidates at an earlier stage than otherwise
would be desirable or on terms that are less favorable than might otherwise be available; or
relinquish or license on unfavorable terms our rights to technologies or medicine candidates that we would otherwise
seek to develop or commercialize ourselves.

In addition, if we are unable to secure financing to support future acquisitions, our ability to execute on a key aspect of our
overall growth strategy would be impaired.
Any of the above events could significantly harm our business, financial condition and prospects.
We have incurred a substantial amount of debt, which could adversely affect our business, including by restricting our
ability to engage in additional transactions or incur additional indebtedness, and prevent us from meeting our debt
obligations.
As of December 31, 2018, we had $1,896.7 million book value, or $1,993.0 million aggregate principal amount, of
indebtedness, including $818.0 million in secured indebtedness. In October 2018, we borrowed approximately $818.0 million
aggregate principal amount of loans pursuant to an amendment to our credit agreement to refinance the then outstanding senior
secured term loans incurred in October 2017 under our credit agreement. In connection with the acquisition of Hyperion, we
issued $475.0 million aggregate principal amount of 6.625% Senior Notes due 2023, or the 2023 Senior Notes, in April 2015. In
connection with the acquisition of Raptor, we issued $300.0 million aggregate principal amount of 8.750% Senior Notes due
2024, or the 2024 Senior Notes, in October 2016. In March 2015, we issued $400.0 million aggregate principal amount of 2.50%
Exchangeable Senior Notes due 2022, or the Exchangeable Senior Notes. Accordingly, we have a significant amount of debt
outstanding on a consolidated basis.
This substantial level of debt could have important consequences to our business, including, but not limited to:
•
•
•
•
•

•
•
•

•

reducing the benefits we expect to receive from our prior and any future acquisition transactions;
making it more difficult for us to satisfy our obligations;
requiring a substantial portion of our cash flows from operations to be dedicated to the payment of principal and
interest on our indebtedness, therefore reducing our ability to use our cash flows to fund acquisitions, capital
expenditures, and future business opportunities;
exposing us to the risk of increased interest rates to the extent of any future borrowings, including borrowings under
our credit agreement, at variable rates of interest;
making it more difficult for us to satisfy our obligations with respect to our indebtedness, including our outstanding
notes, our credit agreement, and any failure to comply with the obligations of any of our debt instruments, including
restrictive covenants and borrowing conditions, could result in an event of default under the agreements governing
such indebtedness;
increasing our vulnerability to, and reducing our flexibility to respond to, changes in our business or general adverse
economic and industry conditions;
limiting our ability to obtain additional financing for working capital, capital expenditures, debt service requirements,
acquisitions, and general corporate or other purposes and increasing the cost of any such financing;
limiting our flexibility in planning for, or reacting to, changes in our business and the industry in which we operate;
and placing us at a competitive disadvantage as compared to our competitors, to the extent they are not as highly
leveraged and who, therefore, may be able to take advantage of opportunities that our leverage may prevent us from
exploiting; and
restricting us from pursuing certain business opportunities.

The credit agreement and the indentures governing the 2024 Senior Notes and the 2023 Senior Notes impose, and the terms
of any future indebtedness may impose, various covenants that limit our ability and/or the ability of our restricted subsidiaries’ (as
designated under such agreements) to, among other things, pay dividends or distributions, repurchase equity, prepay junior debt
and make certain investments, incur additional debt and issue certain preferred stock, incur liens on assets, engage in certain asset
sales, consolidate with or merge or sell all or substantially all of our assets, enter into transactions with affiliates, designate
subsidiaries as unrestricted subsidiaries, and allow to exist certain restrictions on the ability of restricted subsidiaries to pay
dividends or make other payments to us.
Our ability to obtain future financing and engage in other transactions may be restricted by these covenants. In addition,
any credit ratings will impact the cost and availability of future borrowings and our cost of capital. Our ratings at any time will
reflect each rating organization’s then opinion of our financial strength, operating performance and ability to meet our debt
obligations. There can be no assurance that we will achieve a particular rating or maintain a particular rating in the future. A
reduction in our credit ratings may limit our ability to borrow at acceptable interest rates. If our credit ratings were downgraded or
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put on watch for a potential downgrade, we may not be able to sell additional debt securities or borrow money in the amounts, at
the times or interest rates or upon the more favorable terms and conditions that might otherwise be available. Any impairment of
our ability to obtain future financing on favorable terms could have an adverse effect on our ability to refinance any of our thenexisting debt and may severely restrict our ability to execute on our business strategy, which includes the continued acquisition of
additional medicines or businesses.
We may not be able to generate sufficient cash to service all of our indebtedness and may be forced to take other actions to
satisfy our obligations under our indebtedness, which may not be successful.
Our ability to make scheduled payments under or to refinance our debt obligations depends on our financial condition and
operating performance, which is subject to prevailing economic, industry and competitive conditions and to certain financial,
business and other factors beyond our control. Our ability to generate cash flow to meet our payment obligations under our debt
may also depend on the successful implementation of our operating and growth strategies. Any refinancing of our debt could be
at higher interest rates and may require us to comply with more onerous covenants, which could further restrict our business
operations. We cannot assure that we will maintain a level of cash flows from operating activities sufficient to pay the principal,
premium, if any, and interest on our indebtedness.
If our cash flows and capital resources are insufficient to fund our debt service obligations, we may be forced to reduce or
delay capital expenditures, sell assets or business operations, seek additional capital or restructure or refinance our indebtedness.
We cannot ensure that we would be able to take any of these actions, that these actions would be successful and permit us to meet
our scheduled debt service obligations or that these actions would be permitted under the terms of existing or future debt
agreements, including the indentures that govern the 2024 Senior Notes and the 2023 Senior Notes and the credit agreement. In
addition, any failure to make payments of interest and principal on our outstanding indebtedness on a timely basis would likely
result in a reduction of our credit rating, which could harm our ability to incur additional indebtedness.
If we cannot make scheduled payments on our debt, we will be in default and, as a result:
•
•
•

our debt holders could declare all outstanding principal and interest to be due and payable;
the administrative agent and/or the lenders under the credit agreement could foreclose against the assets securing the
borrowings then outstanding; and
we could be forced into bankruptcy or liquidation, which could result in you losing your investment.

We generally have broad discretion in the use of our cash and may not use it effectively.
Our management has broad discretion in the application of our cash, and investors will be relying on the judgment of our
management regarding the use of our cash. Our management may not apply our cash in ways that ultimately increase the value of
any investment in our securities. We expect to use our existing cash to fund commercialization activities for our medicines, to
potentially fund additional medicine, medicine candidate or business acquisitions, to potentially fund additional regulatory
approvals of certain of our medicines, to potentially fund development, life cycle management or manufacturing activities of our
medicines and medicine candidates, to potentially fund share repurchases, and for working capital, milestone payments, capital
expenditures and general corporate purposes. We may also invest our cash in short-term, investment-grade, interest-bearing
securities. These investments may not yield a favorable return to our shareholders. If we do not invest or apply our cash in ways
that enhance shareholder value, we may fail to achieve expected financial results, which could cause the price of our ordinary
shares to decline.
Our ability to use net operating loss carryforwards and certain other tax attributes to offset U.S. income taxes may be
limited.
Under Sections 382 and 383 of the Code, if a corporation undergoes an “ownership change” (generally defined as a greater
than 50 percent change (by value) in its equity ownership over a three-year period), the corporation’s ability to use pre-change net
operating loss carryforwards and other pre-change tax attributes to offset post-change income may be limited. We continue to
carry forward our annual limitation resulting from an ownership change date of August 2, 2012. The limitation on pre-change net
operating losses incurred prior to the August 2, 2012 change date is approximately $7.7 million for 2019 through 2028. We
continue to carry forward the annual limitation related to Hyperion of $50.0 million resulting from the last ownership change date
in 2014 and the annual limitation related to Raptor of $0.2 million resulting from the last ownership change date in 2009. In
addition, we recognized $32.2 million of federal net operating losses, $2.2 million of state net operating losses and $9.5 million of
federal tax credits following our acquisition of River Vision. These acquired federal net operating losses and tax credits are
subject to an annual limitation of $2.6 million. The net operating loss carryforward and tax credit carryforward limitations are
cumulative such that any use of the carryforwards below the limitations in one year will result in a corresponding increase in the
limitations for the subsequent tax year. Under the Tax Act, U.S. federal net operating losses incurred in 2018 and in future years
may be carried forward indefinitely, but the deductibility of such federal net operating losses is limited to 80 percent of the current
year’s taxable income. It is uncertain if and to what extent various U.S. states will conform to the Tax Act.
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Following certain acquisitions of a U.S. corporation by a foreign corporation, Section 7874 of the Code limits the ability of
the acquired U.S. corporation and its U.S. affiliates to utilize U.S. tax attributes such as net operating losses to offset U.S. taxable
income resulting from certain transactions. Based on the limited guidance available, we expect this limitation is applicable for
approximately ten years following the Vidara Merger with respect to certain intra-company transactions. As a result, we or our
other U.S. affiliates may not be able to utilize their U.S. tax attributes to offset their U.S. taxable income or U.S. tax liability
respectively, if any, resulting from certain intra-company taxable transactions during such period. Notwithstanding this limitation,
we expect that we will be able to fully use our U.S. net operating losses and tax credits prior to their expiration. As a result of this
limitation, however, it may take Horizon Pharma USA, Inc. (as the successor to HPI) longer to use its net operating losses and tax
credits. Moreover, contrary to these expectations, it is possible that the limitation under Section 7874 of the Code on the
utilization of U.S. tax attributes could prevent us from fully utilizing our U.S. tax attributes prior to their expiration if we do not
generate sufficient taxable income or tax obligations.
Any limitation on our ability to use our net operating loss and tax credit carryforwards, including the carryforwards of
companies that we acquire, will likely increase the taxes we would otherwise pay in future years if we were not subject to such
limitations.
Unstable market and economic conditions may have serious adverse consequences on our business, financial condition and
share price.
From time to time, global credit and financial markets have experienced extreme disruptions, including severely diminished
liquidity and credit availability, declines in consumer confidence, declines in economic growth, increases in unemployment rates,
and uncertainty about economic stability. Our general business strategy may be adversely affected by any such economic
downturn, volatile business environment and continued unpredictable and unstable market conditions. If the equity and credit
markets deteriorate, it may make any necessary debt or equity financing more difficult to complete, more costly, and more
dilutive. Failure to secure any necessary financing in a timely manner and on favorable terms could have a material adverse effect
on our growth strategy, financial performance and share price and could require us to delay or abandon commercialization or
development plans. There is a risk that one or more of our current service providers, manufacturers and other partners may not
survive an economic down-turn, which could directly affect our ability to attain our operating goals on schedule and on budget.
The United Kingdom’s referendum to leave the EU, or “Brexit,” has caused and may continue to cause disruptions to capital
and currency markets worldwide. The full impact of the Brexit decision, however, remains uncertain. A process of negotiation
will determine the future terms of the United Kingdom’s relationship with the EU and there is the potential that the United
Kingdom and the EU may not agree to a withdrawal arrangement before the date the United Kingdom leaves the EU. During this
period of negotiation and afterwards, our results of operations and access to capital may be negatively affected by interest rate,
exchange rate and other market and economic volatility, as well as political uncertainty. In the short and medium term, there is a
risk of disrupted import and export processes due to a lack of administrative processing capacity by the respective United
Kingdom and EU customs agencies that may delay time-sensitive shipments and may negatively impact our product supply
chain. Brexit may also have a detrimental effect on our customers, distributors and suppliers, which would, in turn, adversely
affect our revenues and financial condition.
At December 31, 2018, we had $958.7 million of cash and cash equivalents consisting of cash and money market
funds. While we are not aware of any downgrades, material losses, or other significant deterioration in the fair value of our cash
equivalents since December 31, 2018, no assurance can be given that deterioration in conditions of the global credit and financial
markets would not negatively impact our current portfolio of cash equivalents or our ability to meet our financing
objectives. Dislocations in the credit market may adversely impact the value and/or liquidity of marketable securities owned by
us.
If the London Inter-Bank Offered Rate, or LIBOR, is discontinued, interest payments under our credit agreement may be
calculated using another reference rate.
In July 2017, the Chief Executive of the United Kingdom Financial Conduct Authority, or FCA, which regulates LIBOR,
announced that the FCA intends to phase out the use of LIBOR by the end of 2021. In addition, the U.S. Federal Reserve, in
conjunction with the Alternative Reference Rates Committee, a steering committee comprised of large U.S. financial institutions,
is considering replacing U.S. dollar LIBOR with the Secured Overnight Financing Rate, or SOFR, a new index calculated by
short-term repurchase agreements, backed by Treasury securities. Although there have been certain issuances utilizing SOFR, it is
unknown whether this or any other alternative reference rate will attain market acceptance as a replacement for LIBOR. LIBOR
is used as a benchmark rate throughout our credit agreement, and our credit agreement does not provide fallback language for all
circumstances in which LIBOR ceases to be published. There remains uncertainty regarding the future utilization of LIBOR and
the nature of any replacement rate, and any potential effects of the transition away from LIBOR on us are not known. The
transition process may involve, among other things, increased volatility and illiquidity in markets for instruments that currently
rely on LIBOR and may result in increased borrowing costs, the effectiveness of related transactions such as hedges, uncertainty
under applicable documentation, including the credit agreement, or difficult and costly processes to amend such
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documentation. As a result, our ability to refinance our credit agreement or other indebtedness or to hedge our exposure to
floating rate instruments may be impaired, which would adversely affect the operations of our business.
Changes in accounting rules or policies may affect our financial position and results of operations.
Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States, or GAAP, and related implementation guidelines and
interpretations can be highly complex and involve subjective judgments. Changes in these rules or their interpretation, the
adoption of new guidance or the application of existing guidance to changes in our business could significantly affect our financial
position and results of operations. In addition, our operation as an Irish company with multiple subsidiaries in different
jurisdictions adds additional complexity to the application of GAAP and this complexity will be exacerbated further if we
complete additional strategic transactions. Changes in the application of existing rules or guidance applicable to us or our wholly
owned subsidiaries could significantly affect our consolidated financial position and results of operations.
Covenants under the indentures governing our 2024 Senior Notes and 2023 Senior Notes and our credit agreement may
restrict our business and operations in many ways, and if we do not effectively manage our covenants, our financial
conditions and results of operations could be adversely affected.
The indentures governing the 2024 Senior Notes and the 2023 Senior Notes and the credit agreement impose various
covenants that limit our ability and/or our restricted subsidiaries’ ability to, among other things:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

pay dividends or distributions, repurchase equity, prepay, redeem or repurchase certain debt and make certain
investments;
incur additional debt and issue certain preferred stock;
provide guarantees in respect of obligations of other persons;
incur liens on assets;
engage in certain asset sales;
merge, consolidate with or sell all or substantially all of our assets to another person;
enter into transactions with affiliates;
sell assets and capital stock of our subsidiaries;
enter into agreements that restrict distributions from our subsidiaries;
designate subsidiaries as unrestricted subsidiaries; and
allow to exist certain restrictions on the ability of restricted subsidiaries to pay dividends or make other payments to
us.

These covenants may:
•
•
•
•
•
•

limit our ability to borrow additional funds for working capital, capital expenditures, acquisitions or other general
business purposes;
limit our ability to use our cash flow or obtain additional financing for future working capital, capital expenditures,
acquisitions or other general business purposes;
require us to use a substantial portion of our cash flow from operations to make debt service payments;
limit our flexibility to plan for, or react to, changes in our business and industry;
place us at a competitive disadvantage compared to less leveraged competitors; and
increase our vulnerability to the impact of adverse economic and industry conditions.

If we are unable to successfully manage the limitations and decreased flexibility on our business due to our significant debt
obligations, we may not be able to capitalize on strategic opportunities or grow our business to the extent we would be able to
without these limitations.
Our failure to comply with any of the covenants could result in a default under the credit agreement or the indentures
governing the 2024 Senior Notes or the 2023 Senior Notes, which could permit the administrative agent or the trustee, as
applicable, or permit the lenders or the holders of the 2024 Senior Notes or the 2023 Senior Notes to cause the administrative
agent or the trustee, as applicable, to declare all or part of any outstanding senior secured term loans, the 2023 Senior Notes or the
2024 Senior Notes to be immediately due and payable or to exercise any remedies provided to the administrative agent or the
trustee, including, in the case of the credit agreement proceeding against the collateral granted to secure our obligations under the
credit agreement. An event of default under the credit agreement or the indentures governing the 2024 Senior Notes or the 2023
Senior Notes could also lead to an event of default under the terms of the other agreements and the indenture governing our
Exchangeable Senior Notes. Any such event of default or any exercise of rights and remedies by our creditors could seriously
harm our business.
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If intangible assets that we have recorded in connection with our acquisition transactions become impaired, we could have
to take significant charges against earnings.
In connection with the accounting for our various acquisition transactions, we have recorded significant amounts of
intangible assets. Under GAAP, we must assess, at least annually and potentially more frequently, whether the value of goodwill
and other indefinite-lived intangible assets has been impaired. Amortizing intangible assets will be assessed for impairment in the
event of an impairment indicator. For example, during the year ended December 31, 2018, we recorded an impairment of $37.9
million to fully write off the book value of developed technology related to PROCYSBI in Canada and Latin America. Such
impairment and any reduction or other impairment of the value of goodwill or other intangible assets will result in a charge
against earnings, which could materially adversely affect our results of operations and shareholders’ equity in future periods.
Risks Related to Our Intellectual Property
If we are unable to obtain or protect intellectual property rights related to our medicines and medicine candidates, we may
not be able to compete effectively in our markets.
We rely upon a combination of patents, trade secret protection and confidentiality agreements to protect the intellectual
property related to our medicines and medicine candidates. The strength of patents in the biotechnology and pharmaceutical field
involves complex legal and scientific questions and can be uncertain. The patent applications that we own may fail to result in
issued patents with claims that cover our medicines in the United States or in other foreign countries. If this were to occur, early
generic competition could be expected against our current medicines and other medicine candidates in development. There is no
assurance that all potentially relevant prior art relating to our patents and patent applications has been found, which prior art can
invalidate a patent or prevent a patent from issuing based on a pending patent application. In particular, because the APIs in
RAYOS, DUEXIS and VIMOVO have been on the market as separate medicines for many years, it is possible that these
medicines have previously been used off-label in such a manner that such prior usage would affect the validity of our patents or
our ability to obtain patents based on our patent applications. In addition, claims directed to dosing and dose adjustment may be
substantially less likely to issue in light of the Supreme Court decision in Mayo Collaborative Services v. Prometheus
Laboratories, Inc., where the court held that claims directed to methods of determining whether to adjust drug dosing levels based
on drug metabolite levels in the red blood cells were not patent eligible because they were directed to a law of nature. This
decision may have wide-ranging implications on the validity and scope of pharmaceutical method claims.
Even if patents do successfully issue, third parties may challenge their validity, enforceability or scope, which may result in
such patents being narrowed or invalidated.
Patent litigation is currently pending in the United States District Court for the District of New Jersey against Actavis, who
intend to market a generic version of PENNSAID 2% prior to the expiration of certain of our patents listed in the Orange
Book. These cases arise from Paragraph IV Patent Certification notice letters from Actavis advising they had filed an ANDA with
the FDA seeking approval to market a generic version of PENNSAID 2% before the expiration of the patents-in-suit. For a more
detailed description of the PENNSAID 2% litigation, see Note 24, Legal, of the Notes to consolidated financial statements.
Patent litigation is currently pending in the United States District Court for the District of New Jersey and the Court of
Appeals for the Federal Circuit against several companies intending to market a generic version of VIMOVO before the expiration
of certain of our patents listed in the Orange Book. These cases are collectively known as the VIMOVO cases, and involve the
following sets of defendants: (i) Dr. Reddy’s; (ii) Lupin; and (iii) Mylan. The cases arise from Paragraph IV Patent Certification
notice letters from each of Dr. Reddy’s, Lupin and Mylan, advising each had filed an ANDA with the FDA seeking approval to
market generic versions of VIMOVO before the expiration of the patents-in-suit. For a more detailed description of the VIMOVO
litigation, see Note 24, Legal, of the Notes to consolidated financial statements included in this Irish Annual Report.
Patent litigation is currently pending in the United States District Court for the District of Delaware against Alkem, who
intends to market a generic version of DUEXIS prior to the expiration of certain of our patents listed in the Orange Book. This
case arises from Paragraph IV Patent Certification notice letters from Alkem advising it had filed an ANDA with the FDA seeking
approval to market a generic version of DUEXIS before the expiration of the patents-in-suit. For a more detailed description of the
DUEXIS litigation, see Note 24, Legal, of the Notes to consolidated financial statements.
We intend to vigorously defend our intellectual property rights relating to our medicines, but we cannot predict the outcome
of the DUEXIS case, the PENNSAID 2% cases and the VIMOVO cases. Any adverse outcome in these matters or any new
generic challenges that may arise could result in one or more generic versions of our medicines being launched before the
expiration of the listed patents, which could adversely affect our ability to successfully execute our business strategy to increase
sales of our medicines, and would negatively impact our financial condition and results of operations, including causing a
significant decrease in our revenues and cash flows.
Furthermore, even if they are unchallenged, our patents and patent applications may not adequately protect our intellectual
property or prevent others from designing around our claims. If the patent applications we hold with respect to our medicines fail
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to issue or if their breadth or strength of protection is threatened, it could dissuade companies from collaborating with us to
develop them and threaten our ability to commercialize our medicines. We cannot offer any assurances about which, if any,
patents will issue or whether any issued patents will be found not invalid and not unenforceable or will go unthreatened by third
parties. Since patent applications in the United States and most other countries are confidential for a period of time after filing,
and some remain so until issued, we cannot be certain that we were the first to file any patent application related to our medicines
or any other medicine candidates. Furthermore, if third parties have filed such patent applications, an interference proceeding in
the United States can be provoked by a third-party or instituted by us to determine which party was the first to invent any of the
subject matter covered by the patent claims of our applications.
In addition to the protection afforded by patents, we rely on trade secret protection and confidentiality agreements to protect
proprietary know-how that is not patentable, processes for which patents are difficult to enforce and any other elements of our
drug discovery and development processes that involve proprietary know-how, information or technology that is not covered by
patents. Although we expect all of our employees to assign their inventions to us, and all of our employees, consultants, advisors
and any third parties who have access to our proprietary know-how, information or technology to enter into confidentiality
agreements, we cannot provide any assurances that all such agreements have been duly executed or that our trade secrets and other
confidential proprietary information will not be disclosed or that competitors will not otherwise gain access to our trade secrets or
independently develop substantially equivalent information and techniques.
Further, the laws of some foreign countries do not protect proprietary rights to the same extent or in the same manner as the
laws of the United States. As a result, we may encounter significant problems in protecting and defending our intellectual
property both in the United States and abroad. For example, if the issuance, in a given country, of a patent to us, covering an
invention, is not followed by the issuance, in other countries, of patents covering the same invention, or if any judicial
interpretation of the validity, enforceability, or scope of the claims in, or the written description or enablement in, a patent issued
in one country is not similar to the interpretation given to the corresponding patent issued in another country, our ability to protect
our intellectual property in those countries may be limited. Changes in either patent laws or in interpretations of patent laws in the
United States and other countries may materially diminish the value of our intellectual property or narrow the scope of our patent
protection. If we are unable to prevent material disclosure of the non-patented intellectual property related to our technologies to
third parties, and there is no guarantee that we will have any such enforceable trade secret protection, we may not be able to
establish or maintain a competitive advantage in our market, which could materially adversely affect our business, results of
operations and financial condition.
Third-party claims of intellectual property infringement may prevent or delay our development and commercialization
efforts.
Our commercial success depends in part on us avoiding infringement of the patents and proprietary rights of third
parties. There is a substantial amount of litigation, both within and outside the United States, involving patent and other
intellectual property rights in the biotechnology and pharmaceutical industries, including patent infringement lawsuits,
interferences, oppositions and inter party reexamination proceedings before the United States Patent and Trademark Office, or the
U.S. PTO. Numerous U.S. and foreign issued patents and pending patent applications, which are owned by third parties, exist in
the fields in which our collaborators are developing medicine candidates. As the biotechnology and pharmaceutical industries
expand and more patents are issued, the risk increases that our medicine candidates may be subject to claims of infringement of
the patent rights of third parties.
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Third parties may assert that we are employing their proprietary technology without authorization. There may be third-party
patents or patent applications with claims to materials, formulations, methods of manufacture or methods for treatment related to
the use or manufacture of our medicines and/or any other medicine candidates. Because patent applications can take many years
to issue, there may be currently pending patent applications, which may later result in issued patents that our medicine candidates
may infringe. In addition, third parties may obtain patents in the future and claim that use of our technologies infringes upon these
patents. If any third-party patents were held by a court of competent jurisdiction to cover the manufacturing process of any of our
medicine candidates, any molecules formed during the manufacturing process or any final medicine itself, the holders of any such
patents may be able to block our ability to commercialize such medicine candidate unless we obtained a license under the
applicable patents, or until such patents expire. Similarly, if any third-party patent were held by a court of competent jurisdiction
to cover aspects of our formulations, processes for manufacture or methods of use, including combination therapy, the holders of
any such patent may be able to block our ability to develop and commercialize the applicable medicine candidate unless we
obtained a license or until such patent expires. In either case, such a license may not be available on commercially reasonable
terms or at all.
Parties making claims against us may obtain injunctive or other equitable relief, which could effectively block our ability to
further develop and commercialize one or more of our medicine candidates. Defense of these claims, regardless of their merit,
would involve substantial litigation expense and would be a substantial diversion of employee resources from our business. In the
event of a successful claim of infringement against us, we may have to pay substantial damages, including treble damages and
attorneys’ fees for willful infringement, obtain one or more licenses from third parties, pay royalties or redesign our infringing
medicines, which may be impossible or require substantial time and monetary expenditure. We cannot predict whether any such
license would be available at all or whether it would be available on commercially reasonable terms. Furthermore, even in the
absence of litigation, we may need to obtain licenses from third parties to advance our research or allow commercialization of our
medicine candidates, and we have done so from time to time. We may fail to obtain any of these licenses at a reasonable cost or
on reasonable terms, if at all. In that event, we would be unable to further develop and commercialize one or more of our
medicine candidates, which could harm our business significantly. We cannot provide any assurances that third-party patents do
not exist which might be enforced against our medicines, resulting in either an injunction prohibiting our sales, or, with respect to
our sales, an obligation on our part to pay royalties and/or other forms of compensation to third parties.
If we fail to comply with our obligations in the agreements under which we license rights to technology from third parties,
we could lose license rights that are important to our business.
We are party to a number of technology licenses that are important to our business and expect to enter into additional
licenses in the future. For example, we rely on a license from Bausch with respect to technology developed by Bausch in
connection with the manufacturing of RAVICTI. The purchase agreement under which Hyperion purchased the rights to
RAVICTI contains obligations to pay Bausch regulatory and sales milestone payments relating to RAVICTI, as well as royalties
on the net sales of RAVICTI. On May 31, 2013, when Hyperion acquired BUPHENYL under a restated collaboration agreement
with Bausch, Hyperion received a license to use some of the manufacturing technology developed by Bausch in connection with
the manufacturing of BUPHENYL. The restated collaboration agreement also contains obligations to pay Bausch regulatory and
sales milestone payments, as well as royalties on net sales of BUPHENYL. If we fail to make a required payment to Bausch and
do not cure the failure within the required time period, Bausch may be able to terminate the license to use its manufacturing
technology for RAVICTI and BUPHENYL. If we lose access to the Bausch manufacturing technology, we cannot guarantee that
an acceptable alternative method of manufacture could be developed or acquired. Even if alternative technology could be
developed or acquired, the loss of the Bausch technology could still result in substantial costs and potential periods where we
would not be able to market and sell RAVICTI and/or BUPHENYL. We also license intellectual property necessary for
commercialization of RAVICTI from an external party. This party may be entitled to terminate the license if we breach the
agreement, including failure to pay required royalties on net sales of RAVICTI, or we do not meet specified diligence obligations
in our development and commercialization of RAVICTI, and we do not cure the failure within the required time period. If the
license is terminated, it may be difficult or impossible for us to continue to commercialize RAVICTI, which would have a
material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.
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We also license rights to patents, know-how and trademarks for ACTIMMUNE from Genentech Inc., or Genentech.
Genentech may terminate the agreement upon our material default, if not cured within a specified period of time. Genentech may
also terminate the agreement in the event of our bankruptcy or insolvency. Upon such a termination of the agreement, all
intellectual property rights conveyed to us under the agreement, including the rights to the ACTIMMUNE trademark, revert to
Genentech. If we fail to comply with our obligations under this agreement, we could lose the ability to market and distribute
ACTIMMUNE, which would have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.
In addition, we are subject to contractual obligations under our agreements with Tripex and PARI related to
QUINSAIR. Under the agreement with Tripex, as amended, if we do not spend a specified amount on the development of
QUINSAIR for non-CF indications between January 1, 2018 and December 31, 2021 and regulatory approval by the FDA for
QUINSAIR for the CF indication is obtained prior to December 31, 2021, we may be obligated to pre-pay a milestone payment
related to commercial sales of QUINSAIR for non-CF indications. This obligation is subject to certain exceptions due to, for
example, manufacturing delays not under our control, or clinical trial suspension or delay ordered by the FDA. In October 2017,
we triggered a milestone payment under this agreement and we paid Tripex $20.0 million in November 2017. Under the license
agreement with PARI, we are required to comply with diligence milestones related to development and commercialization of
QUINSAIR in the United States and to spend a specified minimum amount per year on development activities in the United States
until submission of the NDA for QUINSAIR in the United States. If we do not comply with these obligations, our licenses to
certain intellectual property related to QUINSAIR may become non-exclusive in the United States or could be terminated. We are
also subject to contractual obligations under our amended and restated license agreement with UCSD, as amended, with respect to
PROCYSBI. If one or more of these licenses was terminated, we would have no further right to use or exploit the related
intellectual property, which would limit our ability to develop PROCYSBI or QUINSAIR in other indications, and could impact
our ability to continue commercializing PROCYSBI or QUINSAIR in their approved indications.
We also hold an exclusive license to patents and technology from Duke University, or Duke, and Mountain View
Pharmaceuticals, Inc., or MVP, covering KRYSTEXXA. Duke and MVP may terminate the license if we commit fraud or for our
willful misconduct or illegal conduct. Duke and MVP may also terminate the license upon our material breach of the agreement,
if not cured within a specified period of time, or upon written notice if we have committed two or more material breaches under
the agreement. Duke and MVP may also terminate the license in the event of our bankruptcy or insolvency. If the license is
terminated, it may be impossible for us to continue to commercialize KRYSTEXXA, which would have a material adverse effect
on our business, financial condition and results of operations.
We hold an exclusive license to Vectura Group plc’s, or Vectura, proprietary technology and know-how covering the
delayed-release of corticosteroids relating to RAYOS. If we fail to comply with our obligations under our agreement with
Vectura or our other license agreements, or if we are subject to a bankruptcy, the licensor may have the right to terminate the
license, in which event we would not be able to market medicines covered by the license, including RAYOS.
We may be involved in lawsuits to protect or enforce our patents or the patents of our licensors, which could be expensive,
time consuming and unsuccessful.
Competitors may infringe our patents or the patents of our licensors. To counter infringement or unauthorized use, we may
be required to file infringement claims, which can be expensive and time-consuming. In addition, in an infringement proceeding,
a court may decide that one of our patents, or a patent of one of our licensors, is not valid or is unenforceable, or may refuse to
stop the other party from using the technology at issue on the grounds that our patents do not cover the technology in
question. An adverse result in any litigation or defense proceedings could put one or more of our patents at risk of being
invalidated or interpreted narrowly and could put our patent applications at risk of not issuing.
There are numerous post grant review proceedings available at the U.S. PTO (including inter partes review, post-grant
review and ex-parte reexamination) and similar proceedings in other countries of the world that could be initiated by a third-party
that could potentially negatively impact our issued patents.
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Interference proceedings provoked by third parties or brought by us may be necessary to determine the priority of inventions
with respect to our patents or patent applications or those of our collaborators or licensors. An unfavorable outcome could require
us to cease using the related technology or to attempt to license rights to it from the prevailing party. Our business could be
harmed if the prevailing party does not offer us a license on commercially reasonable terms. Our defense of litigation or
interference proceedings may fail and, even if successful, may result in substantial costs and distract our management and other
employees. We may not be able to prevent, alone or with our licensors, misappropriation of our intellectual property rights,
particularly in countries where the laws may not protect those rights as fully as in the United States.
Furthermore, because of the substantial amount of discovery required in connection with intellectual property litigation,
there is a risk that some of our confidential information could be compromised by disclosure during this type of litigation. There
could also be public announcements of the results of hearings, motions or other interim proceedings or developments. If securities
analysts or investors perceive these results to be negative, it could have a material adverse effect on the price of our ordinary
shares.
Obtaining and maintaining our patent protection depends on compliance with various procedural, document submission,
fee payment and other requirements imposed by governmental patent agencies, and our patent protection could be reduced
or eliminated for non-compliance with these requirements.
Periodic maintenance fees on any issued patent are due to be paid to the U.S. PTO and foreign patent agencies in several
stages over the lifetime of the patent. The U.S. PTO and various foreign governmental patent agencies require compliance with a
number of procedural, documentary, fee payment and other similar provisions during the patent application process. While an
inadvertent lapse can in many cases be cured by payment of a late fee or by other means in accordance with the applicable rules,
there are situations in which noncompliance can result in abandonment or lapse of the patent or patent application, resulting in
partial or complete loss of patent rights in the relevant jurisdiction. Non-compliance events that could result in abandonment or
lapse of a patent or patent application include, but are not limited to, failure to respond to official actions within prescribed time
limits, non-payment of fees and failure to properly legalize and submit formal documents. If we or licensors that control the
prosecution and maintenance of our licensed patents fail to maintain the patents and patent applications covering our medicine
candidates, our competitors might be able to enter the market, which would have a material adverse effect on our business.
We may be subject to claims that our employees, consultants or independent contractors have wrongfully used or disclosed
confidential information of third parties.
We employ individuals who were previously employed at other biotechnology or pharmaceutical companies. We may be
subject to claims that we or our employees, consultants or independent contractors have inadvertently or otherwise used or
disclosed confidential information of our employees’ former employers or other third parties. We may also be subject to claims
that former employers or other third parties have an ownership interest in our patents. Litigation may be necessary to defend
against these claims. There is no guarantee of success in defending these claims, and even if we are successful, litigation could
result in substantial cost and be a distraction to our management and other employees.
Risks Related to Ownership of Our Ordinary Shares
The market price of our ordinary shares historically has been volatile and is likely to continue to be volatile, and you could
lose all or part of any investment in our ordinary shares.
The trading price of our ordinary shares has been volatile and could be subject to wide fluctuations in response to various
factors, some of which are beyond our control. In addition to the factors discussed in this “Risk Factors” section and elsewhere in
this report, these factors include:
•

our failure to successfully execute our commercialization strategy with respect to our approved medicines,
particularly our commercialization of our medicines in the United States;

•

actions or announcements by third-party or government payers with respect to coverage and reimbursement of our
medicines;

•

disputes or other developments relating to intellectual property and other proprietary rights, including patents,
litigation matters and our ability to obtain patent protection for our medicines and medicine candidates;

•

unanticipated serious safety concerns related to the use of our medicines;

•

adverse regulatory decisions;

•

changes in laws or regulations applicable to our business, medicines or medicine candidates, including but not limited
to clinical trial requirements for approvals or tax laws;

•

inability to comply with our debt covenants and to make payments as they become due;

•

inability to obtain adequate commercial supply for any approved medicine or inability to do so at acceptable prices;
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•

developments concerning our commercial partners, including but not limited to those with our sources of
manufacturing supply;

•

our decision to initiate a clinical trial, not to initiate a clinical trial or to terminate an existing clinical trial;

•

adverse results or delays in clinical trials;

•

our failure to successfully develop and/or acquire additional medicine candidates or obtain approvals for additional
indications for our existing medicine candidates;

•

introduction of new medicines or services offered by us or our competitors;

•

overall performance of the equity markets, including the pharmaceutical sector, and general political and economic
conditions;

•

failure to meet or exceed revenue and financial projections that we may provide to the public;

•

actual or anticipated variations in quarterly operating results;

•

failure to meet or exceed the estimates and projections of the investment community;

•

inaccurate or significant adverse media coverage;

•

publication of research reports about us or our industry or positive or negative recommendations or withdrawal of
research coverage by securities analysts;

•

our inability to successfully enter new markets;

•

the termination of a collaboration or the inability to establish additional collaborations;

•

announcements of significant acquisitions, strategic partnerships, joint ventures or capital commitments by us or our
competitors;

•

our inability to maintain an adequate rate of growth;

•

ineffectiveness of our internal controls or our inability to otherwise comply with financial reporting requirements;

•

adverse U.S. and foreign tax exposure;

•

additions or departures of key management, commercial or regulatory personnel;

•

issuances of debt or equity securities;

•

significant lawsuits, including patent or shareholder litigation;

•

changes in the market valuations of similar companies to us;

•

sales of our ordinary shares by us or our shareholders in the future;

•

trading volume of our ordinary shares;

•

effects of natural or man-made catastrophic events or other business interruptions; and

•

other events or factors, many of which are beyond our control.

In addition, the stock market in general, and The Nasdaq Global Select Market and the stock of biotechnology companies in
particular, have experienced extreme price and volume fluctuations that have often been unrelated or disproportionate to the
operating performance of these companies. Broad market and industry factors may adversely affect the market price of our
ordinary shares, regardless of our actual operating performance.
We have never declared or paid dividends on our share capital and we do not anticipate paying dividends in the foreseeable
future.
We have never declared or paid any cash dividends on our ordinary shares. We currently anticipate that we will retain
future earnings for the development, operation and expansion of our business and do not anticipate declaring or paying any cash
dividends for the foreseeable future, including due to limitations that are currently imposed by our credit agreement and the
indentures governing the 2024 Senior Notes and the 2023 Senior Notes. Any return to shareholders will therefore be limited to
the increase, if any, of our ordinary share price.
We have incurred and will continue to incur significant increased costs as a result of operating as a public company and
our management will be required to devote substantial time to compliance initiatives.
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As a public company, we have incurred and will continue to incur significant legal, accounting and other expenses that we
did not incur as a private company. In particular, the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2000, or the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, as well as rules
subsequently implemented by the SEC and the Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc., or Nasdaq, impose significant requirements on public
companies, including requiring establishment and maintenance of effective disclosure and financial controls and changes in
corporate governance practices. These rules and regulations have substantially increased our legal and financial compliance costs
and have made some activities more time-consuming and costly. These effects are exacerbated by our transition to an Irish
company and the integration of numerous acquired businesses and operations into our historical business and operating
structure. If these requirements divert the attention of our management and personnel from other business concerns, they could
have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. The increased costs will continue to
decrease our net income or increase our net loss, and may require us to reduce costs in other areas of our business or increase the
prices of our medicines or services. For example, these rules and regulations make it more difficult and more expensive for us to
obtain and maintain director and officer liability insurance. We cannot predict or estimate the amount or timing of additional
costs that we may incur to respond to these requirements. The impact of these requirements could also make it more difficult for
us to attract and retain qualified persons to serve on our board of directors, our board committees or as executive officers. If we
fail to comply with the continued listing requirements of Nasdaq, our ordinary shares could be delisted from The Nasdaq Global
Select Market, which would adversely affect the liquidity of our ordinary shares and our ability to obtain future financing.
The Sarbanes-Oxley Act requires, among other things, that we maintain effective internal controls for financial reporting
and disclosure controls and procedures. In particular, we are required to perform annual system and process evaluation and
testing of our internal controls over financial reporting to allow management to report on the effectiveness of our internal controls
over financial reporting, as required by Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, or Section 404. Our independent registered public
accounting firm is also required to deliver a report on the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting. Our
testing, or the testing by our independent registered public accounting firm, may reveal deficiencies in our internal controls over
financial reporting that are deemed to be material weaknesses. Our compliance with Section 404 requires that we incur substantial
expense and expend significant management efforts, particularly because of our Irish parent company structure and international
operations. If we are not able to comply with the requirements of Section 404 or if we or our independent registered public
accounting firm identify deficiencies in our internal controls over financial reporting that are deemed to be material weaknesses,
the market price of our ordinary shares could decline and we could be subject to sanctions or investigations by Nasdaq, the SEC or
other regulatory authorities, which would require additional financial and management resources.
New laws and regulations as well as changes to existing laws and regulations affecting public companies, including the
provisions of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act and rules adopted by the SEC and by Nasdaq, would likely result in increased costs as we
respond to their requirements.
Sales of a substantial number of our ordinary shares in the public market could cause our share price to decline.
If our existing shareholders sell, or indicate an intention to sell, substantial amounts of our ordinary shares in the public
market, the trading price of such ordinary shares could decline. In addition, our ordinary shares that are either subject to
outstanding options or reserved for future issuance under our employee benefit plans are or may become eligible for sale in the
public market to the extent permitted by the provisions of various vesting schedules and Rule 144 under the Securities Act of
1933, as amended, or the Securities Act. If these additional ordinary shares are sold, or if it is perceived that they will be sold, in
the public market, the trading price of our ordinary shares could decline.
In addition, any conversion or exchange of our Exchangeable Senior Notes, whether pursuant to their terms or pursuant to
privately negotiated transactions between the issuer and/or us and a holder of such securities, could depress the market price for
our ordinary shares.
Future sales and issuances of our ordinary shares, securities convertible into our ordinary shares or rights to purchase
ordinary shares or convertible securities could result in additional dilution of the percentage ownership of our shareholders
and could cause our share price to decline.
Additional capital may be needed in the future to continue our planned operations. To the extent we raise additional capital
by issuing equity securities or securities convertible into or exchangeable for ordinary shares, our shareholders may experience
substantial dilution. We may sell ordinary shares, and we may sell convertible or exchangeable securities or other equity
securities in one or more transactions at prices and in a manner we determine from time to time. If we sell such ordinary shares,
convertible or exchangeable securities or other equity securities in subsequent transactions, existing shareholders may be
materially diluted. New investors in such subsequent transactions could gain rights, preferences and privileges senior to those of
holders of ordinary shares. We also maintain equity incentive plans, including our Amended and Restated 2014 Equity Incentive
Plan, 2014 Non-Employee Equity Plan and 2014 Employee Stock Purchase Plan, and intend to grant additional ordinary share
awards under these and future plans, which will result in additional dilution to our existing shareholders.
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Irish law differs from the laws in effect in the United States and may afford less protection to holders of our securities.
It may not be possible to enforce court judgments obtained in the United States against us in Ireland based on the civil
liability provisions of the U.S. federal or state securities laws. In addition, there is some uncertainty as to whether the courts of
Ireland would recognize or enforce judgments of U.S. courts obtained against us or our directors or officers based on the civil
liabilities provisions of the U.S. federal or state securities laws or hear actions against us or those persons based on those
laws. We have been advised that the United States currently does not have a treaty with Ireland providing for the reciprocal
recognition and enforcement of judgments in civil and commercial matters. Therefore, a final judgment for the payment of money
rendered by any U.S. federal or state court based on civil liability, whether or not based solely on U.S. federal or state securities
laws, would not automatically or necessarily be enforceable in Ireland.
As an Irish company, we are governed by the Irish Companies Act 2014 (as amended), which differs in some material
respects from laws generally applicable to U.S. corporations and shareholders, including, among others, differences relating to
interested director and officer transactions and shareholder lawsuits. Likewise, the duties of directors and officers of an Irish
company generally are owed to the company only. Shareholders of Irish companies generally do not have a personal right of
action against directors or officers of the company and may exercise such rights of action on behalf of the company only in limited
circumstances. Accordingly, holders of our securities may have more difficulty protecting their interests than would holders of
securities of a corporation incorporated in a jurisdiction of the United States.
Provisions of our articles of association could delay or prevent a takeover of us by a third-party.
Our articles of association could delay, defer or prevent a third-party from acquiring us, despite the possible benefit to our
shareholders, or otherwise adversely affect the price of our ordinary shares. For example, our articles of association:
•

impose advance notice requirements for shareholder proposals and nominations of directors to be considered at
shareholder meetings;

•

stagger the terms of our board of directors into three classes; and

•

require the approval of a supermajority of the voting power of the shares of our share capital entitled to vote generally
at a meeting of shareholders to amend or repeal our articles of association.

In addition, several mandatory provisions of Irish law could prevent or delay an acquisition of us. For example, Irish law
does not permit shareholders of an Irish public limited company to take action by written consent with less than unanimous
consent. We are also subject to various provisions of Irish law relating to mandatory bids, voluntary bids, requirements to make a
cash offer and minimum price requirements, as well as substantial acquisition rules and rules requiring the disclosure of interests
in our ordinary shares in certain circumstances.
These provisions may discourage potential takeover attempts, discourage bids for our ordinary shares at a premium over the
market price or adversely affect the market price of, and the voting and other rights of the holders of, our ordinary shares. These
provisions could also discourage proxy contests and make it more difficult for you and our other shareholders to elect directors
other than the candidates nominated by our board of directors, and could depress the market price of our ordinary shares.
Any attempts to take us over will be subject to Irish Takeover Rules and subject to review by the Irish Takeover Panel.
We are subject to the Irish Takeover Rules, under which our board of directors will not be permitted to take any action
which might frustrate an offer for our ordinary shares once it has received an approach which may lead to an offer or has reason to
believe an offer is imminent.
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A transfer of our ordinary shares may be subject to Irish stamp duty.
In certain circumstances, the transfer of shares in an Irish incorporated company will be subject to Irish stamp duty, which is
a legal obligation of the buyer. This duty is currently charged at the rate of 1.0 percent of the price paid or the market value of the
shares acquired, if higher. Because our ordinary shares are traded on a recognized stock exchange in the United States, an
exemption from this stamp duty is available to transfers by shareholders who hold ordinary shares beneficially through brokers,
which in turn hold those shares through the Depositary Trust Company, or DTC, to holders who also hold through
DTC. However, a transfer by or to a record holder who holds ordinary shares directly in his, her or its own name could be subject
to this stamp duty. We, in our absolute discretion and insofar as the Irish Companies Act 2014 (as amended) or any other
applicable law permit, may, or may provide that one of our subsidiaries will pay Irish stamp duty arising on a transfer of our
ordinary shares on behalf of the transferee of such ordinary shares. If stamp duty resulting from the transfer of ordinary shares
which would otherwise be payable by the transferee is paid by us or any of our subsidiaries on behalf of the transferee, then in
those circumstances, we will, on our behalf or on behalf of such subsidiary (as the case may be), be entitled to (i) seek
reimbursement of the stamp duty from the transferee, (ii) set-off the stamp duty against any dividends payable to the transferee of
those ordinary shares and (iii) claim a first and permanent lien on the ordinary shares on which stamp duty has been paid by us or
such subsidiary for the amount of stamp duty paid. Our lien shall extend to all dividends paid on those ordinary shares.
Dividends paid by us may be subject to Irish dividend withholding tax.
In certain circumstances, as an Irish tax resident company, we will be required to deduct Irish dividend withholding tax
(currently at the rate of 20%) from dividends paid to our shareholders. Shareholders that are resident in the United States, EU
countries (other than Ireland) or other countries with which Ireland has signed a tax treaty (whether the treaty has been ratified or
not) generally should not be subject to Irish withholding tax so long as the shareholder has provided its broker, for onward
transmission to our qualifying intermediary or other designated agent (in the case of shares held beneficially), or our or its transfer
agent (in the case of shares held directly), with all the necessary documentation by the appropriate due date prior to payment of
the dividend. However, some shareholders may be subject to withholding tax, which could adversely affect the price of our
ordinary shares.
If securities or industry analysts do not publish research or publish inaccurate or unfavorable research about our business,
our share price and trading volume could decline.
The trading market for our ordinary shares will depend in part on the research and reports that securities or industry analysts
publish about us or our business. If one or more of the analysts who cover us downgrade our rating or publish inaccurate or
unfavorable research about our business, our share price could decline. If one or more of these analysts cease coverage of our
company or fail to publish reports on our company regularly, demand for our ordinary shares could decrease, which might cause
our share price and trading volume to decline.
Securities class action litigation could divert our management’s attention and harm our business and could subject us to
significant liabilities.
The stock markets have from time to time experienced significant price and volume fluctuations that have affected the
market prices for the equity securities of pharmaceutical companies. These broad market fluctuations may cause the market price
of our ordinary shares to decline. In the past, securities class action litigation has often been brought against a company following
a decline in the market price of its securities. This risk is especially relevant for us because biotechnology and biopharma
companies have experienced significant stock price volatility in recent years. For example, following declines in our stock price,
two federal securities class action lawsuits were filed in March 2016 against us and certain of our current and former officers
alleging violations of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, which lawsuits were dismissed by the plaintiffs in June
2018. Even if we are successful in defending any similar claims that may be brought in the future, such litigation could result in
substantial costs and may be a distraction to our management, and may lead to an unfavorable outcome that could adversely
impact our financial condition and prospects.
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Research and Development
Our research and development programs currently include pre-clinical and clinical development of new medicine candidates
and activities related to label expansions for existing medicines. We devote significant resources to research and development
activities associated with our medicines and medicine candidates, and in 2017 added the first development-stage candidate,
teprotumumab, to our pipeline. The graphic below summarizes our significant research and development activities in order of the
program stage, from post-market to pre-clinical:

KRYSTEXXA MIRROR trial
KRYSTEXXA is a recombinant protein of uricase, an enzyme not found in humans, and PEGylation. As with many
biologic medicines, some people treated with KRYSTEXXA develop antidrug antibodies as part of an immune response to the
medicine and lose response to therapy.
We are evaluating ways to maximize KRYSTEXXA benefit to patients by improving its response rate. In the
KRYSTEXXA pivotal trials, forty-two percent of patients achieved complete response. While this is impressive relative to the
response rate of biologic medicines used for other types of inflammatory arthritis, we are investigating ways to increase the
number of patients who can achieve a complete response with KRYSTEXXA by pairing KRYSTEXXA with immunomodulator
medicines. There is well-documented evidence that the addition of immunomodulators to biological therapies can decrease rates
of immunogenicity, as the immunomodulators work to reduce the formation of anti-drug antibodies to the medicine, allowing it to
maintain appropriate blood levels over a longer period of time. Our clinical trial, MIRROR, is currently underway in which we
are evaluating the administration of KRYSTEXXA with methotrexate, the most commonly used immunomodulator by
rheumatologists. Additionally, we are adapting the MIRROR trial to support the potential for registration and modification of our
KRYSTEXXA FDA label.
KRYSTEXXA Study in Kidney Transplant Patients with Uncontrolled Gout
We plan to initiate a clinical trial in the second half of 2019 to evaluate the effect of KRYSTEXXA, our medicine for
uncontrolled gout, on serum uric acid levels in kidney transplant patients with uncontrolled gout. Kidney transplant patients have
more than a tenfold increase in the prevalence of gout when compared to the general population, and literature suggests that high
serum uric acid levels are associated with organ rejection. Managing uncontrolled gout is one of the most common and significant
unmet needs of kidney transplant patients.
HZN-001: Teprotumumab
Teprotumumab is a fully human monoclonal antibody inhibitor of insulin-like growth factor type 1 receptor being studied in
a confirmatory Phase 3 clinical trial for the treatment of thyroid eye disease, or TED, which is a rare eye disease. There are no
FDA-approved therapies for TED; therefore, there is a significant unmet need for an effective and safe treatment.
TED can be associated with Graves’ disease, but it is a separate and distinct disease. TED is an eye condition in which the
body attacks its own orbital cells. This leads to inflammation and expansion of tissue, muscle, and fat cells behind the eye, which
causes the eye to bulge outward, known as proptosis. Proptosis can cause corneal ulcers, double vision and misaligned eyes. In
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rare instances, it can result in compression of the optic nerve that can lead to blindness. We estimate that 15,000 to 20,000
patients would be eligible for treatment annually in the United States. Teprotumumab received orphan drug, fast track and
breakthrough therapy designations from the FDA in 2016 and would receive twelve years of biologic exclusivity upon approval.
The Phase 2 clinical trial results for teprotumumab were published in The New England Journal of Medicine in May 2017
and demonstrated clinically meaningful and statistically significant results in patients with active moderate-to-severe TED. The
primary endpoint of the Phase 2 clinical trial was the responder rate at week twenty-four, defined as a reduction of proptosis of at
least 2mm and a reduction in the clinical activity score of at least two points: Sixty-nine percent of teprotumumab patients
achieved the primary endpoint versus twenty percent of the placebo patients (p < 0.001). In the secondary endpoint of proptosis
alone, seventy-one patients achieved a reduction of at least 2mm.
In October 2018, we presented data at week seventy-two that demonstrated that these results were durable – with more than
50 percent of patients maintaining a response approximately one year off therapy. These results support our belief that
teprotumumab offers patients a potential disease-modifying medicine.
In September 2018, we completed the enrollment of patients in the confirmatory Phase 3 clinical trial titled “Treatment of
Graves’ Orbitopathy (Thyroid Eye Disease) to Reduce Proptosis with Teprotumumab Infusions in a Randomized, PlaceboControlled, Clinical Study”, or OPTIC. OPTIC enrolled eighty-three patients who met OPTIC Phase 3 eligibility criteria across
thirteen centers in the United States, Germany and Italy, and those patients were randomized to receive eight infusions of either
teprotumumab or placebo every three weeks for twenty-one weeks, the same regimen as was studied in the Phase 2 clinical trial.
The primary endpoint measures the proptosis responder rate of at least 2 mm reduction of proptosis in the study eye (without
deterioration in the fellow eye) at week twenty-four. In addition, the OPTIC trial measures several secondary endpoints at week
twenty-four. Safety will also be evaluated.
On February 28, 2019, the Company reported topline results from its Phase 3 confirmatory trial evaluating teprotumumab
for the treatment of active TED. The study met its primary endpoint, showing more patients treated with teprotumumab compared
with placebo had a meaningful improvement in proptosis, or bulging of the eye: 82.9 percent of teprotumumab patients compared
to 9.5 percent of placebo patients achieved the primary endpoint of a 2 mm or more reduction in proptosis (p<0.001). Proptosis is
the main cause of morbidity in TED. All secondary endpoints were also met and the safety profile was consistent with the Phase 2
study of teprotumumab in TED. The Company expects to submit a biologics license application, or BLA, in mid-2019, with the
potential for approval in 2020.
Additional details from the OPTIC trial, include:
•
•
•
•
•

Designed to investigate the efficacy, tolerability and safety of teprotumumab in patients with active TED.
Eighty-three patients were assigned to receive teprotumumab or placebo in eight intravenous infusions
(10mg/kg for their first infusion followed by 20mg/kg for the remaining seven infusions) every three weeks
for 21 weeks.
The primary endpoint was a responder rate of >2 mm reduction of proptosis in the study eye (without
deterioration in the fellow eye) at Week 24.
In the intent-to-treat population, 34/41 (82.9%) patients receiving teprotumumab and 4/42 (9.5%) patients
receiving placebo were proptosis responders at Week 24 (p<0.001).
All secondary endpoints were also met, which include the effect of teprotumumab vs. placebo on:
• Overall responder rate at Week 24 (primary endpoint in the Phase 2 study): Percent of participants
with >2 point reduction in Clinical Activity Score (CAS) and ³2 mm reduction in proptosis from
baseline, provided there is no corresponding deterioration (>2-point/mm increase) in CAS or
proptosis in the fellow eye.
• Percent of participants with a CAS value of 0 or 1 at Week 24 in the study eye.
• Percent of patients with a change from baseline of at least one grade in diplopia (double vision).
• Mean change in proptosis measurement from baseline to Week 24 in the study eye.
• Mean change in Graves’ Ophthalmopathy Quality of Life from baseline to Week 24.

The safety profile of teprotumumab in OPTIC was similar to that seen in the Phase 2 study with no new safety
observations. The drop-out rate was low (<5%) and balanced across placebo and treatment arms. There were no deaths during the
study and a total of 3 serious adverse events: in the placebo arm, one patient had a visual field defect and received orbital
decompression surgery; in the teprotumumab arm, one patient had pneumothorax (considered not related to study drug) and
another had an infusion reaction. The vast majority of treatment-emergent adverse events were mild to moderate in intensity and
did not lead to discontinuation.
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Additionally, patients participating in the OPTIC trial have the option to participate in an extension study, or OPTIC-X, in
which participants may receive an additional eight infusions of teprotumumab. OPTIC-X will provide additional data on whether
non-responders from the initial twenty-four weeks of treatment during OPTIC would benefit from longer treatment, and if patients
who lose response off drug after the initial twenty-four weeks of treatment would benefit from retreatment.
HZN-003: Potential Next-Generation Biologic for Uncontrolled Gout Using Optimized Uricase and Optimized PEGylation
Technology
A potential biologic for uncontrolled gout, HZN-003 is a pre-clinical, genetically engineered uricase with optimized
PEGylation technology that has the potential to improve the half-life and reduce immunogenicity of this molecule. In addition, it
has the potential for subcutaneous dosing. We licensed HZN-003 from MedImmune LLC, the global biologics research and
development arm of the AstraZeneca Group, late in 2017. HZN-003 is a rheumatology pipeline program with the objective of
enhancing our leadership position in the uncontrolled gout market.
PASylated Uricase
We have entered into a PASylated uricase collaboration program to identify uncontrolled gout biologic candidates. This
project involves PASylation technology as a biological alternative to synthetic PEGylation. PASylation is a new approach for
extending the half-life of pharmaceutically active proteins and reducing immunogenicity. In addition, it has the potential for
subcutaneous dosing.
HemoShear Gout Discovery Collaboration
We have entered into a collaboration agreement with HemoShear Therapeutics, LLC, a biotechnology company, to discover
and develop novel therapeutics for gout. The collaboration provides us an opportunity to address unmet treatment needs for
people with gout by evaluating new targets for the control of serum uric acid levels as well as new targets to address the
inflammation associated with acute flares of gout.
Financial Condition, Liquidity and Capital Resources
We have incurred losses since our inception in June 2005 and, as of December 31, 2018, we had a profit and loss account
deficit of $1,319.4 million. We expect that our sales and marketing expenses will continue to increase as a result of the
commercialization of our medicines but we believe these cost increases will be more than offset by higher turnover and gross
profits. Additionally, we expect that our research and development costs will increase as we acquire more development-stage
medicine candidates and advance our candidates through the clinical development and regulatory approval processes.
We have financed our operations to date through equity financings, debt financings and the issuance of convertible notes, along
with cash flows from operations during the last several years. As of December 31, 2018, we had $958.7 million in cash and cash
equivalents and total debt with a book value of $1,896.7 million and face value of $1,993.0 million. We believe our existing cash and
cash equivalents and our expected cash flows from our operations will be sufficient to fund our business needs for at least the next
twelve months from the issuance of the financial statements in this Irish Annual Report. Part of our strategy is to expand and
leverage our commercial capabilities and to develop a pipeline of rare disease medicine candidates by researching, developing and
commercializing innovative medicines that address unmet treatment needs for rare and rheumatic diseases. To the extent we enter
into transactions to acquire medicines or businesses in the future, we will most likely need to finance a significant portion of those
acquisitions through additional debt, equity or convertible debt financings, or through the use of cash on hand.
On October 19, 2018, HPI, our wholly owned subsidiary, and Horizon Pharma USA, Inc., our wholly owned subsidiary, and
together with HPI in such capacity, the Borrowers, borrowed approximately $818.0 million aggregate principal amount of loans, or
the October 2018 Refinancing Loans, pursuant to an amendment to our Credit Agreement. The Borrowers used the proceeds of the
October 2018 Refinancing Loans to repay the outstanding amounts under our prior term loans, which totaled approximately $818.0
million. For a description of our debt agreements, see Note 16, Debt Agreements of the notes to consolidated financial statements,
included in this Irish Annual Report.
On March 11, 2019, we closed an underwritten public offering of our ordinary shares, resulting in estimated net proceeds of
approximately $326.8 million, and we stated our plans to use the net proceeds, together with cash on hand, to pay down
approximately $550 million of our $1,993 million total principal amount of indebtedness as of December 31, 2018. On March 18,
2019, Horizon Pharma USA, Inc., our wholly-owned subsidiary, completed the repayment of $300 million of the outstanding
principal amount of term loans under our credit agreement with Citibank, N.A., as administrative agent and collateral agent, and
the lenders and other financial institutions party thereto from time to time, or the Credit Agreement. Following this repayment, the
outstanding principal balance of term loans under our Credit Agreement is $518 million and total aggregate outstanding principal
amount of indebtedness is $1,693 million.
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We anticipate repaying $250 million of its 6.625% Senior Notes due 2023 during the second quarter of 2019. Following
such repayment, the total aggregate outstanding principal amount of indebtedness is expected to be $1,443 million.
We were, as of December 31, 2018, and currently are in compliance with the Credit Agreement.
We have a significant amount of debt outstanding on a consolidated basis. This substantial level of debt could have
important consequences to our business, including, but not limited to: making it more difficult for us to satisfy our obligations;
requiring a substantial portion of our cash flows from operations to be dedicated to the payment of principal and interest on our
indebtedness, therefore reducing our ability to use our cash flows to fund acquisitions, capital expenditures, and future business
opportunities; limiting our ability to obtain additional financing, including borrowing additional funds; increasing our
vulnerability to, and reducing our flexibility to respond to, general adverse economic and industry conditions; limiting our
flexibility in planning for, or reacting to, changes in our business and the industry in which we operate; and placing us at a
disadvantage as compared to our competitors, to the extent that they are not as highly leveraged. We may not be able to generate
sufficient cash to service all of our indebtedness and may be forced to take other actions to satisfy our obligations under our
indebtedness.
In addition, the indentures governing our $300.0 million aggregate principal amount of 8.750% Senior Notes due 2024 and
$475.0 million aggregate principal amount of 6.625% Senior Notes due 2023 and our Credit Agreement impose various covenants
that limit our ability and/or our restricted subsidiaries’ ability to, among other things, pay dividends or distributions, repurchase
equity, prepay junior debt and make certain investments, incur additional debt and issue certain preferred stock, incur liens on
assets, engage in certain asset sales or merger transactions, enter into transactions with affiliates, designate subsidiaries as
unrestricted subsidiaries; and allow to exist certain restrictions on the ability of restricted subsidiaries to pay dividends or make
other payments to us.
We were, as of December 31, 2018, and currently are in compliance with the indentures governing the 2024 Senior Notes
and 2023 Senior Notes.
During the year ended December 31, 2018, we issued an aggregate of 4.4 million of our ordinary shares in connection with
stock option exercises, the vesting of restricted stock units and employee stock program purchases and we received a total net cash
amount of $11.1 million in relation to these programs.
Sources and Uses of Cash
The following table provides a summary of our cash position and cash flows for the years ended December 31, 2018 and
2017 (in thousands):
For the Years Ended December 31,
2018

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash provided by (used in):
Operating activities
Investing activities
Financing activities

$

962,117 $
194,543
27,653
(16,596 )

2017

757,897
284,340
(102,185 )
54,276

Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities
During the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017, net cash provided by operating activities was $194.5 million and
$284.3 million, respectively.
Net cash provided by operating activities during the year ended December 31, 2018 was primarily attributable to cash
collections from net sales, net of operating expenses. Operating cash flow was also used to fund interest on outstanding debt of
$112.5 million and income taxes of $53.1 million.
Net cash provided by operating activities during the year ended December 31, 2017 was primarily attributable to cash
collections from net sales. Cash provided by operating activities was negatively impacted during the year ended December 31,
2017 by cash payments of $113.8 million for interest, $32.5 million outlay for the remaining fifty percent of the litigation
settlement amount with Express Scripts, cash payments of $54.0 million for acquisition/divestiture-related costs, cash payments
relating to term loan refinancing of $9.1 million, cash payments related to the discontinuation of the FA program of $7.2 million,
cash payments relating to our drug substance harmonization program of $5.2 million and cash payments related to our
restructuring and realignment activities of $4.7 million.
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Net Cash Used in Investing Activities
During the year ended December 31, 2018, net cash provided by investing activities was $27.7 million. During the year
ended December 31, 2017, net cash used in investing activities was $102.2 million.
Net cash provided by investing activities during the year ended December 31, 2018, was primarily attributable to proceeds
from the sale of assets during the year, including cash proceeds of $35.0 million following the sale of rights to RAVICTI and
AMMONAPS outside of North America and Japan to Immedica and cash proceeds of $9.5 million following the IMUKIN sale.
This was partially offset by $12.0 million we paid to MedImmune to license HZN-003 (formerly MEDI4945).
Net cash used in investing activities during the year ended December 31, 2017, was primarily associated with $144.9
million of payments for the acquisition of River Vision, net of cash acquired, and associated transaction costs, and $22.3 million
relating to the payment for certain rights for interferon gamma-1b. This was partially offset by $69.4 million of proceeds received
from the Chiesi divestiture, net of cash divested.
Net Cash Provided by Financing Activities
During the year ended December 31, 2018, net cash used in financing activities was $16.6 million. During the years ended
December 31, 2017, net cash provided by financing activities was $54.3 million.
Net cash used in financing activities during the year ended December 31, 2018, was primarily attributable to the repayment
of term loans of $845.7 million, partially offset by $818.0 million in net proceeds from term loans. In June 2018, we made a
mandatory prepayment of $23.5 million under our term loan facility. In October 2018, we refinanced our term loans without
changing the principal amount outstanding.
Net cash provided by financing activities during the year ended December 31, 2017, was primarily attributable to the net
proceeds of $1,693.5 million from term loans, offset in part by repayment of term loans of $1,622.8 million. We refinanced our
term loans during March 2017 and October 2017. The March 2017 refinancing loans replaced the $394.0 million 2015 term loan
facility and the $375.0 million 2016 incremental loan facility and the October 2017 Refinancing Loans replaced the October 2017
Refinanced Loans. The March 2017 Credit Agreement resulted in an increase of $81.0 million of principal amount of our
outstanding debt and the October 2017 Refinancing Loans did not result in any changes to the principal amount outstanding.
Additionally, during the year ended December 31, 2017, we paid $20.0 million relating to milestones in connection with a
contingent consideration liability assumed in our acquisition of Raptor.

Contractual Obligations
As of December 31, 2018, minimum future cash payments due under contractual obligations, including, among others, our debt
agreements, minimum purchase agreements and non-cancelable operating lease agreements, were as follows (in thousands):

2019

Debt agreements – principal (1)
Debt agreements - interest (1)
Purchase commitments (2)
Operating lease obligations (3)
Total contractual cash obligations
(1)

2020

2021

2022

2023

2024 &
Thereafter

Total

— $ 5,080 $ 6,774 $ 406,774 $ 481,774 $ 1,092,624 $ 1,993,026
110,819 115,185 114,437 109,038
83,736
40,464
573,679
54,531
10,705
10,329
10,264
10,259
17,126
113,214
6,228
6,680
5,788
4,565
4,442
36,696
64,399
$ 171,578 $ 137,650 $ 137,328 $ 530,641 $ 580,211 $ 1,186,910 $ 2,744,318
$

Represents the minimum contractual obligation due under the following debt agreements:
•

$818.0 million under the October 2018 Refinancing Loans, which includes estimated quarterly interest payments
based on the applicable interest rate at December 31, 2018 of 5.56% and quarterly payments of 0.25% of the
principal, and repayment of the remaining principal in March 2024. In June 2018, we repaid $23.5 million under the
mandatory prepayment provisions of our Credit Agreement. Following the mandatory prepayment in June 2018, we
are not required to pay any further quarterly installments until June 30, 2020.

•

$475.0 million 2023 Senior Notes, which includes bi-annual interest payments and repayment of the principal in May
2023.

•

$400.0 million Exchangeable Senior Notes, which includes bi-annual interest payments and repayment of the
principal in March 2022.
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•

(2)

(3)

$300.0 million 2024 Senior Notes, which includes bi-annual interest payments and repayment of the principal in
November 2024.

These amounts reflect the following purchase commitments with our third-party manufacturers:
•

Purchase commitment for RAVICTI through 2020.

•

Purchase commitment for PROCYSBI and QUINSAIR through December 2020.

•

Minimum annual order quantities required to be placed with Boehringer Ingelheim for final packaged ACTIMMUNE
through July 2024 and additional units we also committed to purchase which were intended to cover anticipated
demand if the results of the FA program of ACTIMMUNE for the treatment of FA had been successful. As of
December 31, 2018, the minimum binding purchase commitment to Boehringer Ingelheim Biopharmaceuticals
GmbH, or Boehringer Ingelheim Biopharmaceuticals, was $25.7 million (converted using a Dollar-to-Euro exchange
rate of 1.1466) through July 2024.

•

A commitment to spend $1.1 million with Boehringer Ingelheim related to the harmonization of the manufacturing
process for ACTIMMUNE drug substance.

•

Purchase commitment for BUPHENYL through 2020.

•

Minimum purchase commitment for KRYSTEXXA through 2026.

•

Minimum purchase commitment for RAYOS tablets from Jagotec AG through December 2023 (the end of the
minimum term), which was the firm commitment term under the contract as of December 31, 2018. Effective January
1, 2019, we amended our license and supply agreements with Jagotec AG and Skyepharma AG, which are affiliates of
Vectura. Under these amendments, from the earlier of the completion of certain transfer activities or January 1, 2020,
we will no longer be subject to a minimum purchase commitment in respect of the supply agreement with Jagotec
AG. At December 31, 2018, the minimum purchase commitment based on tablet pricing in effect under the
agreement was $4.8 million through December 2023. Purchase commitment for final packaged PENNSAID 2% from
Nuvo Pharmaceuticals Inc. (formerly known as Nuvo Research Inc.) through March 2019.

•

Purchase commitment for final packaged DUEXIS tablets from Sanofi-Aventis U.S. through May 2019.

•

Minimum purchase commitment for VIMOVO tablets from Patheon Pharmaceuticals Inc. through March 2019.

•

Purchase commitments for process validation activities for teprotumumab through 2019.

These amounts reflect payments due under our operating leases, which are principally for our facilities. For further details
regarding these properties see Note 23 of the notes to the consolidated financial statements.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
Since our inception, we have not engaged in any off-balance sheet arrangements, including the use of structured finance,
special purpose entities or variable interest entities, other than the indemnification agreements discussed in Note 16 in the notes to
our consolidated financial statements included in this report.
Financial Risk Management
We are exposed to various market risks, which include potential losses arising from adverse changes in market rates and
prices, such as interest rates and foreign exchange fluctuations. We do not enter into derivatives or other financial instruments for
trading or speculative purposes.
Interest Rate Risk. We are subject to interest rate fluctuation exposure through our borrowings under the Credit Agreement
and our investment in money market accounts which bear a variable interest rate. Loans under the Credit Agreement bear interest,
at our option, at a rate equal to either the London Inter-Bank Offered Rate, or LIBOR, plus an applicable margin of 3.00% per
annum (subject to a 1.00% LIBOR floor), or the adjusted base rate plus 2.00%. The adjusted base rate is defined as the greatest of
(a) LIBOR (using one-month interest period) plus 1.00%, (b) the prime rate, (c) the federal funds rate plus 0.50% and (d) 2.00%.
Our approximately $818.0 million of October 2018 Refinancing Loans are based on LIBOR. The one month LIBOR rate as of
March 26, 2019, which was the most recent date the interest rate on the term loan was fixed, was 2.50%, and as a result, the
interest rate on our borrowings is currently 5.50% per annum. Because the United Kingdom Financial Conduct Authority, which
regulates LIBOR, intends to phase out the use of LIBOR by the end of 2021, future borrowings under our Credit Agreement could
be subject to reference rates other than LIBOR.
An increase of 100 basis points (1.00%) in the interest rate on our outstanding loans at the date of this Directors’ Report
would increase our interest expense related to the Credit Agreement by $5.2 million per year.
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The goals of our investment policy are associated with the preservation of capital, fulfillment of liquidity needs and
fiduciary control of cash. To achieve our goal of maximizing income without assuming significant market risk, we maintain our
excess cash and cash equivalents in money market funds. Because of the short-term maturities of our cash equivalents, we do not
believe that a decrease in interest rates would have any material negative impact on the fair value of our cash equivalents.
Foreign Currency Risk. Our purchase cost of ACTIMMUNE are principally denominated in Euros and are subject to
foreign currency risk. We have contracts relating to RAVICTI, QUINSAIR and PROCYSBI for sales in Canada which sales are
subject to foreign currency risk. We also incur certain operating expenses in currencies other than the U.S. dollar in relation to
our Irish operations and foreign subsidiaries. Therefore, we are subject to volatility in cash flows due to fluctuations in foreign
currency exchange rates, particularly changes in the Euro and the Canadian dollar.
Inflation Risk. We do not believe that inflation has had a material impact on our business or results of operations during the
periods for which the consolidated financial statements are presented in this report.
Credit Risk. Historically, our debtors balances have been highly concentrated with a select number of customers, consisting
primarily of large wholesale pharmaceutical distributors who, in turn, sell the medicines to pharmacies, hospitals and other
customers. As of December 31, 2018, and 2017, our top four customers accounted for approximately 85% and 74%, respectively,
of our total outstanding debtors balances.
Future Developments
We aspire to be a leading rare disease biopharma company that delivers innovative therapies to patients and generates high
returns for our shareholders.
Our approach has been different from typical biopharma companies. Instead of starting with a pipeline and raising capital to
finance development opportunities, we first developed a successful commercial business, generating cash flows and significant
growth. We then deployed our cash flows and access to capital to the development and acquisition of leading-edge therapeutic
products for rare diseases.
Today we have a growing pipeline of development programs, eleven on-market medicines and total annual net sales of $1.2
billion in 2018 – a transformation from our beginnings as a public company in 2011, with two medicines and total annual net sales
of $6.9 million.
Our highest strategic priority is to build a robust and differentiated pipeline of rare disease medicines. We are also focused
on maximizing the growth of our rare-disease medicines – in particular, of KRYSTEXXA®, our biologic for the treatment of
chronic gout refractory to conventional therapy, or uncontrolled gout.
We have two operating segments, the orphan and rheumatology segment and the primary care segment. The orphan and
rheumatology operating segment, our strategic growth segment, has generated a four-year compound annual growth rate from
2014 to 2018 of 101.2 percent, underscoring the value of our strategy, with its focus on rare disease medicines. We expect the
segment to drive future growth as well, supported by our durable base of rare disease medicines; our growth driver,
KRYSTEXXA; and if approved, teprotumumab, our late-stage development biologic candidate, which we believe offers
significant growth potential. Teprotumumab, which successfully completed a Phase 2 clinical trial and is currently undergoing a
Phase 3 confirmatory trial, targets the treatment of thyroid eye disease, a debilitating rare autoimmune condition for which there is
no approved treatment.
Three components support our strategic efforts:
Clinical development – In support of our expanding pipeline and the value-maximization of our on-market medicines, we
have augmented our scientific expertise and capabilities with the addition of a new research and development leadership team in
2018. Members of the team are overseeing our two internal clinical studies – the Phase 3 confirmatory clinical trial for
teprotumumab and our KRYSTEXXA immunomodulation trial, with another trial – a KRYSTEXXA trial for kidney transplant
patients with uncontrolled gout – expected to launch in the second half of 2019. Research and development is also integrally
partnered with our business development organization, adding scientific acumen to the process as we continue to look at
opportunities to augment our rare disease pipeline through development-stage acquisitions, licensing and collaboration
agreements.
Business development – We have a disciplined and robust business development strategy that has resulted in nine
acquisitions and three divestitures over the past seven years, including our first acquisition of a development-stage medicine
candidate – teprotumumab – in 2017, as well as two transformative transactions in 2016 that brought us three rare disease
medicines. In 2018, we announced the addition of two collaborative programs to our rheumatology program for next-generation
gout biologics.
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Commercial execution – We have a strong record of successfully commercializing our medicines and rapidly increasing the
value and improving the performance of medicines we acquire. We attribute our successful results to deep expertise and
knowledge of our commercial teams, coupled with the holistic approach we employ supporting our patient and physician
communities. KRYSTEXXA is a prime example of the value of our approach: an underperforming asset when we acquired it in
2016 and in two short years we transformed it to be the flagship growth driver for our company.
Political Donations
No political contributions that require disclosure under Irish Law were made during the years ended December 31, 2018
and 2017.
Treasury Shares
At December 31, 2018 and 2017, the total number of treasury shares outstanding was 384,366 ordinary shares of $0.0001
par value each. This was the maximum number of treasury shares outstanding held at any time during the years ended December
31, 2018 and 2017.
Share Repurchases
In May 2016, our board of directors authorized a share repurchase program pursuant to which we may repurchase up to
5,000,000 of our ordinary shares. In May 2017, our board of directors reauthorized a share repurchase program pursuant to which
we may repurchase up to 16,000,000 of our ordinary shares. Market purchases of our ordinary shares are made only at price
levels which the board of directors considers to be in the best interest of shareholders generally, after taking into account our
overall financial position. As of December 31, 2017, we had repurchased 100,000 of our ordinary shares under this repurchase
program which represented approximately 0.06% of our ordinary shares in issue at that time, for total consideration of $1.0
million. The par value method was used to account for the repurchase of ordinary shares and shares repurchased were cancelled.
The timing and amount of future repurchases, if any, will depend on a variety of factors, including the price of our ordinary
shares, alternative investment opportunities, our cash resources, restrictions under the Credit Agreement and market conditions.
Dividend Policy
We have never declared or paid cash dividends on our common equity. We currently intend to retain all available
funds and any future earnings to support operations and finance the growth and development of our business and do not intend to
pay cash dividends on our ordinary shares for the foreseeable future. Under Irish law, dividends may only be paid, and share
repurchases and redemptions must generally be funded only out of, “distributable reserves”. In addition, our ability to pay cash
dividends is currently prohibited by the terms of our credit agreement with Citibank, N.A., as administrative and collateral agent,
$475.0 million aggregate principal amount of 6.625% Senior Notes due 2023 and the $300.0 million aggregate principal amount
of 8.75% Senior Notes due 2024, subject to customary exceptions. Any future determination as to the payment of dividends will,
subject to Irish legal requirements, be at the sole discretion of our board of directors and will depend on our financial condition,
results of operations, capital requirements and other factors our board of directors deems relevant.

Non-Financial Reporting
Introduction
At Horizon, in addition to advancing our strategic objectives and addressing relevant risks, we also work to support our patients,
our employees and the communities we serve, and promote a sustainable environment.
Environment
It is our objective to conduct our business in an environmentally responsible way that minimizes environmental impacts. We are
committed to minimizing and, if practicable, eliminating the use of any substance or material that may cause environmental
damage; reducing waste generation and disposing of all waste through safe and responsible methods; minimizing environmental
risks by employing safe technologies and operating procedures; and being prepared to respond appropriately to accidents and
emergencies.
Social and Employee Matters
At Horizon, we are proud to devote our time and resources to initiatives that benefit our patients, our employees and our
community.
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Patients
We are focused on researching, developing and commercializing innovative medicines that address unmet treatment needs for rare
and rheumatic diseases. By fostering a growing pipeline of medicines in development and exploring all potential uses for
currently marketed medicines, we strive to make a powerful difference for patients, their caregivers and physicians.
In February of 2017, we launched RAREis™, an initiative that aims to elevate the voices, faces and experiences of people living
with rare diseases, as well as highlight programs and resources for the rare disease community. The campaign is anchored by
an Instagram page that showcases photos of people touched by rare disease and captures elements of their patient, caregiver or
advocate experience.
In 2018, Horizon entered into a partnership with Sing Me a Story Foundation (SMAS) and Global Genes. Children living with
rare diseases write their own stories with award winning songwriters who then turn them into original songs. The Sing Me a Story
partnership is a component of Horizon’s RAREis initiative, and has elevated the faces, voices and experiences of those living with
rare disease.
Horizon partners with more than 28 patient advocacy groups, from large global and regional umbrella organizations to small, local
disease-specific groups, addressing the needs of people living with common disorders to those struggling with very rare diseases.
Each year, Horizon’s employees take part in advocacy events around the world supporting people living with diseases that many
of its medicines help treat, including rare and rheumatic diseases. Through these interactions, Horizon is able to listen, learn and
support the creation of new resources that address the most pressing unmet needs for patients, caregivers, and healthcare
professionals.
Employees
As of December 31, 2018, we employed approximately 1,000 full-time employees. We are committed to the engagement of our
employees and our commitment to global citizenship is evidenced by the multitude of workplace and corporate social
responsibility recognitions we have been awarded during the year.
In 2018, we received the following workplace awards:
Global:
Fortune Magazine Best Workplaces in BioPharma (#1)
People Magazine Top 50 Companies that Care (#46)
Communitas Award
PR Daily’s Corporate Social Responsibility Awards Honorable Mention
Fortune Magazine Best Medium Sized Companies (#62)
Regional:
Crain’s Best Places to Work in Chicago (#41)
Crain’s Best Places to Work for Women in Chicago (#10)
Chicago Tribune Top Workplaces (#24)
Fortune Magazine Best Workplaces in Chicago (#4)
Fortune Magazine Best Medium Sized Companies in New York (#4)
We celebrate the initiative our employees demonstrate. In 2018 we launched GrowU, our new employee development platform
that enables our employees to pursue learning on their own, for topics ranging from career development to modules on the
medicines we provide to patients. The platform provides access to more than 400 offerings, allowing employees to study various
topics tailored to specific needs and interests. While certain mandatory courses are still required, elective classes and content will
be available to help employees grow in their roles and accelerate career development. GrowU provides a customised experience
tailored to individual positions and preferences.
Horizon is committed to maintaining a workplace free of discrimination, harassment, intimidation or inappropriate conduct based
on sex/gender, race, color, religion, national origin, age, disability, veteran status, sexual orientation and/or any other category
protected by law. Our commitment to diversity and inclusion is evidenced by Tim Walbert, Chief Executive Officer, becoming a
signatory to the CEOAction for Diversity & Inclusion pledge. In addition, this year we launched the inclusion@horizon initiative,
which hosts employee events centered on learning and professional development. In 2018 there were three related business
resource groups, namely, women@horizon, hispanics@horizon and HAAN, the Horizon African American Network.
Horizon also provides equal opportunity in employment to all employees and applicants. Equal opportunity rights are applicable
to recruitment, hire, employment, and employment-related decisions (including, but not limited to, hiring, firing, laying-off,
assignments, transfers, promotions, wage/salary adjustments, and/or bonuses).
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Community
Horizon became one of the first biopharma companies to take the 1% Pledge, joining over 6,000 companies in over 100 countries.
Horizon has pledged, and is already giving, 1% of company profit, product, or time, and has established an innovative mechanism
for employees to participate in giving 1% of company equity.
We have identified four pillars of giving: our therapeutic areas, STEAM (science, technology, engineering, arts and mathematics),
children’s healthcare and innovation. We engage in purposeful giving within these areas through employee service, corporate
sponsorships, events, grants and other forms of support.
Horizon has established a transformative partnership with the Perspectives Math and Science Academy (MSA), a Chicago school
that serves more than 600 students from under-resourced communities. MSA students are often deprived of food, live in violent
neighborhoods; others are homeless.
We have also partnered with partnered with St. Brigid's Primary School, a school of 650 students that serves diverse
neighborhoods within Dublin’s city centre, with 53 different nationalities represented and approximately 40 languages spoken by
various students. Horizon employees developed and delivered a series of classroom tutorials, introducing students to the
excitement of studying science.
Human Rights, Bribery and Corruption
We do not have a global policy on human rights; however, our approach to human rights is reflected by the fact that Horizon
joined the Business Council of the United Nations in 2018 and actively aligns our CSR and sustainability programming with 11 of
the 17 United Nations Sustainable Development Goals (UNSDG). The UNSDGs encourage and mobilize international
governments, nongovernment organizations and the private sector to achieve ambitious goals, focused on ending poverty and
tackling climate change by 2030. We are using the UNSDGs as a framework for responsible business, measuring our impact
against UNSDG targets, and seeking opportunities to further our engagement.
It is the policy of the Company to promote high standards of integrity by conducting its affairs in an honest and ethical manner.
Our Code of Business Ethics and Conduct (the “Code”) mandates that illegal payments, gifts or entertainment must not be offered
as a reward or inducement to any business partner and that any payment, gift or entertainment that violates the terms of the
Pharmaceutical Research and Manufacturers of America Code on interactions with Healthcare Professionals (the PhRMA Code)
or the Office of Inspector General Compliance Program Guidance for Pharmaceutical Manufacturers must not be offered. The
Code provides that all employees are expected to know and comply with the legal and ethical obligations of the Company.
The Code also provides that in all interactions with those who prescribe, purchase or set prices for the Company’s products,
Company employees must observe high standards of integrity. These interactions must be conducted in a fair and ethical manner
to ensure that purchasing or prescribing decisions are made objectively, based on clinical need, and not on the basis of a financial
relationship.
The Company is committed to upholding anti-bribery and anti-money laundering laws in all markets in which it operates and/or
does business. Company employees are required to take all necessary steps to ensure that the Company does not do business with
any entity suspected of money laundering.
Business Model
The Future Developments section on page 63 of this Director’s Report provides a description of the Company’s business model.
Risk Factors
The principal risks related to the Company’s business are described in pages 14 to 56 of this Director’s Report under the heading
Principal Risks and Uncertainties.
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Directors During the Financial Year
The names of the persons who were directors of the Company who served as directors during the financial year are:
Timothy P. Walbert
Michael Grey
William F. Daniel
Jeff Himawan, Ph.D.
Ronald Pauli
Gino Santini
James Shannon, M.D.
H. Thomas Watkins
Pascale Witz
Directors’ and Secretary’s Interests in Shares
Except as otherwise disclosed below, no director, the secretary or any member of their immediate families had any interest
in shares or debentures of any subsidiary. The interests of the Directors and Company Secretary who were in office at December
31, 2018, in the ordinary share capital of Horizon Pharma plc at December 31, 2018 and 2017 are as follows:
At December 31, 2018

Directors:
William F. Daniel
Michael Grey
Jeff Himawan, Ph.D.
Ronald Pauli
Gino Santini
James Shannon, M.D.
H. Thomas Watkins
Pascale Witz
Timothy P. Walbert(1)
Secretary:
Anne-Marie Dempsey(2)
David G. Kelly(2)

Shares

At December 31, 2017

Options and Awards

Shares

Options and Awards

43,935
35,712
20,454
24,294
20,853
4,983
49,265
5,990
595,871

143,560
166,069
101,726
166,069
166,069
116,120
170,274
116,120
4,513,566

29,881
25,448
10,190
14,030
12,316
—
35,211
—
448,201

110,133
132,642
68,299
132,642
132,642
76,842
136,847
76,842
5,652,870

—
N/A

29,327
N/A

—
164,388

33,590
767,500

(1) Options and awards held at December 31, 2017, included the maximum payout of 1,800,000 PSUs which vest in amounts
ranging from 25% to 100% based on the achievement of TSR over the remaining two performance measurement periods. During
the year ended December 31, 2018, all three tranches expired due to failure to meet the TSR requirement.
(2) David G. Kelly served as Company Secretary through June 25, 2018, on which date Anne-Marie Dempsey was appointed
Company Secretary. Comparative amounts for Anne-Marie Dempsey are as at June 25, 2018.
Directors’ Responsibilities for Financial Statements
The directors are responsible for preparing the directors’ report and the group and company financial statements in
accordance with Irish law.
Irish law requires the directors to prepare Group and Parent Company financial statements for each financial year that give a
true and fair view of the Group and Parent Company’s assets, liabilities and financial position as at the end of the financial year and
of the profit or loss of the Group and Parent Company for the financial year. Under that law, the directors have prepared the Group
financial statements in accordance with U.S. accounting standards, as defined in Section 279(1) of the Companies Act 2014, to the
extent that the use of those principles in the preparation of the financial statements does not contravene any provision of the
Companies Act or of any regulations made thereunder and the Parent Company financial statements in accordance with Irish
Generally Accepted Accounting Practice (accounting standards issued by the UK Financial Reporting Council, including Financial
Reporting Standard 102 The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland) and Irish law.
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Under Irish law, the directors shall not approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied that they give a true and fair
view of the Company’s assets, liabilities and financial position as at the end of the financial year and the profit or loss of the
Group and Parent Company for the financial year.
In preparing these financial statements, the directors are required to:
•
•
•

select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;
make judgments and estimates that are reasonable and prudent;
state whether the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with applicable accounting standards and
identify the standards in question, subject to any material departures from those standards being disclosed and explained
in the notes to the financial statements; and
prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the Group and
Parent Company will continue in business.

•

The directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to:
•
•
•

correctly record and explain the transactions of the Group and Parent Company;
enable, at any time, the assets, liabilities, financial position and profit or loss of the Group and Parent Company to be
determined with reasonable accuracy; and
enable the directors to ensure that the financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2014 and enable those
financial statements to be audited.

The directors are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Company and hence for taking reasonable steps for the
prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.
The directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the corporate and financial information included on the
Parent Company’s website. Legislation in Ireland governing the preparation and dissemination of financial statements may differ
from legislation in other jurisdictions.
Directors’ Compliance Statement
We, the directors of Horizon Pharma plc, hereby say and affirm:
The directors of the Company acknowledge that they are responsible for securing the Company’s compliance with its relevant
obligations (as defined in the Companies Act 2014 (the “2014 Act”)) and, as required by Section 225 of the 2014 Act, the directors
confirm that:
(i) A compliance policy statement setting out the Company’s policies with regard to complying with the relevant obligations
under the 2014 Act has been prepared;
(ii) Arrangements and structures have been put in place that we consider sufficient to secure material compliance with the
Company’s relevant obligations; and
(iii) A review of the arrangements and structures has been conducted during the financial year to which this directors’ report
relates.

Significant Events Since Year End
Subsequent events have been evaluated through April 5, 2019, the date this report was approved by the Board of Directors.
See Note 34, Subsequent Events of the notes to consolidated financial statements, included in this Irish Annual Report for additional
information.
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Accounting Records
The measures taken by the directors to secure compliance with the Company’s obligation to keep adequate accounting
records are the use of appropriate systems and procedures and employment of competent persons. To achieve this, the directors
have appointed a Chief Financial Officer who makes regular reports to the board of directors and ensures compliance with the
requirements of Section 281 of the Companies Act 2014.
The accounting records are kept at the Company’s registered office at Connaught House, 1st Floor, 1 Burlington
Road, Dublin 4, D04 C5Y6, Ireland.
Audit Committee
In accordance with Section 167 of the Companies Act 2014, the directors have established an audit committee which makes
regular reports to the board of directors. The audit committee oversees financial reporting and related matters.
Disclosure of Information to Auditor
The directors in office at the date of this report have each confirmed that:
•
•

As far as they are aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the Company’s auditor is unaware; and
They have taken all the steps that they ought to have taken as a director in order to make himself aware of any relevant
audit information and to establish that the Company’s auditor is aware of that information.

Auditor
The statutory auditor, PricewaterhouseCoopers (PwC), has indicated their willingness to continue in office and a resolution
that they be re-appointed will be proposed at the Annual General Meeting.
On behalf of the board

/s/ Timothy P. Walbert
Timothy P. Walbert
Director

/s/ William F. Daniel
William F. Daniel
Director
April 5, 2019
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Independent auditors’ report to the members of Horizon Pharma
plc
Report on the audit of the financial statements
Opinion
In our opinion:
•

Horizon Pharma plc’s consolidated financial statements and parent company financial statements (the “financial
statements”) give a true and fair view of the group’s and the parent company’s assets, liabilities and financial
position as at December 31, 2018 and of the group’s loss and cash flows for the year then ended;

•

the consolidated financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America (“US GAAP”), as defined in Section 279 of the Companies Act
2014, to the extent that the use of those principles in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements
does not contravene any provision of Part 6 of the Companies Act 2014;

•

the parent company financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with Generally Accepted
Accounting Practice in Ireland (accounting standards issued by the Financial Reporting Council of the UK,
including Financial Reporting Standard 102 “The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and
Republic of Ireland” and Irish law); and

•

the financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act
2014.

We have audited the financial statements, included within the Irish Annual Report (“the Annual Report”), which comprise:
•

the consolidated balance sheet as at December 31, 2018;

•

the parent company balance sheet as at December 31, 2018;

•

the consolidated profit and loss account and consolidated statement of comprehensive loss for the year then
ended;

•

the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended;

•

the consolidated statement of shareholders equity for the year then ended;

•

the parent company statement of changes in equity for the year then ended; and

•

the notes to the financial statements, which include a description of the significant accounting policies.

Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (Ireland) (“ISAs (Ireland)”) and
applicable law. Our responsibilities under ISAs (Ireland) are further described in the Auditors’ responsibilities for the
audit of the financial statements section of our report. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence
We remained independent of the group in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the
financial statements in Ireland, which includes IAASA’s Ethical Standard as applicable to listed entities, and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements.
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Our audit approach
Overview
Materiality
•

$9.1 million – Consolidated financial statements. Based on 2.5% of
EBITDA (earnings before interest, income tax expense, depreciation and
amortisation) adjusted for certain non-recurring costs in relation to
restructuring of $15.3 million.

•

$27.1 million – Parent company financial statements. Based on 1% of net
assets of the Company.

Audit scope
•

The group operates a number of operating and sales entities as two
operating segments being the “orphan and rheumatology segment” and the
“primary care segment”.

•

Our group audit scope focused primarily on the U.S. component, where we
performed a full scope audit and the Ireland component, where we
performed specific audit procedures to ensure appropriate audit coverage.

•

Taken together, the components at which audit work was performed
accounted for 99% of consolidated turnover and 99% of consolidated
assets.

Key audit matters
•

Commercial rebate and patient assistance allowances.

The scope of our audit
As part of designing our audit, we determined materiality and assessed the risks of material misstatement in the financial
statements. In particular, we looked at where the directors made subjective judgements, for example in respect of
significant accounting estimates that involved making assumptions and considering future events that are inherently
uncertain. As in all of our audits we also addressed the risk of management override of internal controls, including
evaluating whether there was evidence of bias by the directors that represented a risk of material misstatement due to
fraud.

Key audit matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in the auditors’ professional judgement, were of most significance in the audit of
the financial statements of the current period and include the most significant assessed risks of material misstatement
(whether or not due to fraud) identified by the auditors, including those which had the greatest effect on: the overall audit
strategy; the allocation of resources in the audit; and directing the efforts of the engagement team. These matters, and any
comments we make on the results of our procedures thereon, were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.
This is not a complete list of all risks identified by our audit.
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Key audit matter

How our audit addressed the key audit
matter

Commercial rebate and patient assistance
allowances

We tested the effectiveness of controls relating to
commercial rebate and patient assistance allowances.

As described in Notes 2 and 21 to the consolidated financial
statements, the Company has accrued trade discounts and
rebates of $461 million as of December 31, 2018. The most
significant of these accrued trade discounts and rebates
relate to the Company’s participation in certain commercial
rebate programs and the Company’s patient assistance
programs, including discount cards and the HorizonCares
program (collectively referred to as “the allowances”).
Management apply significant judgement in estimating the
allowances at the time of sale to wholesale pharmaceutical
distributors and pharmacies based on contract prices,
estimated percentages of medicine that will be prescribed
to qualified patients, average assistance paid based on
reporting from the third-party vendors, and estimated
levels of inventory in the distribution channel.

We assessed the methodology and reasonableness of
assumptions and inputs used in the Company’s
determination of the allowances accrued including
percentages of medicine sold to qualified patients and
inventory on hand in the distribution channel.
When assessing these assumptions, we (i) evaluated the
consistency of the assumptions with historical trends,
(ii) compared assumptions and inputs to invoices,
contracts, current payment trends, and other third party
data on a test basis where relevant, and (iii) considered
whether relevant company and industry specific
considerations, such as wholesaler acquisition cost
(WAC), have been incorporated into the financial
information appropriately.

We considered commercial rebate and patient assistance
We recalculated management’s estimate based on the
allowances to be a key audit matter due to the significant
assumptions.
judgment required by management when developing the
estimates, in particular, the selection of the significant
assumptions for estimated percentages of medicine sold to We also performed a retrospective review of prior period
accruals by comparing them to actual results in the
qualified patients and estimated levels of inventory in the
current period and considered whether the Company’s
distribution channel.
judgments and assumptions relating to the estimate
indicated bias.

How we tailored the audit scope
We tailored the scope of our audit to ensure that we performed enough work to be able to give an opinion on the financial
statements as a whole, taking into account the structure of the group, the accounting processes and controls, and the
industry in which the group operates.
For purposes of our audit, we identified one financially significant component, being the U.S. and one non-significant
component being Ireland.
In determining our audit scope we determined the type of work that needed to be performed at the reporting components
by us, as the Irish group engagement team and PwC US as the global engagement team. Our scoping assessment focused
our group audit scope primarily on the U.S. component, where we performed a full scope audit and the Ireland
component, where we performed specific audit procedures. Where the work was performed by PwC US, we determined the
level of involvement we needed to have in the audit work to be able to conclude whether sufficient appropriate audit
evidence had been obtained as a basis for our opinion on the financial statements as a whole.
Taken together, the components at which audit work was performed accounted for 99% of consolidated turnover and 99%
of consolidated assets.
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Materiality
The scope of our audit was influenced by our application of materiality. We set certain quantitative thresholds for
materiality. These, together with qualitative considerations, helped us to determine the scope of our audit and the nature,
timing and extent of our audit procedures on the individual financial statement line items and disclosures and in
evaluating the effect of misstatements, both individually and in aggregate on the financial statements as a whole.
Based on our professional judgement, we determined materiality for the financial statements as a whole as follows:
Consolidated financial statements

Parent company financial statements

Overall materiality

$9.1 million.

$27.1 million.

How we determined it

2.5% of EBITDA (earnings before interest,
income tax expense, depreciation and
amortisation) adjusted for certain nonrecurring costs in relation to restructuring of
$15.3 million.

1% of net assets of the Company.

Rationale for
benchmark applied

In determining that adjusted EBITDA
represented the appropriate benchmark we
considered the weighting given to adjusted
EBITDA in assessing performance given both
the specific circumstances of the Group and
industry norms as indicated by analyst
reports, industry commentaries,
communications with the investor community
and internal management focus and reporting.

As the Company is a holding company
whose main activity is the management of
investments in subsidiaries, net assets is
considered the most appropriate
benchmark. Financial statement line items
that do not eliminate on consolidation have
been audited to overall materiality for the
consolidated financial statements.

We also considered materiality as determined
by reference to other benchmarks such as
revenues and profit before taxes and $9.1
Million falls in the middle of the range of
alternatively used common benchmarks.
For each component in the scope of our group audit, we allocated a materiality that is less than our overall group
materiality.
We agreed with the Audit Committee that we would report to them misstatements identified during our audit above
$455,000 (group and parent company audit) as well as misstatements below that amount that, in our view, warranted
reporting for qualitative reasons.

Conclusions relating to going concern
We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which ISAs (Ireland) require us to report to you
where:
•

the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is not
appropriate; or

•

the directors have not disclosed in the financial statements any identified material uncertainties that may cast
significant doubt about the group’s or the parent company’s ability to continue to adopt the going concern basis of
accounting for a period of at least twelve months from the date when the financial statements are authorised for
issue.

However, because not all future events or conditions can be predicted, this statement is not a guarantee as to the group’s
or the parent company’s ability to continue as a going concern.

Reporting on other information
The other information comprises all of the information in the Annual Report other than the financial statements and our
auditors’ report thereon. The directors are responsible for the other information. Our opinion on the financial statements
does not cover the other information and, accordingly, we do not express an audit opinion or, except to the extent
otherwise explicitly stated in this report, any form of assurance thereon.
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In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing
so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge
obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we identify an apparent material inconsistency or
material misstatement, we are required to perform procedures to conclude whether there is a material misstatement of the
financial statements or a material misstatement of the other information. If, based on the work we have performed, we
conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have
nothing to report based on these responsibilities.
With respect to the Directors’ Report, we also considered whether the disclosures required by the Companies Act 2014
(excluding the information included in the " Non-Financial Statement" as defined by that Act on which we are not required
to report) have been included.
Based on the responsibilities described above and our work undertaken in the course of the audit, ISAs (Ireland) and the
Companies Act 2014 require us to also report certain opinions and matters as described below:
•

In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit, the information given in the
Directors’ Report (excluding the information included in the "Non Financial Statement" as defined by that
Act on which we are not required to report) for the year ended 31 December 2018 is consistent with the
financial statements and has been prepared in accordance with the applicable legal requirements.

•

Based on our knowledge and understanding of the group and parent company and their environment
obtained in the course of the audit, we have not identified any material misstatements in the Directors’
Report (excluding the information included in the "Non-Financial Statement" as defined by that Act on
which we are not required to report).

Responsibilities for the financial statements and the audit
Responsibilities of the directors for the financial statements
As explained more fully in the Directors’ Responsibilities Statement set out on pages 67 and 68, the directors are
responsible for the preparation of the financial statements in accordance with the applicable framework and for being
satisfied that they give a true and fair view.
The directors are also responsible for such internal control as they determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the group’s and the parent company’s
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the group or the parent company or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that includes our opinion. Reasonable
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (Ireland) will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users
taken on the basis of these financial statements.
A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the IAASA website at:
https://www.iaasa.ie/getmedia/b2389013-1cf6-458b-9b8f-a98202dc9c3a/Description_of_auditors_responsibilities_for
_audit.pdf
This description forms part of our auditors’ report.
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Use of this report
This report, including the opinions, has been prepared for and only for the company’s members as a body in accordance
with section 391 of the Companies Act 2014 and for no other purpose. We do not, in giving these opinions, accept or
assume responsibility for any other purpose or to any other person to whom this report is shown or into whose hands it
may come save where expressly agreed by our prior consent in writing.

Other required reporting
Companies Act 2014 opinions on other matters
•

We have obtained all the information and explanations which we consider necessary for the purposes of our
audit.

•

In our opinion the accounting records of the parent company were sufficient to permit the parent company
financial statements to be readily and properly audited.

•

The parent company balance sheet is in agreement with the accounting records.

Companies Act 2014 exception reporting
Directors’ remuneration and transactions
Under the Companies Act 2014 we are required to report to you if, in our opinion, the disclosures of directors’
remuneration and transactions specified by sections 305 to 312 of that Act have not been made. We have no exceptions to
report arising from this responsibility.

/s/ Enda McDonagh
for and on behalf of PricewaterhouseCoopers
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Audit Firm
Dublin, Ireland
April 5, 2019
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HORIZON PHARMA PLC
CONSOLIDATED PROFIT AND LOSS ACCOUNT
Year Ended December 31, 2018
(In thousands, except share and per share data)
For the Years Ended December 31,
Notes

Turnover
Cost of sales
Gross profit

2
2

Research and development
Selling, general and administrative
Impairment of long-lived assets
Gain on sale of assets
Operating income (loss)
Interest payable and similar expenses
Interest receivable and similar income
Other income
Other expense
Loss before taxation
Benefit for income taxes
Loss for the financial year

3

Loss per ordinary share – basic and diluted

7

2018

$

1,207,570
422,317
785,253

1,056,231
537,334
518,897

$

$

(383,428)
(131,625)
4,124
6,945
(350)
(504,334)
(138,642)
(365,692)

$

(0.66)

$

(2.24)

6

166,155,405

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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$

82,762
692,485
50,302
(42,688)
2,392
(134,324)
12,632
365
(211)
(119,146)
(9,066)
(110,080)

4
5

Weighted average ordinary shares outstanding
- basic and diluted

2017

224,962
655,093
22,270

—

163,122,663

HORIZON PHARMA PLC
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE LOSS
Year Ended December 31, 2018
(In thousands)
For the Years Ended December 31,
2018

Loss for the financial year
Foreign currency translation adjustments
Pension remeasurements
Other comprehensive income (loss) for the financial year
Comprehensive loss for the financial year

$

$

(110,080)
(826)
286
(540)
(110,620)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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2017

$

$

(365,692)
2,067
36
2,103
(363,589)

HORIZON PHARMA PLC
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET
As of December 31, 2018
(In thousands)
For the Years Ended December 31,
Note

Assets
Non-current assets
Intangible assets:
Developed technology
Other intangible assets
Goodwill
Tangible assets:
Property and equipment
Other assets:
Deferred income taxes due after one year
Other assets
Current assets
Stocks
Debtors:
Accounts receivable
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Cash at bank and in hand
Restricted cash

2018

8
8
8

$

Provisions for liabilities
Deferred income taxes
Uncertain tax provisions
Contingent royalties
Trade discounts and rebates
Total provisions for liabilities
Net assets

2,120,596
4,630
426,441

$

2,442,292
5,441
426,441

10

20,101

20,405

6
11

3,148
23,029
2,597,945

3,470
36,081
2,934,130

12

50,751

61,655

13
14

464,730
70,828
958,712
3,405
1,548,426

405,214
43,402
751,368
6,529
1,268,168

$
Liabilities
Creditors: amounts falling due within one year
Long-term debt – current portion
Accounts payable
Accrued expenses
Accrued royalties
Deferred revenues
Total current liabilities
Net current assets
Total assets less current liabilities
Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year
Exchangeable notes
Long-term debt
Deferred revenues
Other long-term liabilities
Total long-term liabilities

2017

16
17
18
19

$

—

$

$

10,625
34,681
173,083
22,137
6,885
247,411
1,020,757
3,181,541

30,284
200,703
16,924
4,901
252,812
1,295,614
2,850,757

16
16

332,199
1,564,485

20

16,067
1,912,751

314,384
1,576,646
9,713
16,881
1,917,624

6
6
19
21

85,983
28,702
354,203
457,763
926,651
1,054,157

121,954
24,852
351,501
501,753
1,000,060
1,037,203

—

$
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$

HORIZON PHARMA PLC
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET - continued
As of December 31, 2018
(In thousands)
Capital and reserves
Called up share capital presented as equity
Share premium account
Other reserves
Profit and loss account
Total equity

25

$

$

72
1,961,354
412,157
(1,319,426)
1,054,157

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

On behalf of the board

/s/ Timothy P. Walbert
Timothy P. Walbert
Director

/s/ William F. Daniel
William F. Daniel
Director
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$

$

71
1,950,227
297,837
(1,210,932)
1,037,203

HORIZON PHARMA PLC
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
For the Year Ended December 31, 2018
(In thousands, except share data)
Called-up Share Capital

$

Other Reserves
Accumulated
Other
Comprehensive
Profit and
Other
Loss
Loss Account
173,801
$
(3,086) $
(851,458) $

$

—
—
125,019
—
—
—
—
298,820

Ordinary
Shares
Amount
162,004,956 $
16

Deferred
Shares
40,000 $

Amount
55 $

Share
Premium
Account
1,945,722

—
—
—
—
—
—
—
16

—
—
—
—
—
—
—
40,000 $

—
—
—
—
—
—
—
55

4,505
—
—
—
—
—
—
1,950,227

1
—

—
—

—
—

11,127
—

—
—

—
—
—
—
—
17

—
—
—
—
—
40,000 $

—
—
—
—
—
55

—
—
—
—
—
1,961,354

114,860
—
—
—
—
413,680

Balances at January 1, 2017
Issuance of Horizon Pharma plc shares in conjunction with vesting of restricted
stock units, stock option exercises, ESPP purchases and warrant exercises
2,880,127
Shares repurchased
(100,000)
Share-based compensation
—
Pension remeasurements
—
Currency translation adjustment
—
Cumulative effect adjustment from adoption of ASU 2016-09
—
Loss for the financial year
—
Balances at December 31, 2017
164,785,083 $
Issuance of Horizon Pharma plc shares in conjunction with vesting of restricted
stock units, stock option exercises, ESPP purchases and warrant exercises
4,459,437
Shares repurchased
—
Share-based compensation
—
Pension remeasurements
—
Currency translation adjustment
—
Cumulative effect adjustment from adoption of ASU 2014-09 and 2016-16
—
Loss for the financial year
—
Balances at December 31, 2018
169,244,520 $
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$

$

$

—
—
—
36
2,067
—
—
(983) $

$

—
—
—

$

286
(826)
—
—
(1,523) $

—
(992)
—
—
—
7,210
(365,692)
(1,210,932) $
—
—
—
—
—
1,586
(110,080)
(1,319,426) $

Total
1,265,050
4,505
(992)
125,019
36
2,067
7,210
(365,692)
1,037,203
11,128
—
114,860
286
(826)
1,586
(110,080)
1,054,157

HORIZON PHARMA PLC
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
(In thousands)
For the Year Ended December 31, 2018
For the Years Ended December 31,
2018
2017
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Loss for the financial year
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash provided by operating
activities:
Depreciation and amortization expense
Equity-settled share-based compensation
Royalty accretion
Impairment of long-lived assets
Amortization of debt discount and deferred financing costs
Foreign exchange and other adjustments
Royalty liability remeasurement
Acquired in-process research and development expense
Gain on divestiture
Loss on debt extinguishment
Deferred income taxes
Gain on sale of assets
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Debtors
Stocks
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Accounts payable
Accrued trade discounts and rebates
Accrued expenses and accrued royalties
Deferred revenues
Other non-current assets and liabilities
Net cash provided by operating activities
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Proceeds from sale of assets
Payment related to license agreements
Purchases of property and equipment
Payments for acquisitions, net of cash acquired
Proceeds from divestiture, net of cash divested
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Net proceeds from term loans
Repayment of term loans
Payment of contingent consideration
Repurchase of ordinary shares
Proceeds from the issuance of ordinary shares in connection with warrant exercises
Proceeds from the issuance of ordinary shares through an employee stock purchase plan
Proceeds from the issuance of ordinary shares in connection with stock option exercises
Payment of employee withholding taxes relating to share-based awards
Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of the year
Cash and cash equivalents, end of the year
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$

$

(110,080 )

$

(365,692 )

275,729
114,860
59,476
50,302
22,751
332
(3,383 )
—
—
—
(28,598 )
(42,688 )

283,244
125,019
51,263
22,270
21,619
(1,466 )
13,004
159,171
(2,934 )
978
(168,124 )
—

(59,697 )
10,280
(25,313 )
(4,593 )
(44,028 )
(9,972 )
(395 )
(10,440 )
194,543

(84,444 )
108,371
5,110
(16,521 )
205,487
(82,203 )
4,468
5,720
284,340

44,424
(12,000 )
(4,771 )
—
—
27,653

—
—
(4,336 )
(167,220 )
69,371
(102,185 )

818,026
(845,749 )
—
—
—
8,610
16,972
(14,455 )
(16,596 )
1,380
204,220
757,897
962,117

1,693,512
(1,622,749 )
(20,000 )
(992 )
1,789
7,082
2,167
(6,533 )
54,276
5,316
241,747
516,150
757,897

$

HORIZON PHARMA PLC
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)
(In thousands)

For the Years Ended December 31,
2018
2017
Supplemental cash flow information:
Cash paid for interest
Cash paid for income taxes
Cash paid for debt extinguishment
Supplemental non-cash flow information:
Purchases of acquired in-process research and development included in
accounts payable and accrued expenses
Purchases of property and equipment included in accounts payable
and accrued expenses

$

112,468
53,058
—

$

—

12,000

1,101

—

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

82

113,790
2,548
145

HORIZON PHARMA PLC
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1

Basis of Presentation

Horizon Pharma plc is a public company registered by shares. The Company’s registered number is 507678 and its registered
office is Connaught House, 1st Floor, Burlington Road, Dublin 4, D04 C5Y6, Ireland.
The directors have elected to prepare the consolidated financial statements in accordance with Section 279 of the Companies Act
2014, which provides that a true and fair view of the state of affairs and profit or loss may be given by preparing the financial
statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (“U.S. GAAP”), as defined in
Section 279 of the Companies Act 2014, to the extent that the use of those principles in the preparation of the financial statements
does not contravene any provision of the Republic of Ireland’s Companies Act 2014 (the “Companies Act”) or of any regulations
made thereunder.
These consolidated financial statements were prepared in accordance with Irish Company Law, to present to the shareholders of
the Company and file with the Companies Registration Office in Ireland. Accordingly, these financial statements include disclosures
required by the Companies Act in addition to those required under U.S. GAAP. The consolidated financial statements include the
accounts of subsidiaries, after elimination of intercompany accounts and transactions. The consolidated financial information
presented herein reflects all financial information that, in the opinion of management, is necessary for a fair statement of financial
position, profit and loss and cash flows for the periods presented.
Certain reclassifications have been made to prior-period financial statements to conform to the 2018 presentation. The
impairment recorded during the year ended December 31, 2017 of $22.3 million of the asset recognized in connection with the
acquisition of certain rights to interferon gamma-1b, as further described in Note 9, was previously included within selling, general
and administrative” expenses. For prior period comparisons, the Company now includes these amounts in the “impairment of longlived assets” line in its consolidated profit and loss account.
Unless otherwise indicated or the context otherwise requires, references to the “Company”, “we”, “us” and “our” refer to
Horizon Pharma plc and its consolidated subsidiaries.
Since January 1, 2017, the Company completed the following acquisitions and divestitures:
•

Effective January 1, 2019, the Company amended its license and supply agreements with Jagotec AG and Skyepharma
AG, which are affiliates of Vectura Group plc (“Vectura”). Under these amendments, the Company agreed to transfer all
economic benefits of LODOTRA® in Europe to Vectura during an initial transition period, with full rights transferring to
Vectura when certain transfer activities have been completed. The Company will no longer record LODOTRA revenue
from January 1, 2019.

•

On December 28, 2018, the Company sold its rights to RAVICTI® and AMMONAPS® (known as BUPHENYL® in the
United States) outside of North America and Japan to Medical Need Europe AB, part of the Immedica Group,
(“Immedica”). The Company previously distributed RAVICTI and AMMONAPS through a commercial partner in
Europe and other non-U.S. markets. The Company have retained rights to RAVICTI and BUPHENYL in North America
and Japan.

•

On June 30, 2017, the Company completed its acquisition of certain rights to interferon gamma-1b from Boehringer
Ingelheim International GmbH (“Boehringer Ingelheim International”) in all territories outside of the United States,
Canada and Japan. Interferon gamma-1b is known as IMUKIN® outside of the United States, Canada and Japan. On July
24, 2018, the Company sold the rights to IMUKIN in all territories outside of the United States, Canada and Japan to
Clinigen Group plc, (“Clinigen”), for an upfront payment and a potential additional contingent consideration payment
(“the IMUKIN sale”).

•

On June 23, 2017, the Company completed the sale of its European subsidiary that owned the marketing rights to
PROCYSBI® (cysteamine bitartrate) delayed-release capsules and QUINSAIR™ (levofloxacin inhalation solution) in
Europe, the Middle East and Africa (“EMEA”) regions (the “Chiesi divestiture”) to Chiesi Farmaceutici S.p.A. (“Chiesi”).
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•

On May 8, 2017, the Company completed its acquisition of River Vision Development Corp. (“River Vision”), which
added the late development-stage rare disease biologic medicine candidate teprotumumab to the Company’s research and
development pipeline.

Overview
The Company is focused on researching, developing and commercializing innovative medicines that address unmet treatment
needs for rare and rheumatic diseases. By expanding its growing pipeline of medicines in development and exploring all potential
uses for currently marketed medicines, the Company strives to make a powerful difference for patients, their caregivers and
physicians. The Company has two reportable segments, referred to as the “orphan and rheumatology segment” and the “primary care
segment”. The Company currently markets eleven medicines in the areas of orphan diseases, rheumatology and primary care.
The Company’s currently marketed medicines are:
Orphan and Rheumatology
KRYSTEXXA® (pegloticase injection), for intravenous infusion
RAVICTI (glycerol phenylbutyrate) oral liquid
PROCYSBI (cysteamine bitartrate) delayed-release capsules, for oral use
ACTIMMUNE® (interferon gamma-1b) injection, for subcutaneous use
RAYOS® (prednisone) delayed-release tablets
BUPHENYL (sodium phenylbutyrate) Tablets and Powder
QUINSAIR (levofloxacin) solution for inhalation
Primary Care
PENNSAID® (diclofenac sodium topical solution) 2% w/w, (“PENNSAID 2%”), for topical use
DUEXIS® (ibuprofen/famotidine) tablets, for oral use
VIMOVO® (naproxen/esomeprazole magnesium) delayed-release tablets, for oral use
MIGERGOT® (ergotamine tartrate & caffeine suppositories), for rectal use
The Company is a public limited company formed under the laws of Ireland. The Company operates through a number of
international and U.S. subsidiaries with principal business purposes to either perform research and development or manufacturing
operations, serve as distributors of the Company’s medicines, hold intellectual property assets or provide services and financial
support to the Company.
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Revision of Prior Period Financial Statements
During the course of preparing the Company’s consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2018, the
Company identified an error in the measurement of the contingent royalty liability calculation pertaining to the royalty end date for
one of its medicines. The royalty end date for KRYSTEXXA is approximately two and one half years earlier than the date originally
assumed in the calculations. As a result of the error, contingent royalties and cost of goods sold had been overstated and total equity
had been understated. The Company concluded that the amounts were not material to any of its previously issued consolidated
financial statements. The Company has revised the accompanying consolidated balance sheet as at December 31, 2017, and the
consolidated profit and loss account and of cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2017. The impact on the consolidated
statements of cash flows consisted of adjustments to reconcile net (loss) income to net cash provided by operating activities and
changes in operating assets and liabilities for all periods presented. There was no impact on total operating, investing or financing
cash flows for any prior period. The following are selected line items from the Company’s annual consolidated financial statements
illustrating the effect of the revisions:
Consolidated Balance Sheet as of
December 31, 2017
As Previously
Reported
Revision
As Revised

Developed technology, net
Total Non-current assets
Contingent royalties
Total provision for liabilities
Net assets
Profit and loss account
Total equity

$ 2,443,949 $
2,935,787
363,370
1,011,929
1,026,991
(1,221,144 )
1,026,991

(1,657 ) $ 2,442,292
(1,657 )
2,934,130
(11,869 )
351,501
(11,869 )
1,000,060
10,212
1,037,203
10,212
(1,210,932 )
10,212
1,037,203

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Loss
For the Twelve Months Ended December 31, 2017
As Previously
Reported
Revision
As Revised

Cost of goods sold
Gross profit
Operating loss
Loss before taxation
Loss for the financial year
Loss per ordinary share—Basic and diluted
Comprehensive loss for the financial year
2

$

546,275 $
509,956
(392,369 )
(513,275 )
(374,633 )
(2.30 )
(372,530 )

(8,941 ) $
8,941
8,941
8,941
8,941
0.06
8,941

537,334
518,897
(383,428 )
(504,334 )
(365,692 )
(2.24 )
(363,589 )

Summary of Accounting Policies

Principles of Consolidation
The consolidated financial statements include the Company’s accounts and those of its wholly owned subsidiaries. All
intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated.
Segment Information
Effective as of the second quarter of 2018, management realigned the Company’s reportable segments to reflect changes in the
manner in which the chief operating decision maker (“CODM”) assesses financial information for decision-making purposes. See
Note 22 for further details. The Company determined that it operates in two reportable segments, an orphan and rheumatology
segment and a primary care segment. The Company’s reportable segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal
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reporting provided to the CODM. The Company’s CODM has been identified as its chief executive officer. The Company has no
transactions between reportable segments.
Use of Estimates
The preparation of the accompanying consolidated financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make
certain estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, disclosure of contingent liabilities at the
date of the financial statements and reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could
differ from those estimates.
Foreign Currency Translation and Transactions
The reporting currency of the Company and its subsidiaries is the U.S. dollar.
The U.S. dollar is the functional currency for the Company’s Ireland and U.S.-based businesses and the majority of its
subsidiaries. The Company has foreign subsidiaries that have the Euro and the Canadian Dollar as their functional currency. Foreign
currency-denominated assets and liabilities of these subsidiaries are translated into U.S. dollars based on exchange rates prevailing at
the end of the period, revenues and expenses are translated at average exchange rates prevailing during the corresponding period, and
shareholders’ equity accounts are translated at historical exchange rates as of the date of any equity transaction. The effects of foreign
exchange gains and losses arising from the translation of assets and liabilities of those entities where the functional currency is not the
U.S. dollar are included as a component of accumulated other comprehensive (loss) income.
Gains and losses resulting from foreign currency transactions are reflected within the Company’s results of operations.
Revenue Recognition
On January 1, 2018, the Company adopted ASU 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with Customers, and subsequent
amendments (ASC 606 or new guidance), using the modified retrospective method. The Company applied the new guidance to all
contracts with customers within the scope of the standard that were in effect on January 1, 2018 and recognized the cumulative effect
of initially applying the new guidance as an adjustment to the opening balance of retained earnings. Comparative information for
prior periods has not been restated and continues to be reported under the accounting standards in effect for those periods. In the
United States, the Company sells its medicines primarily to wholesale distributors and specialty pharmacy providers. In other
countries, the Company sells its medicines primarily to wholesale distributors and other third-party distribution partners. These
customers subsequently resell the Company’s medicines to health care providers and patients. In addition, the Company enters into
arrangements with health care providers and payers that provide for government-mandated or privately negotiated discounts and
allowances related to the Company’s medicines. Revenue is recognized when performance obligations under the terms of a contract
with a customer are satisfied. The majority of the Company's contracts have a single performance obligation to transfer
medicines. Accordingly, revenues from medicine sales are recognized when the customer obtains control of the Company’s
medicines, which occurs at a point in time, typically upon delivery to the customer. Revenue is measured as the amount of
consideration the Company expects to receive in exchange for transferring medicines and is generally based upon a list or fixed price
less allowances for medicine returns, rebates and discounts. The Company sells its medicines to wholesale pharmaceutical
distributors and pharmacies under agreements with payment terms typically less than 90 days. The Company’s process for estimating
reserves established for these variable consideration components does not differ materially from the Company’s historical practices.
Medicine Sales Discounts and Allowances
The nature of the Company’s contracts gives rise to variable consideration because of allowances for medicine returns, rebates
and discounts. Allowances for medicine returns, rebates and discounts are recorded at the time of sale to wholesale pharmaceutical
distributors and pharmacies. The Company applies significant judgments and estimates in determining some of these allowances. If
actual results differ from its estimates, the Company will be required to make adjustments to these allowances in the future. The
Company’s adjustments to gross sales are discussed further below.

86

Commercial Rebates
The Company participates in certain commercial rebate programs. Under these rebate programs, the Company pays a rebate to
the commercial entity or third-party administrator of the program. The Company accrues estimated rebates based on contract prices,
estimated percentages of medicine sold to qualified patients and estimated levels of stock in the distribution channel and records the
rebate as a reduction of revenue. Accrued commercial rebates are included in “accrued trade discounts and rebates” on the
consolidated balance sheet.
Distribution Service Fees
The Company includes distribution service fees paid to its wholesalers for distribution and stock management services as a
reduction to revenue. The Company accrues estimated distribution fees based on contractually determined amounts, typically as a
percentage of revenue. Accrued distribution service fees are included in “accrued trade discounts and rebates” on the consolidated
balance sheet.
Patient Access Programs
The Company offers discount card and other programs such as its HorizonCares program to patients under which the patient
receives a discount on his or her prescription. In certain circumstances when a patient’s prescription is rejected by a managed care
vendor, the Company will pay for the full cost of the prescription. The Company reimburses pharmacies for this discount through
third-party vendors. The Company reduces gross turnover by the amount of actual co-pay and other patient assistance in the period
based on the invoices received. The Company also records an accrual to reduce gross turnover for estimated co-pay and other patient
assistance on units sold to distributors that have not yet been prescribed/dispensed to a patient. The estimate is based on contract
prices, estimated percentages of medicine that will be prescribed to qualified patients, average assistance paid based on reporting from
the third-party vendors and estimated levels of stock in the distribution channel. Accrued co-pay and other patient assistance fees are
included in “accrued trade discounts and rebates” on the consolidated balance sheet. Patient assistance programs include both co-pay
assistance and fully bought down prescriptions.
Sales Returns
Consistent with industry practice, the Company maintains a return policy that allows customers to return medicine within a
specified period prior to and subsequent to the medicine expiration date. Generally, medicine may be returned for a period beginning
six months prior to its expiration date and up to one year after its expiration date. The right of return expires on the earlier of one year
after the medicine expiration date or the time that the medicine is dispensed to the patient. The majority of medicine returns result
from medicine dating, which falls within the range set by the Company’s policy, and are settled through the issuance of a credit to the
customer. The Company calculates sales returns using the expected value method. The estimate of the provision for returns is based
upon the Company’s historical experience with actual returns. The return period is known to the Company based on the shelf life of
medicines at the time of shipment. The Company records sales returns in “accrued expenses” and as a reduction of revenue.
Prompt Pay Discounts
As an incentive for prompt payment, the Company offers a 2% cash discount to most customers. The Company calculates
accrued prompt pay discounts using the most likely amount method. The Company expects that all eligible customers will comply
with the contractual terms to earn the discount. The Company records the discount as an allowance against “accounts receivable” and
a reduction of revenue.
Government Rebates
The Company participates in certain federal government rebate programs such as Medicare Coverage Gap and Medicaid. The
Company calculates accrued government rebate estimates using the expected value method. The Company accrues estimated rebates
based on percentages of medicine sold to qualified patients, estimated rebate percentages and estimated levels of stock in the
distribution channel that will be prescribed to qualified patients and records the rebates as a reduction of revenue. Accrued
government rebates are included in “accrued trade discounts and rebates” on the consolidated balance sheet.
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Government Chargebacks
The Company provides discounts to federal government qualified entities with whom the Company has contracted. These
federal entities purchase medicines from the wholesale pharmaceutical distributors at a discounted price and the wholesale
pharmaceutical distributors then charge back to the Company the difference between the current retail price and the contracted price
that the federal entities paid for the medicines. The Company calculates accrued government chargeback estimates using the expected
value method. The Company accrues estimated chargebacks based on contract prices, sell-through sales data obtained from thirdparty information and estimated levels of stock in the distribution channel and records the chargeback as a reduction of
revenue. Accrued government chargebacks are included in “accrued trade discounts and rebates” on the consolidated balance sheet.
Bad Debt Expense
The Company’s medicines are sold to wholesale pharmaceutical distributors and pharmacies. The Company monitors its
accounts receivable balances to determine the impact, if any, of such factors as changes in customer concentration, credit risk and the
realizability of its accounts receivable, and records a bad debt reserve when applicable.
Stocks
Stocks are stated at the lower of cost or net realizable value, using the first-in, first-out convention. Stocks consist of raw
materials, work-in-process and finished goods. The Company has entered into manufacturing and supply agreements for the
manufacture or purchase of raw materials and production supplies. The Company’s stocks include the direct purchase cost of
materials and supplies and manufacturing overhead costs. The Company reviews its stock balance and purchase obligations to assess
if it has obsolete or excess stock and records a charge to “cost of sales” when applicable.
Stocks acquired in business combinations are recorded at their estimated fair values. “Step-up” represents the write-up of stock
from the lower of cost or net realizable value (the historical book value as previously recorded on the acquired company’s balance
sheet) to fair market value at the acquisition date. Stock step-up expense is recorded in the consolidated profit and loss account based
on actual turnover, or usage, using the first-in, first-out convention.
Stocks exclude medicine sample stock, which is included in other current assets and is expensed as a component of “selling,
general and administrative” expense when shipped to sales representatives.
Cost of Sales
The Company recognizes cost of sales in connection with its turnover of each of its distributed medicines. Cost of sales
includes all costs directly related to the acquisition of the Company’s medicines from its third-party manufacturers, including freight
charges and other direct expenses such as insurance and supply chain costs. Cost of sales also includes amortization of intellectual
property as described in the intangible assets accounting policy below, stock step-up expense, drug substance harmonization costs,
share-based compensation, charges relating to discontinuation of clinical trials, royalty payments to third parties, royalty accretion
expense, changes in estimates associated with the contingent royalty liability as described in the accrued contingent royalty accounting
policy below and loss on stock purchase commitments.
Pre-clinical Studies and Clinical Trial Accruals
The Company’s pre-clinical studies and clinical trials have historically been conducted by third-party contract research
organizations and other vendors. Pre-clinical study and clinical trial expenses are based on the services received from these contract
research organizations and vendors. Payments depend on factors such as the milestones accomplished, successful enrollment of
certain numbers of patients and site initiation. In accruing service fees, the Company estimates the time period over which services
will be performed and the level of effort to be expended in each period. If the actual timing of the performance of services or the level
of effort varies from the estimate, the Company adjusts the accrual accordingly.
Loss per ordinary share
Basic loss per ordinary share is computed by dividing loss for the financial year by the weighted-average number of ordinary
shares outstanding during the period. Diluted earnings per share (“EPS”) reflects the potential dilution beyond shares for basic EPS
that could occur if securities or other contracts to issue ordinary shares were exercised, converted into ordinary shares, or resulted in
the issuance of ordinary shares that would have shared in the Company’s earnings.
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Cash and Cash Equivalents
The Company considers all highly liquid investments, readily convertible to cash, that mature within three months or less from
date of purchase to be cash equivalents. Cash and cash equivalents primarily consist of cash balances and money market funds. The
Company generally invests excess cash in money market funds and other financial instruments with short-term durations, based upon
operating requirements.
Restricted Cash
Restricted cash consists primarily of balances in interest-bearing money market accounts required by a vendor for the
Company’s sponsored employee business credit card program and collateral for a letter of credit.
Fair Value of Financial Instruments
The carrying amounts of the Company’s financial instruments, including cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash, accounts
receivable, accounts payable and accrued expenses, approximate their fair values due to their short maturities.
Business Combinations
The Company accounts for business combinations in accordance with the guidance in Accounting Standards Codification Topic
805, Business Combinations (“ASC 805”) in which acquired assets and liabilities are measured at their respective estimated fair values
as of the acquisition date. The Company may be required, as in the case of intangible assets, contingent royalties or derivatives, to
determine the fair value associated with these amounts by estimating the fair value using an income approach under the discounted
cash flow method, which may include revenue projections and other assumptions made by the Company to determine the fair value.
Provision for Income Taxes
The Company accounts for income taxes based upon an asset and liability approach. Deferred tax assets and liabilities represent
the future tax consequences of the differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of assets and liabilities versus the tax
basis of assets and liabilities. Under this method, deferred tax assets are recognized for deductible temporary differences, and
operating loss and tax credit carryforwards. Deferred tax liabilities are recognized for taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax
assets are reduced by a valuation allowance when, in the opinion of management, it is more likely than not that some portion or all of
the deferred tax assets will not be realized. The impact of tax rate changes on deferred tax assets and liabilities is recognized in the
year that the change is enacted. The Company also accounts for the uncertainty in income taxes by utilizing a comprehensive model
for the recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure in financial statements of any uncertain tax positions that have been
taken or are expected to be taken on an income tax return. Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are netted by jurisdiction on
the Company’s consolidated balance sheet.
On December 22, 2017, the SEC staff issued Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 118 (“SAB 118”) which provided guidance on
accounting for the tax effects of the U.S. H.R. 1, “An Act to provide for reconciliation pursuant to titles II and V of the concurrent
resolution on the budget for fiscal year 2018”, informally titled the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act (“the Tax Act”). SAB 118 provided a
measurement period that should not extend beyond one year from the date of enactment for companies to complete the accounting
under ASC Topic 740, Income Taxes. In accordance with SAB 118, the Company reflected the income tax effects of those aspects of
the Tax Act for which the accounting under ASC 740 was complete. To the extent that the Company’s accounting for certain income
tax effects of the Tax Act was incomplete but it was able to determine a reasonable estimate, the Company recorded a provisional
estimate in the consolidated financial statements. As of December 31, 2017, the Company had not completed its accounting for the
effects of the Tax Act. However, the Company made reasonable estimates of the effects on its income tax provision with respect to
the revaluation of its existing U.S. deferred tax balances. In other cases, the Company had not been able to make reasonable estimates
and continued to account for those items based on its existing accounting under the provisions of the tax laws that were in effect prior
to enactment of the Tax Act. As described in Note 6, the Company recognized a net income tax benefit of $110.8 million for the year
ended December 31, 2017, associated with the items the Company could reasonably estimate. This benefit reflects the revaluation of
its U.S. net deferred tax liability based on the new U.S. federal tax rate of 21 percent. Further, in accordance with the one year
measurement period adjustment under SAB 118, the Company recorded $1.5 million tax benefit with respect to the revaluation of
certain U.S. deferred tax asset which is further netted within the U.S. net deferred tax liabilities.
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Property and Equipment, Net
Property and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation. Depreciation is recognized using the straight-line
method over the estimated useful lives of the related assets for financial reporting purposes and an accelerated method for income tax
reporting purposes. Upon retirement or sale of an asset, the cost and related accumulated depreciation and amortization are removed
from the balance sheet and the resulting gain or loss is reflected in operations. Repair and maintenance costs are charged to expenses
as incurred and improvements are capitalized.
Leasehold improvements are amortized on a straight-line basis over the term of the applicable lease, or the useful life of the
assets, whichever is shorter.
Depreciation and amortization periods for the Company’s property and equipment are as follows:
Machinery and equipment
Furniture and fixtures
Computer equipment
Software
Trade show equipment

5 to 7 years
3 to 5 years
3 years
3 years
3 years

The Company capitalizes software development costs associated with internal use software, including external direct costs of
materials and services and payroll costs for employees devoting time to a software project. Costs incurred during the preliminary
project stage, as well as costs for maintenance and training, are expensed as incurred.
Software includes internal-use software acquired and modified to meet the Company’s internal requirements. Amortization
commences when the software is ready for its intended use.
Intangible Assets
Definite-lived intangible assets are amortized over their estimated useful lives. The Company reviews its intangible assets when
events or circumstances may indicate that the carrying value of these assets exceeds their fair value. The Company measures fair
value based on the estimated future discounted cash flows associated with these assets in addition to other assumptions and projections
that the Company deems to be reasonable and supportable. The estimated useful lives, from the date of acquisition, for all identified
intangible assets that are subject to amortization are between five and thirteen years.
Indefinite-lived intangible assets consist of capitalized in-process research and development (“IPR&D”). IPR&D assets
represent capitalized incomplete research projects that the Company acquired through business combinations. Such assets are initially
measured at their acquisition date fair values and are tested for impairment, until completion or abandonment of research and
development efforts associated with the projects. An IPR&D asset is considered abandoned when research and development efforts
associated with the asset have ceased, and there are no plans to sell or license the asset or derive value from the asset. At that point,
the asset is considered to be impaired and is written off. Upon successful completion of each project, the Company will make a
determination about the then remaining useful life of the intangible asset and begin amortization. The Company tests its indefinitelived intangible assets, including IPR&D assets, for impairment annually during the fourth quarter and more frequently if events or
changes in circumstances indicate that it is more likely than not that the asset is impaired.
Goodwill
Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price of acquired businesses over the estimated fair value of the identifiable net
assets acquired. Goodwill is not amortized but is tested for impairment at least annually at the reporting unit level or more frequently
if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the asset might be impaired. Impairment loss, if any, is recognized based on a
comparison of the fair value of the asset to its carrying value, without consideration of any recoverability. The Company tests
goodwill for impairment annually during the fourth quarter and whenever indicators of impairment exist by first assessing qualitative
factors to determine whether it is more likely than not that the fair value is less than its carrying amount. If the Company concludes it
is more likely than not that the fair value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying amount, a quantitative impairment test is
performed. If the Company concludes that goodwill is impaired, it will record an impairment charge in its consolidated statement of
comprehensive (loss) income. Based upon the Company’s most recent annual impairment test performed in the fourth quarter of
2017, the Company concluded goodwill was not impaired.
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Irish Company Law requires goodwill and indefinite lived intangible assets to be amortized. However, the Company does not
believe this gives a true and fair view, as not all goodwill and intangible assets decline in value. In addition, since goodwill that does
decline in value rarely does so on a straight-line basis, straight-line amortization of goodwill and indefinite lived intangible assets over
an arbitrary period does not reflect the economic reality. Therefore, goodwill and indefinite lived intangible assets are not amortized.
Research and Development Expenses
Research and development expenses include, but are not limited to, payroll and other personnel expenses, consultant expenses,
expenses incurred under agreements with contract research organizations to conduct clinical trials, expenses incurred to manufacture
clinical trial materials and acquired in-process research and development assets recorded to research and development expense.
Research and development expenses were $82.8 million and $225.0 million for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017,
respectively.
Advertising Expenses
We expense the costs of advertising as incurred. Advertising expenses were $21.6 million and $19.2 million for the years ended
December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively.
Deferred Financing Costs
Costs incurred in connection with debt financings have been capitalized to “Long-term debt, net, net of current” and
“Exchangeable notes, net” in the Company’s consolidated balance sheet as deferred financing costs, and are charged to interest
expense using the effective interest method over the terms of the related debt agreements. These costs include document preparation
costs, commissions, fees and expenses of investment bankers and underwriters, and accounting and legal fees.
Concentration of Credit Risk and Other Risks and Uncertainties
Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to concentrations of credit risk consist of cash, cash equivalents and
investments. The Company’s investment policy permits investments in U.S. federal government and federal agency securities,
corporate bonds or commercial paper, money market instruments, certain qualifying money market mutual funds, certain repurchase
agreements, and tax-exempt obligations of municipalities and places restrictions on credit ratings, maturities, and concentration by
type and issuer. The Company is exposed to credit risk in the event of a default by the financial institutions holding the Company’s
cash, cash equivalents and investments to the extent recorded on the balance sheet.
The purchase cost of ACTIMMUNE is denominated in Euros and is subject to foreign currency risk. The Company has
contracts relating to RAVICTI, QUINSAIR and PROCYSBI for sales in Canada which sales are denominated in Canadian dollars and
are subject to foreign currency risk. The Company also incurs certain operating expenses in currencies other than the U.S. dollar in
relation to its Irish operations and foreign subsidiaries. Therefore, the Company is subject to volatility in cash flows due to
fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates, particularly changes in the Euro and the Canadian dollar.
Historically, the Company’s accounts receivable balances have been highly concentrated with a select number of customers
consisting primarily of large wholesale pharmaceutical distributors who, in turn, sell the medicines to pharmacies, hospitals and other
customers. As of December 31, 2018 and 2017, the Company’s top four customers accounted for approximately 85% and 74%,
respectively, of the Company’s total outstanding accounts receivable balances, after the reclassification adjustments as described in
this Note 2.
The Company depends on single-source suppliers and manufacturers for certain of its medicines, medicine candidates and their
active pharmaceutical ingredients.
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Comprehensive (Loss) Income
Comprehensive (loss) income is composed of net (loss) income and other comprehensive (loss) income (“OCI”). OCI includes
certain changes in shareholders’ equity that are excluded from net (loss) income, which consist of foreign currency translation
adjustments and pension remeasurements. The Company reports the effect of significant reclassifications out of accumulated OCI on
the respective line items in net income if the amount being reclassified is required under GAAP to be reclassified in its entirety to net
income. For other amounts that are not required under GAAP to be reclassified in their entirety to net income in the same reporting
period, the Company cross-references other disclosures required under GAAP that provide additional detail about those amounts.
Share-Based Compensation
The Company accounts for employee share-based compensation by measuring and recognizing compensation expense for all
share-based payments based on estimated grant date fair values. The Company uses the straight-line method to allocate compensation
cost to reporting periods over each awardee’s requisite service period, which is generally the vesting period. The Company adopted
ASU No. 2016-09, Improvements to Employee Share-Based Payment Accounting (“ASU No. 2016-09”) on January 1, 2017 and has
elected to retain a forfeiture rate after adoption.
Accrued Contingent Royalties
The Company’s accrued contingent royalties consist of the contingent royalty obligations assumed by the Company related to
the Company’s acquisitions of rights to certain of its medicines. At the time of each acquisition, the Company assigned an estimated
fair value to its contingent liability for royalties. The estimated royalty liability is based on anticipated revenue streams utilizing the
income approach under the discounted cash flow method. The estimated liability for royalties is increased or decreased over time to
reflect the change in its present value and accretion expense is recorded as part of cost of sales. The Company evaluates the adequacy
of the estimated contingent royalty liability at least annually in the fourth quarter, or whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that an evaluation of the estimate is necessary. As part of its evaluation, the Company adjusts the carrying value of the
liability to the present value of the revised estimated cash flows using the original discount rate. Any adjustment to the liability is
recorded as an increase or reduction in cost of sales. The royalty liability is included in current and long-term accrued royalties on the
consolidated balance sheet.
Contingencies
From time to time, the Company may become involved in claims and other legal matters arising in the ordinary course of
business. The Company records accruals for loss contingencies to the extent that it concludes that it is probable that a liability has
been incurred and the amount of the related loss can be reasonably estimated. Legal fees and other expenses related to litigation are
expensed as incurred and included in “selling, general and administrative” expenses.
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Recent Accounting Pronouncements
From time to time, the Company adopts new accounting pronouncements issued by the Financial Accounting Standards Board
(“FASB”) or other standard-setting bodies.
Effective January 1, 2018, the Company adopted Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) No. 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts
with Customers (“ASU No. 2014-09”). The standard aims to achieve a consistent application of revenue recognition, resulting in a
single revenue model to be applied by reporting companies under GAAP. Under this model, recognition of revenue occurs when a
customer obtains control of promised goods or services in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to be
entitled in exchange for those goods or services. In addition, the new standard requires that reporting companies disclose the nature,
amount, timing and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows arising from contracts with customers. The standard is required to be
applied retrospectively to each prior reporting period presented or modified retrospectively with the cumulative effect of initially
applying it recognized at the date of initial application. The Company elected to utilize the modified retrospective method. The
performance obligations identified by the Company under Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) Topic 606, Revenue From
Contracts With Customers, are similar to the unit of account and performance obligation determination under ASC Topic 605,
Revenue Recognition. The implementation of this guidance did not have a material impact on the Company’s consolidated financial
statements as the timing of revenue recognition for its primary revenue stream, product sales, did not significantly change. Certain of
the Company’s contracts for sales outside the United States include variable consideration that the Company was precluded from
recognizing because the amounts were contingent. The Company concluded that this standard required a cumulative-effect
adjustment of certain deferred revenues under these contracts that were originally expected to be recognized in the future. Upon
adoption on January 1, 2018, the Company reclassified $11.3 million of deferred revenue directly to retained earnings. Following this
reclassification, no amounts remained in deferred revenue relating to these contracts. In addition, as a result of the adoption of ASU
No. 2014-09, the Company now presents all allowances for medicine returns in accrued expenses on the consolidated balance
sheet. This resulted in a reclassification of $37.9 million of allowances for medicine returns from “accounts receivable, net” to
“accrued expenses” in the consolidated balance sheet at December 31, 2017, and a reclassification of $22.6 million between the
“accounts receivable” and “accrued expenses and accrued royalties” line items within the changes in operating assets and liabilities
section of the consolidated statement of cash flow for the year ended December 31, 2017.
Effective January 1, 2018, the Company adopted ASU No. 2016-16, Income Taxes (Topic 740): Intra-Entity Transfers of Assets
Other Than Stock (“ASU No. 2016-16”). ASU No. 2016-16 was issued to improve the accounting for the income tax consequences of
intra-entity transfers of assets other than stock. Previously, GAAP prohibited the recognition of current and deferred income taxes for
an intra-entity asset transfer until the asset has been sold to an outside party which has resulted in diversity in practice and increased
complexity within financial reporting. ASU No. 2016-16 requires an entity to recognize the income tax consequences of an intraentity transfer of an asset other than stock when the transfer occurs and does not require new disclosures. Upon adoption, the
Company applied the modified retrospective basis through a cumulative-effect adjustment to retained earnings and the Company
reclassified $9.3 million of unrecognized deferred charges directly to retained earnings.
Effective January 1, 2018, the Company adopted ASU No. 2017-09, Compensation-Stock Compensation (Topic 718): Scope of
Modification Accounting (“ASU No. 2017-09”). The amendment amends the scope of modification accounting for share-based
payment arrangements, provides guidance on the types of changes to the terms or conditions of share-based payment awards to which
an entity would be required to apply modification accounting under ASC Topic 718, Compensation- Stock Compensation. Upon
adoption, the Company applied the prospective method and will account for future modifications, if any, under this guidance. The
adoption of ASU No. 2017-09 did not have a material impact on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.
Effective January 1, 2018, the Company adopted ASU No. 2016-18, Statement of Cash Flows (Topic 230): Restricted Cash
(“ASU No. 2016-18”). ASU No. 2016-18 addresses diversity in practice related to the classification and presentation of changes in
restricted cash on the statement of cash flows. ASU No. 2016-18 requires that a statement of cash flows explain the change during the
period in the total of cash, cash equivalents and amounts generally described as restricted cash or restricted cash
equivalents. Therefore, amounts generally described as restricted cash and restricted cash equivalents should be included with cash
and cash equivalents when reconciling the beginning-of-period and end-of-period total amounts shown on the statement of cash flows.
Effective January 1, 2018, the Company adopted ASU No. 2016-15, Statement of Cash Flows (Topic 230): Classification of
Certain Cash Receipts and Cash Payments (“ASU No. 2016-15”). ASU No. 2016-15 provides guidance on the following eight
specific cash flow classification issues: (1) debt prepayment or debt extinguishment costs; (2) settlement of zero-coupon debt
instruments or other debt instruments with coupon interest rates that are insignificant in relation to the effective interest rate of the
borrowing; (3) contingent consideration payments made after a business combination; (4) proceeds from the settlement of insurance
claims; (5) proceeds from the settlement of corporate-owned life insurance policies, including bank-owned life insurance policies; (6)
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distributions received from equity method investees; (7) beneficial interests in securitization transactions; and (8) separately
identifiable cash flows and application of the predominance principle.
The following table summarizes the adjustments made to conform prior period classifications as a result of the adoption of ASU
No. 2016-18 and ASU No. 2016-15 (in thousands):
As filed

Net cash provided by operating activities
$
Net cash used in investing activities
Net cash provided by financing activities
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash, beginning of
the period (1)
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash, end of the
period (1)

For the Year Ended December 31, 2017
ASU No. 2016-18
ASU No. 2016-15
Reclassification (2)
Reclassification (3)

280,208 $
(101,619 )
58,408

— $
(566 )
—

As adjusted

4,132 $
—
(4,132 )

284,340
(102,185 )
54,276

509,055

7,095

—

516,150

751,368

6,529

—

757,897

(1) Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash, beginning of the period and end of the period presented in the “As filed” column
in the table above excludes restricted cash.
(2) $7.1 million and $6.5 million in the tables above represent the Company’s restricted cash balance at December 31, 2016
and 2017, respectively.
(3) Upon adoption of ASU No. 2016-15, the Company reclassified prepayment penalties and debt extinguishment costs of $3.8
million and $0.3 million, respectively, from operating activities to financing activities.
Effective January 1, 2018, the Company adopted ASU No. 2017-04, Intangibles - Goodwill and Other (Topic 350): Simplifying
the Test for Goodwill Impairment (“ASU No. 2017-04”), to eliminate the second step of the goodwill impairment test. ASU No.
2017-04 requires an entity to measure a goodwill impairment loss as the amount by which the carrying value of a reporting unit
exceeds its fair value. Additionally, an entity should include the income tax effects from any tax deductible goodwill on the carrying
value of the reporting unit when measuring a goodwill impairment loss, if applicable. The adoption of ASU No. 2017-04 did not have
a material impact on the Company’s consolidated financial statements and related disclosures.
In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-02, Leases (Topic 842) (“ASU No. 2016-02”). Under ASU No. 2016-02,
an entity is required to recognize right-of-use assets and lease liabilities on its balance sheet and disclose key information about
leasing arrangements. For leases with a term of twelve months or less, the lessee is permitted to make an accounting policy election
not to recognize lease assets and lease liabilities by class of underlying assets. ASU No. 2016-02 becomes effective for the Company
beginning in the first quarter of 2019. The guidance can be applied using either a modified retrospective approach at the beginning of
the earliest period presented, or at the beginning of the period in which it is adopted. The Company will adopt this standard in the first
quarter of 2019, using a modified retrospective approach at the adoption date through a cumulative-effect adjustment to retained
earnings. The Company does not expect the adoption will have a material impact on its consolidated statement of comprehensive loss.
However, the new standard requires the Company to establish approximately $38.0 million of liabilities and corresponding right-ofuse assets of $36.0 million on its consolidated balance sheet for leases, primarily related to operating leases on rented office properties
that existed as of the January 1, 2019, adoption date. The Company also expects to elect to not recognize lease assets and liabilities
for leases with a term of twelve months or less.
In June 2018, the FASB issued ASU No. 2018-07, Compensation—Stock Compensation (Topic 718): Improvements to
Nonemployee Share-Based Payment Accounting (“ASU No. 2018-07”). ASU No. 2018-07 largely aligns the accounting for sharebased payment awards issued to employees and non-employees. The Company will adopt ASU No. 2018-07 in the first quarter of
2019, and it does not expect the adoption of ASU No. 2018-07 to have a material impact on the Company’s consolidated financial
statements and related disclosures.
In June 2018, the FASB issued ASU No. 2018-08, Clarifying the Scope and the Accounting Guidance for Contributions
Received and Contributions Made (“ASU No. 2018-08”). The new guidance applies to all entities that receive or make contributions,
including business entities. The Company will adopt the standard in the first quarter of 2019, using prospective application to any
new agreements entered into after the effective date. The Company does not expect the adoption of ASU No. 2018-08 to have a
material impact on the Company’s consolidated financial statements and related disclosures.
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Other recent authoritative guidance issued by the FASB (including technical corrections to the ASC), the American Institute of
Certified Public Accountants, and the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) did not, or are not expected to, have a material
impact on the Company’s consolidated financial statements and related disclosures.
3

Interest Payable and Similar Expenses

Interest payable and similar expenses for the financial years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017 were comprised of the
following (in thousands):

For the Years Ended December 31,
2018

Interest expense on debt
Loss on debt extinguishment
Interest expense and similar expenses
4

$
$

2017

(134,324)
—
(134,324)

$

(130,647)
(978)
(131,625)

$

Other Income

On June 23, 2017, the Company completed the Chiesi divestiture for an upfront payment of $72.5 million, which reflects
$3.1 million of cash divested, with additional potential milestone payments based on turnover thresholds, and recorded a gain of $6.3
million on the divestiture, which was included in “other income” during the year ended December 31, 2017. See Note 9 for further
details on the divestiture.
5

Other Expense
Other expense for the financial years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017 was comprised of the following (in thousands):
For the Years Ended December 31,
2018

Foreign exchange loss
Other expense
Total other expense, net

6

$
$

2017

(192)
(19)
(211)

$
$

(260)
(90)
(350)

Income Taxes

The Company’s loss before benefit for income taxes by jurisdiction for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017 is as
follows (in thousands):
For the Years Ended December 31,
2018

Ireland
United States
Other foreign
Loss before taxation

$

$

95

(10,944 ) $
(176,837 )
68,635
(119,146 ) $

2017

(16,959 )
(271,102 )
(216,276 )
(504,334 )

The components of the benefit for income taxes were as follows for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017 (in
thousands):
For the Years Ended December 31,
2018

Current provision
Ireland
U.S. - Federal and State
Other foreign
Total current provision
Deferred (benefit) provision
Ireland
U.S. - Federal and State
Other foreign
Total deferred benefit
Total benefit for income taxes

$

(245 ) $
42,791
843
43,389

$

2017

2,922
12,085
831
15,838

(14,184 ) $
(6,294 )
(27,102 )
(156,004 )
(11,169 )
7,818
(52,455 )
(154,480 )
(9,066 ) $ (138,642 )

$

Total benefit for income taxes was $9.1 million and $138.6 million for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017,
respectively. The current tax provision of $43.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2018 was primarily attributable to the U.S.
federal tax liability arising on U.S. taxable income generated from an intra-company transfer of an asset other than stock. Due to the
restrictions imposed by Section 7874 of the Code, the Company could not utilize its tax attributes such as net operating losses and tax
credits to reduce its U.S. federal tax liability below the minimum tax required under Section 7874, therefore the Company recorded a
provision of $45.8 million on the transfer. The deferred tax benefit of $52.5 million recognized during the year ended December 31,
2018, was primarily due to the mix of income and losses incurred in various tax jurisdictions of $35.3 million, $11.2 million of tax
benefit recognized on intra-company stock transfers and $4.4 million of tax credits generated during the year.
A reconciliation between the Irish income tax statutory rate to the Company’s effective tax rate for 2018 and 2017 is as follows
(in thousands):
For the Years Ended December 31,
2018

Irish income tax at statutory rate (12.5%)
$
Foreign tax rate differential
Liquidation of foreign partnership
Notional interest deduction
Intra-company stock transfers
U.S. state income taxes
U.S. federal and state tax credits
Impact of the Tax Act on deferred taxes
Change in valuation allowances
Non-deductible in-process research and development costs
Uncertain tax positions
Disallowed interest
Disqualified compensation expense
Change in U.S. state effective tax rate
Share-based compensation
Intra-company asset transfers
Other, net
Benefit for income taxes
$
Effective income tax rate
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(14,893 ) $
13,221
(42,689 )
(24,455 )
(11,169 )
(6,515 )
(4,405 )
(1,499 )
(1,115 )
—
2,456
3,023
4,831
8,103
21,383
45,780
(1,123 )
(9,066 ) $
7.6 %

2017

(63,042)
(10,923)
—
(27,020)
(8,888)
214
(3,608)
(110,832)
(1,378)
51,148
4,976
2,990
1,305
(2,329)
26,811
—
1,934
(138,642)
27.5%

The overall effective income tax rate for 2018 of 7.6% was a lower benefit rate than the Irish statutory rate of 12.5% primarily
due to a $42.7 million U.S. federal tax benefit and $7.9 million U.S. state tax benefit was recorded with respect to the liquidation of a
foreign partnership, a $24.5 million tax benefit on the Company’s notional interest deduction and a $11.2 million tax benefit
recognized on intra-company stock transfers. These tax benefits are partially offset by tax expense of $45.8 million on an intracompany transfer of asset other than stock, a tax expense of $21.4 million on non-deductible share-based compensation expenses,
which includes the previously recognized share-based compensation expense relating to PSUs which was charged to income tax
expense during the year ended December 31, 2018, of $23.3 million, a tax expense of $13.2 million on the income earned in higher tax
rate jurisdictions and a tax expense of $8.1 million resulting from the remeasurement of net U.S. deferred tax liabilities attributable to
state legislation as enacted during the current year.
The overall effective income tax rate for 2017 of 27.5% was a higher benefit rate than the Irish statutory rate of 12.5% primarily
due to a provisional $110.8 million net tax benefit recorded following the enactment of the Tax Act related to the revaluation of the
Company’s U.S. net deferred tax liability based on the new U.S. federal tax rate of 21 percent. See Note 31 for details of the
measurement period adjustment recorded in the Company’s consolidated financial statements in accordance with SAB 118. The
higher 2017 benefit rate was also attributable to losses incurred in higher tax rate jurisdictions, the benefit realized on the notional
interest deduction of $27.0 million, tax charges on intragroup profits of $8.9 million, U.S. federal and state tax credits of $3.6 million
and $2.3 million due to a decrease in the U.S. state effective tax rate. These benefits to income taxes are partially offset by nondeductible IPR&D expenses of $51.1 million recorded in connection with the acquisition of River Vision, non-deductible share-based
compensation expenses of $26.8 million, including the write-off of $16.4 million of deferred tax assets related to previously
recognized share-based compensation expense related to PSUs that expired unvested in December 2017, and an increase in uncertain
tax positions of $5.0 million.
The decrease in the effective income tax rate in 2018 compared to that in 2017 was primarily due to a provisional $110.8 million
net tax benefit recorded following the enactment of the Tax Act related to the revaluation of the Company’s U.S. net deferred tax
liability based on the new U.S. federal tax rate of 21 percent, a tax expense of $45.8 million on an inter-company transfer of assets
other than stock recorded during the year ended December 31, 2018, partially offset by non-deductible IPR&D expenses of $51.1
million during the year ended December 31, 2017, recorded in connection with the acquisition of River Vision, a tax benefit of $42.7
million U.S. federal and $7.9 million U.S. state tax benefit generated on the liquidation of a foreign partnership during the year ended
December 31, 2018.
The Company accounts for income taxes based upon an asset and liability approach. Deferred tax assets and liabilities represent
the future tax consequences of the differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of assets and liabilities versus the tax
basis of assets and liabilities. Under this method, deferred tax assets are recognized for future deductible temporary differences and
operating loss and tax credit carryforwards. Deferred tax liabilities are recognized for future taxable temporary differences. Deferred
tax assets are reduced by a valuation allowance when, in the opinion of management, it is more likely than not that some portion or all
of the deferred tax assets will not be realized. The impact of tax rate changes on deferred tax assets and liabilities is recognized in the
period in which the change is enacted.
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The tax effects of the temporary differences, tax credits and net operating losses that give rise to significant portions of deferred
tax assets and liabilities, before jurisdictional netting, are as follows (in thousands):
As of December 31,

Deferred tax assets:
Net operating loss carryforwards
Intercompany interest
U.S. federal and state credits
Accrued compensation
Contingent royalties
Accruals and reserves
Capital loss carryforwards
Alternative minimum tax credit
Other
Total deferred tax assets
Valuation allowance
Deferred tax assets, net of valuation allowance
Deferred tax liabilities:
Intangible assets
Debt discount
Stocks
Other
Total deferred tax liabilities
Net deferred income tax liability
Deferred income taxes due after one year
Provision for deferred income taxes

$

$
$

$

2018

2017

51,264 $
52,605
59,853
40,942
30,321
12,381
3,139
2,816
1,004
254,325
(26,472 )
227,853 $

65,650
35,893
48,393
46,420
33,436
11,089
2,796
13,972
2,259
259,908
(25,650 )
234,258

283,473
18,795
—
8,420
310,688
82,835
3,148
85,983

315,970
23,372
570
12,830
352,742
118,484
3,470
121,954

$

$

On December 22, 2017, the SEC staff issued SAB 118, which provided guidance on accounting for the tax effects of the Tax
Act. SAB 118 provided a measurement period that should not extend beyond one year from the date of enactment for companies to
complete the accounting under ASC 740, Income Taxes. In accordance with SAB 118, during the year ended December 31, 2017, the
Company reflected the income tax effects of those aspects of the Tax Act for which the accounting under ASC 740 was complete. To
the extent that the Company’s accounting for certain income tax effects of the Tax Act was incomplete but it was able to determine a
reasonable estimate, the Company recorded a provisional estimate in the consolidated financial statements for the year ended
December 31, 2017. As of December 31, 2017, the Company had not completed its accounting for the effects of the Tax Act.
However, the Company had made reasonable estimates of the effects on its income tax provision with respect to certain items,
primarily the revaluation of its existing U.S. deferred tax balances. The Company recognized an income tax benefit of $110.8 million
for the year ended December 31, 2017, associated with the items it could reasonably estimate. This benefit reflects the revaluation of
its U.S. net deferred tax liability based on the U.S. federal tax rate of 21 percent. Further, in accordance with the one year
measurement period adjustment under SAB 118, the Company recorded $1.5 million tax benefit with respect to the revaluation of
certain U.S. deferred tax asset which is further netted within the U.S. net deferred tax liabilities.
No provision has been made for income taxes on undistributed earnings of subsidiaries because it is the Company’s intention to
indefinitely reinvest outside of Ireland undistributed earnings of its subsidiaries. In the event of the distribution of those earnings to
Ireland in the form of dividends, a sale of the subsidiaries, or certain other transactions, the Company may be liable for income taxes
in Ireland. The unremitted earnings of the Company as of December 31, 2018, were $164.4 million, and the Company estimates that
it would incur no additional income tax on unremitted earnings were they to be remitted to Ireland.
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As of December 31, 2018, the Company had net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $77.3 million for U.S. federal,
$25.1 million for various U.S. states and $113.1 million for non-U.S. losses. Net operating loss carryforwards for U.S. federal income
tax purposes that were generated prior to January 1, 2018, have a twenty-year carryforward life and the earliest layers will begin to
expire in 2031. Under the Tax Act, U.S. federal net operating losses incurred in 2018 and in future years may be carried forward
indefinitely, but the deductibility of such net operating losses is limited to 80% of the current year’s taxable income. It is uncertain if
and to what extent various U.S. states will conform to the Tax Act. U.S. state net operating losses will start to expire in 2019 for the
earliest net operating loss layers to the extent there is not sufficient state taxable income to utilize those net operating loss carryovers.
Net operating loss carryovers in Switzerland have a seven-year carryforward life and will start to expire in 2019 to the extent there is
not sufficient taxable income to utilize those net operating loss carryovers. Irish net operating losses may be carried forward
indefinitely and therefore have no expiration. Utilization of the U.S. net operating loss carryforwards may be subject to annual
limitations as prescribed by federal and state statutory provisions. The imposition of the annual limitations may result in a portion of
the net operating loss carryforwards expiring unused.
Utilization of certain net operating loss and tax credit carryforwards in the United States is subject to an annual limitation due to
ownership change limitations provided by Sections 382 and 383 of the Internal Revenue Code. The Company is limited under the
annual limitation of $7.7 million from the year 2019 until 2028 on certain net operating losses generated before an August 2, 2012
ownership change. We continue to carry forward the annual limitation related to Hyperion of $50.0 million resulting from the last
ownership change in 2014 as well as the annual limitation related to Raptor of $0.2 million for the ownership change which occurred
in 2009. Further, the net operating losses acquired with River Vision are subject to an annual limitation of $2.6 million. The U.S.
federal net operating loss carryforward and U.S. federal tax credit carryforward limitation is cumulative such that any use of the
carryforwards below the limitation in a particular tax year will result in a corresponding increase in the limitation for the subsequent
tax year.
At December 31, 2018, the Company had $54.5 million and $8.0 million of U.S. federal and state income tax credits,
respectively, to reduce future tax liabilities. The federal income tax credits consisted primarily of orphan drug credits, research and
development credits and alternative minimum tax credits. The U.S. state income tax credits consisted primarily of California research
and development credits and the Illinois Economic Development for a Growing Economy (“EDGE”) tax credits. Both the U.S.
federal orphan drug credits and research and development credits have a twenty-year carryforward life. The U.S. federal orphan drug
credits and the U.S. federal research and development credits will both begin to expire in 2030. The U.S. federal alternative minimum
tax credits and California research and development credits have indefinite lives and therefore are not subject to expiration. The
EDGE credits have a five-year carryforward life following the year of generation and will begin to expire in 2019.
A reconciliation of the beginning and ending amounts of valuation allowances for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017
is as follows (in thousands):
Valuation allowances at January 1, 2017
Increase for 2017 activity
Release of valuation allowances
Additions to valuation allowances due to acquisitions
Valuation allowances at December 31, 2017
Increase for 2018 activity
Release of valuation allowances
Valuation allowances at December 31, 2018

$

$

$

(32,532 )
(6,835 )
5,313
8,404
(25,650 )
(3,328 )
2,506
(26,472 )

Deferred tax valuation allowances increased by $0.8 million during the year ended December 31, 2018 and decreased by $6.9
million during the year ended December 31, 2017. For the year ended December 31, 2018, the increase in valuation allowances
resulted primarily from additional U.S. state net operating losses and state tax credits which are unlikely to be realized in the
foreseeable future.
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A reconciliation of the movement in the deferred income tax provision between the beginning and ending amounts for the years
ended December 31, 2018 and 2017 is as follows (in thousands):

Deferred tax provision at January 1, 2017
Benefit during the year
Other
Deferred tax provision at December 31, 2017
Benefit during the year
Other
Deferred tax provision at December 31, 2018

$

$

285,809
(219,182 )
55,327
121,954
(38,585)
2,614
85,983

The Company is required to recognize the financial statement effects of a tax position when it is more likely than not, based
on the technical merits, that the position will be sustained upon examination. The Company accounts for the uncertainty in income
taxes by utilizing a comprehensive model for the recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure in financial statements of any
uncertain tax positions that have been taken, or are expected to be taken, on an income tax return. The changes in the Company's
uncertain income tax positions for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017, including interest and penalties, consisted of the
following (in thousands):
For the Years Ended December 31,
2018

Beginning balance – uncertain tax positions
Tax positions in the year:
Additions
Acquired uncertain tax positions
Tax positions related to prior years:
Additions
Settlements and lapses
Ending balance- uncertain tax positions

$

$

2017

24,852 $

18,430

2,847
—

3,216
—

1,531
(528 )
28,702 $

4,145
(939)
24,852

For the year ended December 31, 2018, the increase in uncertain tax positions was attributable primarily to the additional U.S.
federal orphan drug credits generated during the year and the uncertain tax position resulting from certain state nexus exposures.
At December 31, 2018, penalties of $0.2 million and interest of $2.0 million are included in the balance of the uncertain tax
positions and penalties of $0.2 million and interest of $1.3 million were included in the balance of uncertain tax positions at December
31, 2017. The Company classifies interest and penalties with respect to income tax liabilities as a component of income tax expense.
The Company assessed that its liability for uncertain tax positions will not significantly change within the next twelve months. If
these uncertain tax positions are released, the impact on the Company’s tax provision would be a benefit of $28.7 million, including
interest and penalties.
The Company files income tax returns in Ireland, in the United States for federal and various states, as well as in certain other
jurisdictions. At December 31, 2018, all open tax years in U.S. federal and certain state jurisdictions date back to 2006 due to the
taxing authorities’ ability to adjust operating loss carryforwards. In Ireland, the statute of limitations expires five years from the end
of the tax year or four years from the time a tax return is filed, whichever is later. Therefore the earliest year open to examination is
2014 with the lapse of statute occurring in 2019. No changes in settled tax years have occurred to date. We are currently under
examination by the U.S. Internal Revenue Service for the tax year ended December 31, 2015. As of the filing of this Irish Annual
Report, the Company does not currently anticipate material changes from the originally filed U.S. federal tax return for the 2015 year.
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7

Loss Per Share

The following table presents basic and diluted loss per share for the financial years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017 (in
thousands, except share and per share data):
For the Years Ended December 31,
2018
2017

Basic and diluted loss per share calculation:
Loss for the financial year
Weighted average of ordinary shares outstanding
Basic and diluted loss per share

$
$

(110,080)
166,155,405
(0.66)

$

(365,692)
163,122,663
(2.24)

$

Basic loss per share is computed by dividing the loss for the financial year by the weighted-average number of ordinary shares
outstanding during the period. Diluted EPS reflects the potential dilution beyond shares for basic EPS that could occur if securities or
other contracts to issue ordinary shares were exercised, converted into ordinary shares, or resulted in the issuance of ordinary shares
that would have shared in our earnings.
See Note 31 for details of the measurement period adjustment recorded in the Company’s consolidated financial statements in
accordance with SAB 118.
The outstanding securities listed in the table below were excluded from the computation of diluted earnings (loss) per share for
the financial years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017 due to being anti-dilutive:
For the Years Ended December 31,
2018

Stock options
Restricted stock units
Performance stock units
Employee stock purchase plans
Warrants

6,406,914
2,299,254
1,248,632
265,886
—
10,220,686

2017

12,887,595
1,095,768
2,742,301
63,445
388,841
17,177,950

The potentially dilutive impact of the March 2015 private placement of $400.0 million aggregate principal amount of 2.50%
Exchangeable Senior Notes due 2022 (the “Exchangeable Senior Notes”) by Horizon Pharma Investment Limited (“Horizon
Investment”), a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, is determined using a method similar to the treasury stock method. Under
this method, no numerator or denominator adjustments arise from the principal and interest components of the Exchangeable Senior
Notes because the Company has the intent and ability to settle the Exchangeable Senior Notes’ principal and interest in cash. Instead,
the Company is required to increase the diluted net (loss) income per share denominator by the variable number of shares that would
be issued upon conversion if it settled the conversion spread obligation with shares. For diluted net (loss) income per share purposes,
the conversion spread obligation is calculated based on whether the average market price of the Company’s ordinary shares over the
reporting period is in excess of the exchange price of the Exchangeable Senior Notes. There was no calculated spread added to the
denominator for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017.
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Goodwill and Intangible Assets
Goodwill
The gross carrying amount of goodwill as of December 31, 2018 was as follows (in thousands):

Balance at January 1, 2017
Goodwill derecognized on Chiesi divestiture
Adjustment relating to the acquisition of Raptor in the prior year
Balance at December 31, 2017 and 2018

445,579
(16,285 )
(2,853 )
426,441

$

During the year ended December 31, 2017, in connection with the Chiesi divestiture, the Company recorded a reduction to
goodwill of $16.3 million.
During the year ended December 31, 2017, the Company recorded measurement period adjustments in connection with the
acquisition of Raptor Pharmaceutical Corp. (“Raptor”) related to deferred tax liabilities, accrued trade discounts and rebates and
accrued expenses, which resulted in a net decrease in goodwill of $2.9 million.
As of December 31, 2018, there were no accumulated goodwill impairment losses.
As discussed in Note 22, during the second quarter of 2018, management realigned the Company’s reportable segments to
reflect changes in the manner in which the CODM assesses financial information for decision-making purposes. This resulted in a
change in the Company’s operating segment and reporting units. The Company allocated goodwill to its new reporting units using a
relative fair value approach. In addition, the Company completed an assessment of any potential goodwill impairment for all
reporting units immediately prior to the allocation and determined that no impairment existed.
The table below presents goodwill for the Company’s reportable segments as of December 31, 2018 (in thousands):
Orphan and
Rheumatology

Goodwill

$

371,883

Primary Care

$

54,558

Total

$

426,441

Intangible Assets
As of December 31, 2018, the Company’s finite-lived intangible assets consisted of developed technology related to
ACTIMMUNE, BUPHENYL/AMMONAPS, KRYSTEXXA, LODOTRA, MIGERGOT, PENNSAID 2%, PROCYSBI, RAVICTI,
RAYOS and VIMOVO, as well as customer relationships for ACTIMMUNE.
During the year ended December 31, 2018, in connection with the Immedica transaction, the Company recorded a reduction in
the net book value of developed technology related to RAVICTI and AMMONAPS of $4.4 million. See Note 9 for further details.
During the year ended December 31, 2017, in connection with the Chiesi divestiture, the Company recorded a reduction in the
net book value of developed technology related to PROCYSBI of $47.3 million. See Note 9 for further details.
The Company tests its intangible assets for impairment when events or circumstances may indicate that the carrying value of
these assets exceeds their fair value. During the year ended December 31, 2018, the Company recorded an impairment of $37.9
million to fully write off the book value of developed technology related to PROCYSBI in Canada and Latin America due primarily to
lower anticipated future net sales based on a Patented Medicine Prices Review Board review. The fair value of developed technology
was determined using an income approach.
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The Company also recorded an impairment of $10.6 million during the year ended December 31, 2018, to fully write off the
book value of developed technology related to LODOTRA as result of amendments to its license and supply agreements with Jagotec
AG and Skyepharma AG, which are affiliates of Vectura. Under these amendments, effective January 1, 2019, the Company agreed
to transfer all economic benefits of LODOTRA in Europe to Vectura during an initial transition period, with full rights transferring to
Vectura when certain transfer activities have been completed. The Company will no longer record LODOTRA revenue from January
1, 2019. The fair value of developed technology was determined using an income approach.
During the course of preparing the consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2018, the Company
identified an immaterial error in the measurement of the contingent royalty liability calculation pertaining to the royalty end date for
one of its medicines. The revision resulted in certain adjustments to the consolidated financial statements as of and for the year ended
December 31, 2017, and the revised amounts are presented below. See Note 1 for further details of this error and the related revisions.

As of December 31, 2018, amortizable intangible assets consisted of the following (in thousands):

Developed Technology

Cost
At January 1, 2018
Acquisitions during the year
Impairments
Divestitures during the year
At December 31, 2018
Accumulated amortization
At January 1, 2018
Amortization expense
Divestitures during the year
At December 31, 2018
Net book value
At January 1, 2018
At December 31, 2018

$

3,114,723
—
(48,451)
(9,226)
3,057,046

Customer Relationships

$

(672,431)
(268,803)
4,784
(936,450)

$

2,442,292
2,120,596

8,100
—
—
—
8,100

$ 3,122,823
—
(48,451)
(9,226)
3,065,146

(2,659)
(811)
—
(3,470)

(675,090)
(269,614)
4,784
(939,920)

5,441
4,630

$

Total

$

2,447,733
2,125,226

Amortization expense for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017 was $269.6 million and $276.6 million, respectively.
As of December 31, 2018, estimated future amortization expense was as follows (in thousands):
2019
2020
2021
2022
2023
Thereafter
Total

$

$

103

251,901
251,205
243,699
242,428
241,775
894,218
2,125,226
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Business Acquisitions, Divestitures and Other Arrangements

Acquisitions
Sale of RAVICTI and AMMONAPS Rights outside of North America and Japan
On December 28, 2018, the Company sold its rights to RAVICTI and AMMONAPS (known as BUPHENYL in the United
States) outside of North America and Japan to Medical Need Europe AB, part of the Immedica Group, for $35.0 million (the
“Immedica transaction”). The Company previously distributed RAVICTI and AMMONAPS through a commercial partner in Europe
and other non-U.S. markets. The Company has retained the rights to RAVICTI and BUPHENYL in North America and Japan.
Pursuant to ASC 805 (as amended by ASU No. 2017-01, Business Combinations (Topic 805): Clarifying the Definition of a
Business (“ASU No. 2017-01”)), the Company accounted for the Immedica transaction as a sale of assets, specifically a sale of
intellectual property rights.
The gain on sale of assets recorded to the consolidated statement of comprehensive loss during the year ended December 31,
2018, was determined as follows (in thousands):

Cash proceeds
Less net assets sold:
Developed technology
Transaction costs
Gain on sale of assets

$

35,000

$

(4,443 )
(197 )
30,360

Acquisition and Subsequent Sale of Additional Rights to Interferon Gamma-1b
On June 30, 2017, the Company completed its acquisition of certain rights to interferon gamma-1b from Boehringer Ingelheim
International GmbH (“Boehringer Ingelheim International”) in all territories outside of the United States, Canada and Japan and in
connection therewith, paid Boehringer Ingelheim International €19.5 million ($22.3 million when converted using a Euro-to-Dollar
exchange rate at date of payment of 1.1406). Boehringer Ingelheim International commercialized interferon gamma-1b as IMUKIN in
an estimated thirty countries, primarily in Europe and the Middle East. Upon closing, during the year ended December 31, 2017, the
Company accounted for the payment as the acquisition of an asset which was immediately impaired as projections for future net sales
of IMUKIN in these territories did not exceed the related costs, and included the payment in the “impairment of long-lived assets” line
item in its consolidated statement of comprehensive loss.
On July 24, 2018, the Company sold its rights to interferon gamma-1b in all territories outside the United States, Canada and
Japan to Clinigen Group plc (“Clinigen”) for an upfront payment of €7.5 million ($8.8 million when converted using a Euro-to-Dollar
exchange rate at date of payment of 1.1683) and a potential additional contingent consideration payment of €3.0 million ($3.5 million
when converted using a Euro-to-Dollar exchange rate of 1.1673) (the “IMUKIN sale”). The Company continues to market interferon
gamma-1b as ACTIMMUNE in the United States.
Pursuant to ASC No. 2017-01, the Company accounted for the IMUKIN sale as a sale of assets, specifically a sale of intellectual
property rights and a sale of stock.
The gain on sale of assets recorded to the consolidated statement of comprehensive loss during the year ended December 31,
2018, was determined as follows (in thousands):
Cash proceeds including $715 for stock
Contingent consideration receivable
Less net assets sold:
Stock
Transaction costs
Gain on sale of assets

$

$
104

9,477
3,502
(623 )
(28 )
12,328

Acquisition of River Vision
On May 8, 2017, the Company acquired 100% of the equity interests in River Vision Development Corp. (“River Vision”) for
upfront cash payments totaling approximately $150.3 million, including cash acquired of $6.3 million, with additional potential future
milestone and royalty payments contingent on the satisfaction of certain regulatory milestones and sales thresholds. Pursuant to ASU
No. 2017-01, the Company accounted for the River Vision acquisition as the purchase of an IPR&D asset and, pursuant to ASC Topic
730, Research and Development, recorded the purchase price as research and development expense during the year ended December
31, 2017. Further, the Company recognized approximately $32.4 million of federal net operating losses, $2.2 million of state net
operating losses and $9.5 million of federal tax credits. The acquired tax attributes were set up as deferred tax assets which were
further netted within the net deferred tax liabilities of the U.S. group, offset by a deferred credit recorded in long-term liabilities. The
deferred tax assets were further netted with the net deferred tax liabilities of the U.S. group.
Under the agreement for the acquisition of River Vision, the Company is required to pay up to $325.0 million upon the
attainment of various milestones related to U.S. Food and Drug Administration (“FDA”) approval and net sales thresholds for
teprotumumab. The agreement also includes a royalty payment of three percent of the portion of annual worldwide net sales
exceeding $300.0 million (if any). Under separate agreements, the Company is also required to pay up to CHF103.0 million ($104.9
million when converted using a CHF-to-Dollar exchange rate at December 31, 2018 of 1.0185) upon the attainment of various
milestones related to approval, filing and net sales thresholds for teprotumumab. During the year ended December 31, 2017, CHF2.0
million ($2.0 million when converted using a CHF-to-Dollar exchange rate at the date of payment of 1.0169) was paid in relation to
these milestones. The separate agreement also includes a royalty payment of between nine percent and twelve percent of a portion of
annual worldwide net sales.
Divestiture of PROCYSBI and QUINSAIR rights in EMEA Regions
On June 23, 2017, the Company completed the sale of its European subsidiary that owned the marketing rights to PROCYSBI
and QUINSAIR in Europe, the Middle East and Africa (“EMEA”) regions (the “Chiesi divestiture”) to Chiesi Farmaceutici S.p.A.
(“Chiesi”) for an upfront payment of $72.5 million, which reflects $3.1 million of cash divested, with additional potential milestone
payments based on sales thresholds.
Pursuant to ASU No. 2017-01, the Company accounted for the Chiesi divestiture as a sale of a business. The Company
determined that the sale of the business and its assets in connection with the Chiesi divestiture did not constitute a strategic shift and
that it did not and will not have a major effect on its operations and financial results. Accordingly, the operations associated with the
Chiesi divestiture are not reported in discontinued operations.
The gain on divestiture recorded during the year ended December 31, 2017 was determined as follows (in thousands):
Cash proceeds
Add reimbursement of royalties
Less net assets sold:
Developed technology
Goodwill
Other
Transaction and other costs
Gain on divestiture

$

$

72,462
27,101
(47,261 )
(16,285 )
(24,482 )
(5,268 )
6,267

Under the terms of its agreement with Chiesi, the Company will continue to pay third parties for the royalties on sales of
PROCYSBI and QUINSAIR in the EMEA regions, and Chiesi will reimburse the Company for those royalties. At the date of
divestiture, the Company recorded an asset of $27.1 million to “other assets”, which represented the estimated amounts that are
expected to be reimbursed from Chiesi for the PROCYSBI and QUINSAIR royalties. These estimated royalties are accrued in
“accrued expenses” and “other long-term liabilities”.
Transaction and other costs primarily relate to professional and license fees attributable to the divestiture.
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Licensing agreement
On December 12, 2017, the Company entered into an agreement to license HZN-003 (formerly MEDI4945), a potential nextgeneration biologic for uncontrolled gout, from MedImmune LLC (“MedImmune”), the global biologics research and development
arm of the AstraZeneca Group. HZN-003 is a pre-clinical, genetically engineered uricase derivative with optimized uricase and
optimized PEGylation technology that has the potential to improve the response rate to the biologic as well as the potential for
subcutaneous dosing. Under the terms of the agreement, the Company agreed to pay MedImmune an upfront cash payment of $12.0
million with additional potential future milestone payments of up to $153.5 million contingent on the satisfaction of certain
development and sales thresholds. The $12.0 million upfront payment was accounted for as the acquisition of an asset and was
recorded as “research and development” expenses in the consolidated statement of comprehensive loss during the year ended
December 31, 2017 and included in “accrued expenses” as of December 31, 2017. The upfront payment was subsequently paid in
January 2018.
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Property and Equipment
Property and equipment as of December 31, 2018 consisted of the following (in thousands):

Software
Cost
At January 1, 2018
Additions
Transfers
Disposals/impairments
At December 31, 2018

14,956
149
—
(262)
14,843

$

$

(4,965)
(3,529)
262

At December 31, 2018

$

Net Book Value
At January 1, 2018
At December 31, 2018

$

Accumulated Depreciation
At January 1, 2018
Depreciation expense
Disposals/impairments

$

Leasehold
improvement

$

Machinery
and equipment

9,415
—
839
(272)
9,982

$

$

(2,248)
(1,112)
104

(8,232)

$

9,991
6,611

$

$

Computer
equipment

4,819
—
—
(19)
4,800

$

$

(2,996)
(700)
19

$

(1,837)
(392)
58

(3,256)

$

(3,677)

$

(2,171)

7,167
6,726

$

1,823
1,123

$

398
314

$

$

107

2,235
155
169
(74)
2,485

Construction
in Process

Other
$

$

2,508
—
182
(189)
2,501

$

$

Total

144
5,745
(1,190)
(12)
4,687

$

$

$

34,077
6,049
—
(828)
39,298

(1,626)
(329)
94

$

—
—
—

$

(1,861)

$

—

$

(19,197)

$

882
640

144
4,687

$

20,405
20,101

$

$

(13,672)
(6,062)
537

Depreciation expense for the financial years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017 was $6.1 million and $6.6 million,
respectively.
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Other Assets

Included in other assets at December 31, 2018 and 2017, was $17.4 million and $24.6 million, respectively, which represents
the long-term portion of the estimated amounts that are expected to be reimbursed from Chiesi for PROCYSBI and QUINSAIR
royalties.
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Stocks

Stocks are stated at the lower of cost or net realizable value. Stocks consist of raw materials, work-in-process and finished
goods. The Company has entered into manufacturing and supply agreements for the manufacture of finished goods or the purchase of
raw materials and production supplies. The Company’s stocks include the direct purchase cost of materials and supplies and
manufacturing overhead costs.
The components of stocks as of December 31, 2018 and 2017 consisted of the following (in thousands):
As of December 31,
2018

Raw materials
Work-in-process
Finished goods
Stocks, net

$

$

5,092 $
27,068
18,591
50,751 $

2017

4,553
27,589
29,513
61,655

Finished goods at December 31, 2017 included $17.0 million of stepped-up KRYSTEXXA stock. During the year ended
December 31, 2018, the Company recorded the remaining $17.0 million of KRYSTEXXA stock step-up expense to cost of goods
sold. During the year ended December 31, 2017, the Company recorded $78.3 million of KRYSTEXXA stock step-up expense, and
$40.8 million of PROCYSBI and QUINSAIR stock step-up expense. In addition, during the year ended December 31, 2017, the
Company recorded $3.2 million of stock step-up expense to “gain on divestiture” relating to PROCYSBI and QUINSAIR in
connection with the Chiesi divestiture in June 2017.
KRYSTEXXA stock step-up was fully expensed by March 31, 2018. As a result, the costs of goods sold related to
KRYSTEXXA have decreased significantly beginning with the second quarter of 2018 to levels consistent with the historical costs of
goods sold before the Company’s acquisition of Crealta Holdings LLC.
Because stock step-up expense is acquisition-related, will not continue indefinitely and has a significant effect on the
Company’s gross profit, gross margin percentage and net income (loss) for all affected periods, the Company discloses balance sheet
and income statement amounts related to stock step-up within the notes to the consolidated financial statements.
There were no significant differences at December 31, 2018, between the replacement cost of raw materials, work-in-progress
and finished goods when compared to their carrying amounts.
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Accounts receivable
Accounts receivable as of December 31, 2018 and 2017 consisted of the following (in thousands):
As of December 31,

Gross accounts receivable
Allowances
Accounts receivable

14

$
$

2018

2017

473,912 $
(9,183 )
464,730 $

414,519
(9,305 )
405,214

Prepaid Expenses and Other Current Assets
Prepaid expenses and other current assets as of December 31, 2018 and 2017 consisted of the following (in thousands):
As of December 31,
2018
2017

Deferred charge for taxes on intra-company profit
Rabbi trust assets
Prepaid income taxes
Medicine samples stock
Other prepaid expenses and other current assets
Prepaid expenses and other current assets

15

$

$

21,734 $
8,203
5,899
4,539
30,453
70,828 $

535
6,490
8
11,415
24,954
43,402

Fair Value Measurements

The following tables and paragraphs set forth the Company’s financial instruments that are measured at fair value on a recurring
basis within the fair value hierarchy. Assets and liabilities measured at fair value are classified in their entirety based on the lowest
level of input that is significant to the fair value measurement. The Company’s assessment of the significance of a particular input to
the fair value measurement in its entirety requires management to make judgments and consider factors specific to the asset or
liability. The following describes three levels of inputs that may be used to measure fair value:
Level 1—Observable inputs such as quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.
Level 2—Observable inputs other than Level 1 prices such as quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities, quoted prices in
markets that are not active, or other inputs that are observable or can be corroborated by observable market data for substantially the
full term of the assets or liabilities.
Level 3—Unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity and that are significant to the fair value of the
assets or liabilities.
The Company utilizes the market approach to measure fair value for its money market funds. The market approach uses prices
and other relevant information generated by market transactions involving identical or comparable assets or liabilities.
As of December 31, 2017, the Company’s restricted cash included bank time deposits which were measured at fair value using
Level 2 inputs and their carrying values were approximately equal to their fair values. Level 2 inputs, obtained from various thirdparty data providers, represent quoted prices for similar assets in active markets, or these inputs were derived from observable market
data, or if not directly observable, were derived from or corroborated by other observable market data.
Other current assets and other long-term liabilities recorded at fair value on a recurring basis are composed of investments held
in a rabbi trust and the related deferred liability for deferred compensation arrangements. Quoted prices for this investment, primarily
in mutual funds, are available in active markets. Thus, the Company’s investments related to deferred compensation arrangements
and the related long-term liability are classified as Level 1 measurements in the fair value hierarchy.
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Assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis
The following table sets forth the Company’s financial assets and liabilities at fair value on a recurring basis as of December 31,
2018 and December 31, 2017 (in thousands):
December 31, 2018
Level 1

Assets:
Bank time deposits
Money market funds
Other current assets
Total assets at fair value
Liabilities:
Other long-term liabilities
Total liabilities at fair value

Level 2

Level 3

— $
915,800
8,203
$ 924,003 $

6,500
—
—
6,500

(8,203 )
(8,203 ) $

—
—

$

$

Total

$

—
—
—
—

$

—
—

$

$

6,500
915,800
8,203
$ 930,503

$

(8,203 )
(8,203 )

December 31, 2017
Level 1

Assets:
Bank time deposits
Money market funds
Other current assets
Total assets at fair value
Liabilities:
Other long-term liabilities
Total liabilities at fair value

16

Level 2

Level 3

Total

— $
687,000
6,490
$ 693,490 $

3,000 $
—
—
3,000 $

—
—
—
—

(6,490 )
(6,490 ) $

—
— $

—
—

$

$

$

3,000
687,000
6,490
$ 696,490

$

(6,490)
(6,490)

Debt Agreements
The Company’s outstanding debt balances as of December 31, 2018 and 2017 consisted of the following (in thousands):
As of December 31,
2018

Term Loan Facility
2023 Senior Notes
2024 Senior Notes
Exchangeable Senior Notes
Total face value
Debt discount
Deferred financing fees
Total long-term debt
Less: long-term debt - current portion
Long-term debt, net of current portion

$

2017

818,026 $
845,750
475,000
475,000
300,000
300,000
400,000
400,000
1,993,026
2,020,750
(87,038 )
(108,054 )
(9,304 )
(11,041 )
1,896,684
1,901,655
—
(10,625 )
$ 1,896,684 $ 1,891,030
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Scheduled maturities with respect to the Company’s long-term debt are as follows (in thousands):
2019
2020
2021
2022
2023
Thereafter
Total

$

$

—
5,080
6,774
406,774
481,774
1,092,624
1,993,026

Term Loan Facility
On October 19, 2018, Horizon Pharma, Inc. (“HPI”) and Horizon Pharma USA, Inc. (“HPUSA” and, together with HPI, in such
capacity, the “Borrowers”), wholly owned subsidiaries of the Company, borrowed approximately $818.0 million aggregate principal
amount of loans (the “October 2018 Refinancing Loans”) pursuant to an amendment (the “October 2018 Refinancing Amendment”) to
the credit agreement, dated as of May 7, 2015, by and among the Borrowers, the Company and certain of its subsidiaries as
guarantors, the lenders party thereto from time to time and Citibank, N.A., as administrative agent and collateral agent, as amended by
Amendment No. 1, dated as of October 25, 2016, Amendment No. 2, dated March 29, 2017 (the “March 2017 Credit Agreement”) and
Amendment No. 3, dated October 23, 2017 (the “October 2017 Credit Agreement”) (the “2018 Term Loan Facility”). On October 31,
2018, HPI merged with and into HPUSA, and as a result, HPUSA became sole borrower under the Credit Agreement. As used herein,
all references to the “Credit Agreement” are references to the October 2017 Credit Agreement, as amended by the October 2018
Refinancing Amendment.
The October 2018 Refinancing Loans were incurred as a separate new class of term loans under the Credit Agreement with
substantially the same terms as the previously outstanding senior secured term loans incurred on October 23, 2017 under the October
2017 Credit Agreement (the “October 2017 Refinancing Loans”) to effectuate a repricing of the October 2017 Refinancing Loans.
The Borrowers used the proceeds of the October 2018 Refinancing Loans to repay the October 2017 Refinancing Loans, which totaled
approximately $818.0 million. The October 2018 Refinancing Loans bear interest, at HPUSA’s option, at a rate equal to either the
London Inter-Bank Offered Rate (“LIBOR”) plus an applicable margin of 3.00% per year (subject to a LIBOR floor of 1.00%), or the
adjusted base rate plus 2.00% per year. The adjusted base rate is defined as the greatest of (a) LIBOR (using one-month interest
period) plus 1.00%, (b) the prime rate, (c) the federal funds rate plus 0.50%, and (d) 2.00%. The applicable margins will be reduced
by 0.25% if the Company’s leverage ratio is less than or equal to 3.50 to 1.00. The Credit Agreement provides for (i) the October
2018 Refinancing Loans, (ii) one or more uncommitted additional incremental loan facilities subject to the satisfaction of certain
financial and other conditions, and (iii) one or more uncommitted refinancing loan facilities with respect to loans thereunder. The
Credit Agreement allows for the Company and certain of its subsidiaries to become borrowers under incremental or refinancing
facilities.
The obligations under the Credit Agreement (including obligations in respect of the October 2018 Refinancing Loans) and any
swap obligations and cash management obligations owing to a lender (or an affiliate of a lender) thereunder are guaranteed by the
Company and each of the Company’s existing and subsequently acquired or formed direct and indirect subsidiaries (other than certain
immaterial subsidiaries, subsidiaries whose guarantee would result in material adverse tax consequences and subsidiaries whose
guarantee is prohibited by applicable law). The obligations under the Credit Agreement (including obligations in respect of the
October 2018 Refinancing Loans) and any such swap and cash management obligations are secured, subject to customary permitted
liens and other agreed upon exceptions, by a perfected security interest in (i) all tangible and intangible assets of HPUSA and the
guarantors, except for certain customary excluded assets, and (ii) all of the capital stock owned by HPUSA and guarantors thereunder
(limited, in the case of the stock of certain non-U.S. subsidiaries of HPUSA, to 65% of the capital stock of such subsidiaries). HPUSA
and the guarantors under the Credit Agreement are individually and collectively referred to herein as a “Loan Party” and the “Loan
Parties,” as applicable.
The Company elected to exercise its reinvestment rights under the mandatory prepayment provisions of the March 2017 Credit
Agreement with respect to the net proceeds from the Chiesi divestiture. To the extent the Company had not applied such net proceeds
to permitted acquisitions (including the acquisition of rights to products and products lines) and/or the acquisition of capital assets
within 365 days of the receipt thereof (or committed to so apply and then applied within 180 days after the end of such 365-day
period), the Company was required to make a mandatory prepayment under the March 2017 Credit Agreement in an amount equal to
the unapplied net proceeds. In June 2018, the Company repaid $23.5 million under the mandatory prepayment provisions of the
March 2017 Credit Agreement.
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Additionally, the Company elected to exercise its reinvestment rights under the mandatory prepayment provisions of the Credit
Agreement with respect to the net proceeds from the IMUKIN sale and the Immedica transaction. To the extent the Company does
not apply such net proceeds to permitted acquisitions (including the acquisition of rights to products and products lines) and/or the
acquisition of capital assets within 365 days of the receipt of proceeds from the Immedica transaction (or commit to so apply and then
apply within 180 days after the end of such 365-day period), the Borrowers under the Credit Agreement would be required to make a
mandatory prepayment under the Credit Agreement in an amount equal to the unapplied net proceeds. Until such time, the net
proceeds are not legally restricted for use.
HPUSA is permitted to make voluntary prepayments of the loans under the Credit Agreement at any time without payment of a
premium, except that with respect to the October 2018 Refinancing Loans, a 1.00% premium will apply to a repayment of the October
2018 Refinancing Loans in connection with a repricing of, or any amendment to the Credit Agreement in a repricing of, such loans
effected on or prior to the date that is six months following October 19, 2018. HPUSA is required to make mandatory prepayments of
loans under the Credit Agreement (without payment of a premium) with (a) net cash proceeds from certain non-ordinary course asset
sales (subject to reinvestment rights and other exceptions), (b) casualty proceeds and condemnation awards (subject to reinvestment
rights and other exceptions), (c) net cash proceeds from issuances of debt (other than certain permitted debt), and (d) 50% of the
Company’s excess cash flow (subject to decrease to 25% or 0% if the Company’s first lien leverage ratio is less than 2.25:1 or 1.75:1,
respectively). The October 2018 Refinancing Loans are amortized in equal quarterly installments that began on December 31, 2018,
in an aggregate annual amount equal to 1.00% of the original principal amount of the October 2017 Refinancing Loans (i.e. $845.8
million), as the same may be reduced from time to time pursuant to the Credit Agreement (including by prepayments made prior to the
date of the October 2018 Refinancing Amendment), with any remaining balance payable on March 29, 2024, the final maturity date of
the October 2018 Refinancing Loans.
The Credit Agreement contains customary representations and warranties and customary affirmative and negative covenants,
including, among other things, restrictions on indebtedness, liens, investments, mergers, dispositions, prepayment of other
indebtedness and dividends and other distributions.
Events of default under the Credit Agreement include: (i) the failure by any Borrower to timely make payments due under the
Credit Agreement; (ii) material misrepresentations or misstatements in any representation or warranty by any Loan Party when made;
(iii) failure by any Loan Party to comply with the covenants under the Credit Agreement and other related agreements; (iv) certain
defaults under a specified amount of other indebtedness of the Company or its subsidiaries; (v) insolvency or bankruptcy-related
events with respect to the Company or any of its material subsidiaries; (vi) certain undischarged judgments against the Company or
any of its restricted subsidiaries; (vii) certain ERISA-related events reasonably expected to have a material adverse effect on the
Company and its restricted subsidiaries taken as a whole; (viii) certain security interests or liens under the loan documents ceasing to
be, or being asserted by the Company or its restricted subsidiaries not to be, in full force and effect; (ix) any loan document or material
provision thereof ceasing to be, or any challenge or assertion by any Loan Party that such loan document or material provision is not,
in full force and effect; and (x) the occurrence of a change of control. If one or more events of default occurs and continues beyond
any applicable cure period, the administrative agent may, with the consent of the lenders holding a majority of the loans and
commitments under the facilities, or will, at the request of such lenders, terminate the commitments of the lenders to make further
loans and declare all of the obligations of the Loan Parties under the Credit Agreement to be immediately due and payable.
The interest on the Company’s 2018 Term Loan Facility is variable and as of December 31, 2018, the interest rate on the 2018
Term Loan Facility was 5.56% and the effective interest rate was 5.74%.
As of December 31, 2018, the fair value of the amounts outstanding under the 2018 Term Loan Facility was approximately
$779.2 million, categorized as a Level 2 instrument, as defined in Note 15.
2023 Senior Notes
On April 29, 2015, Horizon Pharma Financing Inc. (“Horizon Financing”), a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company,
completed a private placement of $475.0 million aggregate principal amount of 6.625% Senior Notes due 2023 (the “2023 Senior
Notes”) to certain investment banks acting as initial purchasers who subsequently resold the 2023 Senior Notes to qualified
institutional buyers as defined in Rule 144A under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”), and in offshore
transactions to non-U.S. persons in reliance on Regulation S under the Securities Act. The net proceeds from the offering of the 2023
Senior Notes were approximately $462.3 million, after deducting the initial purchasers’ discount and offering expenses payable by
Horizon Financing.
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In connection with the closing of the acquisition of Hyperion Therapeutics, Inc. (“Hyperion”) on May 7, 2015, Horizon
Financing merged with and into HPI and on October 31, 2018, HPI merged with and into HPUSA. As a result, the 2023 Senior Notes
became the general unsecured senior obligations of HPUSA, which was previously a guarantor under the 2023 Senior Notes. The
obligations under the 2023 Senior Notes are fully and unconditionally guaranteed on a senior unsecured basis by the Company and all
of the Company’s direct and indirect subsidiaries that are guarantors from time to time under the Credit Agreement.
The 2023 Senior Notes accrue interest at an annual rate of 6.625% payable semiannually in arrears on May 1 and November 1
of each year, beginning on November 1, 2015. The 2023 Senior Notes will mature on May 1, 2023, unless earlier repurchased or
redeemed.
Some or all of the 2023 Senior Notes may be redeemed at any time at specified redemption prices, plus accrued and unpaid
interest to the redemption date. In addition, the 2023 Senior Notes may be redeemed in whole but not in part at a redemption price
equal to 100% of the principal amount plus accrued and unpaid interest and additional amounts, if any, to, but excluding, the
redemption date, if on the next date on which any amount would be payable in respect of the 2023 Senior Notes, HPUSA or any
guarantor is or would be required to pay additional amounts as a result of certain tax-related events.
If the Company undergoes a change of control, HPUSA will be required to make an offer to purchase all of the 2023 Senior
Notes at a price in cash equal to 101% of the aggregate principal amount thereof plus accrued and unpaid interest to, but not including,
the repurchase date. If the Company or certain of its subsidiaries engages in certain asset sales, HPUSA will be required under certain
circumstances to make an offer to purchase the 2023 Senior Notes at 100% of the principal amount thereof, plus accrued and unpaid
interest to the repurchase date.
The indenture governing the 2023 Senior Notes contains covenants that limit the ability of the Company and its restricted
subsidiaries to, among other things, pay dividends or distributions, repurchase equity, prepay junior debt and make certain
investments, incur additional debt and issue certain preferred stock, incur liens on assets, engage in certain asset sales, merge,
consolidate with or merge or sell all or substantially all of their assets, enter into transactions with affiliates, designate subsidiaries as
unrestricted subsidiaries, and allow to exist certain restrictions on the ability of restricted subsidiaries to pay dividends or make other
payments to the Company. Certain of the covenants will be suspended during any period in which the notes receive investment grade
ratings. The indenture governing the 2023 Senior Notes also includes customary events of default.
As of December 31, 2018, the interest rate on the 2023 Senior Notes was 6.625% and the effective interest rate was 6.68%.
As of December 31, 2018, the fair value of the 2023 Senior Notes was approximately $461.9 million, categorized as a Level 2
instrument, as defined in Note 15.
2024 Senior Notes
On October 25, 2016, HPI and HPUSA (together, in such capacity, the “2024 Issuers”), completed a private placement of
$300.0 million aggregate principal amount of 8.750% Senior Notes due 2024 (the “2024 Senior Notes”) to certain investment banks
acting as initial purchasers who subsequently resold the 2024 Senior Notes to qualified institutional buyers as defined in Rule 144A
under the Securities Act. The net proceeds from the offering of the 2024 Senior Notes were approximately $291.9 million, after
deducting the initial purchasers’ discount and offering expenses payable by the 2024 Issuers. On October 31, 2018, HPI merged with
and into HPUSA, and as a result, HPI’s obligations as co-issuer under the 2024 Senior Notes became HPUSA’s general unsecured
senior obligations.
The obligations under the 2024 Senior Notes are HPUSA’s general unsecured senior obligations and are fully and
unconditionally guaranteed on a senior unsecured basis by the Company and all of the Company’s direct and indirect subsidiaries that
are guarantors from time to time under the Credit Agreement.
The Company used the net proceeds from the offering of the 2024 Senior Notes as well as $375.0 million principal amount of
senior secured term loans under the Company’s term loan facility to fund a portion of the acquisition of Raptor, repay Raptor’s
outstanding debt, and pay any prepayment premiums, fees and expenses in connection with the foregoing.
The 2024 Senior Notes accrue interest at an annual rate of 8.750% payable semiannually in arrears on May 1 and November 1
of each year, beginning on May 1, 2017. The 2024 Senior Notes will mature on November 1, 2024, unless earlier repurchased or
redeemed.
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Except as described below, the 2024 Senior Notes may not be redeemed before November 1, 2019. Thereafter, some or all of
the 2024 Senior Notes may be redeemed at any time at specified redemption prices, plus accrued and unpaid interest to the redemption
date. At any time prior to November 1, 2019, some or all of the 2024 Senior Notes may be redeemed at a price equal to 100% of the
aggregate principal amount thereof, plus a make-whole premium and accrued and unpaid interest to the redemption date. Also prior to
November 1, 2019, up to 35% of the aggregate principal amount of the 2024 Senior Notes may be redeemed at a redemption price of
108.75% of the aggregate principal amount thereof, plus accrued and unpaid interest, with the net proceeds of certain equity offerings.
In addition, the 2024 Senior Notes may be redeemed in whole but not in part at a redemption price equal to 100% of the principal
amount plus accrued and unpaid interest and additional amounts, if any, to, but excluding, the redemption date, if on the next date on
which any amount would be payable in respect of the 2024 Senior Notes, HPUSA or any guarantor is or would be required to pay
additional amounts as a result of certain tax-related events.
If the Company undergoes a change of control, HPUSA will be required to make an offer to purchase all of the 2024 Senior
Notes at a price in cash equal to 101% of the aggregate principal amount thereof plus accrued and unpaid interest to, but not including,
the repurchase date. If the Company or certain of its subsidiaries engages in certain asset sales, HPUSA will be required under certain
circumstances to make an offer to purchase the 2024 Senior Notes at 100% of the principal amount thereof, plus accrued and unpaid
interest to the repurchase date.
The indenture governing the 2024 Senior Notes contains covenants that limit the ability of the Company and its restricted
subsidiaries to, among other things, pay dividends or distributions, repurchase equity, prepay junior debt and make certain
investments, incur additional debt and issue certain preferred stock, incur liens on assets, engage in certain asset sales, merge,
consolidate with or merge or sell all or substantially all of their assets, enter into transactions with affiliates, designate subsidiaries as
unrestricted subsidiaries, and allow to exist certain restrictions on the ability of restricted subsidiaries to pay dividends or make other
payments to the Company. Certain of the covenants will be suspended during any period in which the notes receive investment grade
ratings. The indenture also includes customary events of default.
As of December 31, 2018, the interest rate on the 2024 Senior Notes was 8.750% and the effective interest rate was 9.20%.
As of December 31, 2018, the fair value of the 2024 Senior Notes was approximately $307.5 million, categorized as a Level 2
instrument, as defined in Note 15.
Exchangeable Senior Notes
On March 13, 2015, Horizon Investment completed a private placement of $400.0 million aggregate principal amount of
Exchangeable Senior Notes to certain investment banks acting as initial purchasers who subsequently resold the Exchangeable Senior
Notes to qualified institutional buyers as defined in Rule 144A under the Securities Act. The net proceeds from the offering of the
Exchangeable Senior Notes were approximately $387.2 million, after deducting the initial purchasers’ discount and offering expenses
payable by Horizon Investment.
The Exchangeable Senior Notes are fully and unconditionally guaranteed, on a senior unsecured basis, by the Company (the
“Guarantee”). The Exchangeable Senior Notes and the Guarantee are Horizon Investment’s and the Company’s senior unsecured
obligations. The Exchangeable Senior Notes accrue interest at an annual rate of 2.50% payable semiannually in arrears on March 15
and September 15 of each year, beginning on September 15, 2015. The Exchangeable Senior Notes will mature on March 15, 2022,
unless earlier exchanged, repurchased or redeemed. The initial exchange rate is 34.8979 ordinary shares of the Company per $1,000
principal amount of the Exchangeable Senior Notes (equivalent to an initial exchange price of approximately $28.66 per ordinary
share). The exchange rate will be subject to adjustment in some events but will not be adjusted for any accrued and unpaid interest.
In addition, following certain corporate events that occur prior to the maturity date or upon a tax redemption, Horizon Investment will
increase the exchange rate for a holder who elects to exchange its Exchangeable Senior Notes in connection with such a corporate
event or a tax redemption in certain circumstances.
Other than as described below, the Exchangeable Senior Notes may not be redeemed by the Company.
Issuer Redemptions:
Optional Redemption for Changes in the Tax Laws of a Relevant Taxing Jurisdiction: Horizon Investment may redeem the
Exchangeable Senior Notes at its option, prior to March 15, 2022, in whole but not in part, in connection with certain tax-related
events.
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Provisional Redemption on or After March 20, 2019: On or after March 20, 2019, Horizon Investment may redeem for cash all
or a portion of the Exchangeable Senior Notes if the last reported sale price of ordinary shares of the Company has been at least 130%
of the exchange price then in effect for at least twenty trading days whether or not consecutive) during any thirty consecutive trading
day period ending on, and including, the trading day immediately preceding the date on which Horizon Investment provide written
notice of redemption. The redemption price will be equal to 100% of the principal amount of the Exchangeable Senior Notes to be
redeemed, plus accrued and unpaid interest to, but not including, the redemption date; provided that if the redemption date occurs after
a regular record date and on or prior to the corresponding interest payment date, Horizon Investment will pay the full amount of
accrued and unpaid interest due on such interest payment date to the record holder of the Exchangeable Senior Notes on the regular
record date corresponding to such interest payment date, and the redemption price payable to the holder who presents an
Exchangeable Senior Note for redemption will be equal to 100% of the principal amount of such Exchangeable Senior Note.
Holder Exchange Rights:
Holders may exchange all or any portion of their Exchangeable Senior Notes at their option at any time prior to the close of
business on the business day immediately preceding December 15, 2021 only upon satisfaction of one or more of the following
conditions:
1.

Exchange upon Satisfaction of Sale Price Condition – During any calendar quarter commencing after the calendar quarter
ended June 30, 2015 (and only during such calendar quarter), if the last reported sale price of ordinary shares of the
Company for at least twenty trading days (whether or not consecutive) during the period of thirty consecutive trading days
ending on the last trading day of the immediately preceding calendar quarter is greater than or equal to 130% of the
applicable exchange price on each applicable trading day.

2.

Exchange upon Satisfaction of Trading Price Condition – During the five business day period after any ten consecutive
trading day period in which the trading price per $1,000 principal amount of Exchangeable Senior Notes for each trading
day of such period was less than 98% of the product of the last reported sale price of ordinary shares of the Company and
the applicable exchange rate on such trading day.

3.

Exchange upon Notice of Redemption – Prior to the close of business on the business day immediately preceding
December 15, 2021, if Horizon Investment provides a notice of redemption, at any time prior to the close of business on
the second scheduled trading day immediately preceding the redemption date.

As of December 31, 2018, none of the above conditions had been satisfied and no exchange of Exchangeable Senior Notes had
been triggered.
On or after December 15, 2021, a holder may exchange all or any portion of its Exchangeable Senior Notes at any time prior to
the close of business on the second scheduled trading day immediately preceding the maturity date regardless of the foregoing
conditions.
Upon exchange, Horizon Investment will settle exchanges of the Exchangeable Senior Notes by paying or causing to be
delivered, as the case may be, cash, ordinary shares or a combination of cash and ordinary shares, at its election.
The Company recorded the Exchangeable Senior Notes under the guidance in ASC Topic 470-20, Debt with Conversion and
Other Options, and separated them into a liability component and equity component. The carrying amount of the liability component
of $268.9 million was determined by measuring the fair value of a similar liability that does not have an associated equity
component. The carrying amount of the equity component of $119.1 million represented by the embedded conversion option was
determined by deducting the fair value of the liability component of $268.9 million from the initial proceeds of $387.2 million
ascribed to the convertible debt instrument as a whole. The initial debt discount of $131.1 million is being charged to interest expense
over the life of the Exchangeable Senior Notes using the effective interest rate method.
As of December 31, 2018, the interest rate on the Exchangeable Senior Notes was 2.50% and the effective interest rate was
8.88%.
As of December 31, 2018, the fair value of the Exchangeable Senior Notes was approximately $396.5 million, categorized as a
Level 2 instrument, as defined in Note 15.
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Accounts Payable

Accounts payable as of December 31, 2018 and 2017 consisted of amounts owing to third parties under credit terms granted in
the normal course of business.
18

Accrued Expenses
Accrued expenses as of December 31, 2018 and 2017 consisted of the following (in thousands):
As of December 31,
2018
2017

Payroll-related expenses
Allowances for returns
Consulting and professional services
Accrued interest
Accrued social security and payroll taxes
Accrued income taxes
Accrued excise taxes
Accrued upfront payment related to license agreement
Accrued other
Accrued expenses

$

$

74,480 $
39,041
35,799
13,196
4,075
889
230
—
32,993
200,703 $

51,800
37,863
27,542
14,127
4,538
2,954
263
12,000
21,996
173,083

During the year ended December 31, 2017, the Company entered into an agreement to license HZN-003 from MedImmune.
Under the terms of the agreement, the Company agreed to pay MedImmune an upfront cash payment of $12.0 million, which was
recorded as “research and development” expenses in the consolidated statement of comprehensive loss during the year ended
December 31, 2017 and was included in “accrued expenses” as of December 31, 2017.
Accrued other as of December 31, 2018 and 2017 included $1.7 million and $2.1 million, respectively, related to a loss on stock
purchase commitments.
Creditors for tax and social insurance are payable in the timeframe set down in the relevant legislation in accordance with
Section 58 (2) of the Companies Act 2014.
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Contingent Royalties

Changes to the accrued royalties and provision for royalties during the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017 consisted of
the following (in thousands):
Balance as of January 1, 2017
Accrued royalties - as of January 1, 2017
Provision for royalties - as of January 1, 2017
Royalties on turnover of PROCYSBI and QUINSAIR in EMEA
Remeasurement of royalty liabilities
Royalty payments
Accretion expense
Other royalty expense
Balance as of December 31, 2017
Accrued royalties - as of December 31, 2017
Provision for royalties - as of December 31, 2017
Royalties on turnover of PROCYSBI and QUINSAIR in EMEA
Remeasurement of royalty liabilities
Royalty payments
Accretion expense
Other royalty expense
Balance as of December 31, 2018
Accrued royalties as of December 31, 2018
Provision for royalties as of December 31, 2018

$

$

332,774
(20,052 )
312,722
21,147
13,004
(47,338 )
51,127
2,924
373,638
(22,137)
351,501
(6,528)
(3,383)
(54,487)
59,282
2,605
371,127
(16,924)
354,203

Under the terms of its agreement with Chiesi, the Company will continue to pay third parties for the royalties on turnover of
PROCYSBI and QUINSAIR in EMEA, and Chiesi will reimburse the Company for those royalties. At the date of divestiture, the
Company recorded an asset of $27.1 million to “other assets”, which represented the estimated amounts that are expected to be
reimbursed from Chiesi for the PROCYSBI and QUINSAIR royalties. These estimated royalties are provided for in “contingent
royalties” at December 31, 2018 and 2017.
During the year ended December 31, 2018, the Company recorded a reduction of $3.4 million to “cost of goods sold” related
to the remeasurement of contingent royalty liabilities. This was composed of a reduction of $20.8 million related to certain of its other
medicines as a result of updated estimates of future turnover of these medicines (primarily composed of $16.9 million, $2.0 million
and $1.9 million related to RAVICTI, PROCYSBI and ACTIMMUNE, respectively) and a reduction of $1.9 million to “selling,
general and administrative” expenses related to MIGERGOT as a result of updated estimates of future turnover of this medicine,
partially offset by a charge of $19.3 million based on higher estimated future turnover of KRYSTEXXA versus the Company’s
previous expectations.
During the year ended December 31, 2017, based on higher turnover of certain of the Company’s medicines versus its
previous expectations and estimates for future turnover of these medicines, the Company recorded total charges of $55.9 million and
$0.6 million to “cost of goods sold” and “selling, general and administrative” expenses, respectively, (primarily composed of $31.7
million and $24.2 million related to KRYSTEXXA and RAVICTI, respectively). The Company also recorded a reduction of $43.5
million to cost of goods sold related to certain of its other medicines as a result of updated estimates of future turnover of these
medicines (primarily composed of $23.2 million, $11.7 million and $7.0 million related to PROCYSBI, VIMOVO and
ACTIMMUNE, respectively).
During the course of preparing the consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2018, the Company
identified an immaterial error in the measurement of the contingent royalty liability calculation pertaining to the royalty end date for
one of its medicines. The revision resulted in certain adjustments to the consolidated financial statements as of and for the year ended
December 31, 2017, and the revised amounts are presented above. See Note 1 for further details of this error and the related revisions.

117

20

Other Long-Term Liabilities

See Note 18 for details of amounts included in other long-term liabilities at December 31, 2018 and 2017, related to a loss on
stock purchase commitments.
21

Trade Discounts and Rebates
Provision for trade discounts and rebates as of December 31, 2018 and 2017 consisted of the following (in thousands):
As of December 31,
2018

Provision for wholesaler fees and commercial rebates
Provision for co-pay and other patient assistance
Provision for government rebates and chargebacks
Provision for trade discounts and rebates
Invoiced wholesaler fees and commercial rebates,
co-pay and other patient assistance, and government
rebates and chargebacks in accounts payable
Total customer-related provision and allowances

$

2017

$

153,083 $
179,463
125,217
457,763 $

190,215
230,533
81,005
501,753

$

3,666
461,429 $

15,042
516,795

The following table summarizes changes in the Company’s customer-related accruals and allowances during the years ended
December 31, 2018 and 2017 (in thousands):
Wholesaler Fees
and Commercial
Rebates

Balance at January 1, 2017
Measurement period adjustment
Current provisions relating to turnover during the year
ended December 31, 2017
Adjustments relating to prior-year turnover
Payments relating to turnover during the year ended
December 31, 2017
Payments relating to prior-year turnover
Balance at December 31, 2017
Current provisions relating to turnover during the year
ended December 31, 2018
Adjustments relating to prior-year turnover
Payments relating to turnover during the year ended
December 31, 2018
Payments relating to prior-year turnover
Balance at December 31, 2018

$

47,651 $
—
635,919
5,580

$
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Government
Rebates and
Chargebacks

205,143 $
—
1,907,669
(59 )

61,592 $
(1,350 )
331,559
(4,905 )

Total

314,386
(1,350 )
2,875,147
616

(445,621 ) (1,675,344 )
(237,574 ) (2,358,539 )
(53,044 )
(205,084 )
(55,337 )
(313,465 )
190,485 $ 232,325 $
93,985 $ 516,795
590,316
(667 )

$

Co-Pay and
Other Patient
Assistance

1,970,714
(374 )

411,449
(14,787 )

2,972,479
(15,828 )

(436,871 ) (1,791,252 )
(283,124 ) (2,511,247 )
(189,818 )
(231,951 )
(79,001 )
(500,770 )
153,445 $ 179,462 $ 128,522 $ 461,429
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Segment and Other Information

Effective as of the second quarter of 2018, management realigned the Company’s reportable segments to reflect changes in the
manner in which the CODM assesses financial information for decision-making purposes. This realignment resulted in the Company
changing its reporting from one operating segment to two operating segments. All prior year amounts have been presented using the
Company’s current reporting structure.
The Company has two reportable segments, the orphan and rheumatology segment and the primary care segment, and the
Company reports net sales and segment operating income for each segment.
The orphan and rheumatology segment includes the marketed medicines ACTIMMUNE, BUPHENYL/AMMONAPS,
KRYSTEXXA, PROCYSBI, QUINSAIR, RAVICTI and RAYOS/LODOTRA. The primary care segment consists of four marketed
medicines, including DUEXIS, MIGERGOT, PENNSAID 2% and VIMOVO.
Management structured the business into two segments to improve operating and resource allocation decisions to align with the
Company’s long-term strategic goal of transforming into a leading rare disease medicine company.
The Company’s CODM evaluates the financial performance of the Company’s segments based upon segment operating
income. Segment operating income is defined as income (loss) before (expense) benefit for income taxes adjusted for the items set
forth in the reconciliation below. Items below income from operations are not reported by segment, since they are excluded from the
measure of segment profitability reviewed by the Company’s CODM. Additionally, certain expenses are not allocated to a
segment. The Company does not report balance sheet information by segment as no balance sheet by segment is reviewed by the
Company’s CODM. The accounting policy for the Company’s segments is described in Note 2.
The following table presents a summary of total turnover by medicine (in thousands):
Year Ended December 31,
2018
2017

KRYSTEXXA
RAVICTI
PROCYSBI
ACTIMMUNE
RAYOS
BUPHENYL
LODOTRA
QUINSAIR
Orphan and Rheumatology segment turnover

$

258,920 $
226,650
154,895
105,563
61,067
21,810
2,067
504
831,476 $

156,483
193,918
137,740
110,993
52,125
20,792
5,393
3,442
680,886

PENNSAID 2%
DUEXIS
VIMOVO
MIGERGOT
Primary Care segment turnover

$

190,206
114,672
67,646
3,570
376,094 $

191,050
121,161
57,666
5,468
375,345

Total turnover

$ 1,207,570 $ 1,056,231
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The table below provides reconciliations of the Company’s segment operating income to the Company’s total loss before benefit
for income taxes (in thousands):
Year Ended December 31
2018
2017

Segment operating income:
Orphan and Rheumatology
Primary Care
Reconciling items:
Amortization, accretion and step-up:
Intangible amortization expense
Accretion of royalty liabilities
Stock step-up expense
Interest expense, net
Share-based compensation
Impairment of long-lived assets
Restructuring and realignment costs
Acquisition/divestiture-related costs
Depreciation
Litigation settlements
Drug substance harmonization costs
Fees relating to term loan refinancing
Foreign exchange loss
Upfront and milestone payments related to license agreements
Gain on divestiture
Loss on debt extinguishment
Other income, net
Charges relating to discontinuation of Friedreich's ataxia program
Remeasurement of royalties for medicines acquired through business
combinations
Gain on sale of assets
Royalties for medicines acquired through business combinations
Loss before taxation
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$

$

290,014
160,447

$

241,135
149,133

(269,603 )
(59,565 )
(17,312 )
(121,692 )
(114,860 )
(50,302 )
(15,350 )
(6,815 )
(6,126 )
(5,750 )
(2,855 )
(937 )
(192 )
(90 )
—
—
346
1,464

(276,613 )
(51,263 )
(119,151 )
(126,523 )
(121,553 )
(22,270 )
(4,883 )
(177,035 )
(6,631 )
—
(10,651 )
(5,220 )
(260 )
(12,186 )
6,267
(978 )
588
(239 )

3,383
42,688
53,961
(119,146 ) $

(13,004 )
—
47,003
(504,334 )

The following table presents the amount and percentage of gross turnover from customers that represented more than 10% of the
Company’s gross turnover included in its two reportable segments, and all other customers as a group (in thousands, except
percentages):
For the Years Ended December 31,
2018
Amount

Customer A
Customer B
Customer C
Customer D
Other Customers
Gross Turnover

$

$

1,553,333
1,011,996
526,398
458,074
714,652
4,264,453

2017
% of Gross
Turnover

Amount

% of Gross
Turnover

36%
24%
12%
11%
17%
100%

$ 1,165,591
1,205,268
567,583
16,304
1,103,093
$ 4,057,839

29%
30%
14%
0%
27%
100%

Geographic revenues are determined based on the country in which the Company’s customers are located. The following table
presents a summary of total net turnover attributed to geographic sources for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017 (in
thousands, except percentages):
Year Ended December 31, 2018
% of Total
Amount
Net Turnover

United States
Rest of world
Total net turnover

$ 1,186,519
21,051
$ 1,207,570

Year Ended December 31, 2017
% of Total
Amount
Net Turnover

98 % $ 1,026,527
2%
29,704
$ 1,056,231

The following table presents total tangible long-lived assets by location (in thousands):

As of December 31,
2018

United States
Other
Total long-lived assets (1)

$
$

(1) Long-lived assets consist of property and equipment
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17,107 $
2,994
20,101 $

2017

17,089
3,316
20,405

97 %
3%
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Commitments and Contingencies
Lease Obligations
The Company has the following office space lease agreements in place for real properties:
Location

Approximate Square Footage

Lease Expiry Date

18,900
160,000
61,000

November 4, 2029
March 31, 2031
August 31, 2021

20,100
9,200
4,800

November 19, 2019
December 31, 2028
December 31, 2020

12,400

May 31, 2020 to September 15, 2022

Dublin, Ireland
Lake Forest, Illinois (1)
Novato, California (2)
Brisbane, California
Chicago, Illinois
Mannheim, Germany
Other

(1)

In connection with the Lake Forest lease, the Company has provided a $2.0 million letter of credit to the landlord, through a
commercial bank.

(2)

In March 2017, the Company vacated an area of the office space in Novato, California. During March and April 2017, the
Company entered into sublease arrangements for this space with third parties.

The Company recognizes rent expense on a monthly basis over the lease term based on a straight-line method. Rent expense
was $5.6 million and $6.4 million for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively.
As of December 31, 2018, minimum future cash payments due under lease obligations were as follows (in thousands):

2019
2020
2021
2022
2023
Thereafter
Total

$

$

6,228
6,680
5,788
4,565
4,442
36,696
64,399

Purchase Commitments
Patheon Pharmaceuticals Inc. (“Patheon”) is obligated to manufacture PROCYSBI for the Company through December 31,
2021. The Company must provide Patheon with rolling, non-binding forecasts of PROCYSBI, with a portion of the forecast being a
firm written order. Cambrex Profarmaco Milano (“Cambrex”) is obligated to manufacture PROCYSBI active pharmaceutical
ingredient (“API”) for the Company through November 2, 2020. The Company must provide Cambrex with rolling, non-binding
forecasts, with a portion of the forecast being the minimum floor of the firm order that must be placed. At December 31, 2018, the
Company had a binding purchase commitment with Patheon for PROCYSBI of $2.3 million, to be delivered through March 2019 and
with Cambrex for PROCYSBI API of $1.6 million, to be delivered through December 2020.
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Under an agreement with Boehringer Ingelheim Biopharmaceuticals GmbH (“Boehringer Ingelheim Biopharmaceuticals”),
Boehringer Ingelheim Biopharmaceuticals is required to manufacture and supply ACTIMMUNE and IMUKIN to the Company.
Following the IMUKIN sale, purchases of IMUKIN stock are expected to be onward sold to Clinigen. The Company is required to
purchase minimum quantities of finished medicine during the term of the agreement, which term extends to at least June 30, 2024. As
of December 31, 2018, the minimum binding purchase commitment to Boehringer Ingelheim Biopharmaceuticals was $25.7 million
(converted using a Dollar-to-Euro exchange rate of 1.1466) through July 2024. As of December 31, 2018, the Company also
committed to incur an additional $1.1 million for the harmonization of the drug substance manufacturing process with Boehringer
Ingelheim Biopharmaceuticals.
Under the Company’s agreement with Bio-Technology General (Israel) Ltd (“BTG Israel”), the Company has agreed to
purchase certain minimum annual order quantities and is obligated to purchase at least eighty percent of its annual world-wide bulk
product requirements for KRYSTEXXA from BTG Israel. The term of the agreement runs until December 31, 2030, and will
automatically renew for successive three year periods unless earlier terminated by either party upon three years’ prior written
notice. The agreement may be terminated earlier by either party in the event of a force majeure, liquidation, dissolution, bankruptcy
or insolvency of the other party, uncured material breach by the other party or after January 1, 2024, upon three years’ prior written
notice. Under the agreement, if the manufacture of the bulk product is moved out of Israel, the Company may be required to obtain
the approval of the Israeli Office of the Chief Scientist (“OCS”) because certain KRYSTEXXA intellectual property was initially
developed with a grant funded by the OCS. The Company issues eighteen-month forecasts of the volume of KRYSTEXXA that the
Company expects to order. The first six months of the forecast are considered binding firm orders. At December 31, 2018, the
Company had a binding purchase commitment with BTG Israel for KRYSTEXXA of $47.0 million, to be delivered through
December 31, 2026. Additionally, purchase orders relating to the manufacture of KRYSTEXXA of $1.5 million were outstanding at
December 31, 2018.
Jagotec AG or its affiliates are required to manufacture and supply RAYOS exclusively to the Company in bulk. The earliest
the agreement can expire is December 31, 2023, and the minimum purchase commitment is in force until December 2023. At
December 31, 2018, the minimum purchase commitment based on tablet pricing in effect under the agreement was $4.8 million
through December 2023. Additionally, purchase orders relating to the manufacture of RAYOS of $0.7 million were outstanding at
December 31, 2018. Effective January 1, 2019, the Company amended its license and supply agreements with Jagotec AG and
Skyepharma AG, which are affiliates of Vectura. Under these amendments, from the earlier of the completion of certain transfer
activities related to the transfer of our rights to LODOTRA in Europe, or January 1, 2020, the Company will no longer be subject to a
minimum purchase commitment in respect of the supply agreement with Jagotec AG.
Nuvo Pharmaceuticals Inc. (formerly known as Nuvo Research Inc.) (“Nuvo”) is obligated to manufacture and supply
PENNSAID 2% to the Company. The term of the supply agreement is through December 31, 2029, but the agreement may be
terminated earlier by either party for any uncured material breach by the other party of its obligations under the supply agreement or
upon the bankruptcy or similar proceeding of the other party. At least ninety days prior to the first day of each calendar month during
the term of the supply agreement, the Company submits a binding written purchase order to Nuvo for PENNSAID 2% in minimum
batch quantities. At December 31, 2018, the Company had a binding purchase commitment with Nuvo for PENNSAID 2% of $2.6
million, to be delivered through March 2019.
Sanofi-Aventis U.S. LLC (“Sanofi-Aventis U.S.”) is obligated to manufacture and supply DUEXIS to the Company in final,
packaged form and the Company is obligated to purchase DUEXIS exclusively from Sanofi-Aventis U.S. for the commercial
requirements of DUEXIS in North America, South America and certain countries and territories in Europe, including the European
Union (“EU”) member states and Scandinavia. The agreement term extends until May 2021 and automatically renews for successive
two-year terms unless terminated by either party upon two years’ prior written notice. At December 31, 2018, the Company had a
binding purchase commitment to Sanofi-Aventis U.S. for DUEXIS of $9.2 million, to be delivered through May 2019.
Excluding the above, additional purchase orders and other commitments relating to the manufacture of RAVICTI, BUPHENYL,
QUINSAIR, VIMOVO and MIGERGOT of $9.3 million were outstanding at December 31, 2018. Additionally, at December 31,
2018, the Company had a binding batch purchase commitments for teprotumumab of $5.5 million and a binding commitment related
to process validation activities for teprotumumab of $1.8 million.
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Royalty and Milestone Agreements
RAVICTI
Under the terms of an asset purchase agreement with Bausch Health Companies Inc. (formerly Ucyclyd Pharma, Inc.)
(“Bausch”), the Company is obligated to pay to Bausch mid to high single-digit royalties on its global net sales of RAVICTI. Under
the terms of a license agreement with Saul W. Brusilow, M.D. and Brusilow Enterprises, Inc. (“Brusilow”), the Company is obligated
to pay low single-digit royalties to Brusilow on net sales of RAVICTI that are covered by a valid claim of a licensed patent.
PROCYSBI
Under the terms of an amended and restated license agreement with The Regents of the University of California, San Diego
(“UCSD”), as amended, the Company is obligated to pay to UCSD tiered low to mid-single-digit royalties on its net sales of
PROCYSBI, including a minimum annual royalty in an amount less than $0.1 million. The Company must also pay UCSD a
percentage in the mid-teens of any fees it receives from its sublicensees under the agreement that are not earned royalties. The
Company may also be obligated to pay UCSD aggregate developmental milestone payments of $0.3 million and aggregate regulatory
milestone payments of $1.8 million for each orphan indication, and aggregate developmental milestone payments of $0.8 million and
aggregate regulatory milestone payments of $3.5 million for each non-orphan indication.
ACTIMMUNE
Under a license agreement, as amended, with Genentech Inc. (“Genentech”), who was the original developer of ACTIMMUNE,
the Company is, or was, obligated to pay royalties to Genentech on its net sales of ACTIMMUNE as follows:
•

For the period from November 26, 2014 through May 5, 2018, a royalty in the 20% to 30% range for the first $3.7 million
in net sales achieved in any calendar year and in the 1% to 9% range for all additional net sales in any year; and

•

From May 6, 2018, an annual royalty in the low single digits as a percentage of annual net sales.

Under the terms of an assignment and option agreement with Connetics Corporation (which was the predecessor parent
company to InterMune Pharmaceuticals Inc. and is now part of GlaxoSmithKline), (“Connetics”), the Company is obligated to pay
low single-digit royalties to Connetics on the Company’s net sales of ACTIMMUNE in the United States.
BUPHENYL
Under the terms of an amended and restated collaboration agreement with Bausch, the Company is obligated to pay to Bausch
mid single-digit royalties on its net sales in the United States of BUPHENYL to urea cycle disorder patients outside of the FDA
approved labeled age range for RAVICTI. In December 2018, the Company received FDA approval to expand the age range for the
use of RAVICTI in the chronic management of UCDs in patients from birth to two months. As a result, this BUPHENYL royalty is
no longer required beyond 2018.
KRYSTEXXA
Under the terms of a license agreement with Duke and MVP, the Company is obligated to pay Duke a mid-single-digit royalty
on its global net sales of KRYSTEXXA and a royalty of between 5% and 15% on any global sublicense revenue. The Company is
also obligated to pay MVP a mid-single-digit royalty on its net sales of KRYSTEXXA outside of the United States and a royalty of
between 5% and 15% on any sublicense revenue outside of the United States.
RAYOS and LODOTRA
During the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017, the Company was obligated to pay Vectura a mid-single digit percentage
royalty on its adjusted gross sales of RAYOS and LODOTRA and on any sub-licensing income, which includes any payments not
calculated based on the adjusted gross sales of RAYOS and LODOTRA, such as license fees, and lump sum and milestone payments.
Under certain amendments to the Company’s license and supply agreements with Vectura, the royalty payable by the Company
to Vectura in respect of RAYOS sales in North America is amended whereby, effective January 1, 2019, the Company will pay
Vectura a mid-double-digit percentage royalty on its net sales, subject to a minimum royalty of $8 million per year, with the minimum
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royalty requirement expiring on December 31, 2022. In addition, under the amendments, the Company will no longer record
LODOTRA revenue is no longer required to pay a royalty in respect of LODOTRA.
VIMOVO
The Company is required to pay Nuvo (formerly Aralez Pharmaceuticals Inc.) a ten percent royalty on net sales of VIMOVO
and other medicines sold by the Company, its affiliates or sublicensees during the royalty term that contain gastroprotective agents in
a single fixed combination oral solid dosage form with nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs, subject to minimum annual royalty
obligations of $7.5 million. These minimum royalty obligations will continue for each year during which one of Nuvo’s patents
covers such medicines in the United States and there are no competing medicines in the United States. The royalty rate may be
reduced to a mid-single digit royalty rate as a result of loss of market share to competing medicines. The Company’s obligation to pay
royalties to Nuvo will expire upon the later of (a) expiration of the last-to-expire of certain patents covering such medicines in the
United States, and (b) ten years after the first commercial sale of such medicines in the United States.
The royalty obligations described above are included in accrued royalties on the Company’s consolidated balance sheet.
For all of the royalty agreements entered into by the Company, a total net expense of $66.6 million was recorded during the year
ended December 31, 2018, of which an expense of $68.5 million was recorded in “cost of goods sold” and a reduction of $1.9 million
was recorded to “selling, general and administrative” expenses in the consolidated statements of comprehensive loss. A total royalty
expense of $73.5 million was recorded during the year ended December 31, 2017, of which $72.8 million was recorded in “cost of
goods sold” and $0.7 million was recorded in “selling, general and administrative” expenses in the consolidated statements of
comprehensive loss.
Other Agreements
On May 8, 2017, the Company acquired River Vision for upfront cash payments totaling approximately $150.3 million,
including cash acquired of $6.3 million, and potential future milestone and royalty payments contingent on the satisfaction of certain
regulatory milestones and sales thresholds. Under the agreement, the Company is required to pay up to $325.0 million upon the
attainment of various milestones related to FDA approval and net sales thresholds. The agreement also includes a royalty payment of
three percent of the portion of annual worldwide net sales exceeding $300.0 million (if any). Under a separate agreement, the
Company is also required to pay up to CHF103.0 million ($104.9 million when converted using a CHF-to-Dollar exchange rate at
December 31, 2017 of 1.0185) upon the attainment of various milestones related to approval, filing and net sales thresholds. During
the year ended December 31, 2017, CHF2.0 million ($2.0 million when converted using a CHF-to-Dollar exchange rate at the date of
payment of 1.0169) was paid in relation to these milestones. The agreement also includes a royalty payment of between nine percent
and twelve percent of the portion of annual worldwide net sales.
On December 12, 2017, the Company entered into an agreement to license HZN-003 (formerly MEDI4945), a rheumatology
pipeline program with the objective of enhancing the Company’s leadership position in the uncontrolled gout market, from
MedImmune. Under the terms of the agreement, the Company paid MedImmune an upfront cash payment of $12.0 million. Under
the license agreement, the Company is required to pay up to $153.5 million upon the attainment of various milestones linked to the
initiation of clinical trials and the attainment of net sales thresholds, and royalties on net sales.
Contingencies
The Company is subject to claims and assessments from time to time in the ordinary course of business. The Company’s
management does not believe that any such matters, individually or in the aggregate, will have a material adverse effect on the
Company’s business, financial condition, results of operations or cash flows. In addition, the Company from time to time has billing
disputes with vendors in which amounts invoiced are not in accordance with the terms of their contracts.
In November 2015, the Company received a subpoena from the U.S. Attorney’s Office for the Southern District of New York
requesting documents and information related to its patient access programs and other aspects of its marketing and commercialization
activities. The Company is unable to predict how long this investigation will continue or its outcome, but it anticipates that it may
continue to incur significant costs in connection with the investigation, regardless of the outcome. The Company may also become
subject to similar investigations by other governmental agencies. The investigation by the U.S. Attorney’s Office and any additional
investigations of the Company’s patient access programs and sales and marketing activities may result in damages, fines, penalties or
other administrative sanctions against the Company.
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On March 5, 2019, the Company received a civil investigative demand, (“CID”), from the United States Department of
Justice (“DOJ”) pursuant to the Federal False Claims Act regarding assertions that certain of the Company’s payments to pharmacy
benefit managers, (“PBMs”), were potentially in violation of the Anti-Kickback Statute. The CID requests certain documents and
information related to the Company’s payments to PBMs, pricing and our patient assistance program regarding DUEXIS, VIMOVO
and PENNSAID 2%. The Company intends to cooperate with the investigation. While the Company believes that its payments and
programs are compliant with the Anti-Kickback Statute, no assurance can be given as to the timing or outcome of the DOJ’s
investigation, or that it will not result in a material adverse effect on the Company’s business.
Indemnification
In the normal course of business, the Company enters into contracts and agreements that contain a variety of representations and
warranties and provide for general indemnifications. The Company’s exposure under these agreements is unknown because it
involves claims that may be made against the Company in the future, but have not yet been made. The Company may record charges
in the future as a result of these indemnification obligations.
In accordance with its memorandum and articles of association, the Company has indemnification obligations to its officers and
directors for certain events or occurrences, subject to certain limits, while they are serving at the Company’s request in such
capacity. Additionally, the Company has entered into, and intends to continue to enter into, separate indemnification agreements with
its directors and executive officers. These agreements, among other things, require the Company to indemnify its directors and
executive officers for certain expenses, including attorneys’ fees, judgments, fines and settlement amounts incurred by a director or
executive officer in any action or proceeding arising out of their services as one of the Company’s directors or executive officers, or
any of the Company’s subsidiaries or any other company or enterprise to which the person provides services at the Company’s
request. The Company also has a director and officer insurance policy that enables it to recover a portion of any amounts paid for
current and future potential claims. All of the Company’s officers and directors have also entered into separate indemnification
agreements with HPUSA.
The Company has no other off-balance sheet arrangements.
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Legal
RAVICTI

On March 17, 2014, Hyperion received notice from Par Pharmaceutical, Inc. (“Par Pharmaceutical”) that it had filed an
Abbreviated New Drug Application (an “ANDA”) with the FDA seeking approval for a generic version of the Company’s medicine
RAVICTI. The ANDA contained a Paragraph IV Patent Certification alleging that two of the patents covering RAVICTI are invalid
and/or will not be infringed by Par Pharmaceutical’s manufacture, use or sale of the medicine for which the ANDA was
submitted. Hyperion filed suit in the United States District Court for the Eastern District of Texas, Marshall Division, against Par
Pharmaceutical on April 23, 2014, seeking an injunction to prevent the approval of Par Pharmaceutical’s ANDA and/or to prevent Par
Pharmaceutical from selling a generic version of RAVICTI. The Company subsequently took over such patent litigation and has been
engaged in ANDA litigation with Par Pharmaceutical in multiple venues.
On September 4, 2015, the Company received notice from Lupin Limited of Lupin Limited’s Paragraph IV Patent Certification
against two of the Company’s patents covering RAVICTI, advising that Lupin Limited had filed an ANDA with the FDA for a generic
version of RAVICTI. On November 6, 2015, the Company also received notice of Lupin Limited’s Paragraph IV Patent Certification
against another of the Company’s patents covering RAVICTI. On October 19, 2015, the Company filed suit in the United States
District Court for the District of New Jersey against Lupin Limited and Lupin Pharmaceuticals Inc. (collectively, “Lupin”), seeking an
injunction to prevent the approval of the ANDA, and engaged in ANDA litigation with Lupin in multiple venues.
On June 27, 2018, the Company and Lupin entered into a Settlement and License Agreement (“Lupin Settlement Agreement”)
under which they agreed to file stipulations of dismissal with the District Courts regarding the district court litigation and a joint
request for termination in the inter parte reviews (the “IPRs”). Lupin further agreed to withdraw from the appeal pending before the
Federal Circuit Court of Appeals over U.S. Patent No. 9,095,559. The Lupin Settlement Agreement also provides for a full settlement
and release by each party of all claims that relate to Lupin’s generic version of RAVICTI or the litigation, the IPRs or the appeal.
Under the Lupin Settlement Agreement, the license entry date is July 1, 2026; however, Lupin may be able to enter the market earlier
in certain circumstances.
On September 17, 2018, the Company and Par Pharmaceutical entered into a Settlement and License Agreement (“Par
Settlement Agreement”) under which they agreed to file stipulations of dismissal with the District Courts regarding the litigation and a
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joint request for termination in the IPRs. The Par Settlement Agreement also provides for a full settlement and release by each party
of all claims that relate to Par Pharmaceutical’s generic version of RAVICTI or the litigation or the IPRs. Under the Par Settlement
Agreement, the license entry date is July 1, 2025; however, Par Pharmaceutical may be able to enter the market earlier in certain
circumstances.
PENNSAID 2%
On November 13, 2014, the Company received a Paragraph IV Patent Certification from Watson Laboratories, Inc., now known
as Actavis Laboratories UT, Inc. (“Actavis UT”), advising that Actavis UT had filed an ANDA with the FDA for a generic version of
PENNSAID 2%. On December 23, 2014, June 30, 2015, August 11, 2015 and September 17, 2015, the Company filed four separate
suits against Actavis UT and Actavis plc (collectively “Actavis”), in the United States District Court for the District of New Jersey,
with each of the suits seeking an injunction to prevent approval of the ANDA. The lawsuits alleged that Actavis has infringed nine of
the Company’s patents covering PENNSAID 2% by filing an ANDA seeking approval from the FDA to market a generic version of
PENNSAID 2% prior to the expiration of certain of the Company’s patents listed in the FDA’s Orange Book (the “Orange
Book”). These four suits were consolidated into a single suit. On October 27, 2015 and on February 5, 2016, the Company filed two
additional suits against Actavis, in the United States District Court for the District of New Jersey, for patent infringement of three
additional Company patents covering PENNSAID 2%.
On August 17, 2016, the District Court issued a Markman opinion holding certain of the asserted claims of seven of the Company’s
patents covering PENNSAID 2% invalid as indefinite. On March 16, 2017, the Court granted Actavis’ motion for summary judgment of
non-infringement of the asserted claims of three of the Company’s patents covering PENNSAID 2%. In view of the Markman and
summary judgment decisions, a bench trial was held from March 21, 2017 through March 30, 2017, regarding a claim of one of the
Company’s patents covering PENNSAID 2%. On May 14, 2017, the Court issued its opinion upholding the validity of claim of the
patent, which Actavis had previously admitted its proposed generic diclofenac sodium topical solution product would infringe. Actavis
filed its Notice of Appeal on June 16, 2017. The Company also filed its Notice of Appeal of the District Court’s rulings on certain claims
of eleven of the Company’s patents covering PENNSAID 2%. The Company’s opening brief was filed on August 14, 2017. Actavis’s
opening brief, challenging the District Court’s judgment on U.S. Patent 9,066,913, was filed on October 10, 2017, and the Company’s
brief defending the judgment was filed on November 20, 2017. The parties are awaiting the decision of the Federal Circuit Court of
Appeals.
On August 18, 2016, the Company filed suit in the United States District Court for the District of New Jersey against Actavis for
patent infringement of four of the Company’s newly issued patents covering PENNSAID 2%. All four of such patents are listed in the
Orange Book. This litigation is currently stayed by agreement of the parties.
The Company received from Actavis a Paragraph IV Patent Certification notice, dated September 27, 2016, against an
additional newly issued patent covering PENNSAID 2%, advising that Actavis had filed an ANDA with the FDA for a generic version
of PENNSAID 2%. The subject patent is listed in the Orange Book.
On March 18, 2015, the Company received a Paragraph IV Patent Certification against seven of the Company’s patents covering
PENNSAID 2% from Lupin, advising that Lupin had filed an ANDA with the FDA for a generic version of PENNSAID 2%. On
April 30, 2015, the Company filed suit in the United States District Court for the District of New Jersey against Lupin, seeking an
injunction to prevent the approval of the ANDA, and engaged in ANDA litigation against Lupin in multiple venues. On May 30,
2018, the Company finalized settlement of the cases against Lupin and the cases were dismissed. Under the settlement agreement
with Lupin, the license entry date is October 17, 2027; however, Lupin may be able to enter the market earlier in certain
circumstances.
Between April 2016 and April 2017, the Company received from Apotex Inc. four notices of Paragraph IV Patent Certification
against eighteen of the Company’s patents covering PENNSAID 2%. All of the subject patents are listed in the Orange Book.
DUEXIS
On May 29, 2018, the Company received notice from Alkem Laboratories, Inc. (“Alkem”) that it had filed an ANDA with the
FDA seeking approval for a generic version of DUEXIS. The ANDA contained a Paragraph IV Patent Certification alleging that the
patents covering DUEXIS are invalid and/or will not be infringed by Alkem’s manufacture, use or sale of the medicine for which the
ANDA was submitted. The Company filed suit in the United States District Court of Delaware against Alkem on July 9, 2018,
seeking an injunction to prevent the approval of Alkem’s ANDA and/or to prevent Alkem from selling a generic version of DUEXIS.
The litigation is scheduled for a bench trial beginning on September 14, 2020.
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On September 27, 2018, the Company received notice from Teva Pharmaceuticals USA, Inc. (“Teva”) that it had filed an
ANDA with the FDA seeking approval for a generic version of DUEXIS. The ANDA contained a Paragraph IV Patent Certification
alleging that the patents covering DUEXIS are invalid and/or will not be infringed by Teva’s manufacture, use or sale of the medicine
for which the ANDA was submitted.
VIMOVO
Currently, patent litigation is pending in the United States District Court for the District of New Jersey and the Court of Appeals
for the Federal Circuit against three generic companies intending to market VIMOVO prior to the expiration of certain of the
Company’s patents listed in the Orange Book. They are collectively known as the VIMOVO cases, and involve the following sets of
defendants: (i) Dr. Reddy’s Laboratories Inc. and Dr. Reddy’s Laboratories Ltd. (collectively, “Dr. Reddy’s”); (ii) Lupin; and
(iii) Mylan Pharmaceuticals Inc., Mylan Laboratories Limited, and Mylan Inc. (collectively, “Mylan”). Patent litigation in the United
States District Court for the District of New Jersey against a fourth generic company, Teva Pharmaceuticals Industries Limited
(formerly known as Actavis Laboratories FL, Inc., which itself was formerly known as Watson Laboratories, Inc. – Florida) and
Actavis Pharma, Inc. (collectively, “Actavis Pharma”), was dismissed on January 10, 2017, and the parties have concluded a
Settlement Agreement. Under the Settlement Agreement with Actavis Pharma, the license entry date is January 1, 2025; however,
Actavis Pharma may be able to enter the market earlier in certain circumstances.
The Company understands that Dr. Reddy’s has entered into a settlement with AstraZeneca with respect to patent rights directed
to Nexium® (esomeprazole) for the commercialization of VIMOVO. The settlement agreement, however, has no effect on the Nuvo
VIMOVO patents, which are still the subject of patent litigations. As part of the Company’s acquisition of the U.S. rights to
VIMOVO, the Company has taken over and is responsible for the patent litigation that includes the Nuvo patents licensed to the
Company under the amended and restated collaboration and license agreement for the United States with Nuvo.
The VIMOVO cases were filed on April 21, 2011, July 25, 2011, October 28, 2011, January 4, 2013, May 10, 2013, June 28,
2013, October 23, 2013, May 13, 2015 and November 24, 2015 and collectively include allegations of infringement of certain of the
Company’s patents covering VIMOVO.
The District Court consolidated all of the cases pending against Dr. Reddy’s, Lupin, Mylan and Actavis Pharma into two
separate cases for purposes of discovery. The District Court entered final judgment for one of the consolidated cases on July 21, 2017,
and both sides have appealed the District Court’s judgment to the Court of Appeals for the Federal Circuit. On November 19, 2018,
the District Court granted Dr. Reddy’s and Mylan summary judgment ruling that U.S Patent Numbers 9,220,698 and 9,393,208 are
invalid, and on January 21, 2019, it entered final judgment against the ‘698, ‘208, and U.S. Patent Number 8,945,621. On February
21, 2019, the Company initiated an appeal of the adverse judgments on the ‘208 and ‘698 patents with the Federal Circuit Court of
Appeals. Proceedings on all remaining patents are currently stayed.
On August 24, 2017, Mylan filed a Petition for IPR of one of the Company’s patents covering VIMOVO. The Company filed
its Preliminary Patent Owner Response on December 12, 2017. On March 8, 2018, the Patent Trial and Appeals Board (the “PTAB”)
instituted Mylan’s Petition for IPR. On March 22, 2018, the Company filed a Request for Rehearing of the decision to institute IPR,
which was denied by the PTAB on May 25, 2018. On April 6, 2018, Dr. Reddy’s filed a Petition for IPR of the same patent
challenged by Mylan and a motion for joinder with Mylan’s IPR. The Company filed an opposition to Dr. Reddy’s motion for joinder
on May 9, 2018. The parties are awaiting the PTAB’s decision regarding Dr. Reddy’s Petition.
On December 4, 2017, Mylan filed a Petition for IPR of another of the Company’s patents covering VIMOVO. The PTAB
instituted an IPR proceeding on Mylan’s Petition on June 14, 2018.
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Shareholders’ Equity
As of December 31, 2018 and 2017, share capital was comprised as follows (in thousands, except share data):
As of December 31,
2018

Authorized
40,000 (2017: 40,000) ordinary shares €1 par value each
300,000,000 (2017: 300,000,000) ordinary shares at $0.0001 par value each

$
$

Alloted, called up and fully paid
40,000 (2017: 40,000) deferred shares €1 par value each
168,860,154 (2017:164,400,717) outstanding ordinary shares at $0.0001 par value

$
$

2017

55
30
85

$

55
17
72

$

$

$

55
30
85

55
16
71

During the year ended December 31, 2018, the Company issued an aggregate of 4.4 million of ordinary shares in connection
with stock option exercises, the vesting of restricted stock units, employee share purchase plan purchases and the vesting of
performance stock units. The Company received a total of $25.6 million in net proceeds in connection with such issuances.
During the year ended December 31, 2018, the Company made payments of $14.5 million for employee withholding taxes
relating to share-based awards.
In May 2017 and 2018, the Company’s board of directors authorized a share repurchase program pursuant to which the
Company may repurchase up to 16,000,000 of its ordinary shares. During the year ended December 31, 2017, the Company
repurchased 100,000 of its ordinary shares under this repurchase program, for total consideration of $1.0 million. The timing and
amount of future repurchases, if any, will depend on a variety of factors, including the price of the Company’s ordinary shares,
alternative investment opportunities, the Company’s cash resources, restrictions under the Credit Agreement and market conditions.
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Equity Incentive Plans

Employee Stock Purchase Plans
2014 Employee Stock Purchase Plan. On May 17, 2014, HPI’s board of directors adopted the 2014 Employee Stock Purchase
Plan (the “2014 ESPP”). On September 18, 2014, at a special meeting of the stockholders of HPI (the “Special Meeting”), HPI’s
stockholders approved the 2014 ESPP. Upon consummation of the Company’s merger transaction with Vidara (the “Vidara Merger”),
the Company assumed the 2014 ESPP.
As of December 31, 2018, an aggregate of 2,084,665 ordinary shares were authorized and available for future issuance under the
2014 ESPP.
Share-Based Compensation Plans
2005 Stock Plan. In October 2005, HPI adopted the 2005 Stock Plan (the “2005 Plan”). Upon the signing of the underwriting
agreement related to HPI’s initial public offering, on July 28, 2011, no further option grants were made under the 2005 Plan. All stock
awards granted under the 2005 Plan prior to July 28, 2011 continue to be governed by the terms of the 2005 Plan. Upon
consummation of the Vidara Merger, the Company assumed the 2005 Plan.
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2011 Equity Incentive Plan. In July 2010, HPI’s board of directors adopted the 2011 Equity Incentive Plan (the “2011 EIP”). In
June 2011, HPI’s stockholders approved the 2011 EIP, and it became effective upon the signing of the underwriting agreement related
to HPI’s initial public offering on July 28, 2011. Upon consummation of the Vidara Merger, the Company assumed the 2011 EIP, and
upon the effectiveness of the Horizon Pharma Public Limited Company 2014 Equity Incentive Plan (the “2014 EIP”), no additional
stock awards were or will be made under the 2011 Plan, although all outstanding stock awards granted under the 2011 Plan continue
to be governed by the terms of the 2011 Plan.
2014 Equity Incentive Plan and 2014 Non-Employee Equity Plan. On May 17, 2014, HPI’s board of directors adopted the 2014
EIP and the Horizon Pharma Public Limited Company 2014 Non-Employee Equity Plan (the “2014 Non-Employee Equity Plan”). At
the Special Meeting, HPI’s stockholders approved the 2014 EIP and 2014 Non-Employee Equity Plan. Upon consummation of the
Vidara Merger, the Company assumed the 2014 EIP and 2014 Non-Employee Equity Plan, which serve as successors to the 2011 EIP.
The 2014 EIP provides for the grant of incentive and nonstatutory stock options, stock appreciation rights, restricted stock
awards, restricted stock unit awards, performance awards and other stock awards that may be settled in cash, shares or other property
to the employees of the Company (or a subsidiary company). During the year ended December 31, 2017, the compensation committee
of the Company’s board of directors (the “Committee”) approved an amendment to the 2014 EIP to reserve additional shares to be
used exclusively for grants of awards to individuals who were not previously employees or non-employee directors of the Company
(or following a bona fide period of non-employment with the Company) (the “2017 Inducement Pool”), as an inducement material to
the individual’s entry into employment with the Company within the meaning of Rule 5635(c)(4) of the Nasdaq Listing Rules, (“Rule
5635(c)(4)”). The 2014 EIP was amended by the Committee without shareholder approval pursuant to Rule 5635(c)(4). An
amendment to the 2014 EIP increasing the number of ordinary shares that may be issued under the 2014 EIP by 10,800,000 ordinary
shares was approved by the Committee on February 21, 2018 and by the shareholders of the Company on May 3, 2018.
The 2014 Non-Employee Equity Plan provides for the grant of nonstatutory stock options, stock appreciation rights, restricted
stock awards, restricted stock unit awards and other forms of stock awards that may be settled in cash, shares or other property to the
non-employee directors and consultants of the Company (or a subsidiary company). The Company’s board of directors has authority
to suspend or terminate the 2014 Non-Employee Equity Plan at any time.
As of December 31, 2018, an aggregate of 7,037,630 ordinary shares were authorized and available for future grants under the
2014 EIP, of which 466,556 shares relate to the 2017 Inducement Pool. As of December 31, 2018, 116,163 ordinary shares were
authorized and available for future grants under the 2014 Non-Employee Equity Plan.
Stock Options
The following table summarizes stock option activity during the year ended December 31, 2018:

Options

Outstanding as of December 31, 2017
Granted
Exercised
Forfeited
Expired
Outstanding as of December 31, 2018
Vested and Expected to vest as of December 31, 2018
Exercisable as of December 31, 2018

Weighted
Average
Exercise Price

14,275,316 $
403,973
(1,768,038 )
(676,036 )
(407,450 )
11,827,765
11,686,892
10,043,374 $

Stock options typically have a contractual term of ten years from grant date.
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18.04
14.41
9.65
18.24
21.00
19.06
19.08
19.10

Weighted
Average
Contractual Term
Remaining
(in years)

6.97

6.24
6.22
5.98

Aggregate
Intrinsic Value
(in thousands)

$

25,005

$

37,257
36,905
33,033

The following table summarizes the Company’s outstanding stock options at December 31, 2018:
Options Outstanding

Options Exercisable

Weighted Average

Weighted

Weighted Average

Remaining

Average

Remaining

Weighted
Exercise Price Ranges

$2.01 - $4.00
$4.01- $8.00
$8.01 - $12.00
$12.01 - $17.00
$17.01 - $22.00
$22.01 - $28.00
$28.01 - $36.00

Number of options

Average

Contractual

Number

Exercise

Contractual

outstanding

Exercise Price

Term (in years)

Exercisable

Price

Term (in years)

459,812 $
739,340
392,531
2,367,515
2,291,328
3,324,112
2,253,127
11,827,765 $

2.70
6.80
8.97
14.25
18.11
22.30
29.43
19.06

4.03
459,812 $
4.02
739,340
5.44
392,531
6.79 1,841,877
7.24 1,475,082
6.11 3,116,470
6.16 2,018,262
6.24 10,043,374 $

2.70
6.80
8.97
14.19
18.35
22.29
29.39
19.10

4.03
4.02
5.44
6.24
6.93
6.10
6.13
5.98

During the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017, the Company granted stock options to purchase an aggregate of 403,973,
2,077,215 and 2,057,247 ordinary shares, respectively, with a weighted average grant date fair value of $6.93 and $7.96, respectively.
The total intrinsic value of the options exercised during the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017 was $17.0 million and
$2.6 million, respectively. The total fair value of stock options vested during the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017 was $36.6
million and $41.3 million, respectively.
The fair value of each stock option award is estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing model. The
determination of the fair value of each stock option is affected by the Company’s share price on the date of grant, as well as
assumptions regarding a number of highly complex and subjective variables. These variables include, but are not limited to, the
Company’s expected share price volatility over the expected life of the awards and actual and projected stock option exercise
behavior. The weighted average fair value per share of stock option awards granted during the years ended December 31, 2018 and
2017, and assumptions used to value stock options, are as follows:
For the Years Ended December 31,
2018
2017

Dividend yield
Risk-free interest rate
Weighted average volatility
Expected life (in years)
Weighted average grant date fair value per share of options granted

—
—
2.3%-2.8%
1.8%-2.2%
49.5 %
49.1 %
5.56
5.99
$
6.93 $
7.96

Dividend yields
The Company has never paid dividends and does not anticipate paying any dividends in the near future. Additionally, the Credit
Agreement (described in Note 15 above), as well as the indentures governing the 2024 Senior Notes and the 2023 Senior Notes (each
as described in Note 16 above), contain covenants that restrict the Company from issuing dividends.
Risk-Free Interest Rate
The Company determined the risk-free interest rate by using a weighted average assumption equivalent to the expected term
based on the U.S. Treasury constant maturity rate as of the date of grant.
Volatility
The Company used an average historical share price volatility of comparable companies to be representative of future share
price volatility, as the Company did not have sufficient trading history for its ordinary shares.
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Expected Term
Given the Company’s limited historical exercise behavior, the expected term of options granted was determined using the
“simplified” method since the Company does not have sufficient historical exercise data to provide a reasonable basis upon which to
estimate the expected term. Under this approach, the expected term is presumed to be the average of the vesting term and the
contractual life of the option.
Forfeitures
As share-based compensation expense recognized in the consolidated statement of comprehensive loss is based on awards
ultimately expected to vest, it has been reduced for estimated forfeitures based on actual forfeiture experience, analysis of employee
turnover and other factors. The Company adopted ASU No. 2016-09 on January 1, 2017 and has elected to retain a forfeiture rate
after adoption.
Restricted Stock Units
The following table summarizes restricted stock unit activity for the year ended December 31, 2018:

Number of
Units

Outstanding as of December 31, 2017
Granted
Vested
Forfeited
Outstanding as of December 31, 2018

Weighted Average
Grant-Date Fair
Value Per Units

5,283,850 $
4,983,368
(2,654,259 )
(840,141 )
6,772,818 $

14.77
15.85
14.54
15.54
15.56

The grant-date fair value of restricted stock units is the closing price of the Company’s shares on the date of grant.
During the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017, the Company granted 4,983,368 and 3,732,035 restricted stock units to
acquire shares of the Company’s ordinary shares to its employees and non-executive directors, respectively, with a weighted average
grant date fair value of $15.65 and $12.44, respectively. The restricted stock units vest annually, with a vesting period ranging from
two to four years. The Company accounts for the restricted stock units as equity-settled awards in accordance with ASU No. 2017-09.
The total fair value of restricted stock units vested during the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017 was $43.6 million and $18.0
million, respectively.
Performance Stock Unit Awards
The following table summarizes performance stock unit awards (“PSUs”) activity for the year ended December 31, 2018:

Number
of Units

Outstanding as of December 31, 2017
Granted
Forfeited
Expired (1)
Outstanding as of December 31, 2018
(1)

7,854,880
1,413,257 $
(19,314 )
(7,854,880 )
1,393,943

Weighted
Average
Grant-Date
Fair Value
Per Unit

16.08
16.64
14.82

Average
Illiquidity
Discount

2.6 % $
0.0 %
14.9 %

Recorded
Weighted
Average
Fair Value
Per Unit

15.66
16.64
12.60

During the year ended December 31, 2018, the final tranches of the Company’s PSUs outstanding at December 31, 2017
expired due to failure to meet the Company’s minimum total compounded annual shareholder rate of return (“TSR”)
requirement.
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On January 5, 2018, the Company awarded PSUs to key executive participants (“2018 PSUs”). Vesting of the 2018 PSUs was
contingent upon receiving shareholder approval of amendments to the 2014 EIP, which were approved on May 3, 2018. The 2018
PSUs utilize two performance metrics, a short-term component tied to business performance and a long-term component tied to
relative compounded annual TSR, as follows:
•

30% of the 2018 PSUs that may vest (such portion of the PSU award, the “Relative TSR PSUs”) are determined by
reference to the level of the Company’s relative TSR over the three-year period ending December 31, 2020, as
measured against the TSR of each company included in the Nasdaq Biotechnology Index (NBI) during such three-year
period. Generally, in order to earn any portion of the Relative TSR PSUs, the participant must also remain in
continuous service with the Company through the earlier of January 1, 2021 or the date immediately prior to a change
in control. If a change in control occurs prior to December 31, 2020, the level of the Company’s relative TSR will be
measured through the date of the change in control.

•

70% of the 2018 PSUs that may vest (such portion of the PSU award, the “Net Sales PSUs”), are determined by
reference to the Company’s net sales for its segments during 2018 (being the orphan and rheumatology segment and
primary care segment), weighted with the orphan and rheumatology segment comprising the majority of the target sales
(with respect to the total PSU award). During the year ended December 31, 2018, the net sales performance criteria
was met at 157.4% of target. Accordingly, the first tranche of the Net Sales PSUs portion have vested and the
remaining two tranches will vest in equal installments in January 2020 and January 2021, subject to the participant’s
continued service with the Company through the applicable vesting dates.

All PSUs outstanding at December 31, 2018, may vest in a range of between 0% and 200%, based on the performance metrics
described above. The Company accounts for the 2018 PSUs as equity-settled awards in accordance with ASC 718. Because the value
of the Relative TSR PSUs are dependent upon the attainment of a level of TSR, it requires the impact of the market condition to be
considered when estimating the fair value of the Relative TSR PSUs. As a result, the Monte Carlo model is applied and the most
significant valuation assumptions used during the year ended December 31, 2018, include:
Valuation date stock price
Expected volatility
Risk-free rate

13.87
71.3 %
2.6 %

Share-Based Compensation Expense
The following table summarizes share-based compensation expense included in the Company’s consolidated statement of
comprehensive (loss) income for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017 (in thousands):
For the Years Ended December 31,
2018

Share-based compensation expense:
Cost of sales
Research and development
Selling, general and administrative
Total share-based compensation expense

$

$

3,699
8,880
102,281
114,860

2017

$

$

2,469
9,263
109,821
121,553

During the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017, the Company recognized $2.0 million of tax benefit and $2.8 million
of tax detriment, respectively, related to share-based compensation resulting from the current share prices in effect at the time of the
exercise of stock options and vesting of restricted stock units. In addition, during the year ended December 31, 2018, $23.3 million of
deferred tax assets related to previously recognized share-based compensation expense related to PSUs was charged to income tax
expense. As of December 31, 2018, the Company estimates that pre-tax unrecognized compensation expense of $107.6 million for all
unvested share-based awards, including stock options, restricted stock units and PSUs, will be recognized through the first quarter of
2022. The Company expects to satisfy the exercise of stock options and future distribution of shares for restricted stock units and
PSUs by issuing new ordinary shares which have been reserved under the 2014 EIP.
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Cash Incentive Program
On January 5, 2018, the Committee approved a performance cash incentive program for the Company’s executive leadership
team, including its executive officers (the “Cash Incentive Program”). Participants receiving awards under the Cash Incentive
Program will be eligible to earn a cash bonus based upon target award levels set forth below and based upon achievement of specified
Company goals. The maximum payout under the Cash Incentive Program is approximately $14.1 million. Of the total cash bonus
award that may be earned under the Cash Incentive Program, 70% will be determined by reference to achieving an aggressive
percentage increase in KRYSTEXXA vial sales during 2018 as compared to KRYSTEXXA vial sales during 2017. A further 30%
will be determined by reference to the achievement of patient enrollment levels in the teprotumumab phase 3 clinical trial by
December 31, 2018.
Both performance criteria were met on or before December 31, 2018 and the Company determined that the cash bonus award
under the CIP is to be paid out at the maximum 150% target level of $14.1 million. The first installment was paid in January 2019,
and the remaining installments will vest and become payable in January 2020 and 2021, subject to the participant’s continued services
with the Company through the applicable vesting dates, the date of any earlier change in control, or a termination due to death or
disability.
The Company accounted for the Cash Incentive Program as a deferred compensation plan under ASC 710 and is recognizing the
payout expense using straight-line recognition through the end of the 36-month vesting period. During the year ended December 31,
2018, the Company recorded an expense of $4.9 million to the consolidated statement of comprehensive loss related to the Cash
Incentive Program.
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Employee Benefit Plans

The Company sponsors a defined contribution 401(k) retirement savings plan covering all of its U.S. employees, whereby an
eligible employee may elect to contribute a portion of his or her salary on a pre-tax basis, subject to applicable federal limitations.
The Company is not required to make any discretionary matching of employee contributions. The Company makes a matching
contribution equal to 100% of each employee’s elective contribution to the plan of up to 3% of the employee’s eligible pay, and 50%
for the next 2% of the employee’s eligible pay. The full amount of this employer contribution is immediately vested in the plan. For
the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017, the Company recorded defined contribution expense of $5.2 million and $4.9 million,
respectively.
The Company’s wholly owned Swiss subsidiary sponsors a defined benefit savings plan covering all of its employees in
Switzerland. The Company’s wholly owned German subsidiary sponsors a defined contribution plan for its employees in Germany.
For the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017, the Company recognized immaterial expenses under these plans.
The Company’s wholly owned Irish subsidiary sponsors a defined contribution plan covering all of its employees in Ireland.
For the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017, the Company recognized expenses of $0.6 million and $0.4 million, respectively,
under this plan.
The Company has a non-qualified deferred compensation plan for executives. The deferred compensation plan obligations are
payable in cash upon retirement, termination of employment and/or certain other times in a lump-sum distribution or in installments,
as elected by the participant in accordance with the plan. As of December 31, 2018 and 2017, the deferred compensation plan
liabilities totaled $8.2 million and $6.5 million, respectively, and are included in “other long-term liabilities” in the consolidated
balance sheet. The Company held funds of approximately $8.2 million and $6.5 million in an irrevocable grantor's rabbi trust as of
December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively, related to this plan. Rabbi trust assets are classified as trading marketable securities and
are included in “other current assets” in the consolidated balance sheet. Unrealized gains and losses on these marketable securities are
included in “other income” in the consolidated statements of comprehensive loss. For the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017,
the Company recognized expenses of $0.9 million and $0.8 million, respectively, under this plan.
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Directors’ Remuneration
Directors’ remuneration for the financial years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017 were as follows (in thousands):

For the Years Ended December 31,
2018
2017

Emoluments
$
4,143
$
3,065
Benefits under long-term incentive schemes(1)
3,944
4,714
Contributions to retirement benefit schemes:
Defined contribution(2)
101
93
Defined benefit
—
—
Aggregate amount of gains by the directors on the exercise of share
options during the financial year
17
—
(1) Benefits under long-term incentive schemes relate to the aggregate amount of gains by the directors for RSUs vested during the
financial years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017.
(2) Retirement benefits are accruing to 1 director (2017: 1 director) under a defined contribution scheme.

29

Auditor’s Remuneration
Auditor’s remuneration for the financial years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017 was as follows (in thousands):

For the Years Ended December 31,
2018
2017

Audit of the Group Financial statements(1)
Audit of financial statements of subsidiary companies(1)
Total

$

135
165
300

$

$

110
175
285

$

(1) The Company incurred additional fees of $4.1 million and $4.9 million during the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017,
respectively, payable to affiliates of PricewaterhouseCoopers, Ireland. These additional amounts reflect fees for professional
services rendered, including audit fees payable to PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP in the U.S. for the audit of the Company's
consolidated financial statements.
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Employees
The average number of employees for the financial years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017 were as follows:
For the Years Ended December 31,
2018

Sales and marketing
General, finance and administration
Manufacturing, and research and development

2017

595
225
185
1,005

135

630
215
185
1,030

The following table represents compensation costs for the financial years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017 (in thousands):
For the Years Ended December 31,
2018

2017

Wages and salaries
Social security costs and payroll taxes
Share-based compensation
Retirement benefit obligations
Other benefits

$

251,449
16,288
111,347
5,914
27,634

$

219,500
14,422
122,029
5,595
26,967

Total

$

412,632

$

388,513

The Company did not capitalize any material employee costs in stock, intangible assets or tangible assets during the year.
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Reconciliation of Amounts Reported in our Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC

As discussed in Note 1, these consolidated financial statements are prepared using U.S. GAAP to the extent that the use of such
principles does not contravene Irish Company Law. We also prepare consolidated financial statements using U.S. GAAP which are
included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K as filed with the SEC on February 27, 2018 (“Form 10-K”). The primary differences
between these statutory financial statements and our consolidated financial statements included in our Form 10-K are the
presentational format of the profit and loss and balance sheet, terminology used, and the inclusion of certain additional disclosures.
U.S. GAAP terminology
Accounts receivable
Liabilities
Operating results
Risk factors
Accumulated deficit/surplus
Net sales
Inventories

Irish Company Law terminology
Debtors
Creditors
Key performance indicators
Principal risks and uncertainties
Profit and loss account
Turnover
Stocks

Irish Company Law contains specific requirements for the classification of any liability uncertain as to the amount at which it
will be settled or as to the date on which it will be settled.
Irish Company Law requires goodwill and indefinite lived intangible assets to be amortized. However, the Company does
not believe this gives a true and fair view, as not all goodwill and intangible assets decline in value. In addition, since goodwill that
does decline in value rarely does so on a straight-line basis, straight-line amortization of goodwill and indefinite lived intangible assets
over an arbitrary period does not reflect the economic reality. Therefore, goodwill and indefinite lived intangible assets are not
amortized.
In the Company’s Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2017, the Company recorded a provisional $74.9 million net
tax benefit following the enactment of the Tax Act, which net tax benefit included a $134.2 million tax benefit from the revaluation of
the Company’s U.S. net deferred tax liability based on the new U.S. federal tax rate of 21 percent, partially offset by the write-off of a
$59.2 million deferred tax asset related to the Company’s U.S. interest expense carryforwards. On April 2, 2018, the U.S. Treasury
Department and the U.S. Internal Revenue Service issued Notice 2018-28 (“the notice”) which provides guidance for computing the
business interest expense limitation under the Tax Act and clarifies the treatment of interest disallowed and carried forward under
section 163(j) prior to enactment of the Tax Act. In accordance with the measurement period provisions under SAB 118 and the
guidance in the notice, the Company, in its Irish Annual Report for the year ended December 31, 2017, reinstated the deferred tax
asset related to its U.S. interest expense carryforwards under section 163(j) based on the new U.S. federal tax rate of 21 percent. The
impact of the deferred tax asset reinstatement in accordance with SAB 118 was a $35.9 million increase to the Company’s benefit for
income taxes and a corresponding decrease to the Company’s net loss for the year ended December 31, 2017, and a decrease to the
provision for deferred income taxes liability of $35.9 million as of December 31, 2017, when compared to the amounts reported in the
Company’s Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2017. Subsequently, the Company recorded the impact of the deferred tax
asset reinstatement in accordance with SAB 118 in its form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2018.
136

32

Subsidiary Undertakings

As of December 31, 2018, the Company had the following subsidiaries which were included in the consolidated financial
statements for the year ended December 31, 2018:
Portion of equity
held

Name

Registered Office

Principal activities

Horizon Pharma Holdings Limited

70 Sir John Rogerson’s
Quay, Grand Canal Dock,
Dublin 2, D02 R296,
Ireland

Holding company

100%

Horizon Pharma Capital Limited

70 Sir John Rogerson’s
Quay, Grand Canal Dock,
Dublin 2, D02 R296,
Ireland

Holding company

100%

Horizon Pharma Finance S.à r.l

19 Rue de Bitbourg,
Luxembourg, L-1273

Finance company

100%

Horizon Pharma Finance Limited

70 Sir John Rogerson’s
Quay, Grand Canal Dock,
Dublin 2, D02 R296,
Ireland

Finance company

100%

HZNP USA LLC

2711 Centerville Rd., Ste.
400,
Wilmington, Delaware
19808, USA

Operating company

100%

Horizon Pharma USA, Inc.

1209 Orange Street
Wilmington, Delaware
19801, USA

Operating company

100%

Horizon Pharma Tepro, Inc.

251 Little Falls Drive,
Wilmington, Delaware,
19808, USA

Inactive company

100%

Horizon Therapeutics, LLC

3411 Silverside Road
Rodney Bldg, Ste. 104
Wilmington, Delaware
19810, USA

Holding company

100%

Hyperion Therapeutics Ireland
Holding Limited

70 Sir John Rogerson’s
Quay, Grand Canal Dock,
Dublin 2, D02 R296,
Ireland

Holding company

100%

Horizon Pharma Israel Holding Corp.
Ltd

Rivlin Yosef 22,
Jerusalem, Israel

Holding company

100%

Andromeda Biotech Limited

42 Hayarkon Street /
Industrial Area, Yavne
81227, Israel

In the process of
liquidation

100%
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Horizon Pharma Switzerland GmbH

Clarahuus Centre,
Teichgasslein 9
4058 Basel, Switzerland

Operating company

100%

Horizon Pharma GmbH

Joseph-Meyer Strasse 1315, Mannheim, Germany,
D-68167

Operating company

100%

Horizon Pharma Ireland Limited

Connaught House, 1st
Floor, 1 Burlington Road,
Dublin 4, D04 C5Y6,
Ireland

Operating company

100%

HZNP Limited

21 Laffan St., Hamilton,
Pembroke HM09,
Bermuda

Holding company

100%

Horizon Pharma Aon Limited

70 Sir John Rogerson’s
Quay, Grand Canal Dock,
Dublin 2, D02 R296,
Ireland
70 Sir John Rogerson’s
Quay, Grand Canal Dock,
Dublin 2, D02 R296,
Ireland

Dormant

100%

Dormant

100%

Horizon Pharma Trí Limited

70 Sir John Rogerson’s
Quay, Grand Canal Dock,
Dublin 2, D02 R296,
Ireland

Dormant

100%

Horizon Pharma Treasury Limited

70 Sir John Rogerson’s
Quay, Grand Canal Dock,
Dublin 2, D02 R296,
Ireland

Finance company

100%

Horizon Pharma Investment Limited

HP House, 21 Laffan
Street Hamilton HM 09,
Bermuda

Finance company

100%

Horizon Pharma Rheumatology LLC

2711 Centerville Rd., Ste.
400,
Wilmington, Delaware
19808, USA

Operating company

100%

Horizon Pharmaceutical LLC

2711 Centerville Rd., Ste.
400,
Wilmington, Delaware
19808, USA

Holding company

100%

Horizon Orphan LLC

2711 Centerville Rd., Ste.
400,
Wilmington, Delaware
19808, USA

Operating company

100%

Horizon Pharma Dó Limited
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Misneach Europe LLC

2711 Centerville Rd., Ste.
400,
Wilmington, Delaware
19808, USA

Inactive company

100%

Horizon European Products LLC

2711 Centerville Rd., Ste.
400,
Wilmington, Delaware
19808, USA

Inactive company

100%

Horizon Medicines LLC

251 Little Falls Drive,
Wilmington, Delaware,
19808, USA

Operating company

100%

Hyperion Therapeutics Ireland
Operating Limited

70 Sir John Rogerson’s
Quay, Grand Canal Dock,
Dublin 2, D02 R296,
Ireland

Holding company

100%

HZNP Canada Limited

1959 Upper Water Street,
Suite 900, Halifax, NS,
Canada, B3J 3N2

Operating company

100%

Horizon Pharma Services LLC

1209 Orange Street,
Wilmington, Delaware,
19801, USA

Operating company

100%

HZNP Holdings LLC

21 Laffan St., Hamilton,
Pembroke HM09,
Bermuda

Inactive company

100%

HZNP Bermuda LLC

21 Laffan St., Hamilton,
Pembroke HM09,
Bermuda

Holding company

100%

HZNP Medicines LLC

21 Laffan St., Hamilton,
Pembroke HM09,
Bermuda

Inactive company

100%

Guarantees

The Company has irrevocably guaranteed the liabilities of the following Irish subsidiaries for the years ended December 31,
2018 and 2017: Horizon Pharma Aon Limited, Horizon Pharma Capital Limited, Horizon Pharma Do Limited, Horizon Pharma
Finance Limited, Horizon Pharma Holdings Limited, Horizon Pharma Ireland Limited, Horizon Pharma Rheumatology Limited,
Horizon Pharma Treasury Limited, Horizon Pharma Tri Limited, Hyperion Therapeutics Ireland Holdings Limited, Hyperion
Therapeutics Ireland Operating Limited and HZNP Limited.
Pursuant to the provisions of Section 357 of the Companies Act 2014, such subsidiaries have been exempted from the filing
provisions of Section 304 of the Companies Act 2014.
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Subsequent Events

Rights Agreement
On February 28, 2019, the Company entered into a Rights Agreement (the “Rights Agreement”), with Computershare Trust
Company, N.A., as rights agent. The Board of Directors of the Company (the “Board”) has authorized the issuance of one ordinary
share purchase right (a “Right”) for each outstanding ordinary share of the Company. Each Right represents the right to purchase onefifth of an ordinary share of the Company, upon the terms and subject to the conditions of the Rights Agreement. The Rights will be
issued to the shareholders of record on March 11, 2019 and will expire on February 28, 2020.
The Board has adopted the Rights Agreement to enable all shareholders of the Company to realize the long-term value of
their investment in the Company and to guard against attempts to acquire control of the Company at an inadequate price. In general
terms, the Rights Agreement works by causing significant dilution to any person or group that acquires 10% (or 15% in the case of an
existing “13G Investor” as defined in the Rights Agreement) or more of the outstanding ordinary shares of the Company without the
prior approval of the Board. The Rights Agreement is not intended to prevent an acquisition of the Company on terms that the Board
considers favorable to, and in the best interests of, all shareholders. Rather, the Rights Agreement aims to provide the Board with
adequate time to fully assess any takeover proposal and therefore comply with its fiduciary duties and to encourage anyone seeking to
acquire the Company to negotiate with the Board prior to attempting a takeover. The Rights Agreement was adopted in response to
the takeover environment in general, particularly in light of the Company’s evolution into a biopharma company focused on rare
diseases and rheumatology, the Phase 3 clinical trial results of its rare disease drug candidate teprotumumab announced on February
28, 2019 and the market opportunity for KRYSTEXXA and teprotumumab and is not in response to any specific approach to the
Company or perceived imminent takeover proposal for the Company. The issuance of Rights is not taxable to the Company or to
shareholders and will not affect reported earnings per share.
Civil Investigative Demand
On March 5, 2019, the Company received a civil investigative demand, (“CID”), from the United States Department of
Justice (“DOJ”) pursuant to the Federal False Claims Act regarding assertions that certain of the Company’s payments to pharmacy
benefit managers, (“PBMs”), were potentially in violation of the Anti-Kickback Statute. The CID requests certain documents and
information related to the Company’s payments to PBMs, pricing and our patient assistance program regarding DUEXIS, VIMOVO
and PENNSAID 2%. The Company intends to cooperate with the investigation. While the Company believes that its payments and
programs are compliant with the Anti-Kickback Statute, no assurance can be given as to the timing or outcome of the DOJ’s
investigation, or that it will not result in a material adverse effect on the Company’s business.
Underwritten Public Offering and Debt Repayment
On March 11, 2019, the Company announced the closing of its underwritten public offering of 14,081,632 of its ordinary
shares at a price to the public of $24.50 per share. This includes the exercise in full by the underwriters of their option to purchase up
to 1,836,734 additional ordinary shares. The estimated net proceeds to the Company from this offering are approximately $326.8
million, after deducting underwriting discounts and other estimated offering expenses payable by the Company. The Company
intends to use the net proceeds from the offering, together with cash on hand, to pay down approximately $550 million of its
$1,993 million total principal amount of indebtedness as of December 31, 2018.
On March 18, 2019, Horizon Pharma USA, Inc., a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, completed the repayment of
$300 million of the outstanding principal amount of term loans under the Company’s Credit Agreement. Following this repayment,
the outstanding principal balance of term loans under the Company’s Credit Agreement is $518 million and total aggregate
outstanding principal amount of indebtedness of $1,693 million.
The Company has given notice that it will repay $250 million of its 6.625% Senior Notes due 2023 on May 1, 2019.
Following such repayment, the total aggregate outstanding principal amount of indebtedness is expected to be $1,443 million.
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Amendment to Credit Agreement
On March 11, 2019, Horizon Pharma USA, Inc. (the “Borrower”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of Horizon Pharma plc, a
public limited company organized under the laws of Ireland (“Parent” or the “Company”), received $200,000,000 aggregate principal
amount of revolving commitments (the “New Incremental Revolving Commitments”) pursuant to an amendment (the “Amendment”)
to the Credit Agreement, dated as of May 7, 2015 (as amended by Amendment No. 1, dated as of October 25, 2016, Amendment No.
2, dated March 29, 2017, Amendment No. 3, dated as of October 23, 2017 and Amendment No. 4, dated as of October 19, 2018), by
and among the Borrower, the Company, certain subsidiaries of the Company party thereto as subsidiary guarantors, the lenders party
thereto from time to time, the arrangers and Citibank, N.A., as administrative agent and collateral agent (as amended by the
Amendment, the “Credit Agreement”). The New Incremental Revolving Commitments was established pursuant to an incremental
facility (“the Revolving Credit Facility”) and will provide the Borrower with $200,000,000 of additional borrowing capacity, which
includes a $50,000,000 letter of credit sub-facility. The New Incremental Revolving Commitments will terminate in March 2024.
Borrowings under the Revolving Credit Facility are available for general corporate purposes.
The obligations under the Credit Agreement (including obligations in respect of the Revolving Credit Facility) and any swap
obligations and cash management obligations owing to a lender (or an affiliate of a lender) are guaranteed by the Company and each
of the Company’s existing and subsequently acquired or formed direct and indirect subsidiaries (other than certain immaterial
subsidiaries, subsidiaries whose guarantee would result in material adverse tax consequences and subsidiaries whose guarantee is
prohibited by applicable law). The obligations under the Credit Agreement (including obligations in respect of the Revolving Credit
Facility) and any related swap and cash management obligations are secured, subject to customary permitted liens and other agreed
upon exceptions, by a perfected security interest in (i) all tangible and intangible assets of the Borrower and the guarantors, except for
certain customary excluded assets, and (ii) all of the capital stock owned by the Borrower and guarantors thereunder (limited, in the
case of the stock of certain non-U.S. subsidiaries of the Borrower, to 65% of the capital stock of such subsidiaries). The Borrower and
the guarantors under the Credit Agreement are individually and collectively referred to as a “Loan Party” and the “Loan Parties,” as
applicable.
The interest rate applicable to loans under the Revolving Credit Facility is the London Interbank Offered Rate, or LIBOR,
plus 3.00%, with a step down to 2.75% at the time the Company’s ratio of consolidated total indebtedness to consolidated EBITDA
(or leverage ratio) is less than or equal to 3.50 to 1.00.
The Credit Agreement contains customary representations and warranties and customary affirmative and negative covenants,
including, among other things, restrictions on indebtedness, liens, investments, mergers, dispositions, prepayment of other
indebtedness and dividends and other distributions. The Credit Agreement also contains a springing financial maintenance covenant,
which requires that the Company maintain a specified leverage ratio as of the end of each fiscal quarter. The covenant is tested if both
the outstanding loans and letters of credit under the Revolving Credit Facility, subject to certain exceptions, exceed 25% of the total
commitments under the Revolving Credit Facility as of the last day of any fiscal quarter. If the Company fails to meet this covenant,
the commitments under the Revolving Credit Facility could be terminated and any outstanding borrowings, together with accrued
interest, under the Revolving Credit Facility could be declared immediately due and payable.
Other events of default under the Credit Agreement include: (i) the failure to timely make payments due under the Credit
Agreement; (ii) material misrepresentations or misstatements in any representation or warranty by any Loan Party when made; (iii)
failure by any Loan Party to comply with the covenants under the Credit Agreement and other related agreements; (iv) certain defaults
under a specified amount of other indebtedness of the Company or its subsidiaries; (v) insolvency or bankruptcy-related events with
respect to the Company or any of its material subsidiaries; (vi) certain undischarged judgments against the Company or any of its
restricted subsidiaries; (vii) certain ERISA-related events reasonably expected to have a material adverse effect on the Company and
its restricted subsidiaries taken as a whole; (viii) certain security interests or liens under the loan documents ceasing to be, or being
asserted by the Company or its restricted subsidiaries not to be, in full force and effect; (ix) any loan document or material provision
thereof ceasing to be, or any challenge or assertion by any Loan Party that such loan document or material provision is not, in full
force and effect; and (x) the occurrence of a change of control. If one or more events of default occurs and continues beyond any
applicable cure period, the administrative agent may, with the consent of the lenders holding a majority of the loans and commitments
under the facilities, or will, at the request of such lenders, terminate the commitments of the lenders to make further loans and declare
all of the obligations of the Loan Parties under the Credit Agreement to be immediately due and payable.
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Approval of the Financial Statements
The financial statements were approved by the directors on April 5, 2019.
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HORIZON PHARMA PLC
PARENT COMPANY BALANCE SHEET
As of December 31, 2018
(In thousands)
Fiscal Year
Note
Assets
Non-current assets
Investments in group undertakings

2018

3

$

2017

1,666,893
1,666,893

$

1,558,572
1,558,572

Current assets
Debtors:
Amounts owed by group undertakings
Prepayments and other debtors
Cash at bank and in hand

4

1,050,112
42
—
1,050,154

1,035,066
—
84
1,035,150

Creditors: amounts falling due within one year
Amounts due to group undertakings
Accrued expenses and other liabilities

5

3,957
547
4,504

2,911
—
2,911

2,712,543

2,590,811

72
1,961,354
450,076
305,297
(4,256)

71
1,950,227
335,216
308,193
(2,896)

Net assets
Capital and reserves
Called up share capital presented as equity
Share premium account
Other reserves
Profit and loss account
Loss for the financial year

6
7
7
7
8

Total equity

$

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
On behalf of the board
/s/ Timothy P. Walbert
Timothy P. Walbert
Director

/s/ William F. Daniel
William F. Daniel
Director
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2,712,543

$

2,590,811

HORIZON PHARMA PLC
PARENT COMPANY STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
For the Year Ended December 31, 2018
(In thousands, except share data)

Balances at January 1, 2017
Issuance of Horizon Pharma plc shares in conjunction with vesting of
restricted stock units, stock option exercises, ESPP purchases and
warrant exercises
Shares repurchased
Share-based compensation
Loss for the financial year
Balances at December 31, 2017
Issuance of Horizon Pharma plc shares in conjunction with vesting of
restricted stock units, stock option exercises, ESPP purchases and
warrant exercises
Share-based compensation
Loss for the financial year
Balances at December 31, 2018

Called-up Share Capital
Deferred
Ordinary Shares
Amount
Shares
162,004,956 $
16
40,000

2,880,127
(100,000)
—
—
164,785,083 $

—
—
—
—
16

—
—
—
—
40,000

4,459,437
—
—
169,244,520 $

1
—
—
17

—
—
—
40,000

Share Premium
Profit and Loss
Amount
Account
Other Reserves
Account
$
55 $
1,945,722 $
210,197 $
309,185 $

$

—
—
—
—
55 $

4,505
—
—
—
1,950,227 $

—
—
125,019
—
335,216 $

—
(992 )
—
(2,896 )
305,297 $

4,505
(992)
125,019
(2,896
2,590,811

$

—
—
—
55 $

11,127
—
—
1,961,354 $

—
114,860
—
450,076 $

—
—
(4,256 )
301,041 $

11,128
114,860
(4,256 )
2,712,543

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Total
2,465,175

HORIZON PHARMA PLC
NOTES TO PARENT COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1

Statement of Compliance, Basis of Presentation and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Overview
Horizon Pharma plc is the ultimate parent company of a biopharmaceutical group that is focused on researching, developing and
commercializing innovative medicines that address unmet treatment needs for rare and rheumatic diseases.
Horizon Pharma plc is a public company registered by shares. The Company’s registered number is 507678 and its registered
office is Connaught House, 1st Floor, Burlington Road, Dublin 4, D04 C5Y6, Ireland.
Statement of compliance
The financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis and in accordance with Irish GAAP (accounting standards
issued by the UK Financial Reporting Council and the Companies Act 2014.) The entity financial statements comply with Financial
Reporting Standard 102, The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland (FRS 102) and Irish Law.
Transition to FRS 102
This is the first year that the Company has presented financial statements complying with FRS 102. The last financial
statements under FRS 101 ‘Reduced Disclosure Framework’ (“FRS 101”) were for the year ended December 31, 2017. The
Company’s date of transition to FRS 102 is January 1, 2017. The Company’s accounting policies under FRS 102 are described below.
There were no measurement adjustments arising from the Company’s transition to FRS 102. Therefore, the loss for the financial year
ended December 31, 2017, and the total equity as at January 1, 2017 and December 31, 2017, remains consistent under FRS 102 with
that previously reported under FRS 101.
Basis of Presentation
The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention. The preparation of financial statements in
conformity with FRS 102 requires the use of certain key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation
uncertainty at the end of the financial year. It also requires the directors to exercise its judgment in the process of applying the
Company’s accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and
estimates are significant to the financial statements, are disclosed in Note 2.
Disclosure Exemptions for Qualifying Entities Under FRS 102
FRS 102 allows a qualifying entity certain disclosure exemptions. As a qualifying entity the Company has availed of a number
of exemptions from the disclosure requirements of FRS 102 in the preparation of the entity financial statements. In accordance with
FRS 102, the Company has availed of an exemption from the following paragraphs of FRS 102:
-

-

Exemption from the requirements of Section 7 of FRS 102 and FRS 102 paragraph 3.17(d) to present a statement of cash
flows;
Exemption from the financial instrument disclosure requirements of Section 11 paragraphs 11.41 to 11.48A and Section
12 paragraphs 12.26 to 12.29A of FRS 102 providing the equivalent disclosures are included in the consolidated
financial statements of the group in which the entity is consolidated;
Exemption from certain disclosure requirements of Section 26 of FRS 102 (paragraphs 26.18(b), 26.19 to 26.21 and
26.23), in respect of share-based payments; and
Exemption from the requirement of FRS 102 paragraph 33.7 to disclose key management personnel compensation in
total.
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Use of estimates
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with FRS 102 requires management to make estimates and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the balance sheet date.
Estimates are used for, but not limited to, assumptions and inputs for fair value measurements. Actual results could differ from these
estimates.
Going concern
The directors, having made enquiries, are satisfied that the Company has adequate resources to continue in operational
existence for a period of at least twelve months from the date of approval of these financial statements and therefore can continue to
trade during this period. Consequently, the directors have adopted the going concern basis in the preparation of the financial
statements.
Accounting Policies
The significant accounting policies adopted by Horizon Pharma plc are discussed below.
Functional and presentational currency
Items included in these financial statements are measured using the currency of the primary economic environment in which
the Company operates. The financial statements are presented in U.S. dollars, which is the Company’s functional and presentation
currency.
Currency translation
Transactions in currencies other than the functional currency of the entities were recorded at the rates of exchange prevailing
on the dates of the transactions. At each balance sheet date, monetary assets and liabilities that were denominated in foreign
currencies were translated to the functional currency of the Company at the rates prevailing on the balance sheet date. Non-monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies were translated to U.S. dollar at foreign exchange rates ruling at the dates the
transactions were effected. Foreign currency differences arising on retranslation were recognized in profit or loss.
Investments in group undertakings
The Company’s investments in group undertakings were recorded at cost being the fair value of consideration given plus any
directly attributable costs, plus capital contributions less any return of capital. The investments are tested for impairment if
circumstances or indicators suggest that impairment may exist.
The Company assesses at the end of each reporting period whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or group
of financial assets is impaired. A financial asset or a group of financial assets is impaired and impairment losses are incurred only if
there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the asset (a
‘loss event’) and that loss event (or events) has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or group of financial
assets that can be reliably estimated.
Debtors
Debtors are amounts due from customers or group undertakings for services performed in the ordinary course of business. If
collection is expected in one year or less (or in the normal operating cycle of the business if longer), they are classified as current
assets. If not, they are presented as non-current assets.
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Cash at bank and in hand
Cash and cash equivalents includes cash in hand, deposits held at call with banks, other short-term highly liquid investments
with original maturities of three months or less and bank overdrafts. Bank overdrafts, when applicable, are shown within borrowings
in current liabilities.
Financial Instruments
(i)

Financial Assets

Basic financial assets debtors and cash and cash equivalents are initially recognized at transaction price (including transaction
costs), unless the arrangement constitutes a financing transaction. Where the arrangement constitutes a financing transaction the
resulting financial asset is initially measured at the present value of the future receipts discounted at a market rate of interest for a
similar debt instrument.
Trade and other debtors, cash and cash equivalents and financial assets from arrangements which constitute financing
transactions are subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method.
At the end of each financial year financial assets measured at amortized cost are assessed for impairment. If there is
objective evidence that a financial asset measured at amortized cost is impaired an impairment loss is recognized in the statement of
comprehensive income. The impairment loss is the difference between the financial asset's carrying amount and the present value of
the financial asset's estimated cash inflows discounted at the asset's original effective interest rate.
Financial assets are derecognized when (a) the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire or are settled, (b)
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset are transferred to another party, or (c) control of the financial
asset has been transferred to another party who has the practical ability to unilaterally sell the financial asset to an unrelated third party
without imposing additional restrictions.
(ii)

Financial Liabilities

Basic financial liabilities, including trade and other creditors and loans from fellow group companies are initially recognized
at transaction price, unless the arrangement constitutes a financing transaction. Where the arrangement constitutes a financing
transaction the resulting financial liability is initially measured at the present value of the future payments discounted at a market rate
of interest for a similar debt instrument.
Trade and other creditors, loans from fellow group companies and financial liability from arrangements which constitute
financing transactions are subsequently carried at amortized cost, using the effective interest method.
Trade creditors are obligations to pay for goods or services that have been acquired in the ordinary course of business from
suppliers Trade creditors are recognized initially at transaction price and subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective
interest method.
Financial liabilities are derecognized when the liability is extinguished, that is when the contractual obligation is discharged,
canceled or expires.
Creditors: Amounts falling due within one year
Creditors: Amounts falling due within one year are obligations to pay for goods or services that have been acquired in the
ordinary course of business from suppliers or group undertakings. Trade creditors are classified as due within one year if payment is
due within one year or less. If not, they are presented as falling due after more than one year.
Contingencies
Contingent liabilities, arising as a result of past events, are not recognized as a liability if it is not probable that the Company
will be required to transfer economic benefits in settlement of the obligation or the amount cannot be reliably measured. Possible but
uncertain obligations are not recognized as liabilities but are contingent liabilities. Contingent liabilities are disclosed in the financial
statements unless the probability of payment is remote. The Company has guaranteed certain liabilities and credit arrangements of the
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Company's subsidiaries. The Company reviews the status of these guarantees at each reporting date and considers whether it is
required to make a provision for payment on those guarantees based on the probability of the commitment being called.
Current and deferred taxation
The tax expense for the year comprises current and deferred tax. Tax is recognized in the income statement, except to the
extent that it relates to items recognized in other comprehensive income or directly in shareholders’ funds. In this case, the tax is also
recognized in other comprehensive income or directly in shareholders’ funds, respectively.
The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet
date in the countries where the Company operates and generates taxable income. Management periodically evaluates positions taken
in tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation. It establishes provisions where
appropriate on the basis of amounts expected to be paid to the tax authorities.
Deferred income tax is recognized on temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their
carrying amounts in the financial statements. However, deferred tax liabilities are not recognized if they arise from the initial
recognition of goodwill; or arise from initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction other than a business combination that
at the time of the transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates
(and laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date and are expected to apply when the related
deferred income tax asset is realized or the deferred income tax liability is settled.
Deferred income tax assets are recognized only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available
against which the temporary differences can be utilized.
Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and when the deferred income taxes assets and liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same
taxation authority on either the same taxable entity or different taxable entities where there is an intention to settle the balances on a
net basis.
Share capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of ordinary shares are recognized
as a deduction from equity, net of any tax effects.
Share-based compensation
The Company and its subsidiaries operate equity-settled, share-based compensation plans for employees of some of its
subsidiaries.
The fair value of the employee services received in exchange for the equity instruments granted in each of the subsidiaries is
recognized as an addition to the investment with a corresponding increase in equity as a contribution by the parent company.
The amount of any payments made by a subsidiary to the parent company for shares issued under the share-based
compensation plans is offset against the parent company’s investment in the subsidiary. The amount of any payments that exceed the
investment in the subsidiary is recorded in the parent company’s profit and loss account.
The proceeds received by the parent company when share options are exercised are credited to share capital (nominal value)
and the balance to share premium.
Related party transactions
The Group discloses transactions with related parties which are not wholly owned within the same Group. Where
appropriate, transactions of a similar nature are aggregated unless, in the opinion of the directors, separate disclosure is necessary to
understand the effect of the transactions on the Group financial statements.
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2

Critical accounting estimates and judgments

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, including expectations of
future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. The Company makes estimates and assumptions concerning
the future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and
assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the
next financial year are addressed below:
(a)

Estimated impairment of investments in group undertakings

The Company assesses whether investments in group undertakings have suffered any impairment in line with the accounting
policies stated. The determination of recoverable amounts requires the use of estimates. The Company’s judgements in relation to the
impairment of investments in group undertakings are included in note 3.
(b)

Impairment of amounts due from group undertakings

The Company makes an estimate of the recoverable value of amounts due from group undertakings. When assessing
impairment of amounts due from group undertakings, management considers factors including the credit rating of the receivable, the
ageing profile of receivables and historical experience.
If collection is expected in one year or less (or in the normal operating cycle of the business if longer), they are classified as
due within one year. If not, they are presented as due after one year.
3

Investments in group undertakings
As of December 31, 2018 and 2017, investments in group undertakings were comprised of (in thousands):

2018

As of December 31,
2017

At beginning of year
Capital contribution in respect of share-based compensation plans
Payments received in respect of share-based compensation plans

$ 1,558,572
111,347
(3,026)

$ 1,436,543
122,029

At December 31

$ 1,666,893

$ 1,558,572

—

As of December 31, 2018, the Company had the following direct subsidiaries:
Name

Registered Office

Principal activities

Horizon Pharma Holdings Limited

70 Sir John Rogerson’s
Quay, Grand Canal Dock,
Dublin 2, D02 R296,
Ireland
HP House, 21 Laffan
Street Hamilton HM 09,
Bermuda

Holding company

100%

Finance company

100%

Horizon Pharma Investment Limited
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Portion of equity held

In the opinion of the directors the carrying value of the investment is recoverable.
4

Amounts owed by group undertakings

As of December 31, 2018 and 2017, amounts owed by group undertakings are unsecured, interest free, have no fixed date of
repayment and are repayable on demand.
5

Amounts due to group undertakings

As of December 31, 2018 and 2017, amounts due to group undertakings are unsecured, interest free, have no fixed date of
repayment and are repayable on demand.

6

Share Capital
As of December 31, 2018 and 2017, share capital was comprised as follows (in thousands, except share data):
As of December 31,
2018

Authorized
40,000 (2017: 40,000) ordinary shares €1 par value each
300,000,000 (2017: 300,000,000) ordinary shares at $0.0001 par value each

Allotted, called up and fully paid – presented as equity
40,000 (2017: 40,000) deferred shares €1 par value each
168,860,154 (2017: 164,400,717) outstanding ordinary shares at $0.0001 par
value

$

2017

$

$

55
30
85

$

55
30
85

$

55

$

55

$

17
72

$

16
71

During the year ended December 31, 2018, the Company issued an aggregate of 4.4 million of ordinary shares in connection
with stock option exercises, the vesting of restricted stock units, employee share purchase plan purchases and the vesting of
performance stock units.
In May 2017 and 2018, the Company’s board of directors authorized a share repurchase program pursuant to which the
Company may repurchase up to 16,000,000 of its ordinary shares. During the year ended December 31, 2018, the Company did not
repurchase any of its ordinary shares. During the year ended December 31, 2017, the Company repurchased 100,000 of its ordinary
shares under this repurchase program, for total consideration of $1.0 million. The timing and amount of future repurchases, if any,
will depend on a variety of factors, including the price of the Company’s ordinary shares, alternative investment opportunities, the
Company’s cash resources, restrictions under the Credit Agreement and market conditions.
7

Reserves
Share premium
Share premium represents proceeds received from the issuance of share capital in excess of par value.
Other reserves
Other reserves relates to share-based payments.
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Profit and loss reserve
This represents the accumulated comprehensive income of the Company.
8

Loss attributable to Horizon Pharma Plc

In accordance with Section 304 of the Companies Act 2014, the Company is availing of the exemption from presenting and
filing its individual profit and loss account. Horizon Pharma Plc’s loss for financial year 2018 and financial year 2017 as determined
in accordance with Irish GAAP (FRS 102) was $4.3 million and $2.9 million, respectively.

9

Directors’ Remuneration
Note 28 to the group’s Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements provide details of directors’ remuneration paid by the

Group.
10

Auditor’s Remuneration

For the year ended December 31, 2018, $20,000 was payable for the statutory audit of the parent company financial
statements to its auditor, PricewaterhouseCoopers (2017: $20,000). No remuneration was payable in respect of other assurance
services, tax advisory services or other non-audit services.
11

Financial Commitments
At December 31, 2018, the Company had no annual commitments under non-cancellable operating leases.

The Company has irrevocably guaranteed the liabilities of the following Irish subsidiaries for the years ended December 31,
2018 and 2017: Horizon Pharma Aon Limited, Horizon Pharma Capital Limited, Horizon Pharma Do Limited, Horizon Pharma
Finance Limited, Horizon Pharma Holdings Limited, Horizon Pharma Ireland Limited, Horizon Pharma Rheumatology Limited,
Horizon Pharma Treasury Limited, Horizon Pharma Tri Limited, Hyperion Therapeutics Ireland Holdings Limited, Hyperion
Therapeutics Ireland Operating Limited and HZNP Limited. In addition, the Company has acted as a guarantor for the following
external debt held by subsidiaries of the Group:
Term Loan Facility
On October 19, 2018, Horizon Pharma, Inc. (“HPI”) and Horizon Pharma USA, Inc. (“HPUSA” and, together with HPI, in
such capacity, the “Borrowers”), wholly owned subsidiaries of the Company, borrowed approximately $818.0 million aggregate
principal amount of loans (the “October 2018 Refinancing Loans”) pursuant to an amendment (the “October 2018 Refinancing
Amendment”) to the credit agreement, dated as of May 7, 2015, by and among the Borrowers, the Company and certain of its
subsidiaries as guarantors, the lenders party thereto from time to time and Citibank, N.A., as administrative agent and collateral agent,
as amended by Amendment No. 1, dated as of October 25, 2016, Amendment No. 2, dated March 29, 2017 (the “March 2017 Credit
Agreement”) and Amendment No. 3, dated October 23, 2017 (the “October 2017 Credit Agreement”) (the “2018 Term Loan
Facility”).
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2023 Senior Notes
On April 29, 2015, Horizon Pharma Financing Inc. (“Horizon Financing”), a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company,
completed a private placement of $475.0 million aggregate principal amount of 6.625% Senior Notes due 2023 (the “2023 Senior
Notes”) to certain investment banks acting as initial purchasers who subsequently resold the 2023 Senior Notes to qualified
institutional buyers as defined in Rule 144A under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”), and in offshore
transactions to non-U.S. persons in reliance on Regulation S under the Securities Act. The net proceeds from the offering of the 2023
Senior Notes were approximately $462.3 million, after deducting the initial purchasers’ discount and offering expenses payable by
Horizon Financing. The obligations under the 2023 Senior Notes are fully and unconditionally guaranteed on a senior unsecured basis
by the Company and all of the Company’s direct and indirect subsidiaries that are guarantors from time to time under the Credit
Agreement.
2024 Senior Notes
On October 25, 2016, HPI and HPUSA (together, in such capacity, the “2024 Issuers”), completed a private placement of
$300.0 million aggregate principal amount of 8.750% Senior Notes due 2024 (the “2024 Senior Notes”) to certain investment banks
acting as initial purchasers who subsequently resold the 2024 Senior Notes to qualified institutional buyers as defined in Rule 144A
under the Securities Act. The net proceeds from the offering of the 2024 Senior Notes were approximately $291.9 million, after
deducting the initial purchasers’ discount and offering expenses payable by the 2024 Issuers. On October 31, 2018, HPI merged with
and into HPUSA, and as a result, HPI’s obligations as co-issuer under the 2024 Senior Notes became HPUSA’s general unsecured
senior obligations. The obligations under the 2024 Senior Notes are HPUSA’s general unsecured senior obligations and are fully and
unconditionally guaranteed on a senior unsecured basis by the Company and all of the Company’s direct and indirect subsidiaries that
are guarantors from time to time under the Credit Agreement.
Exchangeable Senior Notes
On March 13, 2015, Horizon Investment completed a private placement of $400.0 million aggregate principal amount of
Exchangeable Senior Notes to certain investment banks acting as initial purchasers who subsequently resold the Exchangeable Senior
Notes to qualified institutional buyers as defined in Rule 144A under the Securities Act. The net proceeds from the offering of the
Exchangeable Senior Notes were approximately $387.2 million, after deducting the initial purchasers’ discount and offering expenses
payable by Horizon Investment. The Exchangeable Senior Notes are fully and unconditionally guaranteed, on a senior unsecured
basis, by the Company (the “Guarantee”). The Exchangeable Senior Notes and the Guarantee are Horizon Investment’s and the
Company’s senior unsecured obligations.
12

Related Parties

Transactions with Horizon Pharma plc and with other wholly owned subsidiary companies of Horizon Pharma plc are not
disclosed as the Company has availed of the exemption available under FRS 102 from presenting such transactions. Accordingly, the
parent company financial statements do not contain disclosures of transactions with such entities.
13

Employees
The Company did not have any employees during the years ended December 31, 2018 or 2017.

14

Subsequent Events
Rights Agreement

On February 28, 2019, the Company entered into a Rights Agreement (the “Rights Agreement”), with Computershare Trust
Company, N.A., as rights agent. The Board of Directors of the Company (the “Board”) has authorized the issuance of one ordinary
share purchase right (a “Right”) for each outstanding ordinary share of the Company. Each Right represents the right to purchase onefifth of an ordinary share of the Company, upon the terms and subject to the conditions of the Rights Agreement. The Rights will be
issued to the shareholders of record on March 11, 2019 and will expire on February 28, 2020.
The Board has adopted the Rights Agreement to enable all shareholders of the Company to realize the long-term value of
their investment in the Company and to guard against attempts to acquire control of the Company at an inadequate price. In general
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terms, the Rights Agreement works by causing significant dilution to any person or group that acquires 10% (or 15% in the case of an
existing “13G Investor” as defined in the Rights Agreement) or more of the outstanding ordinary shares of the Company without the
prior approval of the Board. The Rights Agreement is not intended to prevent an acquisition of the Company on terms that the Board
considers favorable to, and in the best interests of, all shareholders. Rather, the Rights Agreement aims to provide the Board with
adequate time to fully assess any takeover proposal and therefore comply with its fiduciary duties and to encourage anyone seeking to
acquire the Company to negotiate with the Board prior to attempting a takeover. The Rights Agreement was adopted in response to
the takeover environment in general, particularly in light of the Company’s evolution into a biopharma company focused on rare
diseases and rheumatology, the Phase 3 clinical trial results of its rare disease drug candidate teprotumumab announced on February
28, 2019 and the market opportunity for KRYSTEXXA and teprotumumab and is not in response to any specific approach to the
Company or perceived imminent takeover proposal for the Company. The issuance of Rights is not taxable to the Company or to
shareholders and will not affect reported earnings per share.
Underwritten Public Offering and Debt Repayment
On March 11, 2019, the Company announced the closing of its underwritten public offering of 14,081,632 of its ordinary
shares at a price to the public of $24.50 per share. This includes the exercise in full by the underwriters of their option to purchase up
to 1,836,734 additional ordinary shares. The estimated net proceeds to the Company from this offering are approximately $326.8
million, after deducting underwriting discounts and other estimated offering expenses payable by the Company. The Company
intends to use the net proceeds from the offering, together with cash on hand, to pay down approximately $550 million of the group’s
$1,993 million total principal amount of indebtedness as of December 31, 2018.
On March 18, 2019, Horizon Pharma USA, Inc., a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, completed the repayment of
$300 million of the outstanding principal amount of term loans under the Credit Agreement. Following this repayment, the
outstanding principal balance of term loans under the Credit Agreement is $518 million and total aggregate outstanding principal
amount of indebtedness of $1,693 million.
Horizon Pharma USA, Inc. has given notice that it will repay $250 million of its 6.625% Senior Notes due 2023 on May 1,
2019. Following such repayment, the total aggregate outstanding principal amount of indebtedness is expected to be $1,443 million.
Civil Investigative Demand
On March 5, 2019, the Company received a civil investigative demand, (“CID”), from the United States Department of
Justice (“DOJ”) pursuant to the Federal False Claims Act regarding assertions that certain of the Company’s payments to pharmacy
benefit managers, (“PBMs”), were potentially in violation of the Anti-Kickback Statute. The CID requests certain documents and
information related to the Company’s payments to PBMs, pricing and our patient assistance program regarding DUEXIS, VIMOVO
and PENNSAID 2%. The Company intends to cooperate with the investigation. While the Company believes that payments and
programs made by the group are compliant with the Anti-Kickback Statute, no assurance can be given as to the timing or outcome of
the DOJ’s investigation, or that it will not result in a material adverse effect on the group’s business.

Other subsequent events
Additional subsequent events which relate to the Group can be found in Note 34 of the consolidated financial statements.
15

Approval of Financial Statements
The directors approved the financial statements on April 5, 2019.
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